
June 13, 2024 

4:00 PM 

Welcome to the City of St. Petersburg City Council meeting. The public may address City 
Council in person.  

The public must attend the meeting in person to speak during public hearings or quasi-
judicial hearings.  If you are a person with a disability who needs an accommodation in 
order to participate in this meeting or have any questions, please contact the City Clerk’s 
Office at 893-7448. If you are deaf/hard of hearing and require the services of an interpreter, 
please call our TDD number, 892-5259, or the Florida Relay Service at 711, as soon as 
possible. The City requests at least 72 hours advance notice, prior to the scheduled meeting, 
for accommodations.

To assist the City Council in conducting the City’s business, we ask that you observe the 
following:

1. If you are speaking under the Public Hearings, Appeals or Open Forum sections of 
the agenda, please observe the time limits indicated on the agenda.

2. Placards and posters are not permitted in the Chamber. Applause is not permitted 
except in connection with Awards and Presentations.

3. Please do not address Council from your seat. If asked by Council to speak to an 
issue, please do so from the podium.

4. Please do not pass notes to Council during the meeting.

5. Please be courteous to other members of the audience by keeping side conversations 
to a minimum.

6. The Fire Code prohibits anyone from standing in the aisles or in the back of the 
room.

7. If other seating is available, please do not occupy the seats reserved for individuals 
who are deaf/hard of hearing.

The public can also attend the meeting in the following ways:
• Watch live on Channel 15 WOW!/Channel 641 Spectrum/Channel 20 Frontier FiOS 
• Watch live online at www.stpete.org/TV
• Listen and participate by dialing one of the following phone numbers 
 +1 312 626 6799 or 
 +1 646 876 9923 or 
 +1 253 215 8782 or 
 +1 301 715 8592 or 
 +1 346 248 7799 or  



2 

 +1 669 900 6833 and entering webinar ID: 938 3750 5508#
• Watch, listen, and participate on your computer, mobile phone, or other device 
 by visiting the following link: https://zoom.us/j/93837505508

The public can participate in the meeting by providing public comment for agenda items 
other than public hearings and quasi-judicial hearings in the following ways:

• If attending the Zoom meeting by computer or other device, use the “raise hand” 
button in the Zoom app.  
• If attending the Zoom meeting by phone only, enter *9 on the phone to use the “raise 
hand” feature.

The “raise hand” feature in the Zoom meeting indicates your desire to speak but does not 
allow you to speak immediately.  You must use the “raise hand” feature at the time the 
agenda item is addressed.  All “raised hands” will be lowered after each agenda item.  When 
it is your turn to speak, your microphone will be unmuted. At the conclusion of your 
comments or when you reach the three-minute limit, you will be muted.  Please be advised 
that at all times the chair has the authority and discretion to re-order agenda items, and in the 
event the meeting is disrupted by violations of the rules of decorum, to accept public 
comment by alternate means, including by email only.

Regardless of the method of participation used, normal rules for participation apply, 
including the three-minute limit on comments, the requirement that any presentation 
materials must be submitted to the City Clerk in advance of the meeting, and the rules of 
decorum. Public comments must be submitted before the public comment period has closed.



3 

June 13, 2024 

4:00 PM 
A. Meeting Called to Order and Roll Call.

Invocation and Pledge to the Flag of the United States of America.

B. Approval of Agenda with Additions and Deletions.

C. Consent Agenda (see attached)

Open Forum
The City Council receives public comment during Open Forum and on agenda items with 
limited exceptions consistent with Florida law.  All issues discussed under Open Forum must 
be limited to issues related to the City of St. Petersburg government. If you wish to address 
City Council on subjects other than public hearing or quasi-judicial items listed on the 
agenda, please sign up with the Clerk. Only City residents, owners of property in the City, 
owners of businesses in the City or their employees may speak during Open Forum.

If you wish to address City Council through the Zoom meeting, you must use the “raise 
hand” feature button in the Zoom app or enter *9 on your phone at the time the agenda item 
is addressed.   When it is your turn to speak, you will be unmuted and asked to state your 
name and address.  At the conclusion of your comments or when you reach the three-minute 
time limit, you will be muted.  All “raised hands” will be lowered after each agenda item.

Regardless of the method of participation used, normal rules apply, including the three-
minute time limit on comments, the requirement that any presentation materials must be 
submitted in advance of the meeting and the rules of decorum.  If live public comment is 
disrupted by violations of the rules of decorum, the chair is authorized to accept public 
comment by alternate means, including by email only.

D. Awards and Presentations

E. New Ordinances - (First Reading of Title and Setting of Public Hearing)

Setting July 11, 2024 as the public hearing date for the following proposed Ordinance(s):

1. Ordinance 585-H, An ordinance adopting amendments to the Intown Redevelopment Plan

(IRP) of the City of St. Petersburg (City), increasing the redevelopment program budget in

amended table 2 from $232.354  million to $574.854 million to fund “ “New Stadium

Improvements” and “Historic Gas Plant Redevelopment Infrastructure” in the IRP west of

8th street; providing for an extension of the City’s TIF contributions through 2042, and

allowing modifications to TIF contributions to the IRP Redevelopment Trust Fund by the

City and Pinellas County; providing for severability; and providing an effective date.

F. Reports

1. A resolution of the City Council of St. Petersburg, Florida, approving an increase in the

not to exceed amount of the engagement letter with Faegre Drinker Biddle & Reath LLP

from $950,000 to $1,500,000; approving a supplemental appropriation in the amount of

$550,000 from the unappropriated balance of the General Fund (0001) to the Legal

Department, Legal Division (030-1009); and providing for an effective date.

G. New Business

H. Council Committee Reports



4 

I. Legal

1. Settlement Andi Ibro v. City of St. Petersburg, Case No.: 23-001241-CI

J. Public Hearings and Quasi-Judicial Proceedings - 5:01 P.M.

First Reading and First Public Hearings

Setting July 11, 2024  as the second reading and second public hearing date for the

following proposed Ordinance(s).

1. Ordinance 584-H of the City of St. Petersburg approving a Development Agreement for

property generally bounded by First Avenue South to the north, Dr. Martin Luther King,

Jr. and Tenth Streets South to the east, Interstate 175 to the south, and Seventeenth and

Eighteenth Streets South to the west; recognizing that the subject agreement is by and

between Hines Historic Gas Plant District Partnership, a Florida Joint Venture

(Developer) and the City of St. Petersburg, Florida, A Florida Municipal Corporation;

authorizing the Mayor or his designee to execute the agreement; and providing an

effective date.

2. Ordinance 793-Z amending the Official Zoning Map of the City of St. Petersburg, Florida,

by changing the zoning of seven (7) publicly-owned parcels, generally located south and

west of Tropicana Field and bounded by I-175 to the south and 18th Street South to the

west, from Downtown Center  2 (DC-2) to Downtown Center  1 (DC-1); Providing for

repeal of conflicting ordinances and provisions thereof; and providing an effective date.

(City File: ZM-17) (Quasi-judicial)

Public Hearings 

NOTE:  The following Public Hearing items have been submitted for consideration by the City 

Council.  If you wish to speak on any of the Public Hearing items, please obtain one of the 

YELLOW cards from the containers on the wall outside of Council Chamber, fill it out as 

directed, and present it to the Clerk.  You will be given 3 minutes ONLY to state your position 

on any item but may address more than one item. 

3. Ordinance 586-H, an emergency ordinance concerning the dates of the City's upcoming

general election and primary election and the dates of qualifying  for those elections;

making findings regarding those dates; ratifying November 5, 2024, as the date of that

general election, August 20, 2024, as the date of that primary election, and June 4, 2024,

through June 18, 2024, as the dates of qualifying for those elections; providing

severability; and providing an effective date.

K. Open Forum

L. Adjournment



5 

Consent Agenda A 

June 13, 2024 

NOTE:  The Consent Agenda contains normal, routine business items that are very likely to be approved by 

the City Council by a single motion.  Council questions on these items were answered prior to the meeting.  

Each Councilmember may, however, defer any item for added discussion at a later time. 

(Procurement) 

1. Approving the purchase of nine clean diesel trucks, one trailer, one tractor truck, and one

loader utilizing Florida Sheriffs Association contract Nos FSA20-EQU21.0, Heavy

equipment and FSA23-VEH21.0, Heavy trucks and buses and Florida State Department of

Management Services #21-25101600 STC, medium and heavy trucks for a total combined

cost not to exceed $4,047,818; approving a transfer in the amount of $1,800,000 from the

unappropriated balance of the Sanitation Operating Fund (4021) to the Sanitation

Equipment Replacement Fund (4027); approving a supplemental appropriation in the

amount of $4,048,000 from the increase in the unappropriated balance of the Sanitation

Equipment Replacement Fund (4027), partially resulting from the above transfer, to the

Sanitation Department, Administration Division (450-2237), and providing an effective

date.

(City Development) 

2. A resolution of the City Council of St. Petersburg, Florida, approving an increase in the

not to exceed amount of the engagement letter with Faegre Drinker Biddle & Reath LLP

from $950,000 to $1,500,000; approving a supplemental appropriation in the amount of

$550,000 from the unappropriated balance of the General Fund (0001) to the Legal

Department, Legal Division (030-1009); and providing for an effective date. (Moved to

Reports as F-1)

(Community Enrichment) 

(Public Works) 

(Appointments) 

(Miscellaneous) 



6 

Consent Agenda B 

June 13, 2024 

NOTE:  The Consent Agenda contains normal, routine business items that are very likely to be approved by 

the City Council by a single motion.  Council questions on these items were answered prior to the meeting.  

Each Councilmember may, however, defer any item for added discussion at a later time. 

(Procurement) 

(City Development) 

(Community Enrichment) 

(Public Works) 

(Appointments) 

(Miscellaneous) 

1. Housing, Land Use, & Transportation Committee Meeting Minutes (May 16, 2024)



7 

Note:  An abbreviated listing of upcoming MEETING AGENDA Council meetings. 

Housing, Land Use & Transportation Committee 

Thursday, July 11, 2024, 8:00 a.m., Conference Room 100 

Public Services & Infrastructure Committee 

Thursday, July 11, 2024, 9:25 a.m., Conference Room 100 

Budget, Finance & Taxation Committee 

Thursday, July 11, 2024, 10:50 a.m., Conference Room 100 

CRA/Agenda Review 

Thursday, July 11, 2024, 2:00 p.m., Conference Room 100 

City Council Meeting 

Thursday, July 11, 2024, 3:00 p.m., City Council Chambers 



8 

Board and Commission Vacancies 



9 

 PROCEDURES TO BE FOLLOWED FOR QUASI-JUDICIAL PROCEEDINGS: 

1.  Anyone wishing to speak must fill out a yellow card and present the card to the Clerk. 
All speakers must be sworn prior to presenting testimony. No cards may be submitted after the 
close of Public Comment. Each party and speaker is limited to the time limits set forth herein 
and may not give their time to another speaker or party. Each party and speaker wishing to 
present handouts, photographs, presentation slides or any other materials (collectively, “Materials”) 
during a quasi-judicial proceeding must submit such Materials to the City Clerk no later than 24 
hours in advance of the applicable public hearing. Materials submitted after the deadline will not 
be accepted and may not be used.

2.  At any time during the proceeding, City Council members may ask questions of any speaker 
or party. The time consumed by Council Member questions and answers to such questions shall not 
count against the time frames allowed herein. Burden of proof: in all appeals, the Appellant bears the 
burden of proof; in rezoning and land use cases, the Property Owner or Applicant bears the burden of 
proof except in cases initiated by the City, in which event the City Administration bears the burden of 
proof; for all other applications, the Applicant bears the burden of proof. Waiver of Objection: at any 
time during the proceeding Council Members may leave the Council Chamber for short periods of 
time provided they continue to hear testimony by audio. If any party has an objection to a Council 
Member leaving the Chamber during the hearing, such objection must be made at the start of the 
hearing. If an objection is not made as required herein it shall be deemed to have been waived. 

3.  Reading of the Title of the Ordinance(s), if applicable. 

4.  Initial Presentation. Each party shall be allowed ten (10) minutes for their initial presentation. 
The order of initial presentations shall be:

 a. Presentation by City Administration. 
 b. Presentation by the Appellant followed by the Applicant, if different. If Appellant and 
Applicant are different entities, then each is allowed the allotted time for each part of these 
procedures. 
 c. Presentation by Opponent. If anyone wishes to utilize the initial presentation time provided 
for an Opponent, said person shall register as an Opponent with the City Clerk at least one week prior 
to the scheduled public hearing or within 48 hours after the City staff report for the public hearing 
has been published (whichever is later). If more than one person registers to utilize the initial 
presentation time provided for an Opponent, the registered persons shall attempt to agree on a single 
representative to participate as the Opponent in the proceeding. If the persons cannot agree on a 
single representative, then each person (or person’s representative) shall share equally the time 
allotted to the Opponent for each part of these procedures. If there is an Appellant who is not the 
Applicant or Property Owner, then no Opponent is allowed. If a Property Owner who is not the 
Appellant or the Applicant opposes the Application and utilizes any part of the time available to the 
Property Owner to make an initial presentation, the Opponent shall not be permitted to make an 
initial presentation (but shall be provided an opportunity for cross-examination and rebuttal/closing).
 d. If the Property Owner is neither the Appellant nor the Applicant, they shall be allowed the 
allotted time for each part of these procedures and shall have the opportunity to speak last in each 
part of these procedures so that they have the opportunity to address what all the interested parties 
have presented.



5.  Public Comment. Upon conclusion of the initial presentations, members of the public may 
speak for not more than three (3) minutes each. Speakers shall limit their testimony to information 
relevant to the ordinance or application and criteria for review.

6.  Cross Examination. Each party shall be allowed a total of five (5) minutes for cross 
examination, which includes the time consumed by both questions and answers. Each party who 
opposes the application may only cross examine any witness who previously testified in support of 
the application. Each party who supports the application may only cross examine any witness who 
previously testified in opposition to the application. The questioning party is not permitted to make 
any statements, only to ask questions that are directly related to the testimony or evidence presented. 
All questions shall be addressed to the Chair and then (at the discretion of the Chair) asked either by 
the Chair or by the party conducting the cross examination of the appropriate witness. One (1) 
representative of each party shall conduct the cross examination.  If anyone wishes to utilize the time 
provided for cross examination and rebuttal as an Opponent, and no one has previously registered 
with the City Clerk as an Opponent, said individual shall notify the City Clerk prior to the beginning 
of initial presentations for the applicable public hearing.  If no one gives such notice, there shall be 
no cross examination or rebuttal by Opponent(s).  The order of cross examination shall be:

 a. Cross examination by City Administration. 
 b. Cross examination by Opponents, if applicable. 
 c. Cross examination by Appellant followed by Applicant, followed by Property Owner, if 
different. 

7.  Rebuttal/Closing. Each party shall have five (5) minutes to provide a closing argument and/or 
rebuttal. The order of rebuttal/closing shall be: 

 a. Rebuttal/Closing by City Administration. 
 b. Rebuttal/Closing by Opponent, if applicable. 
 c. Rebuttal/Closing by Applicant followed by the Appellant, if different, followed by Property 
Owner, if different. 

00630194.doc - revised 7/7/2022

10 



11 

The following page(s) contain the backup material for Agenda Item: Ordinance 585-H, An ordinance 

adopting amendments to the Intown Redevelopment Plan (IRP) of the City of St. Petersburg (City), 

increasing the redevelopment program budget in amended table 2 from $232.354  million to 

$574.854 million to fund “ “New Stadium Improvements” and “Historic Gas Plant Redevelopment 

Infrastructure” in the IRP west of 8th street; providing for an extension of the City’s TIF 

contributions through 2042, and allowing modifications to TIF contributions to the IRP 

Redevelopment Trust Fund by the City and Pinellas County; providing for severability; and 

providing an effective date. 

Please scroll down to view the backup material. 



E-1

E-1



ST. PETERSBURG CITY COUNCIL 
City Council Meeting  

June 13, 2024 
 
TO:  The Honorable Deborah Figgs-Sanders, Chair and Members of City Council 
 
FROM:  Tom Greene, Assistant City Administrator 
  Anne A. Fritz, Director, Debt Financing 
 
SUBJECT: Ordinance NO. 585-H Adopting Amendments to Intown Redevelopment Plan 
 
 
REQUEST: 
 
Community Redevelopment Agency recommendation to City Council approving the proposed 
amendments to the Intown Redevelopment Plan. 
 
OVERVIEW:  
As part of the process to approve the Second Amended and Restated Intown Interlocal 
Agreement, the City’s Intown Redevelopment Plan (IRP) requires certain modifications.  
 
Staff has revised Exhibit 1 to reflect the changes. 
 
The modifications include: 
 

• Add the “New Stadium Project” to the Stadium Plan: (page 7-8 of the IRP) 
 

As the Stadium Plan of the IRP calls for Major League Baseball to be played on the site, on 
September 19, 2023, it was announced that the City of St. Petersburg, Pinellas County, 
Tampa Bay Rays, and Hines Development team have agreed to move forward with a new 
state-of-the-art ballpark and a transformational development of the Historic Gas Plant.  
In order to construct the stadium and related improvements, the proposed project would 
include a new stadium and all improvements associated therewith, parking garages, on-
site parking, open space, plazas and paths, public art, and brownfield mitigation.  

 
 
• Add the “Historic Gas Plant Redevelopment Infrastructure” to the Tropicana Field Site: 

(page 8 of the IRP) 
 

The Tropicana Field site represents a catalytic development opportunity for St. Petersburg 
and the region, but preparing the site for redevelopment will require substantial 
improvement  for infrastructure, including roadway and sidewalk improvements and new 
construction, streetlights, structures including bridges, Pinellas Trail and Booker Creek 



CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
JUNE 13, 2024 
PAGE 2 

improvements, environmental and stormwater controls and appurtenances thereto, 
drainage, sanitary sewer, potable water, reclaimed water, publicly-accessible amenities 
and open space, public art, and the demolition of the existing structure known as 
Tropicana Field, parking lots, and other structures and appurtenance.  

.    

• Extending the IRP until 2042, increasing the redevelopment budget to $574.854 million 
to fund the “New Stadium Project” in the amount of $212.5 million; fund the “Historic 
Gas Plant Redevelopment Infrastructure” project at $130 million; and allows the City to 
annually modify the City Contribution percentage, but to no more than sixty 
(60%) percent. (page 8 of the IRP)
To fund the new projects in the IRP, during 2024, the City of St. Petersburg and 
Pinellas County agreed to increase the redevelopment budget to $574.854 million. 
Table 2 was revised to add to the plan the “New Stadium Project” for a total of $212.5 
million and the “Historic Gas Plant Redevelopment Infrastructure” for $130.0 million. It 
also extended the IRP until 2042, and City Contributions may be set annually for an 
amount not to exceed sixty percent.

• Updates the Trust Fund Programming (page 21 of the IRP).
The 2024 amendment included further TIF funding for the New Stadium Project and 
Historic Gas Plant Redevelopment Infrastructure. These include $212.5 million for the 
New Stadium Project to include:

• New stadium including all improvements associated therewith
• Two parking garages
• On-site parking
• Open space, plazas, paths
• Public art
• Brownfields mitigation/remediation



CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
JUNE 13, 2024 
PAGE 3 

• Updates the language for the return of surplus to reflect Pinellas County requested
modification (page 22 of the IRP).
Any surplus remaining in the IRP Redevelopment Trust Fund after completion of the
Tropicana Field projects identified in Amended  Revised Table 2 will be returned to the
City of St. Petersburg and Pinellas County. Per the 2024 amendment, the surplus
amount from Pinellas County will be paid to the Tampa Bay Rays after completion of the
new stadium project to be utilized for debt service on the new stadium project. Further,
the amendment extended the agreement from April 7, 2032 until April 7, 2042, while
maintaining a sunset date for County contributions ending April 7, 2032.

• Amends Table 2 of the CRA Plan to apply the CRA’s Tax Increment Financing funds to add
the New Stadium Project, which include a new stadium and all improvements associated
therewith, parking garages, on-site parking, open space, plazas and paths, public art, and
brownfield mitigation ($212.5 million) and the Infrastructure for the Historic Gas
Plant Redevelopment Project ($130 million).  The City Contribution will be extended from
2032-2042 and will be subject to annual modification by the City as required, but not to
exceed sixty percent (60%). (page 45 of the IRP).

In addition, this amendment includes $130 million for the following Historic 
Gas Plant Redevelopment Infrastructure:   

• Roadway/sidewalk improvements and new construction
• Streetlights
• Structures including bridges, Pinellas Trail and Booker Creek improvements, 

environmental and stormwater controls, and appurtenances thereto
• Drainage
• Sanitary sewer
• Potable water
• Reclaimed water
• Publicly-accessible amenities and open space
• Public art
• Demolition of the existing structure known as Tropicana Field, parking lots, 

and other structures and appurtenances.



CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
JUNE 13, 2024 
PAGE 4 

ATTACHMENTS: 
• Ordinance 585-H with the 2024 Updates to the Intown Redevelopment Plan

The Administration recommends approval of the Intown Redevelopment Plan. With the public hearing 
meeting, City Council will be required to convene as the CRA to also adopt a Resolution approving the IRP.  



ORDINANCE NO. 585-H 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING AMENDMENTS TO 
THE INTOWN REDEVELOPMENT PLAN (IRP) OF 
THE CITY OF ST. PETERSBURG (CITY), 
INCREASING THE REDEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 
BUDGET IN AMENDED TABLE 2 FROM $232.354 
MILLION TO $574.854 MILLION TO FUND “ “NEW 
STADIUM PROJECT” AND “HISTORIC GAS PLANT 
REDEVELOPMENT INFRASTRUCTURE” IN THE 
IRP WEST OF 8TH STREET; PROVIDING FOR AN 
EXTENSION OF THE CITY’S TIF CONTRIBUTIONS 
THROUGH 2042, AND ALLOWING 
MODIFICATIONS TO TIF CONTRIBUTIONS TO 
THE IRP REDEVELOPMENT TRUST FUND BY THE 
CITY AND PINELLAS COUNTY; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

WHEREAS, the City of St. Petersburg approved the Intown Redevelopment Plan 
(IRP) to revitalize the City’s original downtown core area and waterfront for urban 
entertainment, sports, residential, commercial, institutional and office uses; and 

WHEREAS, the Stadium Plan of the IRP calls for Major League Baseball to be 
played on the site, and on September 19, 2023 it was announced that the City of St. Petersburg, 
Pinellas County, Tampa Bay Rays, and Hines Development team have agreed to move forward 
with a new state-of-the-art ballpark and a transformational development of the Historic Gas 
Plant.  In order to construct the stadium and related improvements, the proposed project would 
include a new stadium and all improvements associated therewith, parking garages, on-site 
parking, open space, plazas and paths, public art, and brownfield mitigation; and 

WHEREAS, the Tropicana Field site represents a catalytic development 
opportunity for St. Petersburg and the region, but preparing the site for redevelopment will 
require substantial improvement  for infrastructure, including roadway and sidewalk 
improvements and new construction, streetlights, structures including bridges, Pinellas Trail and 
Booker Creek improvements, environmental and stormwater controls and appurtenances thereto, 
drainage, sanitary sewer, potable water, reclaimed water, publicly-accessible amenities and open 
space, public art, and the demolition of the existing structure known as Tropicana Field, parking 
lots, and other structures and appurtenances; and 

WHEREAS, Section 163.387(3)(b), F.S. allows the City of St. Petersburg (City) 
and Pinellas County (County) to modify their tax increment financing contributions to the IRP 
Redevelopment Trust Fund outside of the parameters defined by Florida Statutes through an 
interlocal agreement, but not to exceed 60% in a given year for City contributions while 
maintaining a 50% contribution from the County; and 

WHEREAS, Section 163.387(2)(a), F.S. allows the City and County to modify 
the IRP to allow for an extension of City TIF contributions to the IRP Redevelopment Trust 



Fund from 2032 to 2042, while maintaining a sunset date for County contributions ending in 
2032; and 

 
WHEREAS, in 2005, the St. Petersburg City Council and the Pinellas County 

Board of County Commissioners first approved the “Interlocal Agreement between the City of 
St. Petersburg, Florida and Pinellas County, Florida for the Commitment of Tax Increment 
Revenues in the Intown Redevelopment Area” (Interlocal Agreement) and have since approved 
four amendments, a restatement of the Interlocal Agreement, an amendment to the amended and 
restated Interlocal Agreement, and, concurrently with this Ordinance, a Second Amended and 
Restated Interlocal Agreement.  

 
THE CITY OF ST. PETERSBURG DOES HEREBY ORDAIN: 
 
Section 1.   The Intown Redevelopment Plan (IRP) is hereby amended to read 

as provided in Exhibit 1 of this Ordinance, which is attached hereto and incorporated herein.  
 
Section 2.   Words that are struck through shall be deleted from the existing 

IRP and language that is underlined shall be added to the existing IRP.  Provisions not 
specifically amended shall continue in full force and effect. 

 
Section 3.  Severability.  The provisions of this ordinance shall be deemed to 

be severable.  If any portion of this ordinance is deemed unconstitutional, it shall not affect the 
constitutionality of any other portion of this ordinance. 

 
Section 4.   Compliance with §166.041(4), Florida Statutes.  A business impact 

estimate was prepared for this ordinance and posted on the City’s website no later than the date 
the notice of the proposed ordinance was published. 

 
Section 5.   Effective Date.  In the event this ordinance is not vetoed by the 

Mayor in accordance with the City Charter, it shall become effective when the Board of County 
Commissioners approves it as an amendment to the IRP.  In the event this ordinance is vetoed by 
the Mayor in accordance with the City Charter, it shall not become effective unless and until the 
City Council overrides the veto in accordance with the City Charter, in which case it shall 
become effective as described above.  

 
 
_/s/: Michael J. Dema____ 
City Attorney (designee) 
00748076 
 

 
 



Exhibit 1 



Intown Redevelopment Plan 

St. Petersburg, Florida 
Intown Redevelopment Plan 1



Intown Redevelopment Plan 
MAYOR/CRA EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

Kenneth Welch 

CITY COUNCIL/COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY (CRA) 

Deborah Figgs-Sanders, Chair 
Copley Gerdes, Vice Chair 

Gina Driscoll 
Richie Floyd 

Brandi Gabbard 
Lisset Hanewicz 
Ed Montanari 

John Muhammad 

ADMINISTRATION 
Robert Gerdes, City Administrator 

James Corbett, City Development Administrator 

Originally Adopted in March 1982 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 2



INTRODUCTION 
Introduction 5 
Project Description 5 
Project Area 
Redevelopment Roles 

9 
10 

Redevelopment Activities 10 
Objectives and Strategies 11 
Methods of Financing 12 

PLAN IMPLEMENTATION 
Implementation Approach 16 
Plan Emphasis 16 
Trust Fund Programming 18 
Public Improvement Project 21 

- Core Area Project
- Historic Preservation

22 
28 

- Duke Energy Center for the Arts 28 
- Webb’s City 30 
- The Downtown Waterfront Area 30 
- Residential Development Program 34 
- Transportation Program 37 
- Plaza Parkway Program 39 
- Utility Program 39 
- Stadium Plan 39 
- Other Projects 41 
- Summary 43 

Administrative and Relocation Costs 43 
Property Disposition and Development Policy 43 
Enforcement 47 
Design and Development Guidelines 47 

NEIGHBORHOOD IMPACTS 
Neighborhood Impact 55 
Residential Development 57 
Environmental Quality 58 
Other Benefits 60 

APPENDICES 
Appendix A - Legal Documents 
Appendix B - Plaza Parkway Design Guidelines 

MAPS, TABLES AND FIGURES 
Maps 
1 CRAs in Downtown St. Petersburg 2 
2 Intown Redevelopment Area 4 
3 Zoning Map 12 
4 Key Development Blocks in Downtown 17 
5 Streetscape Requirements 21 
6 Webb’s City Area 25 
7 Public Improvement Projects 32 

Tables 
1 Major Public Improvement Projects 

Implemented between 1982 and 2004) 
35 

2 TIF Funding Required for New Public  
Improvement Projects (2005-2035) 

37 

Figures 
1 Duke Energy Center for the Arts and Environs 23 
2 The Downtown Waterfront Area 27 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 3



Introduction 
Intown Redevelopment Plan 4



INTRODUCTION 

The Intown Redevelopment Plan (IRP) is the revitalization plan 
for the downtown. The development and implementation of 
the plan involves the efforts of City Council, the Community 
Redevelopment Agency, and the residential, financial, and 
business communities. 

The Intown Redevelopment Plan (IRP) provides mechanisms 
and programs for coordinating and facilitating public and 
private improvements to encourage revitalization. The 
authority and powers invested in this plan come from the 
Community Redevelopment Act of 1969 (Florida Statutes, 
Chapter 163, Part III). 

The Community Redevelopment Act grants local municipalities 
and local redevelopment agencies the authority to undertake 
community redevelopment projects following the designation 
of a redevelopment area to be of slum or blight, or a 
combination thereof. 

Once an area has been declared appropriate for 
redevelopment, a community redevelopment plan is 
prepared. Before the plan is approved, the local governing 
body must hold a public hearing on the proposed plan. 

In conjunction with preparing the plan, a redevelopment 
agency must be established to carry out the plan. On June 30, 
1981, the City Council received redevelopment powers from 
the Pinellas County Board of Commissioners. Then the City 
Council of the City of St. Petersburg declared itself the 

Community Redevelopment Agency for the Intown 
Redevelopment Plan (See Appendix A). 

The Intown Redevelopment Plan was the second of four 
community redevelopment plans adopted for Downtown and 
its environs to promote revitalization (see Map 1). The first, the 
Jamestown Redevelopment Area, was established in 1977 and 
expired in 2007.   

The 193-acre Bayboro Harbor Community Redevelopment Plan 
was approved in December 1985, with a tax increment 
financing (TIF) district approved in March 1988. The CRA and 
TIF district expired in March 2018.  

The 123-acre Intown West Redevelopment Area lies north and 
west of Tropicana Field, and was created in 1990, with a tax 
increment district.  Intown West was created to capitalize on 
the development of Tropicana Field and the eventual award of 
a Major League Baseball franchise. Specific issues the IWRP 
attempts to address include physical deterioration of 
structures and properties, poor visual identity and lack of a 
unified architectural theme or development pattern.  

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

The redevelopment of Intown has been a long-standing goal in 
St. Petersburg. It was recognized in the Goals for St. Petersburg 
1973, the 1977 Intown Sector Land Use Plan, and, in 1979, the 
Intown Design and Development Program (IDDP). Given the 
above precedents, part of Intown Sector (see Map 2) has been 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 5



Intown Redevelopment Plan 6



identified as suitable for redevelopment as required under 
Chapter 163, Part III. 
 

The redevelopment area is outlined on Map 2 and covers 309 
acres, excluding rights-of-way. This area was declared suitable 
for redevelopment on December 17, 1981, (see Appendix A). 
Since its 1982 adoption, the IRP has been modified in response 
to changing market conditions, including amendments in 1995 
that refined the plan emphasis for the Core, Waterfront, Duke 
Energy Center for the Arts and other project areas (see 
Ordinance No. 205-G).   
 
In 2005, the City of St. Petersburg amended the Intown 
Redevelopment Plan to establish April 7, 2032, as its expiration 
date and utilize its tax increment financing revenue until that 
date to bond public projects related to the Pier, improvements 
to the Duke Energy Center for the Arts, finance a mixed-use 
parking garage/transportation facility in an appropriate 
location within the IRP area, and fund pedestrian, streetscape 
and park improvements within the tax increment district. 
  
In 2015, the City amended the IRP to add $20 million in 
budgetary authority to fund public improvements identified in 
the Downtown Waterfront Master Plan. Pinellas County’s 
obligation to appropriate tax increment revenues was to 
terminate the earlier of April 7, 2032, or at such time as the 
$117.4 million in funding required to pay for these projects has 
been repaid. Pinellas County’s annual contribution to the 
Intown Redevelopment Trust Fund was also reduced from 95 
percent to 85 percent of the increment increase in the IRP’s 
property values. 

 
A further amendment to the IRP in 2017 stipulated that the 
total TIF contributions needed to complete the IRP’s $117.4-
million redevelopment program identified in Revised Table 2 
were not to exceed $190,984,882 as calculated since the 
approval of the 2005 IRP Interlocal Agreement. However, this 
ceiling on TIF contributions was not designed to prevent the 
City of St. Petersburg and Pinellas County from having future 
discussions regarding potential projects within the Intown CRA 
and amending the Intown Interlocal Agreement, if mutually 
agreed upon, to effectuate the implementation of those 
projects.  
 
In 2018, the City of St. Petersburg and Pinellas County agreed 
to increase the redevelopment budget to $232.4 million in 
exchange for reductions in both parties’ annual contributions 
to the Intown Redevelopment Trust Fund for the duration of 
the Plan.  Beginning in FY2019, the County’s contribution to the 
Fund will be reduced from 85 percent to 75 percent, while the 
City’s contribution will be reduced from 95 percent to 75 
percent.  Beginning in FY2023, both the County’s and City’s 
contribution to the Fund will be further reduced from 75 
percent to 50 percent. Beginning in FY2023, both the County’s 
and City’s contribution to the Fund will be further reduced 
from 75 percent to 50 percent. Unless mutually agreed upon 
by the City of St. Petersburg and Pinellas County, County TIF 
contributions to the IRP Redevelopment Trust Fund for its 
duration are not to exceed $108,100,000. 
 
As the Stadium Plan of the IRP calls for Major League Baseball 
to be played on the site, on September 19, 2023 it was 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 7



announced that the City of St. Petersburg, Pinellas County, 
Tampa Bay Rays, and Hines Development team have agreed to 
move forward with a new state-of-the-art ballpark and a 
transformational development of the Historic Gas Plant.  In 
order to construct the stadium and related improvements, the 
proposed project would include a new stadium and all 
improvements associated therewith, parking garages, on-site 
parking, open space, plazas and paths, public art, and 
brownfield mitigation.  
 
The Tropicana Field site represents a catalytic development 
opportunity for St. Petersburg and the region, but preparing the 
site for redevelopment will require substantial improvement  for 
infrastructure, including roadway and sidewalk improvements 
and new construction, streetlights, structures including bridges, 
Pinellas Trail and Booker Creek improvements, environmental 
and stormwater controls and appurtenances thereto, drainage, 
sanitary sewer, potable water, reclaimed water, publicly-
accessible amenities and open space, public art, and the 
demolition of the existing structure known as Tropicana Field, 
parking lots, and other structures and appurtenance.  
 
To fund the new projects in the IRP, during 2024, the City of St. 
Petersburg and Pinellas County agreed to increase the 
redevelopment budget to $574.854 million. Table 2 was 
revised to add to the plan the “New Stadium Project” for a 
total of $212.5 million and the “Historic Gas Plant 
Redevelopment Infrastructure” for $130.0 million. It also 
extended the IRP until 2042, and City Contributions may be set 
annually for an amount not to exceed sixty percent. 
 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 8



Intown Redevelopment Plan 9



PROJECT AREA 

The Intown Redevelopment Area extends from Tampa Bay in 
the east to Tropicana Field in the west with its written 
description as follows: 

Starting at a point located at 7th Avenue N.E. extended and Tampa Bay 
moving west along 7th Avenue N. E. to Beach Drive, South along Beach 
Drive to 5th Avenue North, West along 5th Avenue North to 2nd Street, 
South along 2nd Street to 4th Avenue North, West along 4th Avenue 
North to 3rd Street, South along 3rd Street to 3rd Avenue North, East 
along 3rd Avenue North to 2nd Street, South along 2nd Street to 2nd 
Avenue North, West along 2nd Avenue North to 3rd Street, South along 
3rd Street to 1st Avenue North, West along 1st Avenue North to 6th 
Street, North along 6th Street to Mirror Lake Drive, West along Mirror 
Lake Drive to Arlington Avenue, Westerly along Arlington Avenue to 7th 
Street, South along 7th Street to 1st Avenue North, West along 1st 
Avenue North to 8th Street, South along 8th Street to 1st Avenue South, 
West along 1st Avenue South to 16th Street. South along 16th Street to I-
175, East along I-175 to 4th Street, South on 4th Street to 5th Avenue 
South, East along 5th Avenue South to 3rd Street, North along 3rd Street to 
4th Avenue South, East along 4th Avenue South to 2nd Street, South 
along 2nd Street to 5th Avenue South, Easterly along 5th Avenue South to 
Bayshore Drive, Easterly along Bayshore Drive to the Southern boundary 
of Municipal Parking Lot No. 51 on Plat Sheets D-I, D-3 and E-3 of the 
Official Zoning Map of the City of St. Petersburg, Easterly along the 
Southern boundary of Municipal Parking Lot No. 51, then Northerly along 
the Eastern boundary of Municipal Parking Lot No. 51 to Tampa Bay, 
Northerly along the coastline including any natural or artificial structures 
or land masses emanating from the coastline to a point located at the 
intersection of 7th Avenue N. E. extended and Tampa Bay; less the area 
beginning at the intersection of 1st Avenue South and 7th Street, South 
along 7th Street to 2nd Avenue South, East along 2nd Avenue South to 
5th Street, South along 5th Street to 3rd Avenue South, East along 3rd 
Avenue South to 4th Street, North along 4th Street to 1st Avenue South, 
West along 1st Avenue South to 7th Street. 

Within the redevelopment area are four important focus areas 
for new development: the Core, Webb's City, the Stadium 
Complex and surrounding residential areas (see Map 2). The 
first focus area is the Core, which also encompasses the 
waterfront. The integration of the Core and waterfront into a 
single focus area recognizes the importance of unifying these 
areas, which is a vital and unique part of the Intown and 
downtown revitalization. 

Webb's City represents the second focus area and consists of 
the former Webb's City Department Store site and adjacent 
parcels. The Webb's City Department Store had functioned 
over the years as a residential service center as well as a tourist 
attraction.  However, Webb's City Incorporated became 
financially troubled in 1976. 

In January 1981, the City's involvement with Webb's City 
redevelopment program occurred when the Economic 
Development Administration transferred title of its property to 
the City. The City, in return, began making payments to EDA on 
the $1.1 million transaction on February 18, 1987. 

The Stadium Complex is the third focus area and is located 
between Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. and 16th Streets and 
between 1st Avenue South and 1-175. The Stadium Complex, 
formerly known as the Gas Plant area, was declared a 
redevelopment area by City Council on September 7, 1978, 
under Chapter 163, Part III, F.S.; (Council Resolution 78-738). 
Initially envisioned to support industrial park and residential 
development, the Gas Plant Redevelopment Plan, which 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 10



included plans to construct a multipurpose stadium on the site, 
was incorporated into the Intown Redevelopment Plan in 1983 
(Ord. No. 669-F). Land acquisition and construction took the 
remainder of the decade, with the new domed stadium 
officially opened to the public on March 3, 1990. 

The surrounding residential areas represent an important facet 
of establishing a permanent residential base in the downtown 
and providing for a 24-hour working, living and recreational 
activity center. 

REDEVELOPMENT ROLES 

The City Council is the Community Redevelopment Agency 
(CRA) of the Intown Redevelopment Area and reviews certain 
projects for consistency with the Intown Redevelopment Plan, 
according to project cost thresholds adopted by resolution. The 
CRA has the authority to recommend amendments to the 
Redevelopment Plan (“Plan") with final approval by the City 
Council. As part of any redevelopment process, there may be 
times when appropriate modifications to the Plan are 
necessary. 

Under Chapter 163, F.S., the governing body (City Council) has 
the authority to amend the Plan in conjunction with holding a 
public hearing. All plan changes, modifications, and 
amendments shall also be approved by the Pinellas County 
Board of County Commissioners. 

REDEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES 

The St. Petersburg City Council, acting as the Community Rede-
velopment Agency, will achieve the goal of downtown 
revitalization, in conformance with this adopted Plan, through 
the following implementation techniques and as further 
described in this Plan: 

1. Acquisition of real property, as provided for under
Chapter 163, F.S.;

2. Demolition, removal or clearance of existing building,
structures and improvements and preparation of the
project area as defined by this Plan;

 
3. Rehabilitation of certain existing structures, as defined

in the Design and Development Guidelines section;

4. A relocation of site occupants presently residing in
structures that are acquired by the Community
Redevelopment Agency, as set forth in the
Neighborhood Impact Chapter;

5. Construction of public improvements as deemed
necessary to implement the Plan, encourage private
investment and provide for the overall benefit of the
City;

6. Disposition, by sale or lease, of property within the
redevelopment area to private enterprises or for public
purposes for uses in accord with this Plan and with such

Intown Redevelopment Plan 11



other conditions, disposition agreements and 
covenants running with the land as are necessary to 
ensure implementation of the Plan; 

7. Formulation and Administration of rules governing
reasonable preference to persons who are engaged in
business within the redeveloped area if feasible and to
establish rules governing the right of owners to
participate in the redevelopment process.

8. Establish design and development guidelines to ensure
new development and rehabilitation of existing
structures are compatible with the surrounding area
and conform to sound urban design practices; and

9. Management of property acquired by the CRA from the
time of acquisition until disposition of the property.

OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES 

The overall planning framework for the specific redevelopment 
programs of the IRP area is based on the 1979 Intown Design 
and Development Program (IDDP) and the 1977 Intown Sector 
Land Use Plan. These documents provide the framework for 
encouraging private development and rehabilitation. The 
overall objectives of the redevelopment plan are listed below: 

A. ENCOURAGE AND REINFORCE DEVELOPMENT

1. Encourage economic activity through the development
of a unified commercial core area.

2. Formulate a participatory (public/private) approach to
redevelopment.

3. Explore and develop organizational and leveraging
devices to encourage private investment, such as
construction of public improvements, establishment of
a development corporation, and use of tax increment
financing, interest subsidies, loan guarantees, and
federal grants.

4. Define a mixed-use and middle income residential
development project, formulating prototype design
criteria and strategies and utilizing a participatory (pub-
lic/private) development concept for marketing and
packaging the project.

5. Provide support services for residential development.

6. Provide economic and employment opportunities for all
citizens, with special emphasis on the disadvantaged
and unemployed persons, working closely with the
private sector and other organizations to promote the
revitalization of Downtown St. Petersburg.

7. Continue the Waterfront Plan, Downtown Core Area,
the Stadium Plan, Webb’s City and Duke Energy Center
for the Arts projects.

B. PROVIDE GREATER ACCESSIBILITY TO INTOWN ACTIVITY
AREAS AND VISUAL ASSETS THROUGH THE DEVELOPMENT

Intown Redevelopment Plan 12



OF AN INTEGRATED MOVEMENT SYSTEM FOR VEHICLES, 
TRANSIT, PEDESTRIANS AND PARKING. 

  
1. Develop a pedestrian system based on pedestrian 

counts and surveys in addition to current and projected 
development activity. 
 

2. Utilize existing sidewalks and alleys for establishing a 
pedestrian system base. 
 

3. Determine current and projected Intown vehicular 
circulation patterns by defining major roadways and 
their connecting streets, and identifying current and 
future activity nodes. 

 
4. Determine appropriate areas to locate future parking 

facilities, de-emphasizing surface parking and focusing 
on potential areas for joint venture parking facility 
development. 
 

5. Pursue a regional premium transit system with multiple 
downtown stations that serve Intown’s existing activity 
areas and promote the development and expansion of 
others.  
 

C. ENSURE THAT THE FORM OF NEW DEVELOPMENT AND 
REDEVELOPMENT PROMOTES, REINFORCES AND 
MAINTAINS THE HISTORIC, CULTURAL AND AESTHETIC 
INTEGRITY OF THE INTOWN REDEVELOPMENT AREA.  

 

1. Maintain strict enforcement of City codes related to 
landscaping and signage through increased inspection. 

 

2. Continue the beautification program (landscaping, 
street graphics and lighting) along Intown’s visual 
corridors, utilizing where appropriate the streets 
earmarked for the Street Tree Planting Program, and 
encouraging private sector participation, through the 
Chamber of Commerce and other interested 
organizations, in maintaining the aesthetic appearance 
of this vegetation. 

 

3. Develop design criteria and prototypes related to 
sidewalk textures, service delivery, landscaping, 
pedestrian facilities, pedestrian crossings, pedestrian 
lighting, sun and shade, and connections between 
buildings and public and private open space. 

 

4. Develop prototypes for design of required open space 
to encourage quality design and establish concepts for 
relating building form and green space to other build-
ings, street and pedestrian systems and historic 
elements. 

 

5. Increase Intown green open space through 
development of a landscaped pedestrian system and 
the Street Tree Planting Program and encourage 
developers to provide increased open space through 
incentives. 

 

METHODS OF FINANCING 
 
There are several funding techniques that will be utilized to 
finance redevelopment. The following is a brief explanation of 
these techniques. 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 13



• Tax increment financing is a redevelopment funding
mechanism established under Chapter 163 (Community
Redevelopment Act) of the Florida Statutes. As a financial
tool, it provides that the assessed value of a designated
redevelopment area may be frozen upon establishment of
a redevelopment plan. The frozen base continues to be
available to all local taxing agencies for operating purposes
throughout the duration of the redevelopment project.

However, any growth in assessed value over the frozen
base is reserved for the repayment of indebtedness
incurred by the Community Redevelopment Agency in
conjunction with redeveloping the area. The tax revenue
generated by the redevelopment area is placed into a tax
increment trust fund (T.I. Trust Fund or Trust Fund).

The property tax rates of local agencies continue to apply
to this assessed value increment, but the revenue
resulting therefrom is not available to other local taxing
agencies (except the School Board) until all project
indebtedness has been repaid.

• When available, Federal funds will continue to be used for
downtown redevelopment projects.

• Industrial Revenue or Development Bonds (Chapter 159,
Part III, F.S.) may be issued by the City to finance private
improvements on behalf of a developer for project
construction. The developer is responsible for the debt
service.

• Revenue bonds can be issued by the City to finance public
improvements e.g. parking structures and debt service
paid back through parking revenues or a special fund.

• A special assessment district can be established for the
purpose of assessing property owners for public
improvements e.g. sidewalk improvements.

These financing methods will be used by the City in conjunction 
with the Community Redevelopment Agency and private sector 
to implement a comprehensive program for redevelopment. 

Since the necessary components of a redevelopment program 
can be quite diverse, the available funding sources for each 
specific redevelopment component will be explored to the 
extent appropriate. The scope and quality of redevelopment 
may depend on a municipality's ability to complement the 
objectives of the redevelopment program and lower 
development costs to the private sector. 

Summarized on the following page are some typical 
components of a hypothetical large-scale redevelopment 
project. These components are matched with potential 
available financing sources. Please note that one or more 
financing sources may be used. 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 14



Typical Project Components Financing Sources 

• Land acquisition, demolition of existing improvements, site grading 
and preparation of site for construction.

• Proceeds of tax increment bonds. Sale of property to developer.
Developer advances credited to future outlays. Downtown
Improvement Corporation.

• Infrastructure (location or relocation of utilities, the closing or
opening of public streets and/or sidewalks, the construction and
maintenance of public roads, sidewalks, skywalks and lighting).

• Proceeds of tax increment bonds. State and Federal grants.

• Public parking facilities (grade level and structure). • Parking revenue bonds. Proceeds of tax increment bonds.

• Public recreational facilities (athletic facilities, parks, docks, etc.). • Proceeds of tax increment bonds. Federal loans and grants. User
fees.

• Municipal facilities (city hall, police station, library, etc.) • Municipal general obligation bonds.

• Mass public facilities (convention hall, arena, museum, theatre,
etc.).

• Municipal non-ad valorem revenue or general obligation bonds.
Resort tax. Industrial development bonds.

• Commercial/retail facilities (hotels, restaurants, offices and
specialty retail).

• Industrial development bonds. Conventional mortgage financing.
Federal loans, grants and guaranties.

• Manufacturing/warehousing facilities. • Industrial development bonds. Conventional mortgage financing.
Federal loans, grants and guaranties.

• Middle-to-upper income multi-family housing (condominium and
rental).

• Conventional mortgage financing. Local single-family mortgage
revenue bond financing.

• Historic rehabilitation and restoration. • Federal loans or grants. Industrial development bonds for
commercial operations.

Intown Redevelopment Plan 15



Plan Implementation 
Intown Redevelopment Plan 16



IMPLEMENTATION APPROACH 
 
The overall implementation program revolves around 
adherence to a comprehensive program approach focusing on: 
 
1. Public improvements, such as parking and sidewalk 

improvements, developed in conjunction with private 
sector projects; 

 
2. Design programs and guidelines to ensure design 

compatibility between buildings and blocks and within 
the Intown as a whole; 

 
3. Financial involvement by the City through tax increment 

financing, by State and Federal funding sources, and by 
financial institutions that create the types of lending 
programs necessary to accomplish downtown 
revitalization. This involvement focuses on utilizing public 
funds to generate greater private investment through 
leveraging techniques; 

 
4. The organization of downtown activities through a 

centralized agency or group working with the City and 
merchants for the purpose of promotion, administration, 
and business development. This should also include 
lobbying efforts to modify existing and promote new 
state legislation favorable to downtown development. 

 

1 Map 3 is for illustrative purposes. Please refer to the City’s Official Zoning 
Map for the most up-to-date information.  

PLAN EMPHASIS 
 
Part of the plan implementation is developing an overall land 
use emphasis in order to achieve the concentration and form 
of development desired. Map 3 depicts the Downtown Center 
zoning districts within the redevelopment area that implement 
the land use focus for Intown.0F0F

1
P The uses indicated correspond 

to the Downtown Center zoning within each block as well as 
the Intown Sector Land Use Plan. This plan is in compliance 
with the City's Comprehensive Plan prepared under Chapter 
163, Part II, F.S. 
 
The central portion of the Downtown Core area is defined as a 
mixed use emphasis, either office, retail, residential or a 
combination thereof, reflecting the importance of concentrat-
ing intense office and major retail activity within this small 
area. This concentration achieves a 24-hour activity center and 
emphasizes a pedestrian orientation. The surrounding blocks 
provide a support base with mixed-use activities (office, 
residential and/or minor retail), with a specialty retail focus 
along the waterfront. 
 
The Webb's City area will provide essential residential support 
services as well as expanding the employment base through 
office development. Another important emphasis for the 
Webb's City area is market rate housing. 
  

Intown Redevelopment Plan 17



  

Intown Redevelopment Plan 18



The plan for the Stadium Complex is substantially complete 
with the construction of the stadium and attraction of a Major 
League Baseball franchise but ongoing refinements can be 
expected in order to meet the evolving needs of baseball and 
its fans.  
 
The plan emphasis is designed to reflect the various activities 
for each focus area as implemented through the Downtown 
Center zoning districts and how these activity concentrations 
should integrate and support each other. Residential uses will 
be allowed throughout the redevelopment area, either as a 
permitted use or through the special exception or streamline 
approval processes provided by the land development 
regulations. 

 
Open space and street layouts are depicted on Map 3. In 
addition, the limitation on the size and type of development in 
the area is governed by the City's Land Development 
Regulations, including open space and parking requirements 
and this Plan. 

 

TRUST FUND PROGRAMMING  

The City of St. Petersburg approved the Intown Redevelopment 
Plan (IRP) to revitalize the city’s original downtown core area 
and waterfront for urban entertainment, residential, 
commercial, institutional, and office uses.  To stimulate private 
investment within Intown through public improvements, the 

2 TIF is a method of facilitating redevelopment by utilizing future city and county real 
property tax revenues to pay for public improvements. TIF earmarks any future 

City also established a tax increment financing district and 
issued bonds totaling $72.5 million to pay for these 
improvements.1FP1F1F

2
P Through four separate bond issues in 1984, 

1985 and two in 1989, the City issued bonds to pay for projects 
such as improvements to Bayfront Center (now UDukeU Energy 
Center for the Arts) and the Pier, South Core garage, 
streetscape improvements, land acquisition, Tropicana Field 
improvements and other public initiatives. 

In 2005, the City amended the IRP to extend until 2032 its use 
of tax increment financing to fund public improvement projects 
throughout Intown (see Ordinance 715-G and interlocal 
agreement in Appendix A).  In addition to renovations to the 
Mahaffey Theater, the extension was designed to pay for 
projects such as the Pier project and its approach, a mixed-use 
transportation facility, pedestrian and streetscape 
improvements as well as improvements to the waterfront park 
system. The TIF related costs of these projects were approved 
by Pinellas County via interlocal agreement in the amount of 
$95.4 million. The interlocal agreement also specified that on 
or before April 7, 2020, Pinellas County will conduct a fifteen-
year review of its TIF contribution to the IRP Redevelopment 
Trust Fund to determine if it will continue, reduce or eliminate 
its contribution. The details of that review can be found in 
Section 38-61 of the Pinellas County Code of Ordinances. 
 
In 2006, the City Council and Pinellas County increased this 
amount to provide an additional $2 million in tax increment 
financing proceeds to complete the Mahaffey Theater 

growth in real property taxable values from the year the tax increment financing 
district is designated to pay for the cost of improvements. 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 19



renovation project (see Ordinance 762-G and Appendix A). In 
2010, City Council approved $2.5 million from tax increment 
financing for use at the DukeU Energy Center for the  
Arts to augment needed funding to complete the new Salvador 
Dali Museum. Pinellas County matched the City’s funding with 
monies available through the Tourist Development Tax.  UIn 
2015, the City amended the IRP to add $20 million in 
budgetary authority to fund public improvements identified in 
the Downtown Waterfront Master Plan approved in June 2015. 
 
City Council approved plan amendments in 2017 that 
established a ceiling of $190,984,882 for total TIF contributions 
needed to complete the IRP program, while reallocating 
funding for projects identified in Revised Table 2 below.2F

3 The 
total IRP budget at the time of $117.354 million remained 
unchanged. This ceiling on TIF contributions shall not prevent 
the City of St. Petersburg and Pinellas County from having 
future discussions regarding potential projects within the 
Intown CRA and amending the Intown Interlocal Agreement, if 
mutually agreed upon, to effectuate the implementation of 
those projects.  
 
Revised Table 2 was amended to delete the $14-million “Mixed 
Use Transportation Facility” and reallocated its funding to 
other approved projects in the following manner:  
 

• expend up to $10 million in TIF on (i) “Enhancements to 
the Municipal Pier Project” and/or (ii) “Enhancements to 

3 The contribution ceiling was based on prior and future TIF expenditures 
for projects and associated debt service costs incurred since the approval of 
the 2005 IRP Interlocal Agreement to the completion of the IRP program. 

the Downtown Waterfront Master Plan Improvements in 
the Pier District”:  

 
• expend $4 million on “Downtown Transportation and 

Parking Improvements” throughout the Intown 
Redevelopment Area; and  
 

• allocate to “Downtown Transportation and Parking 
Improvements” any remaining amount of the $10 
million not spent on enhancements to the “Municipal 
Pier Project” and/or “Downtown Waterfront Master Plan 
Improvements in the Pier District”. 

 
Revised Table 2 was further amended in 2018 to increase the 
eligible project costs by $115 million from $117.354 to 
$232.354 million. Up to $40 million in TIF funding was 
approved for projects east of 8th Street3F

4 that support  

• waterfront infrastructure related to resiliency and 
adaptation measures such as seawalls and marina 
improvements;  

• rehabilitation and conservation of historic properties, 
which are defined as those listed individually on the 
Local Register of Historic Places or National Register of 
Historic Places, or contributing structures in Local or 
National Register districts;  

• transit infrastructure projects; and  
• parking improvements. 

4 Tax increment funding from the IRP Redevelopment Trust Fund can be 
spent on projects east of 8th Street’s center right-of-way line. 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 20



TIF contributions from both the City of St. Petersburg and 
Pinellas County can be used for projects related to waterfront 
and transit infrastructure as well as rehabilitation or 
conservation of historic properties.  Only City TIF contributions 
can be expended towards parking improvements. Any surplus 
remaining from the $40 million budget can be used to fund 
projects west of 8th Street identified in Revised Table 2 and 
described below. 
 
The 2018 amendment to the IRP also approved the 
expenditure of no less than $75 million in TIF funding for 
redevelopment infrastructure improvements west of 8th Street 
related to the redevelopment of Tropicana Field.  These 
improvements could include  
 

• brownfield mitigation and remediation to enable 
redevelopment; 

• public open space amenities on the site including   
improvements that support the reactivation of Booker 
Creek;  

• streetscape improvements that provide public rights-of-
way such as alleys, sidewalks, pedestrian facilities and 
streets that assist in reestablishing the grid network on 
Tropicana Field and connect it with surrounding 
neighborhoods; 

• transit infrastructure and improvements; and 
• parking improvements.  

 

• Brownfields mitigation/remediation.     
 
In addition, this amendment includes $130 million for the 
following Historic Gas Plant Redevelopment Infrastructure: 
 

• Demolition of the existing structure known as Tropicana 
Field, parking lots, and other structures and 
appurtenances. 

 

The 2024 amendment included further TIF funding for the New 
Stadium Project and Historic Gas Plant  Redevelopment 
Infrastructure. These include $212.5 million for the New 
Stadium Project to include: 
 

• New stadium including all improvements associated 
therewith 

• Two parking garages 
• On-site parking 
• Open space, plazas, paths 
• Public art 

• Roadway/sidewalk improvements and new 
construction 

• Streetlights 
• Structures including bridges, Pinellas Trail and Booker 

Creek improvements, environmental and stormwater 
controls, and appurtenances thereto 

• Drainage 
• Sanitary sewer 
• Potable water 
• Reclaimed water 
• Publicly-accessible amenities and open space 
• Public art 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 21



Any surplus remaining in the IRP Redevelopment Trust Fund 
after completion of the Tropicana Field projects identified in 
Revised Amended Table 2 will be returned to the City of St. 
Petersburg and Pinellas County. Per the 2024 amendment, the 
surplus amount from Pinellas County will be paid to the Tampa 
Bay Rays after completion of the new stadium project to be 
utilized for debt service on the new stadium project. Further, 
the amendment extended the IRP from April 7, 2032, until April 
7, 2042. while maintaining a sunset date for County 
contributions ending no later than April 7, 2032.  
 

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS 
 
When the City adopted the IRP in 1982, it identified an array of 
public improvement projects throughout Intown designed to 
facilitate private development.  Major improvement goals 
included: 
 

- redeveloping the downtown core into an intense 
mixed-use activity center that serves a broad range of 
dense land-uses;  

- consolidating blocks for conveyance to developers;  

- building parking garages to reduce or eliminate the 
demand for surface parking lots damaging to the urban 
fabric;  

- enhancing the pedestrian experience by improving 
sidewalks, streetscaping and waterfront parks;  

- expanding the cultural offerings through the ongoing 
development of what is now the DukeU S Energy Center 

for the Arts; 

- developing a sports stadium; 

- expanding market-rate residential development; 

- establishing a transit system to reduce the need for 
automobile use downtown; and  

- developing the Webb’s City site. 

On many of these fronts, the City has made significant 
progress. In others, work remains. The section below outlines 
the public and private development activity that has taken 
place since the IRP’s adoption, as well as those actions that are 
needed. The projects identified are those which will have the 
greatest impact on leveraging private investment and provide 
important public amenities. All the public improvements will be 
constructed in conjunction with new development or 
rehabilitation. All costs identified in this plan are estimates 
(emphasis added) and include planning, design, construction 
and project management costs. Maintenance of landscaping 
(including watering) for all the pedestrian improvements will 
be the responsibility of the abutting property owner. 
 
In the section entitled “Summary” on page 33 below, Table 1 
summarizes projects implemented between 1982 and 2004, 
while Revised Table 2 identifies new public improvement 
projects proposed between 2005 and 2035. In addition, 
development and design guidelines for all projects in the 
redevelopment area are discussed in the section beginning on 
page 38 below entitled “Design and Development Guidelines.” 
 
 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 22



Core Area Project 

The core project represents the establishment of a major 
activity center linking the downtown and waterfront (see Map 
4). The public improvement programs identified for the core 
are designed to encourage private development and create the 
type of activity center that will attract people and business. 

Since 1998, the core has seen the bulk of downtown’s high-
profile development activity, including the development of five 
residential condominium towers and a hotel on Beach Drive, 
construction of an urban entertainment complex and a major 
corporate headquarters, the establishment of a downtown 
college campus and cultural activities as well as the opening of 
many restaurants.  These have all energized downtown into 
the 24/7 activity center envisioned by the City. 

Unified Retail Program 

The unified retail program encompasses an eight-block area 
(blocks A, B, C, D, E, G, SUDukeU Energy/St. Petersburg College, 
and Jannus Landing - Map 4) within the Core. The project 
focuses on new development with intense retail activity that 
integrates with St. Petersburg College, SSundialU, Jannus Landing, 
and the Beach Drive Shops and implements the Waterfront 
Plan.  

The unified retail concept seeks to create pedestrian oriented 
streets within the Core, to establish a strong tie between the 
major retail blocks. This concept will create the type of 

compact retail area necessary for attracting pedestrian shop-
pers, generating retail variety, and creating a major focal point 
for the Core. 

The unified retail concept establishes street and upper level 
activities in order to create a successful integration of retail 
stores. The successful development, marketing/promotion,  
management, and uniform maintenance of the unified retail 
district may require management by a single entity. Another 
important element of the unified retail program is ensuring 
quality architectural design unity and compatibility of existing 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 23



  

Intown Redevelopment Plan 24



 development, new development and redevelopment within 
the core area.  
 
The City’s Land Development Regulations adopted in 2007 are 
the primary regulatory vehicle for ensuring the type and quality 
of development sought for Downtown. Through the Downtown 
Center zoning requirements, the LDRs establish allowable uses, 
development intensity, height, design details and other 
features necessary for the vibrant urban environment sought 
by the Intown Redevelopment Plan. Consequently, all future 
development and redevelopment must be consistent with the  
Downtown Center zoning requirements as well as the Plaza 
Parkway Design Guidelines.  
 
Below is a brief description of the development activity and use 
emphasis within the unified retail area: 
 

St. Petersburg College/SSUDukeU Energy Block The block, 
located just east of Williams Park has made significant 
strides toward achieving the IRP’s vision. St. Petersburg 
College opened its Downtown Center in 2005 by 
renovating the former Maas Brother furniture building and 
providing 111,000 sf of classroom and administrative 
space. UDukeU Energy Florida opened its 220,000-sf 
headquarters in 2006 allowing it to consolidate its 
functions in Pinellas County. Finally, SPC, American Stage 
and the Florida Orchestra have collaborated to build a new 
25,000-sf cultural arts center linked with SPC’s Downtown 
Campus that opened in 2009. 

Jannus Landing Block The historic block has seen 
substantial renovation activity since the IRP’s inception, 

including the adaptive reuse of the Detroit Hotel into 
condominiums, as well as tenant improvements for 
restaurants, offices and specialty retail. The block has also 
served as a concert venue for several decades, adding to 
the cultural and entertainment mix essential for 
downtown. Future development should continue the 
existing mixed-use pattern with a major street-level retail 
emphasis to reinforce and support the unified retail 
program.  

Block A The 2000 opening of BayWalk, a 160,000-sf urban 
entertainment center with shopping and movie theaters, 
was an immediate success, drawing nearly 3 million/year 
in its first few years.  UAfter struggling during the Great 
Recession and its aftermath, the complex underwent a 
$30 million renovation, and reopened in 2014 as Sundial 
St. Petersburg. 

Block B The South Trust Tower at 125 2P

nd
P Ave N and the 

MidCore Parking Garage are the most significant 
development projects on this block. The 207,000-sf tower 
that opened in 1985 implemented the IRP’s vision for a 
major office component, while the parking garage satisfied 
a downtown-wide emphasis. The garage, completed in 
2000, also provided nearly 60,000 sf of retail space. The 
construction of the Millennium Walkway, linking the 
MidCore Garage with USundialU, met the IRP’s design vision 
for a pedestrian network providing north/south 
connection lined by bronze sculptures. 

Block C The block is strategically located between the 
waterfront park system, Beach Drive and SundialU. Two 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 25



major condominium towers -  Florencia (2000) and 
Ovation (2009) – opened in the 21P

st
P Century and 

implemented the IRP’s vision for mixed-use residential 
with a specialty retail emphasis to blend with Beach Drive 
Shops. The streetscape features, ground-floor retail and 
public art built by Ovation creates the major public open 
space that physically and visually links the unified retail 
core program with the waterfront park system.  

Block D In 2011, this block located on Central Avenue is a 
surface parking lot, and is the most significant 
development site remaining in the in the Unified Retail 
Core.  The Downtown Core zoning requirements call for an 
intense mixed-use block with significant ground-floor 
retail uses provided on all sides of the building.  Because 
of the pedestrian linkages already established by the 
MidCore Garage arcade and the Millennium Walkway, 
major retail activity (2 or 3 levels) should be provided 
along a north/south pedestrian corridor linking Central 
Avenue with the USundialU block.  

Block E When the IRP was first approved in 1982, the small 
block contained only the historic Ponce de Leon Hotel, an 
accessory structure and a surface parking lot. Since then 
the Hotel has undergone renovations, including the 
outfitting of three retail spaces for restaurant and 
nightclub use, and has been joined on the block by a 
Hampton Inn and Suites, a 92-room hotel with ground 
floor retail that opened in 2001.   

 
 

Parking Structures  
 

Public parking structures and mixed-use parking 
structures/transportation facilities will continue to be 
constructed at key locations within the core area. Through the 
2017 amendments to the IRP, City Council allocated at least $4 
million for “Downtown Transportation and Parking 
Improvements” that could be used to fund parking structures. 
In 2018, City Council also approved amendments increasing the 
budget for the IRP redevelopment program from $117.4 
million to $232.4 million for additional projects. Of the $115 
million increase, up to $40 million was allocated for projects 
east of 8th Street (see Revised Table 2). These structures should 
include ground level retail and may include air rights 
development above the parking structure, and will be located 
at appropriate locations within the IRP area (see Map S7).  
 

Pedestrian System 
 

An important part of establishing a strong downtown 
revitalization program is providing pedestrian amenities. The 
Land Development Regulations (LDRs) identify areas within 
Intown where development may be required to upgrade or 
enhance streetscaping.  
 
The Plaza Parkway Design Guidelines described in Appendix B  
serve as the design framework for the level of pedestrian 
treatment (pedestrian system classification) that is intended by 
the LDRs.  Other blocks in the redevelopment area may be 
considered for inclusion as part of the pedestrian improvement 
program depending upon the availability of trust fund money 
and participation by all property owners along a given block  

Intown Redevelopment Plan 26



The pedestrian system cost breakdown for the Core includes, 
pedestrian mall areas, partial mall covering for weather 
protection, pedestrian improvements and skyways. The City 
will participate with the private sector in developing the 
pedestrian system. 
 

Part of developing a unified core area is the ability to evaluate 
the design and human scale impacts of new development. 
Many of these design considerations were addressed during 
the 2007 amendments to the City’s land development 
regulations that created the Downtown Center zoning districts.  
The urban design standards set forth in the DC districts 
improve the design and human scale of new development.  
These include 

• Ensuring maximum building setbacks to create an urban 
edge to new development;  

• “Stepbacks” for new construction above a certain 
height to prevent the creation of a “canyon effect” on 
downtown streets;  

• Discouraging demolition of buildings without prior 
approval of a site plan and submission of building 
permits to maintain the urban fabric; and 

Incorporation of a minimum amount of pedestrian type 
uses in new construction (i.e., galleries, shops, 
restaurants) to ensure street-level pedestrian activity 
on many of downtown’s major streets (see “A” and “B” 
Streets on Map 5).2FP2F4F

5 

5 Map 5 is for illustrative purposes. Please refer to the City’s Land 
Development Regulations for the most up-to-date information.  

Block Consolidation 
 
The Community Redevelopment Agency, for the purpose of 
consolidating development parcels, may undertake selected 
land acquisition to consolidate blocks for development. The 
Agency has undertaken acquisition before, most notably in 
assembling land in the 1990s for USundialU and the MidCore 
Parking Garage, as well as for the UDukeU Energy corporate 
headquarters during the early 2000s. 
 
Block consolidation includes the establishment of the unified 
retail core concept (Blocks A, B, C, D, G, E,) and DukeU S 
Energy/St. Petersburg College, SUSundialU and Jannus Landing and 
consolidation of Block F (see Map 4).  
 
The following is a brief description of the development activity 
and use emphasis of the remaining Core blocks (F and G). 

 
Block F In 1991, construction was completed on a 
340,000-sf mixed-use office tower.  The tower, which has 
undergone several name changes, was the last large office 
project built in downtown before the opening of the UDukeU S 
Energy headquarters.  The tower’s parking needs are 
mostly met by the nearby SouthCore Garage, which can be  
accessed by an elevated pedestrian bridge. Any future 
development on the site must comply with the 
requirements of the Downtown Center zoning district.  
 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 27



  

Intown Redevelopment Plan 28



Block G The SouthCore parking garage occupies the entire 
block providing 1,300 parking spaces, and more than 
130,000 sf of commercial space. Future development of 
the site or air rights must comply with the Downtown Core 
zoning district. 

 
HISTORIC PRESERVATION 
 
St. Petersburg has one of the oldest downtowns in the state of 
Florida and the rehabilitation and conservation of historic  
properties has shaped its economic development for the last 
forty years.  In addition to the preservation of such landmarks 
as the Renaissance Vinoy, Snell Arcade, Kress Building, Mirror 
Lake High School, the Mirror Lake Library, the Coliseum and 
Lawn Bowling Club and Shuffleboard Courts, dozens of other 
smaller-scale historic preservation projects have helped 
preserve the unique architectural and local character of 
Downtown.   
 
In fact, its impressive assemblage of pre-World War II 
architecture led Downtown St. Petersburg to be listed on the 
National Register of Historic Places in 2003 with hundreds of its 
structures identified as contributing to the character of the 
district.  In addition, there are dozens of individually designated 
landmarks listed on the Local Register of Historic Places, the 
National Register of Historic Places or both.   
 

6 For the purpose of this section, historic properties are defined as those 
listed individually on the Local Register of Historic Places or National 

To support the continued rehabilitation and conservation of 
historic properties, in 2018 City Council added up to $5 million 
to the IRP redevelopment program (see Revised Table 2).5F

6  
 
DUKE ENERGY CENTER FOR THE ARTS 
 
The UDukeU Energy Center for the Arts, which includes the 
Salvador Dali Museum that opened in 2011, the Mahaffey 
Theater and other facilities, represents an important cultural 
resource and amenity to the community and a vital component 
of the downtown redevelopment program. It is necessary, 
therefore to prepare and periodically update (1) market and 
design studies to identify its appropriate role in the local and 
regional market (performing arts, theater, conventions, 
conferences and other related entertainment activities), and 
(2) facility improvements.   
 
Project funding was required for market and architectural 
studies, public improvements required to support 
development of the Salvador Dali Museum, the rehabilitation 
of the Mahaffey Theater and expansion of the lobby, 
reorientation of the Theater entry toward the waterfront area, 
creation of an outdoor plaza, development of a new waterfront 
public park and funding for parking, landscaping and other 
related pedestrian and open space improvements (see Figure 1 
for an Uaerial view of the Center and its environsU). 

Register of Historic Places, or contributing structures in Local or National 
Register districts. 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 29



  

Intown Redevelopment Plan 30



WEBB’S CITY 

When the IRP was first adopted in 1982, Downtown St. 
Petersburg was losing retail services and employment to the 
suburbs and struggling to retain its residential base. The 
Webb's City project was devised to address these issues and 
encompasses a six-block area focusing on office, residential 
and residential service retail U(see Map 6)U.  

By the mid-1980s, the project was successful by attracting 
Webb’s Plaza, the AAA Headquarters, and the headquarters of 
St. Petersburg’s Fire Department. In fact, the Winn Dixie at 
Webb’s Plaza would be the only grocer to serve Downtown for 
nearly twenty years. By 2011, however, the Plaza is no longer  
 competitive in the downtown retail market that emerged in 
the past fifteen years and is a potential redevelopment 
opportunity.  In addition, another three blocks in the Webb’s 
City project area are either vacant or underbuilt, also providing 
redevelopment potential. However, as development in 
Downtown has resumed after the Great Recession, the Webb’s 
City area is poised to take off.  In 2015, The Hermitage, 357-
unit luxury apartment complex has broken ground in the 700 
block of 1UPU

st
UPU Avenue South.  Bordering Webb’s City are several 

projects that illustrate investment interest in the area, 
including: a Publix Supermarket under construction across 1UPU

st
UPU

Avenue South, along with gallery space to support the Morean 
Arts Center and Hot Shop on Central Avenue; the renovation of 
the Historic YWCA Building at 642 2UPU

nd
UPU Avenue South into a 

high-end steakhouse in 2013;  the conversion of a former 
public housing complex on Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. Street 
South, into the market Urban Flats; and the construction of 

Casablanca Tower and Orion, both market-rate multifamily 
complexes on 8UPU

th
UPU Street South. Webb’s City strategic location 

between the IRP’s “Core Area,” Tropicana Field, the Intown 
West CRA and the Bayfront/All Children’s medical district make 
it an attractive redevelopment opportunity for several different 
market sectors.  The Downtown Center zoning district 
describes the uses allowed for the Webb’s City project area.  
The LDRs along with the Plaza Parkway Design Guidelines, also 
prescribe appropriate urban design treatments for this 
important area. 

THE DOWNTOWN WATERFRONT AREA 

The Downtown waterfront park system stretches from the 
Vinoy Park Hotel along 5P

th
P Avenue NE to the Salvador Dali 

Museum at the Duke Energy Center for the Arts on Bayshore 
Drive/Dali Boulevard SE (Figure 2). It represents St. 
Petersburg’s signature planning triumph and continues to 
attract millions of visitors a year for festivals, dining, sports, 
culture and entertainment, and leisure.  Over many years, the 
City has attempted to upgrade facilities to respond to the 
waterfront’s ever-evolving needs. For instance, in the late 
1980s, the City constructed $12.5 million in improvements to 
the Pier and Pier approach that expanded parking 
opportunities.  

The IRP’s objective for the Downtown Waterfront Area entails 
the continued revitalization of the waterfront parks and Pier  
area and focuses on development of specialty retail, parking, 
cultural and recreational facilities.  UTo that end, the City will be 
funding major public improvement projects to sustain and 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 31



  

Intown Redevelopment Plan 32



expand the success of Downtown St. Petersburg, including the 
Municipal Pier Project, implementation of the Downtown 
Waterfront Master Plan and continued streetscaping and 
waterfront park investments.  

The Municipal Pier Project 

The $50-million Municipal Pier Project will result in extensive 
renovation or replacement of the Pier based on problems and 
issues cited in a City Engineering report to City Council on 
March 13, 2004, and subsequent documents.  The report 
identified issues of deterioration that would not be remedied 
through the City’s ongoing Pier maintenance program and 
determined that these efforts were not cost effective.  

Downtown Waterfront Master Plan 

UOn November 8, 2011, St. Petersburg voters approved an 
amendment to the City Charter requiring City Council to 
“develop and approve an inclusive Downtown Waterfront 
Master Plan (DWMP) by July 1, 2015.”  On June 4, 2015, City 
Council approved the DWMP, which identified nearly $800 
million in potential public and private improvements 
throughout the DWMP planning area that will enhance St. 
Petersburg’s signature planning achievement. 

The study area for the DWMP is comprised of six “character” 
districts that collectively span approximately seven miles of 
contiguous public waterfront beginning at the Northeast 
Exchange Club Coffee Pot Park on the north to Lassing Park to 
the south. Two of the districts – Pier District and South Basin 
District – are wholly contained within the Intown 

Redevelopment Area. The Pier District lies east of Beach Drive, 
north of Demens Landing and south of the North Mole sea 
wall.  The South Basin District adjoins the Pier District to the 
south and reaches south to Albert Whitted Park and is 
generally bounded on the west by 1UPU

st
UPU Street South. A portion 

of a third district - North Shore- lying south of 7UPU

th
UPU Avenue NE 

and east of Bayshore Drive is within Intown (see Figure 2). 

City Council’s near concurrent approval of the Downtown 
Waterfront Master Plan with its May 2015 approval of the new 
St. Petersburg Pier design provides an opportunity to fund 
strategic public improvements within the Pier Approach to 
better link the proposed Municipal Pier with the bustling 
activity found on Straub Park, Beach Drive, Sundial St. 
Petersburg and Central Avenue. Within the Pier District, the 
DWMP identified $51.7 million in improvements.  Within the 
Pier Approach the City will fund through tax increment 
financing $20 million in public improvements including but not 
limited to the redesign of existing downtown parks; U14TUstreet 
U14TUreconfiguration U14TUand streetscapingU14TU; and development of the 
Vinoy Basin area, any portion of which may include,U14TU without 
limitation, pedestrian areas and facilities, an open market, 
ferry/water taxi facilities, and restaurant/café facilities.U14T  

In 2017, City Council approved up to $10 million for 
“Enhancements to the Municipal Pier Project” and/or 
“Enhancements to the Downtown Waterfront Master Plan 
Improvements in the Pier District”. Any surplus that remains 
from this funding source will be used to augment the $4 million 
in TIF allocated to the “Downtown Transportation and Parking 
Improvements” project (see Revised Table 2). 
 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 33



  

Intown Redevelopment Plan 34



AnotherU $2.5 million Uto fund Upark improvements Uthat wasU 
Uapproved in 2005U will continue the City’s focus on maintaining 
and improving the IRP’s park system and facilities as support 
amenities for Downtown’s residential and specialty retail 
market (see Revised Table 2).  
 
In 2018, City Council increased the redevelopment program  
budget by $75 million with $40 million allocated for 
improvements east of 8th Street, such as climate 
resiliency/adaptation projects (i.e., seawall and marina 
construction) (see Revised Table 2). 
 
The City Charter will require a public referendum for any 
disposition of or long-term lease on City property in the  
Downtown Waterfront Area east of Beach Drive to the  
Municipal Pier structure. 

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 

The development of an expanded residential base in the 
Intown is essential to achieve a successful downtown 
redevelopment program. People living and working downtown 
will generate the 24-hour activity and community spirit 
necessary to continue the expansion of the downtown 
economic and cultural base. One important aspect of 
residential development is the utilization of the existing 
housing stock. 
 
To ensure housing opportunities for all citizens of St. 
Petersburg, the residential development program focuses on 
two aspects of the housing market: 

1. aid low and middle-income persons in the rehabilitation 
of their property or investor owners who provide 
housing for low and middle-income groups; and 

 
2. aid in defining and assisting new middle-income 

residential development and infill housing, and 
ensuring its compatibility with the surrounding 
neighborhood. New low-income housing will continue 
to be provided through the City's existing programs in 
the Jamestown and Gas Plant area and through other 
federal programs. 

 
The residential development program utilizes a variety of 
federal, state and local programs to encourage new housing 
and rehabilitation of the existing housing stock. This plan 
incorporates spot clearance and rehabilitation on a majority of 
the blocks in the redevelopment area and in other selected 
blocks utilizes rehabilitation and block consolidation for new 
infill housing (see Map 7). The program will consist of voluntary 
and compulsory participation by owners in the rehabilitation of 
their buildings in accordance with design criteria set forth in 
this plan. 
 
The available funding alternatives include, but are not limited 
to, the following: 
 

UFederal 
 
• 312 Rehabilitation Loan Program offers direct loans and 

works on a revolving loan fund basis; 
 

• Section 8 rent supplement for low-income persons. 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 35



• Mortgage insurance programs designed to encourage 
lending institutions investment in housing by reducing 
the risk related. 

 

• The Historic Preservation Tax Credit program provides a 
20 percent tax credit for developers of who renovate 
rental housing that are listed on the National Register of 
Historic Places.  

 
UState 
 
• The Community Contribution Tax Credit (Section 220.183, 

F.S.) offers a 50% credit against state corporate income 
taxes for contributions of up to $200,000, for community 
development, which could be used as direct grant or to 
start a revolving loan fund; 

 
• The State of Florida provides tax incentives and loans to 

carry out projects in declared or distress areas; 
 
• The Florida Housing Development Finance Agency may 

make available financing opportunities for residential 
rehabilitation, specifically through tax-exempt bonding. 

 
ULocal 
 
• promoting development of residential services; 

• use of tax increment financing for residential related 
public improvements, such as recreation areas (use of 
alleyways), infrastructure, landscaping, lighting, etc; 

• City may initiate vacation of alleys and streets for 
development;  

• use a loan principal or interest subsidy program on 
conventional loans; 

• use of tax increment financing for land acquisition;  

• use of the Ad Valorem Tax Exemption for Historic 
Properties enabled by City ordinance;  

• City may issue housing mortgage revenue bonds; 

• local banks establishing a special loan pool for all types of 
residential development. 

The key to encouraging the housing market to respond to the 
needs of housing consumers and stimulating new residential 
growth in the downtown, lies in creative financing techniques. 
When the IRP was adopted, it was estimated that the plan 
could generate 1500 or more additional housing units in the 
area.  The IRP has exceeded that estimate. Since the IRP was 
adopted in 1982, more than 2,100 residential units have been 
added within the community redevelopment area through 
2015.  In the rest of downtown, more than U820U dwelling units 
have been constructed during the same period. All but 
approximately four hundred units have been constructed since 
1998 throughout downtown. 
 
 
 
 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 36



UBlock Consolidation 
 
The Community Redevelopment Agency, for the potential 
purpose of consolidating parcels, may undertake selected land 
acquisition for the residential development program. Blocks 
identified for consolidation are shown on Map 7. 
 
The residential program involves the Vinoy project and the 
University Park Residential District. The development concept 
for these areas is described below:  
 
 
U 
 

Vinoy Project 
 
The Vinoy Project encompassed the renovation of the 
Renaissance Vinoy Park Hotel, construction of condominiums 
on adjoining property and establishment of a marina.  The 
Vinoy represents a unique landmark within the City’s signature 
waterfront park system. At one time in the 1970s and 1980s, 
the Vinoy was an economic and aesthetic blight on the 
waterfront due to its deteriorated condition and vacant status 
for approximately 18 years, from 1974 to 1992). However, its 
restoration and reopening in 1992, the development of the 
Vinoy Condominiums in 2001, and the construction of the 
yacht basin, have been essential ingredients in the resurgence 
of downtown and the waterfront.  
 
The continuing use of the Vinoy for residential or hotel uses, or 
both, is vital to establishing and maintaining a permanent 
population base in the downtown in order to stimulate and 
support hotel, office and retail growth, expand the City's tax 

base, encourage the rehabilitation of existing downtown neigh-
borhoods, and reinforce the aesthetic quality of the waterfront 
park system. 

 
The continued success of the Vinoy development will: 
 
- ensure compatible development on the site that is 

sensitive to the visual image of the waterfront; 
 

- develop and preserve a 200-foot wide open space buffer 
parallel to and west of Bayshore Drive NE  between 7P

th
P 

Avenue NE and Fifth Avenue NE; 
- protect the community’s investment in the downtown 

waterfront park system; and 
 
- enhance and achieve the specific development goals the 

Downtown Waterfront Area. 
 
University Park 
 
Block “K” and Block “L” are located in an area identified by 
Downtown Core zoning for residential support (see Map 4 on 
page 16). The design concept should provide ground level 
green open space and may provide support service retail, in 
conformance with underlying zoning requirements. 
 
The remainder of the district (8P

th
P-4P

th
P Streets between 3P

rd
P 

Avenue South and I-175) is appropriate for selected land 
acquisition and demolition for new in-fill housing and housing 
rehabilitation. 
 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 37



TRANSPORTATION PROGRAM 

A vibrant downtown requires a transportation system that 
balances automobile access with pedestrian-oriented facilities 
such as light rail, bus, trolley, biking and walking. The 
transportation program for Downtown St. Petersburg is a 
multimodal approach that recognizes Downtown as a regional 
activity center within Tampa Bay that needs to accommodate 
vehicular traffic while also maximizing the pedestrian 
experience so vital to its success. The City also expects that 
multiple stations will be located within Intown to serve any 
premium transit system that will be developed to improve 
regional access to Downtown St. Petersburg. 

The interstate system carries visitors and workers to and from 
Downtown St. Petersburg, but once in Downtown the IRP 
program focuses on providing mass transit opportunities.  The 
Pinellas Suncoast Transit Authority (PSTA) operates more than 
a dozen bus routes that use Williams Park in Downtown as a 
transfer point. In 2016, the City worked with PSTA to relocate 
the transfer point from Williams Park and create a new grid bus 
network in Downtown. In 2017, City Council approved $4 
million for “Downtown Transportation and Parking 
Improvements” to fund improvements to the Intown 
transportation network.  

Transit within Intown and its environs is provided by the 
Looper Trolley, which was established in 1996. The program is 
administered by the St. Petersburg Downtown Partnership, 
Inc., and receives funding from several different sources, 

including the City of St. Petersburg, Pinellas Suncoast Transit 
Authority, Florida Department of Transportation and private 
sector organizations.  The Looper serves the main activity 
generators in downtown including the waterfront park system 
and Beach Drive, Central Avenue, and the DukeU Energy Center 
for the Arts. 

The Downtown Partnership, or successor, is also responsible 
for the Central Avenue Shuttle, which was established in Fall 
2009.  The Shuttle links the Downtown waterfront with the 
Grand Central Main Street District along Central Avenue.   

In a dense urban environment, bicycles are an important mode 
of transportation costing little and using little space for parking. 
The City has been integrating bike lanes onto many downtown 
streets for the last decade to improve cyclist safety.  In 2008, 
the Pinellas Trail was extended into downtown St. Petersburg 
along First Avenue South allowing users to travel on the trail 
from Demens Landing on Tampa Bay to Tarpon Springs.  The 
trail is separated from traffic by parking and curbs to better 
ensure user safety.   

Finally, several sites within Intown have been identified to 
serve as stations for the region’s first Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) 
project.  As planned, the UCentral AvenueU BRT would travel the 
First Avenue corridors from Downtown to the Gulf Beaches. 
The goals of the project are to develop and implement a 
successful BRT project along St. Petersburg's Central Avenue 
corridor that supports local revitalization and economic 
development plans; improves long-term livability; enhances 
safety and access for pedestrians and bicyclists; attracts 
new ridership; supports the unique character of the area; 
and provides service in a cost-effective manner.  

Intown Redevelopment Plan 38



Intown Redevelopment Plan 39



The preferred route for the Central Avenue BRT service is from 
Downtown to Grand Central Station and then to St. Pete 
Beach.  The Central Avenue BRT project is a top priority for the 
Pinellas Suncoast Transit Authority (PSTA) and it is included in  
the Tampa Bay Area Regional Transportation Authority's 
Master Plan.  Additional funding will be needed to produce the 
final design plans, construct the project, acquire BRT vehicles 
and operate the service.  The City and PSTA are actively seeking 
this funding from federal and state funding sources. 

PLAZA PARKWAY 

The Plaza Parkway program entails construction of public  
improvements, including pedestrian system improvements, as 
an incentive for owners to rehabilitate or redevelop their 
property. To that end, the City has allocated $2.5 million for 
the program from tax increment financing (see Revised Table 
2).  In addition, the program also requires property owners  
undertaking development to upgrade streetscaping, construct 
façade treatments and provide appropriate uses in downtown 
to implement the City’s objective for a pedestrian-friendly 
downtown. (Such treatments are described in the Land 
Development Regulations and design requirements specified in 
the Plaza Parkway Design Guidelines.)  

The primary focus of the program is on the properties located 
on Pedestrian Level “A” and “B” streets (see Map 5), although 
this program can be expanded to any part of the Intown 
Redevelopment Area. All other streets not designated as “A” or 
“B” streets shall comply with the minimum streetscape 
provisions provided in the Plaza Parkway Street System (see 

Appendix B for “Plaza Parkway Design Guidelines”). 

UTILITY PROGRAM 

Water, sewer and other utilities in the Intown represent an 
important factor in revitalizing the area. Because of the age 
and substandard line sizes in the Intown, a detailed analysis of 
utilities is being conducted that will eventually result in a 
programming of capital improvements to meet the expected 
increase in demand. 

Funding sources for infrastructure improvements will be 
through the City's capital improvement program and possibly 
Federal and State funds.  

Costs incurred for the City to re-route water and sewer lines 
within or around a block because of a private development 
project will be borne by the developer. 

TROPICANA FIELD REDEVELOPMENT PLAN 

The Tropicana Field Redevelopment Site was originally planned 
as a multi-purpose stadium project that was constructed on 
the original Gas Plant site.  City Council approved an 
amendment to the Intown Redevelopment Plan changing the 
development program for the area to allow  
construction of a domed stadium. The stadium was opened to 
the public on March 3, 1990, eventually welcoming Major 
League Baseball in 1998. 

Beginning in 2007, the City and the Tampa Bay Rays began 
discussions on redeveloping the Tropicana Field site when the 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 40



Rays proposed building a stadium on the Downtown 
Waterfront, a bid that was ultimately withdrawn by the team. 
In 2016, the City contracted with a consulting team to prepare 
a master plan for Tropicana Field that included a stadium along 
with other complementary uses such as residences, offices, 
hotels and specialty retail uses.  Another master planning effort 
began in 2018 to identify the redevelopment potential of 
Tropicana Field without a stadium use.  
 
All of these planning efforts recognized the catalytic 
development opportunity posed by the Tropicana Field site, 
not only for Downtown and St. Petersburg, but also for the 
Tampa Bay area.  With its downtown location and stellar 
transportation access to the region, Tropicana Field’s 
redevelopment can be an economic driver that provides 
thousands of new jobs for the community for a generation or 
more.   
 
At the same time, preparing the site for redevelopment will 
require substantial improvement to its infrastructure, ensuring 
compatible physical and functional connections of its 
development with surrounding neighborhoods, and 
remediation/mitigation of a brownfield on the property to 
enable development.  
 
To that end, City Council amended the IRP in 2018 to allow the 
expenditure of no less than $75 million in TIF funding for 
redevelopment infrastructure improvements west of 8th Street 
related to the redevelopment of Tropicana Field.  These 
improvements could include  
 

• brownfield mitigation and remediation to enable 
redevelopment; 

• public open space amenities on the site including 
improvements that support the reactivation of Booker 
Creek;  

• streetscape improvements that provide public rights-of-
way such as alleys, sidewalks, pedestrian facilities and 
streets that assist in reestablishing the grid network on 
Tropicana Field and connect it with surrounding 
neighborhoods; 

• transit infrastructure and improvements; and 
• parking improvements.  

 

 

The Stadium Plan of the IRP calls for Major League Baseball to 
be played on the site, and on September 19, 2023, it was 
announced that the City of St. Petersburg, Pinellas County, 
Tampa Bay Rays, and Hines Development team have agreed to 
move forward with a new state-of-the-art ballpark and a 
transformational development of the Historic Gas Plant.  In 
order to construct the stadium and related improvements, the 
plan would include the new stadium and all improvements 
associated therewith, parking garages, on-site parking, open 
space, plazas and paths, public are, and brownfield mitigation. 
Also included will be the infrastructure for the Historic Gas 
Plant Redevelopment. Such infrastructure would include the 
following:  roadway/sidewalk improvements and new 
construction; streetlights; structures including bridges; Pinellas 
Trail and Booker Creek improvements; environmental and 
stormwater controls and appurtenances thereto; drainage;  
sanitary sewer; potable water; reclaimed water; publicly 
accessible amenities and open space; public art;   

Intown Redevelopment Plan 41



demolition of the existing structure known as Tropicana Field, 
parking lots, and other structures and appurtenances  

 
 

OTHER PROJECTS 
 

The previously described public improvements represent 
important elements of revitalizing the area and providing an 
expanded and diversified retail, employment, residential and 
cultural base. In addition to these areas, other sites have been 
identified for selected public improvements: 
 
• The City may participate in a joint development with the 

County and/or other private developer(s) in constructing a 
public parking structure or mixed-use parking 
structure/transportation facility at an appropriate location 
within the IRP area.  Office and/or retail or other allowable 
uses shall be located on the ground level of the parking 
structure and may be located above the parking structure. 

 

• The Block “H” office project, more commonly known as City 
Center, was completed in 1984 and was another joint 
public/private partnership involving the construction of a  

Intown Redevelopment Plan 42



  

TABLE 1 
Major Public Improvement Projects Implemented in the Intown Redevelopment Area 

1982 to 2004 
 

  Funding Sources 
Project Development Cost (1) TIF - City and County City and Other Sources 

Stadium Development (Tropicana Field) $209,549,851 $22,500,000 $187,049,851 
Bayfront Center/Mahaffey Theater 

Renovation 
27,157,920 8,209,000 18,948,920 (2) 

SSundialU and MidCore Garage 22,135,606 5,496,000 16,639,606 
South Core Garage 20,377,765 13,887,000 6,490,765 
Development Sites Acquisition Costs 16,032,171 632,000 15,400,171 
The Pier 14,862,273 1,600,000 13,262,273 
Intown Streetscape Program 5,696,215 620,000 5,076,215 
Waterfront Park Improvements 2,214,353  2,214,353 
Downtown Museums Development 1,294,438 800,000 494,438 
Downtown Transit Initiatives 583,110  583,110 
Downtown Marketing and Promotion 231,070  231,070 
DukeU Energy Park Improvements 204,021  204,021 

    
Total $320,338,793 

 
$53,744,000 

 
$266,594,793 

 
(1) Some projects include land acquisition costs. 
(2) $2.6 M of development cost was donated by the Mahaffey Theater Foundation as part of the 1987-88 renovations. 
    

Intown Redevelopment Plan 43



parking structure with possible future air rights above the 
structure (see Map 4 on page 16).  

• In conjunction with the rehabilitation of the Vinoy Park Hotel 
and adjacent new residential development, the City 
supported the development of marina slips adjacent to 5P

th
P 

Avenue NE in the North (Vinoy) Basin. 
 
• Several sites within the redevelopment area may require 

block consolidation for commercial and/or residential 
development. These blocks are located on the fringe 
between the Core and the residential area, representing a 
transition zone requiring appropriate planning design and 
development. The blocks in this transition zone are identified 
as “I” and “J” on Map 4 on page 16. Future development shall 
comply with the Downtown Center zoning requirements.  

 
SUMMARY 

Map 7 illustrates some of the various public improvements 
proposed and/or implemented in the Intown Redevelopment 
Plan since its inception, some of which have been described in 
the sections above. Table 1 describes projects implemented 
between 1982 and 2004 and their source of funding. 
 
One important conclusion should be noted in regard to the 
trust fund allocation. Tax increment bonds have not been the 
only source of redevelopment funding in the past nor will they 
be the only source of funds available in the future for 
implementing projects. As outlined in Tables 1 and 2 and 
described in the “Methods of Financing” Chapter, a wide range 

of sources have been and may be used for project funding. The 
tax increment generated by the redevelopment area serves 
only as a starting basis. 
 
ADMINISTRATIVE AND RELOCATION COSTS 
 
Business and residential relocation costs and administrative 
costs related to the project will be funded through tax 
increment trust fund or tax increment bond proceeds. Tax 
increment bond proceeds may be used for necessary 
architectural and other professional services to implement 
development projects described in the Plan. 
 
PROPERTY DISPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT POLICY 
 
For the purposes of this Plan, the Community Redevelopment 
Agency is authorized to sell, lease, exchange, subdivide, 
transfer, assign, pledge, encumber by mortgage or deed of 
trust, or otherwise dispose of any interest in real property. To 
the extent permitted by law, the Agency is authorized to 
dispose of real property in accordance with Florida Statute 
Chapter 163 and in compliance with this Plan. 
 
Owner Participation 
 
Owner participation is an important part of ensuring a cohesive 
downtown revitalization program. Therefore, owner 
participation is encouraged in the redevelopment of 
downtown.

 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 44



AMENDED TABLE 2 
Intown Redevelopment Plan 

TIF Funding Required for New Public Improvement Projects - 2005-2042* 

Designated Projects FY Location 
TIF Funds Required 

(in $Millions) (4)P  

Other Potential 
Funding Sources Total Cost 

Municipal Pier Project (1) 2008-2020 Downtown Waterfront 
at 2P

nd
P Avenue NE 

$50M To be Determined $50M 

UDowntown Waterfront Master Plan 
Improvements – Pier District 

U2016-2020 UPier Approach U$20M No other public funding 
identified. 

U$20M 

UDukeU Energy Center for the Arts 

Mahaffey Theater 
Salvador Dali Museum 

2005-2011 
2010-2011 

NE Corner of 1P

st
P St/5P

th
P

Ave  S 
$25.854M 

$2.5M 
City ($2.932M) 

$31.286M 

Enhancements to the Municipal Pier Project (2) 

Enhancements to the Downtown Waterfront 
Master Plan Improvements in the  
Pier District (2) 

2017-2020 Downtown Waterfront 
at 2nd Avenue NE  

 Pier Approach 

$10M No other public funding 
identified.  

$10M 

Downtown Transportation and Parking 
Improvements 

2017-2020 Throughout the IRP 
District 

$4M No other public funding 
identified 

$4M 

Pedestrian System/Streetscape Improvements 2006-2032 Throughout IRP District $2.5M City $2.5M 

Park Improvements 2006-2032 Waterfront Park System $2.5M City $2.5M 

Waterfront, Transit, and Parking Improvements 
(3) 
Resiliency/Adaptation infrastructure 

(i.e., seawalls and marinas) 
Transit infrastructure and improvements 
Parking improvements (City TIF only)  

2019-2032 IRP District East of 8th 
Street 

$35M No other public funding 
identified 

$35M 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 45



AMENDED TABLE 2 
Intown Redevelopment Plan 

TIF Funding Required for New Public Improvement Projects - 2005-2042* 

Designated Projects FY Location 
TIF Funds Required 

(in $Millions) (4)P  

Other Potential 
Funding Sources Total Cost 

Rehabilitation and Conservation of 
Historic Resources (3) 

2019-2032 IRP District East of 8th 
Street 

$5M No other public funding 
identified 

$5M 

Redevelopment Infrastructure Improvements 
(3) 
Brownfields Mitigation/Remediation 
Public Open Space Amenities, including 

Improvements to Booker Creek 
Streetscape Improvements to Re-establish Grid 

Network on Tropicana Field Site (i.e., 
sidewalks, pedestrian facilities, alleys, streets) 
Transit infrastructure and improvements  
Parking improvements 

2019-2042 IRP District West of 8th 
Street 

$75M No other public 
funding identified 

$75M 

New Stadium Project (City TIF only) 
New stadium including all improvements 
associated therewith 
Two parking garages 
On-site parking 
Open space, plazas, paths 
Public art 
Brownfields mitigation/remediation 

2024-2042 IRP District West of 8th 
Street 

$212.5M No other public 
funding identified 

$212.5M 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 46



Historic Gas Plant Redevelopment 
Infrastructure (City TIF only) 
Roadway/sidewalk improvements and new 
construction 
Streetlights 
Structures including bridges, Pinellas Trail and 
Booker Creek improvements, environmental and 
stormwater controls, and appurtenances 
thereto Drainage 
Sanitary sewer 
Potable water 
Reclaimed water 
Publicly-accessible amenities and open space 
Public art 
Demolition of the existing structure known as 
Tropicana Field, parking lots, and other 
structures and appurtenances 

2024-2042 IRP District West of 8th 
Street 

$130M No other 
public 

identified 

$130M 

Maximum TIF Funds Required: $232.345 574.854M 

* TIF expenditures may only be utilized for those Designated Projects in Table 2 where TIF funds are required as noted herein; provided, however, that no TIF expenditures may occur for Projects other 
than Designated Projects with TIF funds required as noted herein, without prior approval of the St. Petersburg City Council and the Pinellas County Board of County Commissioners.  Tax increment
financing contributions to the IRP Redevelopment Trust Fund will end on April 7, 2042. 

(1) Because of the size of the project, the timing and/or amounts necessary for the Municipal Pier Project may need to be revised in the future.  Such changes shall only occur in an amendment to the 
Interlocal Agreement between the City and County. 

(2) The allocation of up to $10 million in TIF for Enhancements to the Municipal Pier Project and/or Enhancements to the Downtown Waterfront Master Plan Improvements in the Pier District shall be 
determined by the City. Any of the $10 million in TIF not utilized for Enhancements to the Municipal Pier Project and/or Enhancements to the Downtown Waterfront Master Plan Improvements in 
the Pier District shall be allocated to augment the $4 million in TIF allocated to Downtown Transportation and Parking Improvements. 

(3) The allocation of up to $35 million in TIF for Waterfront, Transit, and Parking Improvements East of 8th Street and the allocation of up to $5 million in TIF for Rehabilitation and Conservation of 
Historic Resources East of 8th Street shall be determined by the City. Any of the summed $40 million in TIF not utilized for Waterfront, Transit, and Parking Improvements or Rehabilitation and
Conservation of Historic Resources shall be allocated to augment the $75 million in TIF allocated to Redevelopment Infrastructure Improvements West of 8th Street. Any surplus TIF remaining in the
IRP Redevelopment Trust Fund after completion of the Redevelopment Infrastructure Improvements West of 8th Street identified herein that was contributed by the County shall be reallocated to the 
New Stadium Project.

(4) “TIF Funds Required” refers only to the anticipated construction and capital costs and not any required debt issuance or financing costs, which can also be funded with TIF.

AMENDED TABLE 2 
Intown Redevelopment Plan 

TIF Funding Required for New Public Improvement Projects - 2005-2042* 

Designated Projects FY Location 
TIF Funds Required 

P(in $Millions) (4)  

Other Potential 
Funding Sources Total Cost 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 47



Before the City pursues any development project on a 
particular site, contact will be made with the property owners 
to determine their interest in participating in the project. Such 
participation by an owner shall be contingent upon execution 
by such owner of a binding agreement by which the property 
retained or acquired will be developed and used in 
conformance with the plan.S  

The Community Redevelopment Agency may, prior to the 
execution of an agreement, determine in its sole discretion 
that it is in the best interest of the City to acquire such 
property for development by the City or disposition for 
competitive bidding. The Community Redevelopment Agency 
may acquire property which is retained by an owner under an 
Owner Participation Agreement if the owner fails, refuses or 
neglects to perform his/her obligation under said agreement. 

Developer Disposition Agreement 
The Community Redevelopment Agency shall reserve such 
powers and controls through disposition and development 
agreements with purchaser or leases of property as may be 
necessary to insure that development conforms to this plan. 
The leases, deeds, contracts, agreements and declarations of 
restrictions may contain restrictions, covenants, covenants 
running with the land, rights of reverter, conditions 
subsequent, equitable servitudes or any other provisions 
necessary to carry out this Plan. 

ENFORCEMENT 

After development, the administration UandU enforcement of 
this Plan or other documents implementing this Plan shall be 
performed by the City or the Agency. 

The provisions of this Plan or other documents entered into 
pursuant to this Plan may also be enforced by Court litigation 
instituted by either the Agency or the City. Such remedies may 
include, but are not limited to, specific performance, damages, 
re-entry, injunctions, or any other remedies appropriate to the 
purposes of this plan. In addition, any recorded provisions 
expressly for the benefit of owners of property in the project 
area may be enforced by such owners.  

The provisions of this Plan shall be effective until April 7, 
20342. 

DESIGN AND DEVELOPMENT GUIDELINES 

The design and development guidelines listed below were 
created in order to ensure compatibility between the types of 
developments that are desired in the downtown and how such 
developments should relate to the environment and each 
other. 

All real property in the project area is hereby made subject to 
the controls and requirements of this Plan. No real property 
shall be developed, rehabilitated, or otherwise changed after 
the date of adoption of this Plan, except in conformance with 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 47Intown Redevelopment Plan 48



the provisions of this Plan and all applicable State and local 
laws in effect from time to time. 

DESIGN PARAMETERS 

General 

• All redevelopment sites shall meet all the applicable Land
Development Regulations.

• Developers of projects within the redevelopment area
shall submit project proposals and designs to the
Community Redevelopment Agency (CRA) for
development review.

• All development should demonstrate the use of energy
conservation techniques to reduce space cooling, hot
water, and space heating demands. These techniques
should address, but not be limited to:

- building orientation

- building facade materials

- shading of buildings and parking lots

- wind control for cooling ground level spaces and/or
buildings

- use of solar energy (if practical) to meet
development energy needs or individual building
requirements, e.g., shared solar hot water

- use of paving material other than concrete or
asphalt for parking lots to reduce area heat gain
(such as turf block)

- use of natural sunlight for interior lighting
(daylighting).

• All new and redeveloped surface parking areas UshallU be 
landscaped according to applicable City requirements. 

• All parking structures should provide decorative facades
through building materials and/or landscaping along each
parking level and shall contain street level retail, office,
cultural, or recreational activities.

• All buildings within the development project should
integrate architecturally, aesthetically and functionally
through building design, materials, open spaces, scale,
circulation systems, pedestrian level activities, and
uniform signage and lighting.

• All new development and redevelopment should provide
design elements (trees, canopies, street furniture,
entryways, etc.) to bring the building and related activity
spaces in scale with human dimensions and perception of
space.

• Development should provide appropriate architectural
variety to the area and generate street level activities,
such as outdoor cafes and cultural activities.

Open and Pedestrian Spaces 

Open spaces shall: 

• be directly linked to the pedestrian system (sidewalks or
skyways) and these links shall meet the Plaza Parkway

Intown Redevelopment Plan 49



Design Guidelines established in Appendix B; and 
• provide sufficient lighting to ensure night security;

Open spaces should: 

• relate to activities and buildings within the block;

• establish visual and functional ties to surrounding
activities and create a sense of seclusion in spaces set 
aside from the main pedestrian flow such as found in 
court yards;  

• provide various types of open space use (public, private,
and semi-public spaces);

• provide sit-ability in terms of comfort and number of
seating spaces (1 linear foot of seating space for each 300
square feet of open space), and such seating can be
provided by appropriately designed benches, ledges or
chairs;

• provide for human comfort and scale through the use of
landscaping and/or canopies for shade and highlighting
building entrances;

• be considered for location on roof tops or upper levels in
conjunction with activity spaces, to provide views of
Tampa Bay, especially for development along Beach Drive
and 1st Street;

• provide sculptures, murals &/or water features; &

• provide simple designs which dictate logical order and

arrangement, allowing users to easily orient and relate 
themselves to the space and surrounding activities. 

Pedestrian systems (all projects and areas within the Intown 
Redevelopment Area):P  

• shall be designed in conformance with the Plaza Parkway
Design Manual (CRA Resolution 92-2). 

Historic  

• Renovation, redevelopment or new construction on
historic properties shall comply with the City’s historic
preservation ordinance.

• Developments on sites with historic structures are
encouraged to utilize the incentives offered by the City’s
land development regulations.

U 
 

Residential 

• All infill development should create a sense of place and
neighborhood identity by relating to old and new
architecture and by developing interrelated open and
pedestrian spaces.

• All new development within and adjacent to residential
areas should relate in building scale and mass with the
surrounding neighborhood.

Waterfront 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 50



 
Within the boundaries of the City of St. Petersburg lies one of 
the most unique aesthetically and economically valuable assets 
of the Region; our downtown waterfront. 
 
The park-like character of the waterfront forms a U-shape 
around the eastern edge of the downtown which is anchored 
at its southern end by the UDukeU Energy Center for the Arts, and 
its northern end by the Vinoy property. These two anchors 
represent prominent visual points that frame the Intown 
waterfront park system and, therefore, the development of the 
Vinoy site and the UDukeU S Center for the Arts as activity and 
visual image centers is very important to the successful 
redevelopment of the downtown, the use of the waterfront as 
a public activity space, and the reinforcement of the aesthetic 
quality of the waterfront park system. 
 
The downtown waterfront has established itself as an area with 
its own sense of time and place. In order to preserve and 
enhance this historical and visual continuity, it is important to 
establish the design compatibility of buildings along the 
waterfront with each other as well as with the park-like 
character of the waterfront. It is equally important to provide 
for a variety of activities along the waterfront and in the 
downtown so all citizens of St. Petersburg can enjoy the 
present and the future opportunities these City assets create. 
 
Vinoy Property Development  
 
The Vinoy property is approximately bounded by 5P

th
P Avenue 

NE and 7P

th
P Avenue NE, and Bayshore and Beach Drives NE. 

Design considerations for the property include: 
 
• shall maintain a compatible design relationship to the 

Vinoy and the waterfront in terms of building mass, scale, 
height, materials, color, and architectural character; 

 
• shall provide for a 200-foot wide open space buffer 

parallel to and west of Bayshore Drive between Baywood 
Park and Fifth Avenue N.E. to maintain the open 
character of the waterfront allowing for visual access to 
and through the open space buffer area; 

 
• shall preserve the Banyan trees and Indian Midden; 
 
• shall provide landscaped buffers along all streets and any 

walls facing the street; 
 
• shall landscape parking structures and areas; 
 
• shall provide a landscaped design separation between 

the development, Baywood Park and open space buffer 
parallel to and west of Bayshore Drive. 

 
• shall avoid utilizing large and continuous building masses 

to create a walled image or effect along Fifth Avenue 
N.E., since it is important to maintain the aesthetic charm 
and openness of the Vinoy Basin area and waterfront 
park system, especially as viewed from Pier Park and 
along Straub Park. 

 
• should minimize visual intrusion of parking structures 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 51



along Fifth Avenue N.E. and Bayshore Drive via 
landscaping and/or site design of the project; 

• The development that conforms to the stipulation 
entered into between the parties and approved by a final 
judgment executed by Judge Bryson on December 3, 
1982, in the case of Padula and Workman v. City of St. 
Petersburg (Circuit Civil No. 82-6574-17) shall be deemed 
to conform to the provisions of the Community 
Redevelopment Plan. This final judgment is recorded at 
pages 7 and 8 of O.R. Book 5439 of the Official Records of 
Pinellas County, Florida. 

 
Core AreaU (Unified Retail Core)P

  

 
• Mediterranean Revival is a prominent architectural style 

in St. Petersburg. Mediterranean Revival design elements 
should be encouraged in the Core Area. New 
development should use appropriate building materials 
and design elements such as stucco, key stone or cast 
stone to highlight entryways and along 1st and 2nd level 
facades, barrel tile roofs, terra cotta tiles, towers with 
pyramidal or triangular shaped tops, accent brick (light 
colors), or canopies, arches, and arcades. 
 

• The Jannus Landing Block should be rehabilitated or 
redeveloped in keeping with the architectural style 
(vernacular), scale, and character of the block. This 
involves addressing design issues related to the 
preservation of important building facades, pedestrian 
linkages through the block, and integrating internal and 

external open spaces. 
 
• The Core area will be encouraged to develop using the 

concept of a strong pedestrian orientation including open 
spaces and plazas. 

 
• The Unified Retail Core should capitalize on and reinforce 

the existing urban fabric of the waterfront and the 
existing downtown business district. 

 
• The major pedestrian axes shall directly link the 

waterfront and downtown business district. 
 
• The major pedestrian axes shall function as the major 

retail spine linking the existing downtown business 
district. 

 
• Retail activity will be encouraged to orient along the 

street as well as within the interior parts of the 
development. 

 
• The pedestrian/open space system within the Core Area 

shall be a series of interconnected outdoor and/or indoor 
open spaces, with a focus on water features that link 
developments within the Core and to Downtown, 
Williams Park, the Waterfront and the DukeU Energy 
Center for the Arts. DevelopmentSsS in the Core Area shall 
provide for the pedestrian/open space system through 
maximum use of natural sunlight through a large or series 
of glass atriums or open air designs (high ceilings, central 
outdoor plazas, sunlight filtration from the ceilings). 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 52



Gateway/entry points into the pedestrian/open space 
system shall be highlighted through large landscaped 
plazas or open spaces. The pedestrian/open space system 
and gateway shall include features such as sculptures, 
water landscaping and murals to create an exciting urban 
space. 

• Development along the waterfront (Beach Drive) should
maintain a building (east-west) axis perpendicular to
Beach Drive on levels above the second floor.

Webb’s CityU 

• All new development shall conform to the requirements
of the Downtown Center zoning district and the Plaza
Parkway Design Guidelines.

Rehabilitation 

• Rehabilitation of existing structures shall conform to all
applicable rules and regulations of the City of St.
Petersburg.

• All buildings (including fences and accessory structures)
within a commercial or residential rehabilitation project
should integrate architecturally, aesthetically and
functionally through building design, materials, scale,
open spaces, circulation systems, pedestrian level
activities, and uniform signage and lighting.

DEVELOPMENT GUIDELINES 

• All new development shall be consistent with the
permitted uses in the downtown zoning district in which
it is located.

• Development intensity and uses shall be governed by the
underlying zoning district. Of particular note are the
Downtown Center zones (DC) which provide for mixed-
use development based on floor area ratio (F.A.R.)
system as outlined below:

District Emphasis FAR+ 
DC-C Downtown Core 4.0 to 8.0 
DC -1 Downtown Support 

East of Dr. ML King St 
West of Dr. ML King St 

3.0 to 7.0 
3.0 to 5.0 

DC -2 Downtown Residential 3.0 to 5.0 
DC -3 Downtown Waterfront 2.0 to 3.0 
DC -P Downtown Park 0.2 

+Range only applies from base FAR to administrative approval of FAR bonuses through streamline
process.  Additional bonuses can be awarded through a public hearing. 

The Downtown Center land development regulations also 
contain bonus and exemption provisions which allowSsS an 
increase in floor area ratio (F.A.R.) if selected open space, 
building program and urban design features are incorpo-
rated into the project.  These include, but are not limited 
to, protecting designated historic landmarks, providing 
affordable housing, including retail uses on the first floor 
of a mixed use project, constructing streetscape 
improvements and providing specified percentage of 
office space.  For more details on FAR bonuses, see the 
Downtown Center land development regulations. 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 53



• The major retail activity of the Intown shall be located in
conformance with the uses permitted in the Downtown
Center zoning district as depicted on Map 3 and
described in the “Plan Emphasis” section contained
herein.

• To encourage consolidation of blocks and promote a
unified development concept, the City will consider the
closing of selected streets and alleyways in accordance
with an appropriate proposal.

• The development of both affordable and market rate
housing should be encouraged through incentives.

• Building rehabilitation should conform to the permitted
uses of the downtown zoning district in which it is
located.

Uses or structures that, by reasons of appearance, traffic, 
smoke, glare, noise, odor, or other similar factors, would be 
incompatible with surrounding areas or structures shall not be 
permitted in any part of the project area. 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 54



Neighborhood Impacts 
Intown Redevelopment Plan 55



NEIGHBORHOOD IMPACT 
 
Proposed public and private redevelopment of portions of the 
redevelopment area, especially the Core, Webb's City and the 
Stadium Complex, will have a number of far-reaching positive 
impacts on area residents and surrounding areas in terms of 
increased levels of amenity, and community services and 
facilities, improved environmental, physical and social quality 
and an expanded tax base that will lessen the property tax 
burden on all St. Petersburg citizens. While specific impacts 
cannot be determined until concrete project proposals are 
submitted, the following report attempts to quantify the range 
of impacts that might be expected with respect to 
displacement of existing occupants and environmental quality.  
 
Relocation 
 
If Federal grant funds are not utilized in carrying out 
redevelopment activities in the Intown Redevelopment Area, a 
modified version of the City's relocation policy will be used 
where existing residential and commercial owners and 
occupants are displaced as a result of city condemnation. The 
relocation policy is as follows0F

1: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

1 Section amended previously by Section 22, Ordinance 205-G. 

Occupant Moving Expenses 
Residential tenant 

Low and moderate 
income1F

2 

 
Actual relocation expenses up to $1,000 (moving 
expenses for displaced persons and their personal 
property for a distance of 25 miles). Transportation 
costs beyond 25 miles may be paid at the discretion 
of the CRA. Plus: first and last month’s rent, security 
deposit, and utility deposits and/or reconnection of 
utilities (not including delinquent accounts, line 
extensions or other capital expenses.) The CRA will 
provide written notice to the tenants to be 
displaced 60 days prior to the loss of possession.  

Residential-Tenant 
Less than 90 days  
(at least 30 days) 

 
$100 Dislocation allowance 

90 days or more $200 Dislocation allowance.  
Plus $40 per furnished room total not to exceed 
$400.  
 
The CRA will provide written notice to the tenants 
to be displaced 60 days prior to the loss of 
possession 

Residential-Owner Negotiated amount to be included in purchase 
contract or $200 Dislocation allowance 
Plus $40 per furnished room not to exceed a total 
of $500 or actual moving expenses based on two 
bids (lowest bid). 

Business-Owner Actual moving expenses up to $3000 based on two 
bids (lowest bid) or negotiated amount to be 
included in purchase contract. 

Business-Tenant Actual moving expenses up to $3000 based on two 
bids (lowest bid).  
 

2 Low and moderate income means a household income that does not 
exceed 80% of the median income for the Tampa/St. Petersburg/ 
Clearwater Metropolitan Statistical Area. For owner occupied residential or 
business replacement housing costs are considered in negotiated purchase 
offers. 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 56



The entire Webb's City area and selected blocks within the 
Core and surrounding residential areas are proposed to be 
acquired (see Map 6). With respect to the former, much of the 
land, and many of the structures within the area are vacant, 
requiring no displacement. However, there is one residential 
owner occupant, three commercial owner occupants and 
eleven commercial tenant occupants that would have to be 
displaced. One 64 unit retirement hotel is not proposed for 
acquisition at this time, but if acquisition became necessary, 64 
residential tenant occupants would also have to be displaced. 

The blocks proposed for acquisition within the may involve 
relocation activities related to 50 businesses (owner occupant 
and tenant) and 329 transient residential units. 

The residential area surrounding the Core will be targeted for a 
rehabilitation program entailing some spot clearance. It is 
anticipated that there will be few such cases and these will be 
handled accordingly to the prescribed relocation policy. 

However, there are selected blocks where block consolidation 
may take place for new infill residential development. The 
relocation activity related to these blocks may involve 209 
permanent housing units and 51 transient units. The estimated 
number of people involved with residential relocation is 286 
(based on 1980 Census data of 1.38 persons per household). 

At the time the IRP was originally adopted, the Census tract 
blocks (Tract 214, Blocks 113, 114, 115, 116, 119 and 121) 
involved with the residential block consolidation program 
contained 89 structures, of which 60 were in a deteriorated or 
dilapidated condition. 

At the present time, vacant commercial space availability 
within the Intown area and elsewhere in the City is sufficient to 
accommodate the commercial occupants that would be 
displaced as a result of redevelopment of the above areas on 
either a permanent or temporary basis, pending the expansion 
of available space through new downtown commercial 
development. 

Since little displacement of long term residential tenants and 
owner occupants, other than hotel guests, is anticipated, 
sufficient replacement housing is available to meet their need 
as well. 

City staff will provide technical and counseling assistance to 
displacees, both commercial and residential, in locating 
suitable replacement facilities which are comparable and 
within the tenants financial means and securing moving 
expense bids or computing such expenses. Eligible residential 
displaces, having been displaced by "governmental action," 
may also have ready access to "assisted housing," and City staff 
will provide assistance in making referrals to appropriate 
agencies for this purpose. 

Grievances related to relocation will be handled by the existing 
Community Improvement Projects Committee-Grievance 
Committee. Upon hearing a grievance the committee will 
render its decision and forward it to the Redevelopment 
Agency. Grievance procedures, standing of decisions, and 
appeal process will be the same as used currently by the 
committee. 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 57



RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 

The establishment of an expanded residential base in the 
Intown is essential to achieve a successful downtown 
redevelopment program. People living and working downtown 
will generate the 24-hour activity and community spirit 
necessary to create a cohesive neighborhood environment. 

The Intown Sector Land Use Plan projected an ultimate design 
population of 30,000 as a development parameter for the 
sector. In 1975, there were 11,600 people in the Intown, and 
8,100 housing units. Assuming a constant household size, and 
maintenance of the current level of elasticity in the market, an 
additional 12,850 housing units would have to be built in the 
sector to accommodate the design population, even if no 
existing units were lost through attrition. However, the 1980 
Census shows the Intown Sector population has decreased to 
10,875. 

Any housing program must consider both the provision of 
opportunities for new housing construction, and retention and 
improvement of the existing stock. Similarly, in order to 
provide a full range of housing choices, a comprehensive 
housing strategy must also take into consideration all types of 
tenure options ranging from investor owned rental units, 
through cooperatives to owner occupied single and multi-
family units; varying levels of assistance to provide for the 
needs of housing consumers in all income ranges; and a variety 
of dwelling unit types and sizes to accommodate diverse 
household compositions and lifestyles. 

The housing demand generated by upper income consumers is, 
for the most part, accommodated by the private sector, using 
conventional financing with little or no assistance. 

Similarly, the shelter needs of lower income households are 
equally well provided for through a number of assistance 
programs. There are already over 1,560 federally assisted 
rental units for elderly households in place throughout the 
Intown sector, with another 314 under construction or 
planned, in relatively new, high and low rise apartment 
structures. For small and large families, 82 new public 
townhouse units have just been completed in the Jamestown 
area, and sufficient land has been set aside for up to 213 
similar assisted units in the Gas Plant area. In addition, over 
100 elderly and family households have been able to rent 
improved units in the Intown area through federal Section 8 
rent supplement programs. These programs help lower income 
households compete for shelter on the open market, while at 
the same time, through guaranteed fair market rents, assist 
Section 8 landlords in securing conventional improvement 
financing, thereby representing an important existing housing 
stock retention incentive. 

Between these two extremes, the affluent and urban poor, is a 
vast potential market of moderate income households who are 
finding it increasingly difficult to compete for suitable, 
affordable housing on conventional terms, and yet are 
ineligible for housing assistance. Any comprehensive housing 
production/retention strategy must deal with the needs of this 
group as well through measures to increase the affordability of 
both new and existing dwelling units of all types, sizes and 
tenure options (see Plan Implementation Chapter). 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 58



ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY 

Again, specific environmental impacts can only be determined 
on the basis of specific project proposals. In this context the 
following impacts of redevelopment on both the natural and 
manmade environment are general in nature, and content. 

Drainage 

In that most of the redevelopment area is occupied by 
structures, paved right-of-way or paved surface parking 
developed prior to the enactment of the City's Grounds 
Improvement Ordinance, any new development carried out 
under present ordinances mandating the provision of green 
permeable open space is bound to improve the present 
situation relating to storm water runoff. This is especially the 
case since any new development would be accompanied by 
improvements to the drainage infrastructure/storm sewer 
system as required. 

Vegetation 

Trees may have to be removed to accommodate 
redevelopment proposed for the areas and may be removed 
upon approval by the City. However, all those specimens three 
inches or greater in trunk diameter at breast height are 
protected under the Tree Ordinance, except Punk trees, 
Brazilian Pepper, and all Palms. Suitable barricades, or stakes 
connected by flagging, plastic tape, or rope, if clumps or groups 
of trees are involved, are to be erected within six feet of the 
trunk or 2/3 of the area under the dripline of all trees to 
remain, whichever is greater, where no solvents, construction 
material, machinery, or temporary sod deposits are to be 

placed. Land clearance must leave all ground cover intact 
within the trees' dripline. This may include Palmettos, ferns, 
hibiscus or other shade tolerance species. 

A tree survey will be undertaken prior to construction to 
pinpoint exact locations, common names, and diameters of 
existing trees at breast heights. Also, planned improvements to 
the pedestrian system, coupled with F.A.R. bonuses for 
landscaping, should considerably increase the amount of 
vegetation in the redevelopment area. 

Flooding 

With exception of publicly owned property east of Beach Drive, 
part of the Progress Energy Center for the Arts and Albert 
Whitted Airport (and portions of the blocks west of the 
Airport), on which no redevelopment is proposed at this time, 
the U.S. Geological Survey has not identified any flood prone 
zones within the project area. 

Noise 

Article III of City Code Chapter 11 establishes noise limitations 
for activities in St. Petersburg.  

Water Quality 

The project impact on domestic wastewater flow to the Albert 
Whitted Plant may be insignificant. Discharges into the sanitary 
sewer system from new sources developed as a part of the 
project will be insignificant prior to improvements at the Albert 
Whitted Plant. 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 59



All discharges to the sanitary sewer system are regulated by 
City ordinance. These regulations will insure that users are 
charged appropriate amount for wastewater treatment 
provided by the City's plant and that toxic and hazardous 
wastes are treated prior to discharge into the City's system. 
These programs will be implemented locally. 

The St Petersburg Water System is presently permitted by the 
SWFWMD to provide up to 56 MGD of potable water per day. 
The average daily demand is 36-38 MGD. The additional 
demand for water by those locating in the project area will be 
insignificant in light of this total capacity. Due to the nature of 
this redevelopment project, no discharges into the ground 
water are anticipated. 

Air Quality 

It is anticipated that the project will not involve any point 
sources of air pollution which would require State or Federal 
permits.  The development’s primary impact on air quality will 
be from indirect sources related to transportation activities.  

Pinellas County has not been designated as an Air Quality 
Maintenance area for Carbon Monoxide, so there is no specific 
control plan in effect for this pollutant.  Large projects which 
result in significant increase in traffic flow and parking facilities 
are subject to review and permitting by the Florida Department 
of Environmental Regulation under Chapter 17-2.04(8) of the 
State Administrative Codes. 

Demolition and construction activities which will occur as a 
part of project development will be a potential source of 
fugitive particulates.  Approved dust control measures will be 

employed during these activities to minimize wind erosion and 
Fugitive Particulate Air Pollution.  Open burning of any waste 
material will be handled in accordance with Chapter 17-5 
(Florida Administrative Codes) and Chapter 14-7 of the St. 
Petersburg City Codes to further reduce the impact of 
construction.  

Landscaping of open spaces and buffer zones will be required 
as construction activities are completed to prevent wind 
erosion and Fugitive Particulate Air Pollution following the 
construction. 

Determinations as to the need for Regional or Environmental 
Impact Statements based on increases in parking spaces or 
peak hour traffic are contingent upon specific project 
proposals.  Every effort will be made to limit development size 
to adhere to ambient air quality standards for Carbon 
Monoxide. Proposed increased vegetation along rights-of-way 
and in conjunction with parking structures should also 
contribute to this goal. 

Land Use/Zoning 

The distribution and character of land uses in the 
redevelopment areas will be considerably altered by proposed 
redevelopment.  Most importantly, the current intermingling 
of incompatible uses will be eliminated, and such uses will be 
strictly separated and buffered from one another. 
Furthermore, the current under-utilization of valuable 
downtown land will be reduced, and new uses will be in 
conformance with the adopted Land Use Plan and Zoning 
Ordinance. 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 60



Traffic Circulation 

Based upon existing street capacity in and around the 
proposed redevelopment area, some streets may experience a 
decrease in the level of service.  

Community Facilities and Services 

The provision of new site improvements including new 
sidewalks, street improvements, new drainage systems, 
planned green spaces and buffer strips, adequate parking, and 
adequate lighting is anticipated to have a positive impact in the 
project area and surrounding community.  The relocation of 
the displaced businesses from the project area is not 
anticipated to have any significant impact on existing 
community facilities in the surrounding community.  

Within a two-mile radius of the project area, at least seven 
neighborhood and community parks exist. In addition, thirteen 
mini parks, three scenic parks, two specialized parks, and three 
undeveloped parks are also within a two-mile radius of the 
project area. 

Adequate hospital facilities including Bayfront Medical Center 
Complex, All Children's Hospital, St. Anthony's Hospital and 
numerous nursing and congregate living facilities are within a 
one-mile radius of the project area. 

Adequate fire and police service is provided by the St. 
Petersburg Police and Fire Departments and no significant 
increased demand on these services is anticipated as a result of 
the proposed development. 

School Population 

Under the present Pinellas County School System, the 
desegregation (busing) Program is in effect throughout the 
County. The present school age population within the Project 
Area attends several schools, and the dispersal of the families 
from the project area or an increase in school aged children is 
not anticipated to have any significant impact on the school 
system. 

Social Fabric and Community Structure 

In the there are so few residents in the area, relocation will 
involve little dispersal of long term neighbors. Also, the 
removal of many badly deteriorated structures is anticipated to 
significantly improve the living conditions of families and 
businesses as well as the physical environmental character of 
the redevelopment area and its surroundings. In fact, 
redevelopment will increase the permanent residential 
population and help to solidify a community sense within the 
Intown Sector. 

OTHER BENEFITS 

The objective of the Intown Redevelopment Plan is to provide 
benefits to the residents and businesses within the 
redevelopment area as well as City-wide. 

The redevelopment projects described in the plan are designed 
to provide expanded residential, business, cultural, 
employment and other service benefits to the redevelopment 
area as described below: 

Intown Redevelopment Plan 61



• The pedestrian system improvements will provide
aesthetics as well as functional benefits to residences
and businesses in the area by creating the type of
environment which makes it a pleasurable and safe
walking experience in the area.

• The transportation program provides transit services
for people working and living in the area making it more
convenient to travel to the various working, shopping
and recreational centers within the Intown.

• The revitalization of the downtown will provide impor-
tant neighborhood services which are currently not
located in the redevelopment area, such as the
residential service center (food and drug store, etc.) to
be developed in the Webb's City area, and the increase
in retail stores and other support services that will be
provided by private enterprise as a result of an
expanded residential and employment base in the
downtown.

• The residential development program will provide
housing opportunities for existing households in the
redevelopment area as well as the City. Homeowners
will have opportunities to upgrade their residences and
new housing will increase available housing for the first
time home buyers as well as mobility for homeowners
who wish to improve their housing standards.

• Needed utility improvements in the redevelopment
area will increase the quality of services as well as
allowing the redevelopment area to reach its devel-
opment capacity.

• Downtown revitalization means more people living and
working in the area which, in turn, increase business
opportunities for existing businesses and generates an
expanded retail and employment base.

Intown Redevelopment Plan 62



Appendices 



APPENDIX A 
Table of Documents Adopting and Amending IRP 



 

Summary of Legal Documents Related to the Intown Redevelopment Plan (1981 to 2018) 
 

Ordinance # Date Approved Description 
   

81-1401 
(City Resolution) 

December 17, 1981 City Council makes blight finding for the Intown Redevelopment Area. Also 
includes City Council Resolution 81-100 which declared the Webb’s City area 
blighted pursuant to Florida’s Community Redevelopment Act. Includes Pinellas 
County Resolution No. 81-465 in which the BCC delegated redevelopment 
authority to St. Petersburg. 
 

557-F March 18, 1982 Adoption of the Intown Redevelopment Plan (IRP). Includes Pinellas County 
Ordinance #82-24 which approved the IRP on August 3, 1982. 
 

569-F April 15, 1982 Amending IRP to increase the proposed office space for the Webb’s City 
Redevelopment Project. 
 

570-F April 15, 1982 Establishing a Redevelopment Trust Fund to finance Community 
Redevelopment Projects within the Redevelopment area.  Includes Pinellas 
County Ordinance #82-24 which approved the IRP Redevelopment Trust Fund 
on August 3, 1982. 
 

605-F October 21, 1982 Granting the power of eminent domain to the St. Petersburg Community 
Redevelopment Agency. Includes Pinellas County Resolution No. 82-591 which 
authorized the amendment on December 7, 1982. 
 

622-F January 20, 1983 Amending IRP to increase the allowable size of the commercial component of 
the development concept for Block E of the Webb’s City project area. 
 

641-F 
 
 

March 1, 1983 Amending IRP by eliminating the minimum requirement of floor area ratio and 
changing the classification to Pedestrian System for the Webb’s City Project. 



Summary of Legal Documents Related to the Intown Redevelopment Plan (1981 to 2018) 

Ordinance # Date Approved Description 

654-F May 19, 1983 Amending IRP to include design guidelines for a public improvement project 
called the Vinoy.  Pinellas County approved on May 24, 1983. 

669-F September 1, 1983 Amending IRP to incorporate the Gas Plant Project, including the Stadium and 
repealing the plan previously adopted by Resolution 79-698.  Approved by 
Pinellas County on August 16, 1983. 

725-F March 1, 1984 Amending IRP to add a new use emphasis category entitled recreation/open 
space to replace the existing parkland use. 

735-F April 5, 1984 Amending Ordinance No. 570-F by amending Section 1 to change the 
calculation and appropriation of TIF revenues for the IRP.  Includes Pinellas 
County Ordinance No. 86-39 which amended County Ordinance 82-24 related 
to the creation of the Intown Trust Fund. 

746-F May 17, 1984 Amending IRP to revise the Gas Plant Redevelopment Project.  Pinellas County 
approved project on May 15, 1984. 

755-F July 19, 1984 Amending IRP by modifying the Webb’s City Project “Block D” Development 
Plan. (Includes CRA resolution 84-13 recommending approval of amendment.) 

823-F June 6, 1985 Amending IRP related to pedestrian system, defining parking garage sites 
(Blocks B and G), adding block consolidation to Blocks A, F and G, and Bayfront 
Center. 

852-F November 21, 1985 Amending IRP clarifying use of TIF bond proceeds. 

966-F May 21, 1987 Amending IRP to amend Webb’s City Plan. 



 

Summary of Legal Documents Related to the Intown Redevelopment Plan (1981 to 2018) 
 

Ordinance # Date Approved Description 
   

1054-F 
 

October 6, 1988 Amending IRP incorporating Bay Plaza Plan (incorporate Blocks A and G into 
Unified Retail Core and added development and design guidelines). 
 

1084-F February 2, 1989 Amending IRP related to projects and TIF.  Pinellas County approves by 
Resolution 88-132 which is attached. (Note: Resolution 89-132, which contains 
identical language as 88-132, is also attached.)  
 

2038-F February 21, 1991 Amending IRP to define parking garage projects for the Mirror Lake area. 
 

31-G September 17, 1992 Amending Plan emphasis for area between 3rd and 5th Avenues North from 
Beach to 1st Street from Residential to Mixed-Use-Specialty Retail. 
 

205-G September 14, 1995 Amending Unified Retail Core, Plaza Parkway, Residential Program, Webb’s City 
and relocation policy. 
 

261-G January 13, 1997 Amending disposition of land policy within the Intown Redevelopment Plan. 
 

338-G June 25, 1998 Amending IRP Core Area Project/Unified Retail Program and deleted a parking 
structure from Block A and providing for a parking structure on Block B.  Also 
revised the pedestrian system. 
 

715-G 
 
 
 

March 3, 2005 
 
 
 
 

Amending IRP to Implement future renovations to Municipal Pier, the 
Mahaffey Theater, and other public improvements; provide expiration date for 
IRP; identify TIF as funding source for said improvements; identify existing IRP 
projects implemented prior to 2005; and estimate project costs for TIF debt 
requirements.  Approved by Pinellas County Board of County Commissioners on 
April 5, 2005. 



 

Summary of Legal Documents Related to the Intown Redevelopment Plan (1981 to 2018) 
 

Ordinance # Date Approved Description 
   

762-G 
 
 
 
 
 

January 19, 2006 
 
 
 
 
 

Amending the IRP  by increasing the maximum amount of tax increment 
financing proceeds available for downtown improvement projects from $95.4 
million to $97.4 million in order to allow the Florida Orchestra to utilize a $2 
million private donation previously programmed for Mahaffey Theater 
renovations to be utilized for the construction of a new headquarters building 
for the Orchestra; and, provide an additional $2 million in tax increment 
financing proceeds to replace the $2 million private donation in order to 
complete the Mahaffey Theater renovation project. Approved by Pinellas 
County Board of County Commissioners on February 21, 2006. 
 

822-G August 9, 2007 Amending the IRP to update maps and text references to zoning districts and 
future land use categories; ensuring consistency between the LDRs and IRP 
design standards; updating existing condition descriptions; deleting outdated 
graphics and project descriptions; and making editorial/formatting revisions. 
 

1018-G June 16, 2011 Amending the IRP to include $2.5 million in tax increment financing to support 
the completion of the new Salvador Dali Museum; clarifying reference to the 
municipal pier project; updating descriptions to reflect current conditions and 
removing specific development targets on downtown blocks; updating maps 
and graphics; and correcting scrivener’s errors. 
 

192-H September 3, 2015 Amending the IRP to expand the redevelopment budget by $20 million from 
$97.4 million to $117.4 million to fund improvements identified in the 
Downtown Waterfront Master Plan for the Pier District; updating descriptions 
to reflect current development conditions; updating maps and graphics; 
correcting scrivener’s errors; amending Appendix A to provide a summary of 
IRP legal documents. 



Summary of Legal Documents Related to the Intown Redevelopment Plan (1981 to 2018) 

Ordinance # Date Approved Description 

292-H August 24, 2017 Amending the IRP to add a $190.98 million ceiling for total tax increment 
financing contributions needed to complete the IRP program for the projects 
identified in Table 2 of the redevelopment plan; provide for a future discussion 
regarding the duties and contributions of the parties, duration of the TIF, 
discussion of projects related to parking and transportation enhancements 
within Intown and projects related to the redevelopment of Tropicana Field; 
and reallocate $14 million in tax increment funds previously allotted for a 
Mixed Use Transportation Facility to allow for up to $10 million in Pier District 
Enhancements and at least $4 million for Downtown Transportation and 
Parking Improvements. 

333-H August 2, 2018 Adopting amendments to the Intown Redevelopment Plan (IRP) increasing the 
redevelopment program budget in Revised Table 2 from $117.354 million to 
$232.354 million to fund Waterfront, Transit and Parking Improvements and 
Rehabilitation and Conservation of Historic Resources in the IRP east of 8th 
Street as well as Redevelopment Infrastructure Improvements in the IRP west 
of 8th Street; deleting from IRP Revised Table 2 projects that will not be funded 
by tax increment financing (TIF); and allowing reductions in TIF contributions to 
the IRP Redevelopment Trust Fund by the City of St. Petersburg and Pinellas 
County. 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

APPENDIX B 
Plaza Parkway Design Guidelines 



Plaza Parkway
Design Guidelines 
St. Petersburg, Florida 























































































































































164 

 

 

The following page(s) contain the backup material for Agenda Item: A resolution of the City 

Council of St. Petersburg, Florida, approving an increase in the not to exceed amount of the 

engagement letter with Faegre Drinker Biddle & Reath LLP from $950,000 to $1,500,000; 

approving a supplemental appropriation in the amount of $550,000 from the unappropriated balance 

of the General Fund (0001) to the Legal Department, Legal Division (030-1009); and providing for 

an effective date. 

Please scroll down to view the backup material. 



F-1

F-1



   
 
 

ST. PETERSBURG CITY COUNCIL 
Consent Agenda 

 
Meeting of June 13, 2024 

 
 
TO: The Honorable Deborah Figgs-Sanders, Chair, and Members of City Council 
 
FROM: Brian Caper, Economic & Workforce Development Director    
 
SUBJECT: A resolution of the City Council of St. Petersburg, Florida, approving an increase in the not 

to exceed amount of the engagement letter with Faegre Drinker Biddle & Reath LLP from 
$950,000 to $1,500,000; approving a supplemental appropriation in the amount of $550,000 
from the unappropriated balance of the General Fund (0001) to the Legal Department, Legal 
Division (030-1009); and providing for an effective date. 

              
 
 
EXPLANATION:  On February 16, 2023, City Council confirmed the appointment of Faegre Drinker 
Biddle & Reath LLP (“Faegre Drinker”) to provide legal services related to the Stadium project and Historic 
Gas Plant District development project for an initial not-to-exceed amount of $250,000.  On November 30, 
2023, the City Council approved an increase in the not-to-exceed amount of the engagement letter from 
$250,000 to $550,000, and again on March 21, 2024, the City Council approved an increase from $550,000 
to $950,000. Faegre Drinker has been instrumental in drafting, reviewing, and editing the various 
agreements related to the Stadium project and Historic Gas redevelopment.  

Given the amount of work Faegre Drinker has performed to date, the previous not-to-exceed amount of 
$950,000 is close to being exhausted. As a result, the Administration is seeking to increase the not-to-
exceed amount of the engagement letter by $550,000, bringing the total amount to $1,500,000. This increase 
is anticipated to cover the remaining work necessary to complete the agreements for City Council approval. 

RECOMMENDATION:  Administration recommends City Council approve the attached Resolution. 
 
COST/FUNDING/ASSESSMENT INFORMATION:  Funding will be available after the approval of a 
supplemental appropriation in the amount of $550,000 from the unappropriated balance of the General Fund 
(0001) to the Legal Department, Legal Division (030-1009).   
 
ATTACHMENTS: Resolution  
   
APPROVALS: 
 
 
 
             
Administration    Budget 
 



1 
 

RESOLUTION NO. _____ 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
ST. PETERSBURG, FLORIDA APPROVING AN 
INCREASE IN THE NOT TO EXCEED AMOUNT 
OF THE ENGAGEMENT LETTER WITH 
FAEGRE DRINKER BIDDLE & REATH LLP 
FROM $950,000 TO $1,500,000; APPROVING A 
SUPPLEMENTAL APPROPRIATION IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $550,000 FROM THE 
UNAPPROPRIATED BALANCE OF THE 
GENERAL FUND (0001) TO THE LEGAL 
DEPARTMENT, LEGAL DIVISION (030-1009); 
AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to City Council approval on February 16, 2023, the City Attorney’s 
Office retained Faegre Drinker Biddle & Reath LLP (“Faegre Drinker”) to provide legal services 
related to the Stadium project and Historic Gas Plant District development project for an initial not 
to exceed amount of $250,000; and 
 

WHEREAS, City Council has previously approved increases in the not to exceed amount 
of the engagement letter; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Administration desires to increase the not to exceed amount of the 
engagement letter from $950,000 to $1,500,000 in order for Faegre Drinker to continue work on 
numerous agreements for the projects; and 

 
 WHEREAS, funding will be available after approval of a supplemental appropriation in 
the amount of $550,000 from the unappropriated balance of the General Fund (0001) to the Legal 
Department, Legal Division (030-1009). 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of St. Petersburg, 
Florida that an increase in the not to exceed amount of the engagement letter with Faegre Drinker 
Biddle & Reath LLP from $950,000 to $1,500,000 is hereby approved.   

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that there is hereby approved from the unappropriated 

balance of the General Fund (0001), the following supplemental appropriation for FY24: 
 
General Fund Contingency (0001) 
Legal Department, Legal Division (030-1009) $550,000 

 



2 
 

This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption.  

LEGAL: BUDGET: 

 
____________________________ ________________________ 
00747775 
 
ADMINISTRATION:  

 
____________________________  
  
   



Interlocal W/ Pinellas County (Inner Circle Sports)
Total Amount City County

FY21 Inner Circle Sports (Initial Agreement City) $84,500 $42,250 $42,250

FY22 Inner Circle Sports (County Agreement) $220,000 $110,000 $110,000

FY24 Inner Circle Sports (County Agreement
Monthly Compensation $198,000 $99,000 $99,000
Additional Compensation $350,000 $175,000 $175,000

Total Inner Circle $852,500 $426,250 $426,250

FY23 Victus Economic Impact Study $44,950 $22,475 $22,475
Total Victus $44,950 $22,475 $22,475

Total Inner Circle /Victus Pinellas County Interlocal $897,450 $448,725 $448,725

HR&A
FY21 Administrative Agreement $99,000
FY23 Administrative Agreement $73,000
FY23 Council Appropriated Amended Agreement $150,000

Total HR&A $322,000

PFM
FY23 Special Project $10,000

Total PFM $10,000
Legal Expenses

Faegre Drinker (et al)
FY23 Initial Agreement $250,000
FY24 Agreement - December $300,000
FY24 Agreement -March $400,000
FY24 Agreement - June 16, 2024 Request $550,000

Total Faegre Drinker $1,500,000

Bryant Miller & Olive
FY24 Agreement $100,000

Total Bryant Miller & Olive $100,000

Skanska (Owner's Rep) $50,000
Total Skanska $50,000

Grand Total FY21-FY24 $2,430,725

Historic Gas Plant  (and Previous RFP) Expenditures 
By Fiscal Year



170 

 

 

The following page(s) contain the backup material for Agenda Item: Settlement Andi Ibro v. City of 

St. Petersburg, Case No.: 23-001241-CI 

Please scroll down to view the backup material. 



I-1

I-1



RESOLUTION NO. _______ 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING SETTLEMENT OF THE 
LAWSUIT OF ANDI IBRO V. CITY OF ST. PETERSBURG, 
FLORIDA, CIRCUIT COURT FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, 
FLORIDA, CASE NO. 23-001241-CI, AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

BE IT RESOLVED, By the City Council of the City of St. Petersburg, Florida, that 
the settlement by and between the City of St. Petersburg and Plaintiff, Andi Ibro, in the case of 
Andi Ibro v. City of St. Petersburg, Case No. 23-001241-CI, Circuit Court for Pinellas County, 
Florida, in the amount of $70,000.00 is approved. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Administration and the City 
Attorney's Office are authorized to execute the necessary paperwork and pay the funds in 
accordance with such settlement. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this Resolution shall become effective 
immediately upon its adoption. 

Approved as to Form and Content: 

/S/: Joseph P. Kelly    
City Attorney (designee) 
 



173 

 

 

The following page(s) contain the backup material for Agenda Item: Ordinance 584-H of the City of 

St. Petersburg approving a Development Agreement for property generally bounded by First Avenue 

South to the north, Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. and Tenth Streets South to the east, Interstate 175 to 

the south, and Seventeenth and Eighteenth Streets South to the west; recognizing that the subject 

agreement is by and between Hines Historic Gas Plant District Partnership, a Florida Joint Venture 

(Developer) and the City of St. Petersburg, Florida, A Florida Municipal Corporation; authorizing 

the Mayor or his designee to execute the agreement; and providing an effective date. 

Please scroll down to view the backup material. 



J-1

J-1



St. PETERSBURG CITY COUNCIL 
Meeting of June 13, 2024 

TO: The Honorable Deborah Figgs-Sanders, Chair and Members of City Council 

SUBJECT:  Ordinance 584-H of the City of St. Petersburg approving a Development Agreement 
for property generally bounded by First Avenue South to the north, Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. and 
Tenth Streets South to the east, Interstate 175 to the south, and Seventeenth and Eighteenth Streets 
South to the west; recognizing that the subject agreement is by and between Hines Historic Gas Plant 
District Partnership, a Florida Joint Venture (Developer) and the City of St. Petersburg, Florida, 
A Florida Municipal Corporation; authorizing the Mayor or his designee to execute the agreement; 
and providing an effective date. (Legislative) 

BACKGROUND:  The Development Agreement serves at the regulatory agreement with the purpose 
of the following: 

 Identify the geographic area of the district; 
 Establish the duration, 30 years; 
 Address public facilities and services including sanitary sewer, solid waste, 

drainage/stormwater, potable water, transportation, parks and recreation; 
 Determine the impact of existing and proposed development on each service or facility and 

determine whether any deficiency will be created; 
 Be consistent with the local government comprehensive plan. 

The subject parcels are all included in the master plan for the supporting the new vision for this District. 
Total proposed construction activity over the 30-year period is estimated to be 10,626,898 gross square 
feet (GSF), or 3.0 FAR over the project upland area. Proposed construction activity includes:  

 5,400 dwelling units; 
 600 Affordable/Workforce dwelling units;  
 750 Hotel rooms;  
 90,000 gross square feet of Conference and Meeting Space;  
 1,400,000 gross square feet of Office (General and Medical);  
 850,000 gross square feet of Commercial (Retail/Entertainment);  
 50,000 gross square feet of Civic/Museum; and 
 Up to 35,000 seat Sports Stadium.  

Building height is unlimited subject to bonus approval over 300-feet, as further governed by the Federal 
Aviation Administration and Albert Whitted Airport Overlay regulations. The attached CPPC staff 
report provides a review related to compliance with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and Land 
Development Regulations, and a Public Facilities Analysis.  

RECOMMENDATION: 
Administration:  City staff recommends APPROVAL. 

Community Planning and Preservation Commission (“CPPC”): On May 14, 2024, the CPPC held a public 
hearing regarding the Development Agreement and voted 7 to 0 to APPROVE the agreement, making a 



City File HGP DA 
Page 2 of 2 

finding of consistency with the City of St. Petersburg’s Comprehensive Plan and Land Development 
Regulations.  

Commissioner comments included: 
Noted the importance of the agreement and the positive impacts of redevelopment: replacing of existing
surface parking lots, establishing a planned redevelopment for the entire area, creating a walkable and
complete neighborhood, establishment of a new African American museum, continuation of St. Pete’s
baseball tradition, honoring the historic Gas Plant district.
Expressed concerns related to fiscal and financing issues which will be addressed by City Council and
staff
Expressed concerns about a lack of a Citywide plan to address hurricanes and severe weather water
surge and future budget needed to address such a plan
Questions on Level-of-service questions on traffic and future capacity of the Interstate
Expressed concerns regarding the language related to provision of 600 affordable housing units and
language which might allow construction of less units through option to buy-out
Questions on the timing for the minimum development requirements over the 30-year build out period
Question on the annual tracking report
Expressed support of the project
Question regarding Oakland Cemetery and potential reservation or dedication of land for remembrance
Requested that Council listen to the CBA and take their time in reviewing the documents

No members of the public spoke at the public hearing.  

Recommended City Council Action: 
 CONDUCT the first reading and public hearing of the proposed ordinance; AND  SET the second 

reading and adoption public hearing for July 11, 2024.

Attachments: Ordinance, draft Development Agreement, CPPC Staff Report, draft CPPC minutes.



1 

ORDINANCE NO. 584-H 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF ST. 
PETERSBURG, FLORIDA APPROVING A 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR PROPERTY 
GENERALLY BOUNDED BY FIRST AVENUE 
SOUTH TO THE NORTH, DR. MARTIN LUTHER 
KING, JR. AND TENTH STREETS SOUTH TO THE 
EAST, INTERSTATE 175 TO THE SOUTH, AND 
SEVENTEENTH AND EIGHTEENTH STREETS 
SOUTH TO THE WEST; RECOGNIZING THAT THE 
SUBJECT AGREEMENT IS BY AND BETWEEN 
HINES HISTORIC GAS PLANT DISTRICT 
PARTNERSHIP, A FLORIDA JOINT VENTURE 
(DEVELOPER), AND THE CITY OF ST. 
PETERSBURG, FLORIDA, A FLORIDA MUNICIPAL 
CORPORATION; AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR OR 
HIS DESIGNEE TO EXECUTE THE AGREEMENT; 
AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

THE CITY OF ST. PETERSBURG DOES ORDAIN: 

SECTION 1. A Development Agreement associated with approximately 81.32 acres of 
land generally bounded by First Avenue South to the north, Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. and Tenth Streets 
South to the east, Interstate 175 the south, and Seventeenth and Eighteenth Streets South to the west, more 
particularly described as follows:  

Property 

Legal Description: 

Lot 1, Block 1, and Lot 1, Block 2, Suncoast Stadium Replat, as recorded in Plat Book 96, Pages 53 and 
54, Public Records of Pinellas County, Florida. 

Lot 1, Block 1, Lot 1, Block 2, and Lot 1, Block 3, Tropicana Field West Parking Area Replat, as recorded 
in Plat Book 121, Pages 55 and 56, Public Records of Pinellas County, Florida. 

Lots 1 through 20, inclusive, Block 48, Revised Map of the City of St. Petersburg, as recorded in Plat Book 
1, Page 49 of the Public Records of Hillsborough County, Florida, of which Pinellas County was formerly 
a part. 

Lots 11, 12, 13 and 14, Block 24, of FULLER'S SUBDIVISION, according to plat thereof as recorded in 
Plat Book 1, Page 16, of the Public Records of Pinellas County, Florida. 



2 

Parcel ID Number:

OWNER PIN
PINELLAS COUNTY 243116924180030010
PINELLAS COUNTY 243116863810020010
ST PETERSBURG, CITY OF 243116297180240110
PINELLAS COUNTY 243116924180020010
PINELLAS COUNTY 243116924180010010
ST PETERSBURG, CITY OF 243116863810020011
ST PETERSBURG, CITY OF 193117744660480010
ST PETERSBURG, CITY OF 193117744660480110
PINELLAS COUNTY 243116863810010010

is hereby approved and adopted, in accordance with the Florida Local Government Development Agreement 
Act, §§ 163.3221, et seq., Fla. Stat. 

SECTION 2. The subject Development Agreement is by and between Hines Historic 
Gas Plant District Partnership, a Florida joint venture (developer) and the City of St. Petersburg, Florida, a 
Florida municipal corporation.

SECTION 3. The Mayor, or his designee, is authorized to execute the Development 
Agreement on behalf of the City. 

SECTION 4. COMPLIANCE WITH § 166.041(4), FLORIDA STATUTES. This 
ordinance is enacted to implement Part II of chapter 163, relating to growth policy, county and municipal 
planning, and land development regulation, including zoning, development orders, development 
agreements, and development permits. Therefore, a business impact estimate was not required and was not 
prepared for this ordinance.

SECTION 5.   In the event this ordinance is not vetoed by the Mayor in accordance with 
the City Charter, it shall become effective upon the expiration of the fifth (5th) business day after adoption 
unless the Mayor notifies the City Council through written notice filed with the City Clerk that the Mayor 
will not veto the ordinance, in which case the ordinance shall become effective immediately upon filing 
such written notice with the City Clerk. In the event this ordinance is vetoed by the Mayor in accordance 
with the City Charter, it shall not become effective unless and until the City Council overrides the veto in 
accordance with the City Charter, in which case it shall become effective immediately upon a successful 
vote to override the veto. 

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND SUBSTANCE:

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT SERVICE DEPARTMENT DATE

ASSISTANT CITY ATTORNEY DATE
00747635

PPROVED AS TO FORM AN

LANNING & DEVELOPMEN
05/29/24

05/30/24



Page 1 of 17 

VESTING DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS VESTING DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is made and entered into as of the 
Effective Date (defined below), by and between the CITY OF ST. PETERSBURG, FLORIDA, a Florida municipal 
corporation ("City"), and HINES HISTORIC GAS PLANT DISTRICT PARTNERSHIP, a joint venture conducting 
business in the State of Florida ("Developer") (collectively, the “Parties”). PINELLAS COUNTY, a political 
subdivision of the State of Florida ("Owner"), is not a Party to this Agreement, but has been notified of the Parties’ 
intent to enter into this Agreement and acknowledges same herein. 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, Owner and City currently own approximately 81.32 acres of land (“Site Area”) within the 
boundaries of the City, the legal description and boundary map of which are attached hereto as Exhibit "A" ("Property"); 
and 

WHEREAS, the City has the right to acquire the Owner’s portion of the Property from the Owner in parcels 
pursuant to the City/County Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the City and Developer intend for Developer to redevelop, or cause to be redeveloped, certain 
portions of the Property, pursuant to the Redevelopment Agreement and this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, in addition to the redevelopment of the Property planned by Developer, a new stadium 
(“Stadium”) and up to two (2) parking garages (“Parking Garage Improvements”) are planned to be constructed on the 
Property by Tampa Bay Rays Baseball, Ltd., or its affiliates; and 

WHEREAS, the Stadium will be constructed on an approximately thirteen (13)-acre (MOL) portion of the 
Property, and in connection with the construction of the Stadium, the Parking Garage Improvements will be constructed 
on separate parcels that are also currently portions of the Property; and 

WHEREAS, the City and Developer desire to establish certain terms and conditions relating to the proposed 
development of the Property in accordance with Sections 163.3220-163.3243, Florida Statutes, the Florida Local 
Government Development Agreement Act ("Act"); and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with the Act and Section 16.05 of the City’s LDRs, the City is duly authorized to 
enter this Agreement and the City has found that this Agreement complies with said Act and the City’s LDRs; and 

WHEREAS, the City has additionally found this Agreement to be consistent with the City’s Comprehensive 
Plan, including levels of service for existing and needed public facilities, as well as its concurrency management 
regulations; and 

WHEREAS, the City intends to initiate or has initiated an application to rezone the portions of the Property 
that are currently zoned DC-2 to DC-1; and 

WHEREAS, the first properly noticed public hearing on this Agreement was held by the Community Planning 
and Preservation Commission on _________; and 

WHEREAS, the first reading of this Agreement was held by the City Council on ____________; and 

WHEREAS, the second reading of and second properly noticed public hearing on this Agreement was held by 
the City Council on ____________. 

DEFINITIONS 

The terms defined in this Agreement shall have the following meanings, except as herein otherwise expressly 
provided: 



 
Page 2 of 17  

 
 “Agreement” means this Vesting Development Agreement, including any Exhibits, and any amendments hereto or 
thereto. 
 
“Applicable Laws” means all existing and future federal, state, and local statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations, the 
federal and state constitutions, the City Charter, and all orders and decrees of lawful authorities having jurisdiction over 
the matter at issue, including but not limited to Florida statutes governing, if applicable, construction of public buildings 
and repairs upon public buildings and public works, Chapter 119 Florida Statutes, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 
1964, the Americans with Disabilities Act, Section 448.095 Florida Statutes, Section 287.135 Florida Statutes, the 
bonding requirements of Florida Statute section 255.05, Florida Public Records Laws, the Americans with Disabilities 
Act, Florida Statutes Chapter 448, laws regarding E-Verify, and the City’s sign code. 

“Authorized Representative” means the person or persons designated and appointed from time to time as such by the 
Owner, Developer, or the City. 

 
“City Council” means the governing body of the City, by whatever name known or however constituted from time to 
time. 
 
“City/County Agreement” means that certain agreement entered into on [Month Day], 2024 titled “[insert agreement 
name here]”. 
 
“City’s Code” means the City of St. Petersburg Code, as most recently amended prior to the date hereof. 

 
"City's Comprehensive Plan” means the City of St. Petersburg Comprehensive Plan, as most recently amended prior 
to the date hereof. 

 
“City's LDRs” means the City of St. Petersburg Land Development Regulations, as most recently amended prior to 
the date hereof. 

 
“Development” means all improvements to real property, including buildings, other structures, parking and loading 
areas, landscaping, paved or graveled areas, and areas devoted to exterior display, storage, or activities. Development 
includes improved open areas such as plazas and walkways, but does not include natural geologic forms or unimproved 
real property. 

 
“Development Permit” includes any building permit, zoning permit, subdivision approval, rezoning, certification, 
special exception, variance, or any other official action of local government having the effect of permitting the 
development of land. 

 
 “Exhibits” means those agreements, diagrams, drawings, specifications, instruments, forms of instruments, and other 
documents attached hereto and designated as exhibits to, and incorporated in and made a part of, this Agreement. 

 
"Florida Statutes" means all references herein to "Florida Statutes" are to Florida Statutes (2023), as amended from 
time to time. 
 
“Project” means the proposed Development to be located on part of the Property as contemplated by this Agreement. 
 
“Redevelopment Agreement” means that certain agreement entered into on [Month Day], 2024 titled “HGP 
Redevelopment Agreement by and between the City of St. Petersburg, Florida and Hines Historic Gas Plant District 
Partnership for the Historic Gas Plant District”. 
 
“Vertical Development” means a distinct vertical development component of the Project to be constructed on a Parcel 
in accordance with the Target Development Plan, the Minimum Development Requirements and the Redevelopment 
Agreement. 

AGREEMENT 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms, conditions, covenants and mutual promises hereinafter 



 
Page 3 of 17  

set forth, the Parties agree as follows: 
 

1. Recitals, Definitions, and Exhibits. The foregoing recitations are true and correct and are hereby 
incorporated herein by reference. The foregoing definitions are hereby incorporated herein by reference.  Terms used 
but not defined herein shall have the same meaning as set forth in the City’s LDRs.  All Exhibits to this Agreement are 
essential to this Agreement and are hereby deemed a part hereof. 

 
2. Intent. It is the intent of the Parties that this Agreement shall be adopted in conformity with the Act 

and that this Agreement should be construed and implemented so as to effectuate the purposes and intent of the Act. 
This Agreement shall not be executed by or binding upon any Party until adopted in conformity with the Act. 

 
3. Recording and Effective Date.   Upon full execution by the Parties and no later than fourteen (14) 

days after final approval of this Agreement by City Council, the City shall record this Agreement in the Public Records 
of Pinellas County, Florida, at the Developer’s expense, and shall forward a copy of the recorded Agreement to the 
Florida Department of Economic Opportunity. This Agreement shall become effective upon recordation (the “Effective 
Date”). 

 
4. Duration. The term of this Agreement shall be for thirty (30) years from the Effective Date.  

 
5. Permitted Development Uses and Building Intensities.  The Property’s permitted development uses, 

density, intensity and height are as follows (collectively, the “Development Rights”): 
 

(a) Permitted Development Uses.   The Property currently holds DC-1 and DC-2 zoning on the 
City’s zoning map, and CBD future land use designation in the City’s Comprehensive Plan. The Property may be used 
for the uses permitted in the DC-1 and DC-2 zoning districts (and upon adoption of the rezoning, for the uses permitted 
in the DC-1 zoning district), subject to the additional limitations and conditions set forth in this Agreement. 

(1) Proposed Uses. Developer and City agree that the following uses are proposed to be 
developed on the Property: 

i. Target Development Plan. Developer’s target development plan for the 
portion of the Property subject to the Redevelopment Agreement is described on Exhibit “B” attached 
hereto (“Target Development Plan”).   

ii. Minimum Development Requirements. While the Target Development 
Plan sets forth the overall intended Project, Exhibit “C” attached hereto sets forth certain minimum 
development requirements for the portion of the Property subject to the Redevelopment Agreement 
(“Minimum Development Requirements”) that Developer must satisfy within 30 years of the Effective 
Date of this Agreement. 

iii. Stadium and Parking Garage Improvements.  The Stadium (up to 35,000 
seats) and the Parking Garage Improvements. 

 
(b) Maximum Density, Intensity, and Height of Proposed Uses. For the purposes of this 

Agreement, maximum density, intensity and height for the Property shall be: 
 

(1) Maximum Density.  None.  Maximum density is limited by floor area ratio (FAR).  
Units per acre do not apply.  

 
(2) Maximum Intensity. 

 
i. Base (by right)- up to 3.0 FAR (10,626,898 square feet gross floor area) 

 
ii. Bonus approval- greater than 3.0 FAR and equal to or less than 7.0 FAR. 

Unless and until the Property as a whole exceeds a 3.0 FAR, the intensity of the Project shall be by 
right.  At such time as the next Development Permit issued will cause the Property’s FAR to exceed 
3.0, any Development in excess of a 3.0 FAR shall be subject to further approval in accordance with 
the City’s LDRs. No affordable housing units currently contemplated in this Agreement or the 



Page 4 of 17 

Redevelopment Agreement shall be counted towards any workforce housing FAR bonus that may be 
sought by Developer in the future to exceed the 3.0 base FAR. 

iii. The Parties agree that, as of the Effective Date, the 3.0 base FAR is
sufficient to permit the intensity contemplated in the Target Development Plan and the intensity 
associated with the Stadium.  

(3) Maximum Height. Building heights are subject to review under the City’s LDRs, the
City’s Comprehensive Plan, and Applicable Laws of other governmental agencies. 

i. Base- up to 300 ft

ii. Bonus approval, streamline- greater than 300 ft and equal to or less than
375 ft 

iii. Bonus approval, public hearing- greater than 375 ft

iv. Individual buildings or parcels may seek bonus approval for additional
height, without subjecting other parts of the Project or Property to such review and approval. 

(c) Site Area.

(1) Calculation.  The Site Area is the total land area of the Property, excluding
submerged land and previously dedicated public rights of way.  

(2) Future Rights of Way or Conveyances to the Public.  The Parties acknowledge that
portions of the Property will likely be dedicated as public right of way or facilities, or otherwise conveyed for 
public purposes, including but not limited to streets, alleys, walkways, sidewalks, trails, transit stops, micro-
mobility hubs, parking garages, and bicycle racks.  The Site Area and Property shall not be reduced in the 
event of such dedications or other conveyances.  

(3) Vacation of Existing Rights of Way.  The Parties anticipate that existing public rights 
of way may be vacated as part of the Project.  In that event, the Site Area and the Property shall automatically 
be increased to include the Property’s share of such vacated right of way, without the need for an amendment 
to this Agreement.  

(d) Unified Site.  The Property shall be considered as one site, parcel or lot for purposes of the
City’s Code, notwithstanding current or future divisions into multiple separate parcels or lots, and such divisions or 
combinations of portions of the Property into separate parcels or lots shall not be deemed a subdivision under the City’s 
Code.  Thus, all allowances, requirements and limitations of the City’s Code shall apply to the Property and Site Area 
as a whole, including setbacks, distances between buildings, FAR, FAR bonuses, FAR exemptions, open space, parking, 
use requirements, and landscaping. 

(e) Public Art.  In accordance with the City’s LDRs, public art will be provided by Developer for
all new Development. Public art requirements for Development of any individual parcels may be aggregated over 
multiple parcels, subject to Approval by the City in accordance with Paragraph 28 of this Agreement. 

(f) Development Permits as to Portions of Project or Property.  The Parties acknowledge that the
Project and the Property will be developed over the duration of this Agreement in multiple phases.  The Project will 
consist of multiple buildings with multiple uses.  Portions of the Project or Property, such as individual buildings or 
uses, may obtain separate Development Permits, as opposed to the Project or Property as a whole.  For example, 
building permits, variances or special exceptions may be issued to individual buildings, uses or parcels, without 
subjecting other parts of the Project or Property to such review and approval. 

6. Development Rights.



 
Page 5 of 17  

(a) Vesting and Applicable Law Governing Development.  The Development Rights shall be 
vested for the duration of this Agreement.  The City’s laws and policies governing the Development of the Property in 
effect on the Effective Date, including, without limitation the City’s Code, the City’s LDRs and the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan, shall govern the Development of the Property for the duration of this Agreement, except that the 
pending rezoning from DC-2 to DC-1 is specifically anticipated and shall apply upon its adoption. 

 
(b) Additional Development Rights.  Developer shall benefit from any future land use, zoning or 

other changes in law adopted by the City which would increase the development capacity of the Property, but shall in 
no event have less than the Development Rights recognized in this Agreement; provided, any Development in excess 
of the Development Rights shall comply with the future applicable provisions of the City's LDRs and other Applicable 
Laws, including necessary approvals, if applicable. Obtaining the necessary applicable approvals from any other 
governing body shall be the sole responsibility of the Developer and nothing herein shall be construed as a grant of 
approval, express or implied, from a governing body aside from the City. 

 
(c) Monitoring and Reporting Requirements.  Developer shall prepare an annual report to be 

submitted to the City no later than January 31st of a given year for the City’s review that documents the following: 
 

(1) Development Permits issued in the previous year; 
 
(2) All open Development Permits; 
 
(3) Any Development Permits anticipated to be sought by Developer in the following year; 
 
(4) Cumulative square footage of gross floor area for all Development Permits issued for the 

Project since the Effective Date; 
 
(5) Cumulative progress towards the Target Development Plan, as set forth in Paragraph 5.(a)(1)i. 

of this Agreement, measured in the units set forth therein. Credit towards achievement of the Target 
Development Plan will be deemed to be given by the City upon issuance of any certificate of occupancy for a 
Vertical Development or other portion of the Project; and 

 
(6) Cumulative progress towards the Minimum Development Requirements, as set forth in 

Paragraph 5.(a)(1)ii. of this Agreement, measured in the units set forth therein. Credit towards achievement of 
the Minimum Development Requirements will be deemed to be given by the City upon issuance of any 
certificate of occupancy for a Vertical Development or other portion of the Project. 

 
  The City and Developer may agree on amendments to the form of the annual report submitted by Developer. 

 
7. Public Facilities and Services.  Except as otherwise provided in the Redevelopment Agreement, and 

the infrastructure improvements identified therein, the following existing and needed public facilities are identified as 
serving the Project: 

 
(a) Potable Water and Reclaimed Water. The City will provide potable water to the Project site. 

Sufficient supply capacity will be available to service the Project, consistent with the requirements of the City’s 
concurrency management regulations. The design and construction of the proposed potable water facilities on the 
Project site shall be in compliance with the requirements of the City’s Code, including the City’s LDRs and the City, 
State or Federal standards such as the Southwest Florida Water Management District and the Florida Department of 
Environmental Protection. 

 
(b) Sanitary Sewer. The City will provide sanitary sewer service to the Project site. Sufficient 

treatment capacity will be available to service the Project, consistent with the requirements of the City’s concurrency 
management regulations.  The design and construction of the proposed sanitary sewer facilities on the Project site shall 
be in compliance with the requirements of the City’s Code, including the City’s LDRs and the City, State or Federal 
standards such as the Southwest Florida Water Management District and the Florida Department of Environmental 
Protection. 

 



 
Page 6 of 17  

(c) Stormwater Management. Stormwater management level of service is project-dependent 
rather than based on the provision and use of public facilities and is not directly provided by the City. The design and 
construction of the proposed stormwater facilities on the Project site shall be in compliance with the requirements of 
the City’s Code, including the City’s LDRs, and the City, State or Federal standards such as  the Southwest Florida 
Water Management District and the Florida Department of Environmental Protection, shall meet concurrency 
requirements for stormwater, and shall not result in degradation of the level of service below City’s adopted level of 
service. 

 
(d) Solid Waste. Solid waste collection services will be provided by the City using facilities, 

equipment and service capacity already in place, while waste disposal services will be handled by Pinellas County. 
Capacity is sufficient to allow the Project to meet the applicable level of service requirements, and no new public 
facilities will be needed to service the Project. 

 
(e) Transportation. Transportation facilities and services will be provided by the City using 

available facilities and service capacity already in place, plus the construction of new roads on the Property as provided 
in the Redevelopment Agreement. Subject to City Approval, Developer will develop a Traffic, Parking Management, 
and Micro-Mobility Plan to address onsite circulation, parking and multimodal transit in connection with the Target 
Development Plan. Developer must provide such plans to the City for its review and Approval within forty-five (45) 
days after the submittal of the preliminary plat required under the City’s LDRs. 

 
(f) Utility Improvements.    Utility improvements necessary to provide service to a structure shall 

be constructed by Developer at Developer’s expense prior to issuance of certificates of occupancy for the structure.  
 
8. Reservation or Dedication of Land. Except for those future rights of way and other conveyances 

contemplated in Paragraph 5.(c)(2) of this Agreement, and the Stadium and Parking Garage Improvements, no 
reservation or dedication of land for public purposes is proposed under this Agreement.  

 
9. Local Development Permits. The following local development Approvals will be required to develop 

the Property: 
 

(a) Bonus approval, for Development that exceeds the base FAR or base height, if requested and 
approved pursuant to the City’s LDRs; 
 
(b) Water, sewer, paving and drainage permits; 
 
(c) Building permits; 
 
(d) Certificates of occupancy; and 
 
(e) Any other Development Permits that may be required by local ordinances and regulations. 

 
10. Consistency with Comprehensive Plan. Development of the Property with the Development Rights 

is consistent with the City's Comprehensive Plan.   
 
11. Necessity of Complying with Local Regulations Relative to Permits. The Parties agree that the failure 

of this Agreement to address a particular permit, condition, fee, term or restriction shall not relieve Developer of the 
necessity of complying with regulations governing said permitting requirements, conditions, fees, terms or restrictions. 

 
12. Binding Effect.   The obligations imposed pursuant to this Agreement upon the Parties and upon the 

Property shall run with and bind the Property as covenants running with the Property. This Agreement shall be binding 
upon and enforceable by and against the Parties hereto, their personal representatives, heirs, successors, grantees and 
assigns.  

 
13. Concurrency and Comprehensive Plan Findings. The City has determined that the concurrency 

requirements of Section 16.03 of the City's LDRs and the City's Comprehensive Plan will be met for the Project, further 
subject to any approvals set forth in Paragraph 9 of this Agreement. The City has found that the Project and this 



 
Page 7 of 17  

Agreement are consistent with and further the goals, objectives, policies and action strategies of the City's 
Comprehensive Plan and with the City's LDRs, further subject to any approvals set forth in Paragraph 9 of this 
Agreement. Nothing herein shall be construed by any Party as an approval, express or implied, for any action set forth 
in Paragraph 9 of this Agreement. 

 
14. Disclaimer of Joint Venture.   The Parties represent that by the execution of this Agreement it is not 

the intent of the Parties that this Agreement be construed or deemed to represent a joint venture or common undertaking 
between any Parties, or between any Party and any third party. While engaged in carrying out and complying with the 
terms of this Agreement, Developer is an independent principal and not a contractor for or officer, agent, or employee 
of the City. Developer shall not at any time or in any manner represent that it or any of its agents or employees are 
employees of the City. 

 
15. Amendments. The Parties acknowledge that this Agreement may be amended by mutual consent of 

the Parties subsequent to execution in accordance with Section 163.3237, Florida Statutes and Section 16.05 of the 
City's LDRs. All amendments to this Agreement shall be ineffective unless reduced to writing and executed by the 
Parties in accordance with the City's LDRs and Florida Statutes.  

 
16. Notices. All notices, demands, requests for approvals or other communications given by any Party to 

another shall be in writing and shall be sent by hand delivery, registered or certified U.S. Mail, postage prepaid, return 
receipt requested or by a recognized national overnight courier service to the office for each Party indicated below and 
addressed as follows: 

 

(a) To the Developer:  
 
c/o Hines Interests Limited Partnership 
11512 Lake Mead Avenue 
Suite 603 
Jacksonville, Florida 32256 
Attention:  Lane Gardner 
Email: Lane.Gardner@hines.com  
 
With copies to: 
 
c/o Hines Interests Limited Partnership 
383 17th Street NW 
Suite 100 
Atlanta, Georgia 30363 
Attention:  Michael Harrison 
Email:  michael.harrison@hines.com  
 
c/o Hines Interests Limited Partnership 
444 West Lake Street 
Suite 2400 
Chicago, Illinois 60606 
Attention:  Stephen E. Luthman 
Email:  steve.luthman@hines.com  
 
c/o Hines Legal Department 
845 Texas Avenue, Suite 3300 
Houston, TX 77002 
Attention:  Corporate Counsel 
Email:  corporate.legal@hines.com 
 
Baker Botts L.L.P. 
2001 Ross Avenue, Suite 900 
Dallas, Texas 75201 



Page 8 of 17 

Attention:  Jon Dunlay 
Email:  jon.dunlay@bakerbotts.com 

Tampa Bay Rays Baseball, Ltd. 
Tropicana Field 
One Tropicana Drive 
St. Petersburg, FL 33705 
Attention:  John P. Higgins 
Senior Vice President of Administration/ General Counsel 
Email:  jhiggins@raysbaseball.com  

ArentFox Schiff LLP 
1717 K Street, NW 
Washington, DC. 26006 
Attention:  Richard N. Gale 
Email:  richard.gale@afslaw,com 

ArentFox Schiff LLP  
1301 Avenue of the Americas 
New York, NY 10019 
Attention:  Marina Rabinovich 
Email:  marina.rabinovich@afslaw.com 

Trenam  
200 Central Ave., Suite 1600 
St. Petersburg, FL 33701 
Attn.: Mathew S. Poling 
Email: mpoling@trenam.com 

(b) To the City:

City of St. Petersburg
Urban Planning, Design and Historic Preservation Division
One 4th Street North
St. Petersburg, FL 33701
Attn.: Derek Kilborn, Manager
Email: derek.kilborn@stpete.org

With a copy to:

City of St. Petersburg
City Attorney’s Office
One 4th Street North
St. Petersburg, FL 33701
Attn.: Michael Dema, Managing Assistant City Attorney – Land Use & Environmental
Matters
Email: Michael.Dema@stpete.org

17. Effectiveness of Notice. Notices given by courier service or by hand delivery shall be effective upon
delivery, notices given by recognized national overnight courier service shall be effective on the first business day after 
deposit with the courier service and notices given by registered or certified mail shall be effective on the third day after 
deposit in the U.S. Mail.  Refusal by any person to accept delivery of any notice delivered to the office at the address 
indicated above (or as it may be changed) shall be deemed to have been an effective delivery as provided in this 
paragraph. The addresses to which notices are to be sent may be changed from time to time by written notice delivered 
to the other Parties and such notices shall be effective upon receipt.  Until notice of change of address is received as to 
any particular Party hereto, all other Parties may rely upon the last address given. 



 
Page 9 of 17  

18. Default. Except with regard to a default in the execution and recordation of this Agreement (for which 
there shall be no cure period), in the event any Party is in default of any provision hereof, any non-defaulting Party, as 
a condition precedent to the exercise of its remedies, shall be required to give the defaulting Party written notice of the 
same pursuant to this Agreement. The defaulting Party shall have thirty (30) business days from the receipt of such 
notice to cure the default. If the defaulting Party timely cures the default, this Agreement shall continue in full force 
and effect. In addition, this cure period shall be extended if the default is of a nature that it cannot be completely cured 
within such cure period, provided that the defaulting Party has promptly commenced all appropriate actions to cure the 
default within such cure period and those actions are thereafter diligently and continuously pursued by the defaulting 
Party in good faith.  If the defaulting Party does not timely cure such default, the non-defaulting Party shall be entitled 
to pursue its remedies available at law or equity. 

 
19. Non-Action on Failure to Observe Provisions of this Agreement. The failure of any Party to promptly 

or continually insist upon strict performance of any term, covenant, condition or provision of this Agreement, or any 
Exhibit hereto, or any other agreement, instrument or document of whatever form or nature contemplated hereby shall 
not be deemed a waiver of any right or remedy that the Party may have, and shall not be deemed a waiver of a subsequent 
default or nonperformance of such term, covenant, condition or provision. 

 
20. Applicable Law and Venue. The laws of the State of Florida shall govern the validity, performance 

and enforcement of this Agreement.   Venue for any proceeding arising under this Agreement shall be in the Sixth 
Judicial Circuit, in and for Pinellas County, Florida, for state actions and in the United States District Court for the 
Middle District of Florida for federal actions, to the exclusion of any other venue. 

21. Construction. This Agreement has been negotiated by the Parties, and the Agreement, including, 
without limitation, the Exhibits, shall not be deemed to have been prepared by any Party, but by all equally.  The 
captions, section numbers, and headings appearing in this Agreement are inserted only as a matter of convenience and 
in no way define, limit, construe, or describe the scope of intent of such sections or articles of this Agreement nor in 
any way affect this Agreement. 

 
22. Entire Agreement. 

 
(a) This Agreement, and all the terms and provisions contained herein, including without 

limitation the Exhibits hereto, constitute the full and complete agreement between the Parties hereto regarding the 
subject matter hereof to the date hereof, and supersedes and controls over any and all prior agreements, understandings, 
representations, correspondence and statements whether written or oral, except for the Redevelopment Agreement. 
With the exception of conditions that may be imposed by the City in approving any Development Permit, no Party shall 
be bound by any agreement, condition, warranty or representation regarding the subject matter hereof other than as 
expressly stated in this Agreement or the Redevelopment Agreement. 

 
(b) Any provisions of this Agreement shall be read and applied in para materia with all other 

provisions hereof. 
 

23. Holidays. It is hereby agreed and declared that whenever a notice or performance under the terms of 
this Agreement is to be made or given on a Saturday or Sunday or on a legal holiday observed by the City, it shall be 
postponed to the next following business day. 

 
24. Certification. The Parties shall at any time and from time to time, upon not less than ten (10) days 

prior notice by the other Party execute, acknowledge and deliver to the other Party (and, in the case of the City, to a 
prospective lender, tenant or purchaser of any of the Property) a statement in recordable form certifying that this 
Agreement has not been modified and is in full force and effect (or if there have been modifications that this Agreement 
as modified is in full force and effect and setting forth a notation of such modifications), and that to the knowledge of 
such Party, neither it nor any other Party is then in default hereof (or if another Party is then in default hereof, stating 
the nature and details of such default), it being intended that any such statement delivered pursuant to this paragraph 
may be conclusively relied upon by any addressee of such statement made in accordance with the provisions of this 
Agreement. 

 
25. Termination. This Agreement shall automatically terminate and expire upon the occurrence of the 

first of the following: 



 
Page 10 of 17  

 
(a) The expiration of thirty (30) years from the Effective Date of this Agreement; 

 
(b) The revocation of this Agreement by the City Council in accordance with Section 163.3235, 

Florida Statutes and Section 16.05 of the City's LDRs; and 
 

(c) The execution of a written agreement by all Parties, or by their successors in interest, 
providing for the termination of this Agreement.  

 
26. Deadline for Execution. The Developer shall execute this Agreement prior to the date on which the 

City Council considers this Agreement for final approval.  The City shall execute this Agreement no later than fourteen 
(14) days after final approval by City Council.  

 
27. Covenant of Cooperation. The Parties shall cooperate with and deal with each other in good faith and 

assist each other in the performance of the provisions of this Agreement and in achieving the completion of 
Development of the Project site, including processing amendments to this Agreement. 

 
28. Approvals. 
 

(a) For the purposes of this Agreement any required written permission, consent, approval or 
agreement ("Approval") by the City means the Approval of the mayor or their designee unless otherwise set forth herein 
and such approval shall be in addition to any and all permits and other licenses required by law or this Agreement. 

 
(b) For the purposes of this Agreement any right of the City to take any action permitted, allowed 

or required by this Agreement, may be exercised by the mayor or their designee, unless otherwise set forth herein. 
 

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing set forth herein shall be construed to waive or 
supersede any procedural requirements for an Approval otherwise required by the City’s Code, including the City’s 
LDRs, and Florida Statutes. 

 
29. Partial Invalidity. If any term or provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to any person 

or circumstance is declared invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, including any valid portion of 
the invalid term or provision and the application of such invalid term or provision to circumstances other than those as 
to which it is held invalid or unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, shall not be affected thereby and shall 
with the remainder of this Agreement continue unmodified and in full force and effect. 

 
30. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an 

original but all of which shall constitute a single instrument. 
 

31. Third Party Beneficiaries. The rights and obligations of the Parties set forth in this Agreement are 
personal to the Parties, and no third parties are entitled to rely on or have an interest in any such rights and obligations.  
Nothing within this Agreement shall constitute dedications to the public, and no member of the public is granted any 
rights hereunder. 

 
32. Authority.  Each of the Parties hereto represents and warrants to the other that the execution and 

delivery of this Agreement, consummation of the transactions described herein, and compliance with the terms of this 
Agreement will not conflict with, or constitute a default under, any agreement to which such Party is bound, or violate 
any regulation, law, order, judgment, or decree applicable to such Party.  Each of the Parties hereto represents and 
warrants to the other that the person executing this Agreement on behalf of such party has the full right, power and 
authority to enter into and execute this Agreement on such Party's behalf and that no consent or approval from any 
other person or entity is necessary as a condition precedent to the legal effect of this Agreement, or, if any such consent 
or approval is required, that all such consents or approvals have been obtained as of the date such Party has executed 
this Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the valid and legally binding obligation of each Party, enforceable against 
such Party in accordance with its terms. 

 
[remainder of page intentionally blank] 

  



 
Page 11 of 17  

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date. 
 
 
 
ATTEST: CITY:  

 
CITY OF ST. PETERSBURG, FLORIDA, a Florida 
municipal corporation 

 
 
   
City Clerk  By:        
 Its:        
 Print name:       
  
 
Approved as to form and content by 
Office of City Attorney: 
 
 
      
00741740  



 
Page 12 of 17  

 
 
 

WITNESSES: 
 
 
 
 
 
  
Signature  
 
Print name:  
 
 
  
Signature  
 
Print name:  
 

DEVELOPER: 
 
____________________________________, a 
____________________________  
 
 
By:    
Its:   
Print name:   

  
 
 
STATE OF __________________ 
COUNTY OF ________________ 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of (check one) [X] physical presence or [  ] 
online notarization, this _____ day of _______, 2024, by ____________________ as _________________________ of 
_____________________________________, a __________________________, who (check one): 
 

 is/are personally known to me, or  
 

 who has/have produced __________________________ as identification. 
 
 
  

(Notary Seal)      Notary Public - (Signature) 
 
  



 
Page 13 of 17  

OWNER ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 
ATTEST: OWNER: 

 
KEN BURKE, CLERK  PINELLAS COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State 

of Florida  
 
 
By:    

Deputy Clerk  By:        
 Its:        
 Print name:       
  
 
Approved as to form and content by 
Office of County Attorney: 
 
 
      
 
 
 



Page 14 of 17 

EXHIBIT “A” 

Legal Description of Property 

Lot 1, Block 1, and Lot 1, Block 2, Suncoast Stadium Replat, as recorded in Plat Book 96, Pages 53 and 54, Public 
Records of Pinellas County, Florida. 

Lot 1, Block 1, Lot 1, Block 2, and Lot 1, Block 3, Tropicana Field West Parking Area Replat, as recorded in Plat Book 
121, Pages 55 and 56, Public Records of Pinellas County, Florida. 

Lots 1 through 20, inclusive, Block 48, Revised Map of the City of St. Petersburg, as recorded in Plat Book 1, Page 49 
of the Public Records of Hillsborough County, Florida, of which Pinellas County was formerly a part. 

Lots 11, 12, 13 and 14, Block 24, of FULLER'S SUBDIVISION, according to plat thereof as recorded in Plat Book 1, 
Page 16, of the Public Records of Pinellas County, Florida. 



 

 
Page 15 of 17  

EXHIBIT “A” (continued) 
 

Boundary Map of Property  
 



 
Page 16 of 17  

EXHIBIT “B” 
 

Target Development Plan  
 

 Residential Units: 5,400 units (excluding Affordable/Workforce Housing Units) 
 Affordable/Workforce Housing Units: 600 units  
 Hotel: 750 keys 
 Class A Office/Medical/Medical Office: 1,400,000 gross square feet 
 Retail, including opportunities for small retail businesses: 750,000 gross square feet (including a 20,000 gross 

square foot grocer) 
 Entertainment: 100,000 gross square feet 
 Civic/Museum Uses: 50,000 gross square feet 
 Conference, Ballroom, and Meeting Space: 90,000 gross square feet 
 Daycare, Childcare, Preschool or similar facility 
 Library and/or incubator space 
 Open Space: 14 acres 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Page 17 of 17  

EXHIBIT “C” 
 

Minimum Development Requirements  
 

 Residential Units: 3,800 Units (excluding Affordable/Workforce Housing Units) 
 Affordable/Workforce Housing Units: 600 units, or as may otherwise be mutually agreed by Developer and 

City 
 Commercial, Office, and Retail Uses; Arts, Recreation, and Entertainment Uses; Education, Public 

Administration, Healthcare, and Institutional Uses: one million (1,000,000) gross square feet, of which at least 
500,000 gross square feet will be Class A Office/Medical/Medical Office, and at least 50,000 gross square feet 
will be Civic/Museum 

 Hotel: 400 Keys 
 Conference, Ballroom, and Meeting Space: 50,000 gross square feet 
 Open Space: 10 acres (i.e., the Initial Open Space as that term is defined in the Redevelopment Agreement) 
 At least one Daycare, Childcare, Preschool or similar facility 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Staff Report to the St. Petersburg Community Planning & Preservation Commission 
Prepared by the Planning & Development Services Department

For Public Hearing on Tuesday, May 14, 2024  
at 2:00 p.m. in City Council Chambers, City Hall  

175 5th St North, St. Petersburg, FL 33701 

According to Planning and Development Services records, no Community Planning & Preservation Commission member or his or her spouse
has a direct or indirect ownership interest in real property located within 1,000 linear feet of real property contained within the application 
(measured by a straight line between the nearest points on the property lines). All other possible conflicts should be declared upon 
announcement of the item.

Historic Gas Plant District
Development Agreement 

APPLICANT INFORMATION

PRIMARY:  Hines Historic Gas Plant District Partnership
   1 Tropicana Drive 
   St. Petersburg, FL 33705 

AGENT:  Mathew Poling 
   Trenam Law
   200 Central Ave, Ste 1600 
   St. Petersburg, FL 33701 

LOCATION:  Tropicana Field and associated parking lots 

CITY STAFF:  Elizabeth Abernethy, AICP 
Director, Planning and Development Services Department 
One 4th Street North 
St. Petersburg, FL 33701 
Elizabeth.Abernethy@stpete.org

REQUEST

A Development Agreement between the City of St. Petersburg and Hines Historic Gas Plant District 
Partnership related to the redevelopment of Tropicana Field, also known at the Historic Gas Plant District, 
which is an 82-acre site (MOL) generally located in the northeast corner of the intersection of Interstate - 275 
and Interstate - 175, south of 1st Avenue South and west of Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. Street South. 



HGP District Development Agreement 
Page 2 

Total proposed construction activity over the 30-year period is estimated to be 10,626,898 gross square feet 
(GSF), or 3.0 FAR over the project upland area. Proposed construction activity includes:  
 

 5,400 dwelling units;  
 600 Affordable/Workforce dwelling units;  
 750 Hotel rooms;  
 90,000 gross square feet of Conference and Meeting Space;  
 1,400,000 gross square feet of Office (General and Medical);  
 850,000 gross square feet of Commercial (Retail/Entertainment);  
 50,000 gross square feet of Civic/Museum; and 
 Up to 35,000 seat Sports Stadium.  

 
Building height is unlimited subject to bonus approval over 300-feet, as further governed by the Federal 
Aviation Administration and Albert Whitted Airport Overlay regulations. 
 

BACKGROUND 
 
This application is being considered concurrently with the Redevelopment Agreement, Rezoning, and CRA 
application related to the redevelopment of the 82-acre Tropicana Field site, also known as the Historic Gas 
Plant District. Once approved, the Development Agreement will allow the developer to proceed with 
redevelopment.  The purpose of the development agreement is to: 

 Identify the geographic area of the district;  
 Provide for a unified regulatory plan, including the sports stadium which allows the District to be 

developed in a cohesive manner, with an overall project wide Floor Area Ratio (FAR) of 3.0; 
 Provide that the City’s Land Development Regulations will apply to the District as a whole; 
 Address public facilities and services including sanitary sewer, solid waste, drainage/stormwater, 

potable water, transportation, parks and recreation; 
 Provide for an annual tracking report; and 
 Be consistent with the local government comprehensive plan. 

 

 



HGP District Development Agreement 
Page 3 

The following City code provision in addition to F.S. § 163.3227 govern the proposed Development 
Agreement and the draft attached to this report complies with the following requirements: 
 
16.05.010 – Development Agreements 
A. Pursuant to authority granted the City by F.S. §§ 163.3220 through 163.3243, as amended (known as the 

Florida Local Government Development Agreement Act, hereinafter the Act) the City may enter into a 
development agreement with any person having a legal or equitable interest in real property located within 
the City. 

B. A development agreement shall mean a written agreement between the City and a property owner which 
identifies fees, dedications, exactions or other public improvements that will be provided by the developer, 
and the Land Development Regulations that will be applied by the City during the term of the agreement. 

C. A development agreement may be entered into when one or more of the following exist: 
1. Where the development is proposed to be constructed in phases with commitments to substantial public 

improvements being required in early phases. 
2. Where commitments to public improvements beyond those ordinarily required of similar development 

are desirable by reason of location, topography, or other characteristics of the property. 
3. Where it is desirable to provide incentives to coordinate developments with a specific plan. 

 
E.  A development agreement shall include the following: 

1. A legal description of the land subject to the agreement, and the names of its legal and equitable owners; 
2. The duration of the agreement which shall not exceed 30 years; 
3. The development uses permitted on the land including population densities and building intensities and 

height; 
4. A description of public facilities that will service the development, including who shall provide such 

facilities; the date any new facilities, if needed, will be constructed; and a schedule to ensure public 
facilities are available concurrent with the impacts of the development. 

5. A description of any reservation or dedication of land for public purposes; 
6. A description of all development permits approved or needed to be approved for the development of the 

land; 
7. A finding that the development permitted or proposed is consistent with the plan and Land Development 

Regulations; 
8. A description of any conditions, terms, restrictions, or other requirements determined to be necessary 

for the public health, safety, or welfare; 
9. A statement indicating that the failure of the agreement to address a particular permit, condition, term, 

or restriction shall not relieve the developer of the necessity of complying with the law governing said 
permitting requirements, conditions, term or restriction. 

 
 

CONSISTENCY WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  
 
City staff finds that the proposed Development Agreement is consistent with the City's Comprehensive Plan.  
The relevant policies are as follows: 
 

LU 2.5  The Land Use Plan shall make the maximum use of available public facilities and minimize the need 
for new facilities by directing new development to infill and redevelopment locations where excess capacity is 
available. 
  

The Development Agreement supports the redevelopment of an infill site consisting of the Tropicana Field 
baseball stadium and its associated surface parking lots which is served by public facilities with excess capacity 
available as shown in the Public Service Analysis included in this report and the Roadway Segment Analysis, 
see Attachment 2.  
 

LU3.4 The Land Use Plan shall provide for compatible land use transition through an orderly land use 
arrangement, proper buffering, and the use of physical and natural separators. 
 

The Historic Gas Plant District is located at the northeast intersection of two interstate highways that will 
provide buffering and act as a physical separator to adjacent neighborhoods to the south and west. The proposed 



HGP District Development Agreement 
Page 4 

uses will be similar and consistent with the uses to the east and north creating an orderly land use transition. 
The Land Use Plan designation for the District is Central Business District (CBD) and there is no change to 
the Land Use plan associated with the project. 
 

LU3.6 Land use planning decisions shall weigh heavily on the established character of predominately 
developed areas where changes of use or intensity of development are contemplated. 
 

The proposed intensity of the redevelopment plan is within the allowances of the existing CBD Future Land 
Use category and the DC zoning designations, with no increases in development allowances contemplated or 
proposed.  
 
The proposed Historic Gas Plant District is consistent with the existing pattern of the general surrounding area 
where the majority of uses are mixed-use urban scale developments.  The District is consistent with the Intown 
and Intown West Redevelopment Plan as the District provides appropriate pedestrian amenities, pedestrian 
linkages, ground level retail, and cultural activities. Additionally, City council, sitting as the Community 
Redevelopment Agency (CRA) will be reviewing the CRA application concurrently with this Development 
Agreement. The proposed Historic Gas Plant District will replace surface parking lots with new buildings 
conforming to the downtown design requirements. Buildings and streetscaping (both hardscape and landscape 
improvements) will be designed in a manner that promotes a successful people-oriented downtown area as 
exemplified and defined in the Intown and Intown West redevelopment plans.  The redevelopment plan with 
an appropriate mix of uses will reestablish this neighborhood as a well-integrated component with the 
surrounding neighborhoods and business districts.  
 
LU3.7 Land use planning decisions shall include a review to determine whether existing Land Use Plan 
boundaries are logically drawn in relation to existing conditions and expected future conditions. 

 

The proposed District boundary is logically drawn in relation to existing and expected future conditions as it 
includes the Tropicana Field site with the surrounding surface parking lots and accommodates the future sports 
stadium. No changes to the Land Use Plan are needed or proposed.  

 

LU3.8 The City shall protect existing and future residential uses from incompatible uses, noise, traffic, and 
other intrusions that detract from the long-term desirability of an area through appropriate land development 
regulations. 

 

The location of the land uses within the proposed District respect surrounding residential uses and future 
residential uses by placing the most intensive land uses to the interior of the District (Museum, Entertainment) 
and to the northeast (Sports Stadium).   
 
LU3.11 More dense residential uses (more than 7.5 units per acre) may be located along (1) 
passenger rail lines and designated major streets or (2) in close proximity to activity 
centers where compatible. 
 

The District is located within the Intown Activity Center (AC) where the Pinellas Trail transects the District 
which is bounded by major streets including 1st Avenue South, Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. Street South, 16th 
Street South and the Interstate.  There is no density limit within the downtown districts and redevelopment 
potential is governed by Floor Area Ratio (FAR), allowing a base FAR of 3.0 with up to 7.0 through FAR 
bonuses. The Development Agreement further specifies that the project wide FAR will be 3.0. 
  

LU3.15 The Land Use Plan shall provide housing opportunities for a variety of households of various age, sex, 
race and income by providing a diversity of zoning categories with a range of densities and lot requirements.  
  

As envisioned, the District will include a variety of housing types. The proposed Development Agreement 
includes provisions for construction of 600 affordable housing units along with 5,400 multi-family units. The 
concurrent Redevelopment Agreement also includes a commitment to construct 100 age-restricted affordable 
units. The CBD land use designation encourages urban scale mixed-use development, which is reflected in the 
development program in the Development Agreement.  
 

LU5.3 The Concurrency Management System shall continue to be implemented to ensure proposed 
development to be considered for approval shall be in conformance with existing and planned support facilities 



HGP District Development Agreement 
Page 5 

and that such facilities and services be available, at the adopted level of service standards, concurrent with 
the impacts of development. 
 

The proposed Development Agreement will not have an impact on the City’s adopted LOS standards for public 
services and facilities including potable water, sanitary sewer, solid waste, recreation, and stormwater 
management. The Public Service Analysis included in this report for the proposed uses in the District 
demonstrates that there will be public services available for the planned redevelopment.  
 
LU13.1 Development proposals in community redevelopment areas shall be reviewed for compliance with the 
goals, objectives and policies of the Comprehensive Plan and the goals, objectives and policies of the 
applicable adopted redevelopment plan including: 

1. Intown Redevelopment Plan; 
2. Bayboro Harbor Redevelopment Plan; 
3. Intown West Redevelopment Plan; and 
4. South St. Petersburg Redevelopment Plan. 

 
City Council sitting as the CRA will be reviewing the Historic Gas Plant District concurrently with this 
Development Agreement, the Redevelopment Agreement and the proposed rezoning. The Development 
Agreement and rezoning to unify the designation for the District support the Intown West Redevelopment Plan 
objectives specifically by establishing a program that will reinforce a cohesive development pattern and 
facilitate new development.  

 
LU13.2 The City shall continue to review downtown development trends and related redevelopment plans to 
ensure that all downtown area redevelopment efforts are coordinated and reflect the best possible vision for 
the future of the downtown area. 
 
The proposed Development Agreement furthers the redevelopment vision of the Historic Gas Plant District, 
the Vision 2020 plan and the StPete2050 plan, as part of the Redevelopment agreement which is being 
reviewed concurrently with this application. The redevelopment plan integrates the District into the downtown 
area through the reestablishment of the roadway grid and through the mix of uses which will complement the 
surrounding neighborhoods and business districts. 
 
LU19.3 The land use pattern shall contribute to minimizing travel requirements and anticipate and support 
increased usage of mass transit systems.  
 
The District is in close proximity to the SunRunner Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) 13th Street Stations, which will 
contribute to minimizing travel requirements for residents and visitors to the new stadium, office, retail and 
entertainment uses. The mix of land uses within the District will support the SunRunner service in addition to 
the Central Avenue Trolley, and services along 16th Street, 8th Street and Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. Street.  
 
LU23.1 The City’s development review policies and procedures shall continue to integrate land use and 
transportation planning so that land development patterns support mobility choices and reduced trip lengths. 
 
See above response to LU19.3. Additionally, the District’s close proximity to commercial uses and provision 
for such uses within the District will ensure that future residents will have safe and convenient access to 
employment and needed goods and services resulting in reduced automobile trip lengths.  The District will be 
well served by the transit options, bike lanes and micromobility options proposed and already in place 
including bike share and scooters. 
 
GOAL - HOUSING (H): 
To facilitate the provision of decent, safe, sanitary, healthy and affordable housing in suitable neighborhoods 
at affordable costs to meet the needs of the present and future residents of the city, while preserving and 
enhancing the community’s physical and social fabric, and cultural diversity, and while protecting the interests 
of special needs groups, and extremely low, very low, low, and moderate-income households. 
 



HGP District Development Agreement 
Page 6 

The Development Agreement with multifamily housing options and provision for Affordable/Workforce units 
furthers this goal. The mix of uses proposed within the District will create a complete neighborhood connected 
to the surrounding neighborhoods and business districts. In addition, the Redevelopment Agreement which 
will be reviewed by City Council concurrently with the Development Agreement includes a provision requiring 
off-site Affordable/Workforce units.  

 

ISSUE: Housing Quantity 
The City has identified housing needs for the residents of St. Petersburg for the planning period covered in 
this plan. However, due to affordability issues and a scarcity of residentially zoned vacant land, the City must 
diligently work with the private sector and provide sufficient incentives to encourage the delivery of the varied 
housing residents need. 

 

The proposed Development Agreement is an example of a City partnership which will provide an expanded 
opportunity for the City of St. Petersburg to implement the City’s Housing Opportunities for All plan and the 
Advantage Pinellas Housing Action Plan by providing needed affordable/workforce housing units.  This 
Development Agreement supports the goals and policies of these plans. 

 
OBJ H3A:  The City shall ensure that affordable housing for extremely low, very low, low, and moderate 
income households, including households with special needs, is available to 35% of the new households 
forecasted by 2010. These units may be provided by natural filtration, rehabilitation programs, subsidies, new 
construction or other assistance programs by the private and public sectors. 

  

The Development Agreement requirement for construction of a minimum of 600 affordable/workforce housing 
units supports this objective and includes a mix of income ranges. 
 
OBJ H3B: The City shall provide affordable housing incentives (such as revised Land Development 
Regulations and expedited permitting processing) to developers of affordable housing for the extremely low, 
very low and low income groups (see Policy H1.7).  
 

The Development Agreement includes a requirement for construction of a minimum of 600 
affordable/workforce housing units.  In addition, the City offers an expedited permitting process for Certified 
Affordable Housing projects.  
 

H3.12 The City will provide density bonuses to developers of affordable housing through the implementation 
of the Workforce Housing Density/Intensity Bonus Ordinance. 
 

The Development Agreement includes a requirement for a minimum of 600 affordable/workforce housing 
units.  Additionally, if the development exceeds 3.0 base FAR for future phases, the Workforce Housing FAR 
bonus will be the first available bonus for this project in accordance with the DC zoning regulations.  
 

H3.20 The City shall offer density bonuses to developers who include on-site housing for extremely low, very 
low, low, and moderate-income households, within mixed income developments that include housing priced at 
market rate. 
 
As previously noted, the Development Agreement includes a requirement for construction of a minimum of 
600 affordable/workforce housing units within the District which will include a mix of income levels.   

 
OBJECTIVE T1: 
The transportation system shall be coordinated with the map series and the goals, objectives and policies of 
the Future Land Use Element to ensure that transportation facilities and services are available to adequately 
serve existing and proposed population densities, land uses, and housing and employment patterns. 
 
T1.6 The City shall support high-density mixed-use developments and redevelopments in and adjacent to 
Activity Centers, redevelopment areas and locations that are supported by mass transit to reduce the number. 
 
The District is located within the Intown Activity Center (AC) where the Pinellas trail transects the District 
which is bounded by major streets including 1st Avenue South, Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. Street South, 16th 



HGP District Development Agreement 
Page 7 

Street South and the Interstate. Further, The Development Agreement includes a requirement for compliance 
with the City’s Complete Streets policies. 
 
T2.2 The City shall evaluate the need for developer reservation or dedication of rights-of-way for all new 
development or redevelopment projects in the City to ensure adequate roadway capacity and connectivity. 
 
The redevelopment plan includes dedication of street rights-of-way for construction of local roadway segments 
to reconnect the downtown grid pattern.   
 
T3.1 The City shall implement the Pinellas County Mobility Management System through the application of 
Transportation Element policies and site plan and right-of-way utilization review processes. Policies 
pertaining to the application of the Mobility Management System are listed below. 
 
e. A traffic study and/or TMP for a development project not impacting a deficient road corridor shall be 
required if necessary to address the impact of additional trips generated by the project on the surrounding 
traffic circulation system. 
 
The Roadway Segment Analysis Memo provided by the Hines Historic Gas Plant District Partnership and 
attached to this report demonstrates that there will be no deficiencies to the local roadway system.  
 
OBJECTIVE T5: The City shall implement TSM strategies to maximize the operational efficiency of a roadway 
before expending roadway construction funds to add new through-lanes to an existing facility. 
 
T5.4  The City shall continue the planning, implementation and evaluation of TSM techniques that improve 
traffic flow and facilitate parking at major downtown events. 
 
The Development Agreement requires submittal of a Traffic, Parking Management, and Micro-Mobility Plan 
to address arrival, departure and onsite circulation, parking and multimodal transit within 45-days of the 
preliminary plat submission, which will be before completion of the Sports Stadium or any other new buildings 
in the District.  This plan will address major downtown events within the District. 

OBJECTIVE T6: The City shall promote the safe and efficient flow of traffic on major roadways through access 
management. 
 
T6.2  All development or redevelopment projects shall be required to provide safe and efficient access to the 
public road system, accommodate on-site traffic movements, and provide parking for motorized and non-
motorized vehicles as required by implementation of the Land Development Regulations. 
 
The Development Agreement requires submittal of a Traffic, Parking Management, and Micro-Mobility Plan 
to address arrival, departure and onsite circulation, parking and multimodal transit.  The redevelopment plan 
includes dedication of rights-of-way for construction of local roadway segments to reconnect the downtown 
public road system and accommodate on-site vehicular traffic movements as well as other modes such as 
pedestrian and bicycle. Districtwide parking options will be provided as well as bicycle parking in accordance 
with the City’s Land Development Regulations for both short term and long term bicycle parking needs.  
 
PR1.1 The right of a property owner to physically possess and control his or her interests in the property, 
including easements, leases, or mineral rights. 
 

The subject property is currently government owned. The Development Agreement furthers city-wide goals 
and objectives and assists in the proposed redevelopment of the Historic Gas Plant District. 
 

PR1.2 The right of a property owner to use, maintain, develop, and improve his or her property for personal 
use or the use of any other person, subject to state law and local ordinances. 
 

The Development Agreement helps to define the development rights associated with the future redevelopment 
of the Historic Gas Plant District.   

 



HGP District Development Agreement 
Page 8 

PR1.3 The right of the property owner to privacy and to exclude others from the property to protect the 
owner’s possessions and property. 
 
The subject property is government owned by both the City St. Petersburg and Pinellas County. The 
Redevelopment agreement will further detail future conveyances to the developer. 
 
PR1.4 The right of a property owner to dispose of his or her property through sale or gift. 
  
The proposed Development Agreement does not alter the property owners right to dispose of their property 
through sale or gift.  
 

CONSISTENCY WITH THE LAND DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 
 
Staff finds that the proposed Development Agreement is consistent with the City's Land Development 
Regulations (LDRs). The agreement allows the District to be developed in a unified manner, with an overall 
project wide Floor Area Ratio (FAR) of 3.0.  The agreement provides that the City’s LDRs will apply to the 
District as a whole, including setbacks, distances between buildings, FAR, FAR bonuses, FAR exemptions, 
open space, parking, use requirements, and landscaping. The 10-acre minimum project wide open space 
requirement will satisfy the open space requirement for each individual building or phase, providing for larger 
open space areas which will be more accessible to the future residents and visitors to the District.  
 
Each building/phase will be reviewed for compliance with the DC zoning regulations and design requirements 
at time of permitting based on the current land development code. Additionally, the City Land Development 
Regulations including landscape code, parking regulations, stormwater, floodplain, noise, and signage 
regulations will apply. 
 
Building height is unlimited subject to bonus approval over 300-feet, as further governed by the Federal 
Aviation Administration and Albert Whitted Airport Overlay regulations.  The airport height limits range from 
158-feet Above Mean Sea Level (AMSL) on the eastern most side, 208-feet and 258-feet AMSL in the center, 
to 308 AMSL on the western most side.  
 
Public Art will be provided in accordance with Chapter 16, Section 16.20.120.9. - Public art, where each 
building or phase will need to provide Public Art, with an option to aggregate this requirement over multiple 
parcels, allowing a larger art contribution in lieu of several individual pieces.    
 
Section 16.20.120.9. - Public art shall be provided as an integral part of the pedestrian-level sidewalk area for all 
new construction and building additions. The value shall be equal to one-half of one percent of the total construction 
cost up to $100,000.00 and shall be reviewed and approved by the POD of Cultural Affairs prior to issuance of the 
first certificate of occupancy. All public art shall be visually accessible to the public. In lieu of providing the public 
art, the applicant may provide financial support to the City's downtown public art program equal to one-quarter of 
one percent of the total construction cost, up to $50,000.00 
 
 

PUBLIC FACILITIES ANALYSIS 
 
The City has adopted LOS standards for the following public facilities and services: potable water, sanitary 
sewer, solid waste, drainage, and recreation and open space.  The following LOS impact analysis concludes 
that the proposed redevelopment of the Historic Gas Plant District will not have a significant impact on the 
City’s adopted LOS standards for public services and facilities. In summary, there is sufficient capacity to 
accommodate the proposed development within the Historic Gas Plant District. 
 
Assuming 1.5 people per dwelling unit multiplied by the 6,000 proposed units, the projected population of the 
District is 9,000 persons over the next 30-year build-out period.  
  



HGP District Development Agreement 
Page 9 

Potable Water 
The City has a sufficient potable water supply to serve increased demands resulting from the development of 
the Historic Gas Plant District. Under the existing inter-local agreement with Tampa Bay Water (TBW), the 
region’s local governments are required to project and submit, on or before February 1st of each year the 
anticipated water demand for the following year. TBW is contractually obligated to meet the City’s and other 
member government’s water supply needs. The City’s adopted LOS standard is 125 gallons per capita per day 
(gpcd), while the actual current usage equates to approximately 74 gpcd. The City’s overall potable water 
demand is approximately 28 million gallons per day (mgd), while the systemwide capacity is 68 mgd. With 
only 41% of capacity systemwide currently being used, there is excess water capacity to serve the District. 
Projected usage based, on actual current usage, for the residents is an additional .67 mgd (74 X 9,000) of the 
68 mgd available capacity or 1% of the available capacity. 
 
Reasons why St. Petersburg's average day demand and gross per capita consumption of potable water are not 
increasing, and actually decreasing in some water years, is the success of the City's ongoing water conservation 
program, use of reclaimed water and the increased cost of alternative water supplies from the regional water 
supplier.  The City continues to operate well within projected needs. 
 
Sanitary Sewer 
The City has sufficient sanitary sewer service to serve increased demands resulting from the development of 
the Historic Gas Plant District.  The District is served by the Southwest Water Reclamation Facility (WRF).  
The City's adopted LOS standard for the Southwest WRF service area is 161 gallons per person, per day.  In 
2022, the actual per capita demand for wastewater service was 97.59 gallons per day. The WRF has an 
estimated excess average daily capacity of 4.01 mgd. The estimate is based on a permitted average daily 
capacity of 20.0 mgd and a calendar year 2022 average daily flow of 15.99 mgd. With approximately 20% 
available capacity, there is excess average daily capacity to serve the District. The projected daily demand 
based on actual current usage is .88 mgd (97.59 X 9,000) of the 4.01 mgd available capacity for the Southwest 
WRF, or 22%.  
 
Sanitary sewer systems can be subject to infiltration of ground water and rain water which increases flows. 
This is called Inflow and Infiltration (I & I). Following several major rain events in 2015-2016, the City 
increased its’ peak wet weather wastewater treatment capacity from 112 mgd to approximately 157 mgd – a 
40% increase in peak flow capacity. As outlined in the St. Pete Water Plan, the City is implementing system 
reliability improvements at the WRFs, aggressively improving the gravity collection system to decrease Inflow 
and Infiltration (I&I) which reduces peak flows at the WRFs and addressing sea level rise system 
vulnerabilities at lift stations.  
 
The City remains committed to continued I&I reduction. The City is fully committed to implementing selected 
recommendations from the St. Pete Water Plan, which incorporates growth projections and outlines the 
required system and network improvements needed to provide a resilient wastewater collection and treatment 
system. Analysis provides there is capacity for treatment at Southwest Water Reclamation Facility, however 
additional infrastructure is needed for conveyance of sanitary sewer. As detailed in the Redevelopment 
Agreement (Section 7.10), the City will be constructing a lift station to provide conveyance.  Connection fees 
associated with the future development will compensate for the cost.  
 
Solid Waste 
Solid waste collection is the responsibility of the City.  Approval of the development agreement will not affect 
the City's ability to provide collection services.  All solid waste disposal is the responsibility of Pinellas County.  
The County and the City have the same designated level of service of 1.3 tons per year per person, while there 
is no generation rate for nonresidential uses.  The City’s demand for solid waste service is approximately 1.2 
tons per year per person. The residential component of the District will generate 10,800 additional tons per 
year. The Pinellas County Waste-to-Energy facility and the Bridgeway Acres Sanitary Landfill are the 
responsibility of the Pinellas County Department of Solid Waste and are operated and maintained under 
contract by two private companies. In calendar 2022, the Waste-to-Energy facility incinerated 601,728 tons 



HGP District Development Agreement 
Page 10 

and operated below its design operating capacity of incinerating 930,750 tons of solid waste per year. The 
continuation of recycling efforts and the efficient operation of the Waste-to-Energy facility have helped to 
extend the life span of Bridgeway Acres. The landfill is expected to remain in use for approximately 80 years, 
based on current design, grading and projected disposal rates.  The additional 10,800 tons generated by the 
project will utilize 3.2% of the available capacity of 329,022 tons. Solid waste facilities are operating within 
their LOS standard and there are no solid waste related projects scheduled in the five-year CIP. 
 
Drainage/Stormwater 
Drainage LOS identifies minimum criteria for existing and future facilities impacted by rain events. This is 
often quantified by a “design storm” with a specific duration, rainfall amount and return frequency. Currently 
the design storm used by the City is a 10-year return frequency, 1-hour duration storm as outlined in Drainage 
Ordinance, Section 16.40.030 of the Land Development Regulations (LDR). Unlike the other concurrency 
related facilities, stormwater LOS is not calculated with a per capita formula. Instead, the City implements the 
LOS standard through review of drainage plans for new development and redevelopment where all new 
construction of and improvements to existing surface water management systems are required to meet design 
standards outlined in LDR Section 16.40.030. This ordinance requires all new development projects to be 
permitted through the City and Southwest Florida Water Management District (SWFWMD) to ensure projects 
meet quantity and quality design standards for stormwater treatment. 
 
Prior to construction of each phase, construction site plan approval will be required. At that time, City Code 
and Southwest Florida Water Management District (SWFWMD) site requirements for stormwater 
management criteria will be implemented. The City’s existing Stormwater Management Master Plan (SWMP) 
contains detailed information on the 26 basins that comprise the stormwater management area. An update to 
the plan has been completed with the assistance of cooperative funding from SWFWMD. The City’s 
commitment to upgrading the capacity of stormwater management systems is demonstrated by continued 
implementation of the SWMP, the Stormwater Utility Fee and capital improvement budgeting for needed 
improvements.  
 
The City’s updated Stormwater Management Master Plan is consistent with the SWFWMD guidelines, it is 
enhanced as it takes into consideration sea level rise to identify projects to maintain LOS and enhance water 
quality. The City’s Stormwater Design Standards are being updated to incorporate Low Impact Design (LID) 
to reduce stormwater runoff and increase water quality. Likewise, the City recently updated its’ impervious 
service mapping throughout the City and will be working towards a credit-based stormwater rate system for 
commercial and residential properties who implement LID and rain harvesting elements. Examples of such 
credits may be underground stormwater vaults, pervious pavements, greywater systems, and vegetative swales. 
 
Transportation: Roadways 
In 2016, the City eliminated transportation concurrency policies and code provisions, as well as level of service 
standards for roads and mass transit, when it adopted the Pinellas County Mobility Plan.  The Mobility Plan 
provides a countywide framework for a coordinated multimodal approach to managing the traffic impacts of 
development projects as a replacement for local transportation concurrency systems, which are no longer 
required by the State of Florida because of the 2011 Community Planning Act.  Before the elimination of state-
mandated transportation concurrency regulations, the City’s LOS standard was “D” for major roads.  The 
Florida Department of Transportation’s LOS target for state highways in urbanized areas is “D.”  LOS “D” 
can also be viewed as a target for roads not on the state highway system, but it is no longer the City’s standard, 
as noted.  The City continues to monitor transportation conditions for transportation planning purposes and to 
assess the impact of land development projects and proposed rezonings and Future Land Map amendments on 
the surface transportation system.  Transportation management plans, and in some cases traffic studies, will be 
required for large development projects that impact a deficient roadway (LOS E or F, and/or a volume-to-
capacity ratio of 0.90 or higher with no mitigating improvements scheduled within three years). 
 
The District is not located near the City’s deficient roadways. The Roadway Segment Analysis attached to this 
report demonstrates that there is adequate roadway capacity to accommodate any new daily or p.m. peak hour 
trips resulting from development in the District. 
 



HGP District Development Agreement 
Page 11 

Existing Roadway Network 
Road segments that border and transverse the subject area are shown in the table below.  Five road segments 
are on the Future Major Streets Map (Map 20) of the City’s Comprehensive Plan, and the other five segments 
are local roads.  Lane arrangements range from two-lane, undivided to four-lane, one-way facilities.  The City 
maintains all road segments except for I-175, I-275 and I-375 which the Florida Department of Transportation 
(FDOT) maintains. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The City utilizes the Forward Pinellas “2023 Annual Level of Service Report” to monitor roadway levels of 
service (LOS) for major streets, per Policy T3.2 of the City’s Comprehensive Plan.  According to the FDOT, 
roadway LOS is a quantitative performance measure that represents quality of service, measured on an “A” to 
“F” scale, with LOS “A” representing the best operating conditions from the traveler’s perspective and LOS 
“F” the worst.  Before the elimination of state-mandated transportation concurrency regulations, the City’s 
LOS standard was “D” for major roads.  The FDOT’s current target for state highways in urbanized areas, such 
as I-175, is “D.”  LOS “D” can also be viewed as a target for roads not on the state highway system, but it is 
no longer the City’s standard, as noted. 
 
The 2023 Annual LOS Report provides traffic operating conditions on the major roads that border and traverse 
the subject area, as shown in the following table.  Excess capacity is the additional number of trips that the 
roads can carry in the peak direction of travel during the peak hour of traffic.  All of the local road segments 
and I-175 operate at a LOS “D” or better and have a significant amount of excess capacity.  The site does not 
have access to I-275, which functions at a LOS “F.”  The FDOT has programmed lane continuity improvements 
on I-275 from south of 54th Avenue South to northern St. Petersburg.  Express lanes are programmed for I-
275 north of I-375. 
 

Roadway Segment 

Average 
Annual 
Daily 

Traffic 

Volume 
to 

Capacity 
Ratio 

Facility 
LOS Lanes 

Excess 
Capacity 

1st Avenue S  34th Street S to 3rd Street 11,500 0.708 D 2 451 
16th Street Central Avenue to 18th Avenue S 11,500 0.408 C 4 870 
Dr. ML King 
Jr. Street S Central Avenue to 8th Street 13,428 0.374 C 4 1,910 
I-175  I-275 to 4th Street 31,550 0.261 B 4 2,704 
I-275 I-375 to I-175 125,500 0.441 F 6 None 

 

 
 

Roadway 

 
 

Segment 

 
Functional 

Classification 

 
Lane Arrangement 

 
 

Ownership 
Dr. ML King Jr. 
Street 4th Avenue S to I-175 Minor arterial 4-lane, one way City 
10th Street At 4th Avenue S Local road 2-lane, undivided City 
16th Street 3rd Avenue S to 5th Avenue S Collector 4-lane, divided City 
17th Street 1st Avenue S to 3rd Avenue S Local road 2-lane, undivided City 
18th Street 3rd Avenue S to 5th Avenue S Local road 2-lane, undivided City 
1st Avenue S 16th Street to 17th Street Minor arterial 2-lane, one way City 
3rd Avenue S 16th Street to 18th Street Local road 2-lane, undivided City 
4th Avenue S/ 
5th Avenue S 

Dr. ML King Jr. Street to 16th 
Street Local road 2-lane, one way City 

5th Avenue S 16th Street to 18th Street Collector 4-lane, undivided City 

I-175 
Dr. ML King Jr. Street to 18th 
Street Interstate system 4-lane, one way FDOT 

I-275 I-375 I-175 6-lane, two way FDOT 



HGP District Development Agreement 
Page 12 

 
Traffic Impact Analysis 
The Roadway Segment Analysis provided by the Hines Historic Gas Plant District Partnership attached to this 
report demonstrates that the project will not cause any deficiencies to local roadways. The Analysis uses 
FDOT’s most recent LOS tables (2023) instead of the tables that Forward Pinellas uses (2020).  The existing 
LOS for I-275 from I-375 to I-175 in the report is “D,” instead of “F,” so it has spare capacity. 
 
The proposed development is projected to place 58,248 weekday trips, 9,945 a.m. peak hour trips, and 5,079 
p.m. peak hour trips on the external road network based on data from the Institute of Transportation 
Engineers.  The gross number of trips generated by the proposed development is greater than these trip totals, 
but a significant number of these trips will remain on the subject property due to the complementary land uses 
that will allow people to live, work, shop, dine, and attend events without having to leave the subject 
property.  Downtown St. Petersburg’s multimodal transportation network will also provide several options for 
traveling to and from the site other than automobiles. 

The analyses of future roadway conditions with the project traffic indicate that roadway levels of service on I-
275 from I-175 to 22nd Avenue North in 2040 and 2054 will function below LOS “D,” but these analyses do 
not include the FDOT’s programmed I-275 lane continuity improvements from south of 54th Avenue South to 
northern St. Petersburg and the express lanes north of I-375, which will add a significant amount of capacity 
to I-275 to support the proposed development. 

 

Bicycle Network 
The Pinellas Trail runs through the District. The Pinellas Trail offers an alternative to vehicular travel for both 
utilitarian and recreational trips. The surrounding bicycle network includes bicycle lanes along 1st Avenue 
South and 16th Street. If the Development Agreement and Redevelopment Agreements are approved, City staff 
will work with the developer to facilitate safe and convenient access throughout the District. 
 
Transportation: Mass Transit 
The Citywide LOS for mass transit will not be affected by the proposed development agreement.  The subject 
area is well-served by public transit.  The SunRunner is PSTA’s most popular route.  It provides a rapid, 
frequent, and reliable service between downtown St. Petersburg, western St. Petersburg, South Pasadena, and 
St. Pete Beach and has long operating hours.  Several other routes within close proximity to the subject area, 
including Routes 7, 15, 20, 23, 79, and 32 (Downtown Circulator).  The headways for the routes and 
destinations they serve are provided on the following table. 
 

 
Route 

Headway 
(Minutes) Destinations 

7 50 Downtown St. Petersburg, Jordan Park, Campbell Park, Grand Central Station, Tyrone 
Gardens Shopping Center, Tyrone Square Mall 

15 60 Downtown St. Petersburg, 15th Ave S, Gibbs High School, Grand Central Station, Town 
Shores Apartments, Gulfport Casino 

20 60 25 Way S & Roy Hanna Dr, Skyway Plaza, Dr ML King St/9 St S, Downtown St. Petersburg, 
9 Ave N, Tyrone Square Mall 

23 30 Tyrone Square Mall, Gulfport Casino, Lakeview Shopping Center, 22 Ave S, Downtown St. 
Petersburg 

32 35 

Downtown St. Petersburg Circulator: Downtown St. Petersburg, Sunshine Senior Center, 
Mirror Lake Area, St. Anthony’s Hospital, John Knox Apartments, Greyhound Bus 
Terminal, Tropicana Field, Graham Park, Bayfront Medical Center, All Children’s Hospital, 
Suncoast Medical Center, Publix Supermarket 



HGP District Development Agreement 
Page 13 

79 30 

US 19 Frontage Rd, Whitney Rd, 58th St, Ulmerton Rd/SR 688, 66 St N, Park 66 Shopping 
Center, Tyrone Square Mall, St. Petersburg College, Lutheran Residences, Bethany Towers, 
Pasadena Shopping Center, Gulfport Blvd/22 Ave S, 5 Ave S, Grand Central Station, 
Downtown St. Petersburg 

SunRunner 
15 peak/ 
30 off-
peak 

Connecting Downtown St. Petersburg, Central Ave. business districts, Pasadena, and St. Pete 
Beach, the SunRunner is a fast, reliable way to explore one of Pinellas County’s busiest 
corridors.   

 
PSTA offers several programs that provide discounted or late-night bus service to qualifying individuals, 
including the Late Night, Direct Connect, and Access Programs.  The City has an agreement with PSTA to 
fully buy down the cost for 10-day passes and monthly passes for City residents who qualify for PSTA’s 
Transportation Disadvantaged Program, with an option to extend the agreement for another two years. 
 
MAX Index 
Forward Pinellas has developed a multimodal accessibility index (MAX index).  MAX scores are assigned to 
individual quarter-mile grid cells, which Forward Pinellas defines as a reasonable walkable travel shed.  The 
MAX score is based on factors such as bicycle facilities, premium transit services, walkability, roadway LOS, 
scooter/bike-share locations, transit access, and programmed transportation projects.  The subject area is 
located in four grid cells with MAX scores ranging from 27.75 to 59.5.  The countywide average MAX score 
is 7.5.  the higher score in the northwestern portion of the subject area is attributable to the SunRunner stops 
and Pinellas Trail. 
 

 
 
 
  



HGP District Development Agreement
Page 14

Recreation & Open Space
The City's adopted LOS for recreational acreage, which is 9 acres per 1,000 population, will not be impacted 
by the proposed development agreement.  The actual LOS citywide for the City’s permanent population is 
21.3 acres per 1,000 population increasing to 28.5 acres per thousand with the inclusion of County parks. The 
actual LOS citywide for the City’s functional population, which includes seasonal and tourist populations, is 
19.9 acres per 1,000 population increasing to 26.6 acres per thousand with the inclusion of County parks. With 
the additional 9,000 projected residents in the district, and the provision of a minimum of 10 acres of open 
space, there will be no noticeable impact on the adopted LOS standard for recreation and open space. 

Conclusion 
There is sufficient capacity in the City’s public facilities and services to accommodate the proposed 
development within the Historic Gas Plant District. 

PUBLIC NOTICE and COMMENTS 

Public Notice
Public notification letters were sent by direct mail to neighboring property owners, neighborhood associations 
and business associations within 300-linear feet of the subject property.  

Public Comments
To date, staff has received one email providing general comments related to the proposed rezoning and 
associated Development Agreement, see Attachment 3.   

RECOMMENDATION

Staff recommends APPROVAL of the proposed Development Agreement, based on consistency with the 
goals, objectives and policies of the City's Comprehensive Plan and with the Land Development Regulations. 

REPORT PREPARED BY:

  
Elizabeth Abernethy, AICP       DATE
Director, Planning & Development Services Department 

ATTACHMENTS

1. Proposed Development Agreement 
2. Roadway Segment Analysis Memorandum dated May 8, 2024 
3. Public Comments 

Elizabeth Abernethy, AICP 

REPORT PREPARED BY:

May 8, 2024



HGP District Development Agreement

ATTACHMENT NO. 1 

Proposed Development Agreement



 
Page 1 of 17  

VESTING DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
 

THIS VESTING DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is made and entered into as of the 
Effective Date (defined below), by and between the CITY OF ST. PETERSBURG, FLORIDA, a Florida municipal 
corporation ("City"), and HINES HISTORIC GAS PLANT DISTRICT PARTNERSHIP, a joint venture conducting 
business in the State of Florida ("Developer") (collectively, the “Parties”). PINELLAS COUNTY, a political 
subdivision of the State of Florida ("Owner"), is not a Party to this Agreement, but has been notified of the Parties’ 
intent to enter into this Agreement and acknowledges same herein. 

 
WITNESSETH: 

 
WHEREAS, Owner and City currently own approximately 81.32 acres of land (“Site Area”) within the 

boundaries of the City, the legal description and boundary map of which are attached hereto as Exhibit "A" ("Property"); 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the City has the right to acquire the Owner’s portion of the Property from the Owner in parcels 

pursuant to the City/County Agreement; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City and Developer intend for Developer to redevelop, or cause to be redeveloped, certain 

portions of the Property, pursuant to the Redevelopment Agreement and this Agreement; and 
 
WHEREAS, in addition to the redevelopment of the Property planned by Developer, a new stadium 

(“Stadium”) and up to two (2) parking garages (“Parking Garage Improvements”) are planned to be constructed on the 
Property by Tampa Bay Rays Baseball, Ltd., or its affiliates; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Stadium will be constructed on an approximately thirteen (13)-acre (MOL) portion of the 

Property, and in connection with the construction of the Stadium, the Parking Garage Improvements will be constructed 
on separate parcels that are also currently portions of the Property; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City and Developer desire to establish certain terms and conditions relating to the proposed 

development of the Property in accordance with Sections 163.3220-163.3243, Florida Statutes, the Florida Local 
Government Development Agreement Act ("Act"); and 

 
WHEREAS, in accordance with the Act and Section 16.05 of the City’s LDRs, the City is duly authorized to 

enter this Agreement and the City has found that this Agreement complies with said Act and the City’s LDRs; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City has additionally found this Agreement to be consistent with the City’s Comprehensive 

Plan, including levels of service for existing and needed public facilities, as well as its concurrency management 
regulations; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City intends to initiate or has initiated an application to rezone the portions of the Property 

that are currently zoned DC-2 to DC-1; and 
 

WHEREAS, the first properly noticed public hearing on this Agreement was held by the Community Planning 
and Preservation Commission on _________; and 

 
WHEREAS, the first reading of this Agreement was held by the City Council on ____________; and 

 
WHEREAS, the second reading of and second properly noticed public hearing on this Agreement was held by 

the City Council on ____________. 
 

DEFINITIONS 
 

The terms defined in this Agreement shall have the following meanings, except as herein otherwise expressly 
provided: 



 
Page 2 of 17  

 
 “Agreement” means this Vesting Development Agreement, including any Exhibits, and any amendments hereto or 
thereto. 
 
“Applicable Laws” means all existing and future federal, state, and local statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations, the 
federal and state constitutions, the City Charter, and all orders and decrees of lawful authorities having jurisdiction over 
the matter at issue, including but not limited to Florida statutes governing, if applicable, construction of public buildings 
and repairs upon public buildings and public works, Chapter 119 Florida Statutes, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 
1964, the Americans with Disabilities Act, Section 448.095 Florida Statutes, Section 287.135 Florida Statutes, the 
bonding requirements of Florida Statute section 255.05, Florida Public Records Laws, the Americans with Disabilities 
Act, Florida Statutes Chapter 448, laws regarding E-Verify, and the City’s sign code. 

“Authorized Representative” means the person or persons designated and appointed from time to time as such by the 
Owner, Developer, or the City. 

 
“City Council” means the governing body of the City, by whatever name known or however constituted from time to 
time. 
 
“City/County Agreement” means that certain agreement entered into on [Month Day], 2024 titled “[insert agreement 
name here]”. 
 
“City’s Code” means the City of St. Petersburg Code, as most recently amended prior to the date hereof. 

 
"City's Comprehensive Plan” means the City of St. Petersburg Comprehensive Plan, as most recently amended prior 
to the date hereof. 

 
“City's LDRs” means the City of St. Petersburg Land Development Regulations, as most recently amended prior to 
the date hereof. 

 
“Development” means all improvements to real property, including buildings, other structures, parking and loading 
areas, landscaping, paved or graveled areas, and areas devoted to exterior display, storage, or activities. Development 
includes improved open areas such as plazas and walkways, but does not include natural geologic forms or unimproved 
real property. 

 
“Development Permit” includes any building permit, zoning permit, subdivision approval, rezoning, certification, 
special exception, variance, or any other official action of local government having the effect of permitting the 
development of land. 

 
 “Exhibits” means those agreements, diagrams, drawings, specifications, instruments, forms of instruments, and other 
documents attached hereto and designated as exhibits to, and incorporated in and made a part of, this Agreement. 

 
"Florida Statutes" means all references herein to "Florida Statutes" are to Florida Statutes (2023), as amended from 
time to time. 
 
“Project” means the proposed Development to be located on part of the Property as contemplated by this Agreement. 
 
“Redevelopment Agreement” means that certain agreement entered into on [Month Day], 2024 titled “HGP 
Redevelopment Agreement by and between the City of St. Petersburg, Florida and Hines Historic Gas Plant District 
Partnership for the Historic Gas Plant District”. 
 
“Vertical Development” means a distinct vertical development component of the Project to be constructed on a Parcel 
in accordance with the Target Development Plan, the Minimum Development Requirements and the Redevelopment 
Agreement. 

AGREEMENT 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms, conditions, covenants and mutual promises hereinafter 



 
Page 3 of 17  

set forth, the Parties agree as follows: 
 

1. Recitals, Definitions, and Exhibits. The foregoing recitations are true and correct and are hereby 
incorporated herein by reference. The foregoing definitions are hereby incorporated herein by reference.  Terms used 
but not defined herein shall have the same meaning as set forth in the City’s LDRs.  All Exhibits to this Agreement are 
essential to this Agreement and are hereby deemed a part hereof. 

 
2. Intent. It is the intent of the Parties that this Agreement shall be adopted in conformity with the Act 

and that this Agreement should be construed and implemented so as to effectuate the purposes and intent of the Act. 
This Agreement shall not be executed by or binding upon any Party until adopted in conformity with the Act. 

 
3. Recording and Effective Date.   Upon full execution by the Parties and no later than fourteen (14) 

days after final approval of this Agreement by City Council, the City shall record this Agreement in the Public Records 
of Pinellas County, Florida, at the Developer’s expense, and shall forward a copy of the recorded Agreement to the 
Florida Department of Economic Opportunity. This Agreement shall become effective upon recordation (the “Effective 
Date”). 

 
4. Duration. The term of this Agreement shall be for thirty (30) years from the Effective Date.  

 
5. Permitted Development Uses and Building Intensities.  The Property’s permitted development uses, 

density, intensity and height are as follows (collectively, the “Development Rights”): 
 

(a) Permitted Development Uses.   The Property currently holds DC-1 and DC-2 zoning on the 
City’s zoning map, and CBD future land use designation in the City’s Comprehensive Plan. The Property may be used 
for the uses permitted in the DC-1 and DC-2 zoning districts (and upon adoption of the rezoning, for the uses permitted 
in the DC-1 zoning district), subject to the additional limitations and conditions set forth in this Agreement. 

(1) Proposed Uses. Developer and City agree that the following uses are proposed to be 
developed on the Property: 

i. Target Development Plan. Developer’s target development plan for the 
portion of the Property subject to the Redevelopment Agreement is described on Exhibit “B” attached 
hereto (“Target Development Plan”).   

ii. Minimum Development Requirements. While the Target Development 
Plan sets forth the overall intended Project, Exhibit “C” attached hereto sets forth certain minimum 
development requirements for the portion of the Property subject to the Redevelopment Agreement 
(“Minimum Development Requirements”) that Developer must satisfy within 30 years of the Effective 
Date of this Agreement. 

iii. Stadium and Parking Garage Improvements.  The Stadium (up to 35,000 
seats) and the Parking Garage Improvements. 

 
(b) Maximum Density, Intensity, and Height of Proposed Uses. For the purposes of this 

Agreement, maximum density, intensity and height for the Property shall be: 
 

(1) Maximum Density.  None.  Maximum density is limited by floor area ratio (FAR).  
Units per acre do not apply.  

 
(2) Maximum Intensity. 

 
i. Base (by right)- up to 3.0 FAR (10,626,898 square feet gross floor area) 

 
ii. Bonus approval- greater than 3.0 FAR and equal to or less than 7.0 FAR. 

Unless and until the Property as a whole exceeds a 3.0 FAR, the intensity of the Project shall be by 
right.  At such time as the next Development Permit issued will cause the Property’s FAR to exceed 
3.0, any Development in excess of a 3.0 FAR shall be subject to further approval in accordance with 
the City’s LDRs. No affordable housing units currently contemplated in this Agreement or the 



 
Page 4 of 17  

Redevelopment Agreement shall be counted towards any workforce housing FAR bonus that may be 
sought by Developer in the future to exceed the 3.0 base FAR. 

 
iii. The Parties agree that, as of the Effective Date, the 3.0 base FAR is 

sufficient to permit the intensity contemplated in the Target Development Plan and the intensity 
associated with the Stadium.  

 
(3) Maximum Height. Building heights are subject to review under the City’s LDRs, the 

City’s Comprehensive Plan, and Applicable Laws of other governmental agencies. 
 

i. Base- up to 300 ft 
 

ii. Bonus approval, streamline- greater than 300 ft and equal to or less than 
375 ft 

 
iii. Bonus approval, public hearing- greater than 375 ft 

 
iv. Individual buildings or parcels may seek bonus approval for additional 

height, without subjecting other parts of the Project or Property to such review and approval. 
 

(c) Site Area.   
 

(1) Calculation.  The Site Area is the total land area of the Property, excluding 
submerged land and previously dedicated public rights of way.   

 
(2) Future Rights of Way or Conveyances to the Public.  The Parties acknowledge that 

portions of the Property will likely be dedicated as public right of way or facilities, or otherwise conveyed for 
public purposes, including but not limited to streets, alleys, walkways, sidewalks, trails, transit stops, micro-
mobility hubs, parking garages, and bicycle racks.  The Site Area and Property shall not be reduced in the 
event of such dedications or other conveyances.  
 

(3) Vacation of Existing Rights of Way.  The Parties anticipate that existing public rights 
of way may be vacated as part of the Project.  In that event, the Site Area and the Property shall automatically 
be increased to include the Property’s share of such vacated right of way, without the need for an amendment 
to this Agreement.  
 

(d) Unified Site.  The Property shall be considered as one site, parcel or lot for purposes of the 
City’s Code, notwithstanding current or future divisions into multiple separate parcels or lots, and such divisions or 
combinations of portions of the Property into separate parcels or lots shall not be deemed a subdivision under the City’s 
Code.  Thus, all allowances, requirements and limitations of the City’s Code shall apply to the Property and Site Area 
as a whole, including setbacks, distances between buildings, FAR, FAR bonuses, FAR exemptions, open space, parking, 
use requirements, and landscaping. 

 
(e) Public Art.  In accordance with the City’s LDRs, public art will be provided by Developer for 

all new Development. Public art requirements for Development of any individual parcels may be aggregated over 
multiple parcels, subject to Approval by the City in accordance with Paragraph 28 of this Agreement. 

 
(f) Development Permits as to Portions of Project or Property.  The Parties acknowledge that the 

Project and the Property will be developed over the duration of this Agreement in multiple phases.  The Project will 
consist of multiple buildings with multiple uses.  Portions of the Project or Property, such as individual buildings or 
uses, may obtain separate Development Permits, as opposed to the Project or Property as a whole.  For example, 
building permits, variances or special exceptions may be issued to individual buildings, uses or parcels, without 
subjecting other parts of the Project or Property to such review and approval. 

 
6. Development Rights.  
 



 
Page 5 of 17  

(a) Vesting and Applicable Law Governing Development.  The Development Rights shall be 
vested for the duration of this Agreement.  The City’s laws and policies governing the Development of the Property in 
effect on the Effective Date, including, without limitation the City’s Code, the City’s LDRs and the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan, shall govern the Development of the Property for the duration of this Agreement, except that the 
pending rezoning from DC-2 to DC-1 is specifically anticipated and shall apply upon its adoption. 

 
(b) Additional Development Rights.  Developer shall benefit from any future land use, zoning or 

other changes in law adopted by the City which would increase the development capacity of the Property, but shall in 
no event have less than the Development Rights recognized in this Agreement; provided, any Development in excess 
of the Development Rights shall comply with the future applicable provisions of the City's LDRs and other Applicable 
Laws, including necessary approvals, if applicable. Obtaining the necessary applicable approvals from any other 
governing body shall be the sole responsibility of the Developer and nothing herein shall be construed as a grant of 
approval, express or implied, from a governing body aside from the City. 

 
(c) Monitoring and Reporting Requirements.  Developer shall prepare an annual report to be 

submitted to the City no later than January 31st of a given year for the City’s review that documents the following: 
 

(1) Development Permits issued in the previous year; 
 
(2) All open Development Permits; 
 
(3) Any Development Permits anticipated to be sought by Developer in the following year; 
 
(4) Cumulative square footage of gross floor area for all Development Permits issued for the 

Project since the Effective Date; 
 
(5) Cumulative progress towards the Target Development Plan, as set forth in Paragraph 5.(a)(1)i. 

of this Agreement, measured in the units set forth therein. Credit towards achievement of the Target 
Development Plan will be deemed to be given by the City upon issuance of any certificate of occupancy for a 
Vertical Development or other portion of the Project; and 

 
(6) Cumulative progress towards the Minimum Development Requirements, as set forth in 

Paragraph 5.(a)(1)ii. of this Agreement, measured in the units set forth therein. Credit towards achievement of 
the Minimum Development Requirements will be deemed to be given by the City upon issuance of any 
certificate of occupancy for a Vertical Development or other portion of the Project. 

 
  The City and Developer may agree on amendments to the form of the annual report submitted by Developer. 

 
7. Public Facilities and Services.  Except as otherwise provided in the Redevelopment Agreement, and 

the infrastructure improvements identified therein, the following existing and needed public facilities are identified as 
serving the Project: 

 
(a) Potable Water and Reclaimed Water. The City will provide potable water to the Project site. 

Sufficient supply capacity will be available to service the Project, consistent with the requirements of the City’s 
concurrency management regulations. The design and construction of the proposed potable water facilities on the 
Project site shall be in compliance with the requirements of the City’s Code, including the City’s LDRs and the City, 
State or Federal standards such as the Southwest Florida Water Management District and the Florida Department of 
Environmental Protection. 

 
(b) Sanitary Sewer. The City will provide sanitary sewer service to the Project site. Sufficient 

treatment capacity will be available to service the Project, consistent with the requirements of the City’s concurrency 
management regulations.  The design and construction of the proposed sanitary sewer facilities on the Project site shall 
be in compliance with the requirements of the City’s Code, including the City’s LDRs and the City, State or Federal 
standards such as the Southwest Florida Water Management District and the Florida Department of Environmental 
Protection. 

 



 
Page 6 of 17  

(c) Stormwater Management. Stormwater management level of service is project-dependent 
rather than based on the provision and use of public facilities and is not directly provided by the City. The design and 
construction of the proposed stormwater facilities on the Project site shall be in compliance with the requirements of 
the City’s Code, including the City’s LDRs, and the City, State or Federal standards such as  the Southwest Florida 
Water Management District and the Florida Department of Environmental Protection, shall meet concurrency 
requirements for stormwater, and shall not result in degradation of the level of service below City’s adopted level of 
service. 

 
(d) Solid Waste. Solid waste collection services will be provided by the City using facilities, 

equipment and service capacity already in place, while waste disposal services will be handled by Pinellas County. 
Capacity is sufficient to allow the Project to meet the applicable level of service requirements, and no new public 
facilities will be needed to service the Project. 

 
(e) Transportation. Transportation facilities and services will be provided by the City using 

available facilities and service capacity already in place, plus the construction of new roads on the Property as provided 
in the Redevelopment Agreement. Subject to City Approval, Developer will develop a Traffic, Parking Management, 
and Micro-Mobility Plan to address onsite circulation, parking and multimodal transit in connection with the Target 
Development Plan. Developer must provide such plans to the City for its review and Approval within forty-five (45) 
days after the submittal of the preliminary plat required under the City’s LDRs. 

 
(f) Utility Improvements.    Utility improvements necessary to provide service to a structure shall 

be constructed by Developer at Developer’s expense prior to issuance of certificates of occupancy for the structure.  
 
8. Reservation or Dedication of Land. Except for those future rights of way and other conveyances 

contemplated in Paragraph 5.(c)(2) of this Agreement, and the Stadium and Parking Garage Improvements, no 
reservation or dedication of land for public purposes is proposed under this Agreement.  

 
9. Local Development Permits. The following local development Approvals will be required to develop 

the Property: 
 

(a) Bonus approval, for Development that exceeds the base FAR or base height, if requested and 
approved pursuant to the City’s LDRs; 
 
(b) Water, sewer, paving and drainage permits; 
 
(c) Building permits; 
 
(d) Certificates of occupancy; and 
 
(e) Any other Development Permits that may be required by local ordinances and regulations. 

 
10. Consistency with Comprehensive Plan. Development of the Property with the Development Rights 

is consistent with the City's Comprehensive Plan.   
 
11. Necessity of Complying with Local Regulations Relative to Permits. The Parties agree that the failure 

of this Agreement to address a particular permit, condition, fee, term or restriction shall not relieve Developer of the 
necessity of complying with regulations governing said permitting requirements, conditions, fees, terms or restrictions. 

 
12. Binding Effect.   The obligations imposed pursuant to this Agreement upon the Parties and upon the 

Property shall run with and bind the Property as covenants running with the Property. This Agreement shall be binding 
upon and enforceable by and against the Parties hereto, their personal representatives, heirs, successors, grantees and 
assigns.  

 
13. Concurrency and Comprehensive Plan Findings. The City has determined that the concurrency 

requirements of Section 16.03 of the City's LDRs and the City's Comprehensive Plan will be met for the Project, further 
subject to any approvals set forth in Paragraph 9 of this Agreement. The City has found that the Project and this 



 
Page 7 of 17  

Agreement are consistent with and further the goals, objectives, policies and action strategies of the City's 
Comprehensive Plan and with the City's LDRs, further subject to any approvals set forth in Paragraph 9 of this 
Agreement. Nothing herein shall be construed by any Party as an approval, express or implied, for any action set forth 
in Paragraph 9 of this Agreement. 

 
14. Disclaimer of Joint Venture.   The Parties represent that by the execution of this Agreement it is not 

the intent of the Parties that this Agreement be construed or deemed to represent a joint venture or common undertaking 
between any Parties, or between any Party and any third party. While engaged in carrying out and complying with the 
terms of this Agreement, Developer is an independent principal and not a contractor for or officer, agent, or employee 
of the City. Developer shall not at any time or in any manner represent that it or any of its agents or employees are 
employees of the City. 

 
15. Amendments. The Parties acknowledge that this Agreement may be amended by mutual consent of 

the Parties subsequent to execution in accordance with Section 163.3237, Florida Statutes and Section 16.05 of the 
City's LDRs. All amendments to this Agreement shall be ineffective unless reduced to writing and executed by the 
Parties in accordance with the City's LDRs and Florida Statutes.  

 
16. Notices. All notices, demands, requests for approvals or other communications given by any Party to 

another shall be in writing and shall be sent by hand delivery, registered or certified U.S. Mail, postage prepaid, return 
receipt requested or by a recognized national overnight courier service to the office for each Party indicated below and 
addressed as follows: 

 

(a) To the Developer:  
 
c/o Hines Interests Limited Partnership 
11512 Lake Mead Avenue 
Suite 603 
Jacksonville, Florida 32256 
Attention:  Lane Gardner 
Email: Lane.Gardner@hines.com  
 
With copies to: 
 
c/o Hines Interests Limited Partnership 
383 17th Street NW 
Suite 100 
Atlanta, Georgia 30363 
Attention:  Michael Harrison 
Email:  michael.harrison@hines.com  
 
c/o Hines Interests Limited Partnership 
444 West Lake Street 
Suite 2400 
Chicago, Illinois 60606 
Attention:  Stephen E. Luthman 
Email:  steve.luthman@hines.com  
 
c/o Hines Legal Department 
845 Texas Avenue, Suite 3300 
Houston, TX 77002 
Attention:  Corporate Counsel 
Email:  corporate.legal@hines.com 
 
Baker Botts L.L.P. 
2001 Ross Avenue, Suite 900 
Dallas, Texas 75201 



 
Page 8 of 17  

Attention:  Jon Dunlay 
Email:  jon.dunlay@bakerbotts.com 
 
Tampa Bay Rays Baseball, Ltd. 
Tropicana Field 
One Tropicana Drive 
St. Petersburg, FL 33705 
Attention:  John P. Higgins 
Senior Vice President of Administration/ General Counsel 
Email:  jhiggins@raysbaseball.com  
 
ArentFox Schiff LLP 
1717 K Street, NW 
Washington, DC. 26006 
Attention:  Richard N. Gale 
Email:  richard.gale@afslaw,com 
 
ArentFox Schiff LLP  
1301 Avenue of the Americas 
New York, NY 10019 
Attention:  Marina Rabinovich 
Email:  marina.rabinovich@afslaw.com 
 
Trenam  
200 Central Ave., Suite 1600 
St. Petersburg, FL 33701 
Attn.: Mathew S. Poling 
Email: mpoling@trenam.com  

 
(b) To the City: 
 

City of St. Petersburg 
Urban Planning, Design and Historic Preservation Division  
One 4th Street North 
St. Petersburg, FL 33701 
Attn.: Derek Kilborn, Manager 
Email: derek.kilborn@stpete.org  
 
With a copy to: 
 
City of St. Petersburg 
City Attorney’s Office  
One 4th Street North 
St. Petersburg, FL 33701  
Attn.: Michael Dema, Managing Assistant City Attorney – Land Use & Environmental 
Matters 
Email: Michael.Dema@stpete.org  

 
17. Effectiveness of Notice. Notices given by courier service or by hand delivery shall be effective upon 

delivery, notices given by recognized national overnight courier service shall be effective on the first business day after 
deposit with the courier service and notices given by registered or certified mail shall be effective on the third day after 
deposit in the U.S. Mail.  Refusal by any person to accept delivery of any notice delivered to the office at the address 
indicated above (or as it may be changed) shall be deemed to have been an effective delivery as provided in this 
paragraph. The addresses to which notices are to be sent may be changed from time to time by written notice delivered 
to the other Parties and such notices shall be effective upon receipt.  Until notice of change of address is received as to 
any particular Party hereto, all other Parties may rely upon the last address given. 

 



 
Page 9 of 17  

18. Default. Except with regard to a default in the execution and recordation of this Agreement (for which 
there shall be no cure period), in the event any Party is in default of any provision hereof, any non-defaulting Party, as 
a condition precedent to the exercise of its remedies, shall be required to give the defaulting Party written notice of the 
same pursuant to this Agreement. The defaulting Party shall have thirty (30) business days from the receipt of such 
notice to cure the default. If the defaulting Party timely cures the default, this Agreement shall continue in full force 
and effect. In addition, this cure period shall be extended if the default is of a nature that it cannot be completely cured 
within such cure period, provided that the defaulting Party has promptly commenced all appropriate actions to cure the 
default within such cure period and those actions are thereafter diligently and continuously pursued by the defaulting 
Party in good faith.  If the defaulting Party does not timely cure such default, the non-defaulting Party shall be entitled 
to pursue its remedies available at law or equity. 

 
19. Non-Action on Failure to Observe Provisions of this Agreement. The failure of any Party to promptly 

or continually insist upon strict performance of any term, covenant, condition or provision of this Agreement, or any 
Exhibit hereto, or any other agreement, instrument or document of whatever form or nature contemplated hereby shall 
not be deemed a waiver of any right or remedy that the Party may have, and shall not be deemed a waiver of a subsequent 
default or nonperformance of such term, covenant, condition or provision. 

 
20. Applicable Law and Venue. The laws of the State of Florida shall govern the validity, performance 

and enforcement of this Agreement.   Venue for any proceeding arising under this Agreement shall be in the Sixth 
Judicial Circuit, in and for Pinellas County, Florida, for state actions and in the United States District Court for the 
Middle District of Florida for federal actions, to the exclusion of any other venue. 

21. Construction. This Agreement has been negotiated by the Parties, and the Agreement, including, 
without limitation, the Exhibits, shall not be deemed to have been prepared by any Party, but by all equally.  The 
captions, section numbers, and headings appearing in this Agreement are inserted only as a matter of convenience and 
in no way define, limit, construe, or describe the scope of intent of such sections or articles of this Agreement nor in 
any way affect this Agreement. 

 
22. Entire Agreement. 

 
(a) This Agreement, and all the terms and provisions contained herein, including without 

limitation the Exhibits hereto, constitute the full and complete agreement between the Parties hereto regarding the 
subject matter hereof to the date hereof, and supersedes and controls over any and all prior agreements, understandings, 
representations, correspondence and statements whether written or oral, except for the Redevelopment Agreement. 
With the exception of conditions that may be imposed by the City in approving any Development Permit, no Party shall 
be bound by any agreement, condition, warranty or representation regarding the subject matter hereof other than as 
expressly stated in this Agreement or the Redevelopment Agreement. 

 
(b) Any provisions of this Agreement shall be read and applied in para materia with all other 

provisions hereof. 
 

23. Holidays. It is hereby agreed and declared that whenever a notice or performance under the terms of 
this Agreement is to be made or given on a Saturday or Sunday or on a legal holiday observed by the City, it shall be 
postponed to the next following business day. 

 
24. Certification. The Parties shall at any time and from time to time, upon not less than ten (10) days 

prior notice by the other Party execute, acknowledge and deliver to the other Party (and, in the case of the City, to a 
prospective lender, tenant or purchaser of any of the Property) a statement in recordable form certifying that this 
Agreement has not been modified and is in full force and effect (or if there have been modifications that this Agreement 
as modified is in full force and effect and setting forth a notation of such modifications), and that to the knowledge of 
such Party, neither it nor any other Party is then in default hereof (or if another Party is then in default hereof, stating 
the nature and details of such default), it being intended that any such statement delivered pursuant to this paragraph 
may be conclusively relied upon by any addressee of such statement made in accordance with the provisions of this 
Agreement. 

 
25. Termination. This Agreement shall automatically terminate and expire upon the occurrence of the 

first of the following: 



 
Page 10 of 17  

 
(a) The expiration of thirty (30) years from the Effective Date of this Agreement; 

 
(b) The revocation of this Agreement by the City Council in accordance with Section 163.3235, 

Florida Statutes and Section 16.05 of the City's LDRs; and 
 

(c) The execution of a written agreement by all Parties, or by their successors in interest, 
providing for the termination of this Agreement.  

 
26. Deadline for Execution. The Developer shall execute this Agreement prior to the date on which the 

City Council considers this Agreement for final approval.  The City shall execute this Agreement no later than fourteen 
(14) days after final approval by City Council.  

 
27. Covenant of Cooperation. The Parties shall cooperate with and deal with each other in good faith and 

assist each other in the performance of the provisions of this Agreement and in achieving the completion of 
Development of the Project site, including processing amendments to this Agreement. 

 
28. Approvals. 
 

(a) For the purposes of this Agreement any required written permission, consent, approval or 
agreement ("Approval") by the City means the Approval of the mayor or their designee unless otherwise set forth herein 
and such approval shall be in addition to any and all permits and other licenses required by law or this Agreement. 

 
(b) For the purposes of this Agreement any right of the City to take any action permitted, allowed 

or required by this Agreement, may be exercised by the mayor or their designee, unless otherwise set forth herein. 
 

(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing set forth herein shall be construed to waive or 
supersede any procedural requirements for an Approval otherwise required by the City’s Code, including the City’s 
LDRs, and Florida Statutes. 

 
29. Partial Invalidity. If any term or provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to any person 

or circumstance is declared invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement, including any valid portion of 
the invalid term or provision and the application of such invalid term or provision to circumstances other than those as 
to which it is held invalid or unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, shall not be affected thereby and shall 
with the remainder of this Agreement continue unmodified and in full force and effect. 

 
30. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an 

original but all of which shall constitute a single instrument. 
 

31. Third Party Beneficiaries. The rights and obligations of the Parties set forth in this Agreement are 
personal to the Parties, and no third parties are entitled to rely on or have an interest in any such rights and obligations.  
Nothing within this Agreement shall constitute dedications to the public, and no member of the public is granted any 
rights hereunder. 

 
32. Authority.  Each of the Parties hereto represents and warrants to the other that the execution and 

delivery of this Agreement, consummation of the transactions described herein, and compliance with the terms of this 
Agreement will not conflict with, or constitute a default under, any agreement to which such Party is bound, or violate 
any regulation, law, order, judgment, or decree applicable to such Party.  Each of the Parties hereto represents and 
warrants to the other that the person executing this Agreement on behalf of such party has the full right, power and 
authority to enter into and execute this Agreement on such Party's behalf and that no consent or approval from any 
other person or entity is necessary as a condition precedent to the legal effect of this Agreement, or, if any such consent 
or approval is required, that all such consents or approvals have been obtained as of the date such Party has executed 
this Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the valid and legally binding obligation of each Party, enforceable against 
such Party in accordance with its terms. 

 
[remainder of page intentionally blank] 

  



 
Page 11 of 17  

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date. 
 
 
 
ATTEST: CITY:  

 
CITY OF ST. PETERSBURG, FLORIDA, a Florida 
municipal corporation 

 
 
   
City Clerk  By:        
 Its:        
 Print name:       
  
 
Approved as to form and content by 
Office of City Attorney: 
 
 
      
00741740  



 
Page 12 of 17  

 
 
 

WITNESSES: 
 
 
 
 
 
  
Signature  
 
Print name:  
 
 
  
Signature  
 
Print name:  
 

DEVELOPER: 
 
____________________________________, a 
____________________________  
 
 
By:    
Its:   
Print name:   

  
 
 
STATE OF __________________ 
COUNTY OF ________________ 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me by means of (check one) [X] physical presence or [  ] 
online notarization, this _____ day of _______, 2024, by ____________________ as _________________________ of 
_____________________________________, a __________________________, who (check one): 
 

 is/are personally known to me, or  
 

 who has/have produced __________________________ as identification. 
 
 
  

(Notary Seal)      Notary Public - (Signature) 
 
  



 
Page 13 of 17  

OWNER ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 
ATTEST: OWNER: 

 
KEN BURKE, CLERK  PINELLAS COUNTY, a political subdivision of the State 

of Florida  
 
 
By:    

Deputy Clerk  By:        
 Its:        
 Print name:       
  
 
Approved as to form and content by 
Office of County Attorney: 
 
 
      
 
 
 



 
Page 14 of 17  

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

Legal Description of Property 
 

Lot 1, Block 1, and Lot 1, Block 2, Suncoast Stadium Replat, as recorded in Plat Book 96, Pages 53 and 54, Public 
Records of Pinellas County, Florida. 
 
Lot 1, Block 1, Lot 1, Block 2, and Lot 1, Block 3, Tropicana Field West Parking Area Replat, as recorded in Plat Book 
121, Pages 55 and 56, Public Records of Pinellas County, Florida. 
 
Lots 1 through 20, inclusive, Block 48, Revised Map of the City of St. Petersburg, as recorded in Plat Book 1, Page 49 
of the Public Records of Hillsborough County, Florida, of which Pinellas County was formerly a part. 
 
Lots 11, 12, 13 and 14, Block 24, of FULLER'S SUBDIVISION, according to plat thereof as recorded in Plat Book 1, 
Page 16, of the Public Records of Pinellas County, Florida. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Pa
ge

 1
5

of
 1

7

E
X

H
IB

IT
 “

A
”

(c
on

tin
ue

d)

B
ou

nd
ar

y 
M

ap
 o

f P
ro

pe
rty

 



 
Page 16 of 17  

EXHIBIT “B” 
 

Target Development Plan  
 

 Residential Units: 5,400 units (excluding Affordable/Workforce Housing Units) 
 Affordable/Workforce Housing Units: 600 units  
 Hotel: 750 keys 
 Class A Office/Medical/Medical Office: 1,400,000 gross square feet 
 Retail, including opportunities for small retail businesses: 750,000 gross square feet (including a 20,000 gross 

square foot grocer) 
 Entertainment: 100,000 gross square feet 
 Civic/Museum Uses: 50,000 gross square feet 
 Conference, Ballroom, and Meeting Space: 90,000 gross square feet 
 Daycare, Childcare, Preschool or similar facility 
 Library and/or incubator space 
 Open Space: 14 acres 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Page 17 of 17  

EXHIBIT “C” 
 

Minimum Development Requirements  
 

 Residential Units: 3,800 Units (excluding Affordable/Workforce Housing Units) 
 Affordable/Workforce Housing Units: 600 units, or as may otherwise be mutually agreed by Developer and 

City 
 Commercial, Office, and Retail Uses; Arts, Recreation, and Entertainment Uses; Education, Public 

Administration, Healthcare, and Institutional Uses: one million (1,000,000) gross square feet, of which at least 
500,000 gross square feet will be Class A Office/Medical/Medical Office, and at least 50,000 gross square feet 
will be Civic/Museum 

 Hotel: 400 Keys 
 Conference, Ballroom, and Meeting Space: 50,000 gross square feet 
 Open Space: 10 acres (i.e., the Initial Open Space as that term is defined in the Redevelopment Agreement) 
 At least one Daycare, Childcare, Preschool or similar facility 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



HGP District Development Agreement 

ATTACHMENT NO. 2 
Roadway Segment Analysis Memo 

May 8, 2024



kimley-horn.com 200 Central Avenue, Suite 600, St. Petersburg, FL 33701 727 547 3999

MEMORANDUM 
To: Hines Historic Gas Plant District Partnership

From: Harrison Forder, P.E., Kimley-Horn and Associates
Jared Schneider, AICP, CNU-A, Kimley-Horn and Associates

Date:  May 8, 2024

RE: Historic Gas Plant District – Roadway Segment Analysis
City of St. Petersburg, Florida

Kimley-Horn is pleased to provide this memorandum summarizing the traffic conditions around the 
proposed Historic Gas Plant District. This memorandum is provided to summarize the results of a 
roadway segment analysis for the proposed mixed-use development. A development agreement 
between the City of St. Petersburg and Hines Historic Gas Plant District Partnership is currently under 
consideration by the City. 

PROJECT OVERVIEW

The Historic Gas Plant District is an 82-acre development generally located east of I-275, north of I-175, 
west of Martin Luther King Jr. Street, and south of 1st Avenue S. The site currently consists of Tropicana 
Field and its associated surface parking lots, which will be demolished as a part of the development. 
Figure 1 shows the location of the project site. 

The detailed master plan for the full development is currently under development. Table 1 on the 
following page summarizes the proposed new development density. The site is expected to be 
developed in phases, with continuations of the street grid across the site (i.e. 2nd Avenue S, 3rd

Avenue S, 15th Street, 13th Street, and 11th Street). Parking for the development is expected to be 
shared between uses and provided in structured parking throughout the site. 



  Hines Historic Gas Plant District Partnership, May 8, 2024, 
Page 2 

K:\STP_TPTO\140058003 Tampa Bay Baseball\001 Parking & Transportation\3 Analysis\Roadway Segement Analysis\Memo\2024-05-08_HGPD Traffic Analysis.docx 

kimley-horn.com 200 Central Avenue, Suite 600, St. Petersburg, FL 33701 727 547 3999 
 

 

Table 1: Proposed Land Uses and Densities 

Land Use Proposed Density Range 

Residential 
5,400 market rate units  

600 affordable housing units 

Hotel 750 rooms 

Conference/Ballroom Space 90,000 SF 

Class A Office/Medical Office 1,400,000 SF 

Retail 750,000 SF 

Entertainment 100,000 SF 

Civic/Museum 50,000 SF 

Stadium Up to 35,000 seats 

Other Uses Library, Incubator, and Preschool/Childcare Space 
 

EXISTING ROADWAY CONDITIONS 

A variety of publicly available data sources were utilized to summarize the existing roadway conditions. 
Annual Average Daily Traffic (AADT) volumes for the various roadway segments were obtained from 
the Forward Pinellas Traffic Count Map (2022). Roadway Functional Classification information was 
obtained from the Florida DOT (FDOT) Functional Classification and Urban Boundary Maps. NearMap 
aerial imagery from 2024 was utilized to determine the existing roadway configuration. Lastly, the 
Downtown St. Petersburg Mobility Study (2022) was researched to identify committed and planned 
roadway improvement projects. 

Major roadways within ¾ miles of the project site were included in the overall study network. This 
network includes connections from the Historic Gas Plant District to downtown St. Petersburg, the 
interstate network, and arterials to other points in Pinellas County. The study network is illustrated in 
Figure 2 and summarized in Table 2.  

  



Site
Location Map

Figure
1

Page 3

Historic Gas Plant District
Roadway Segment Analysis

16
TH

ST
R

EE
T

N

APPROXIMATE
SITE AREA

20
TH

ST
R

EE
T

M
LK

ST
R

EE
T

8TH
ST

R
EE

T

4TH
ST

R
EE

T

3R
D

ST
R

EE
T

5TH AVENUE N

4TH AVENUE N

1ST AVENUE N

CENTRAL AVENUE

1ST AVENUE S

4TH AVENUE S

3RD AVENUE S

2ND AVENUE S

5TH AVENUE S

7TH AVENUE S

9TH AVENUE S

9TH AVENUE N



Study Network
Map

Figure
2

Page 4

Historic Gas Plant District
Roadway Segment Analysis

N

LEGEND

Study Segment – Interstate

Study Segment – Surface Street

Site Boundary

APPROXIMATE
SITE AREA



  Hines Historic Gas Plant District Partnership, May 8, 2024, 
Page 5 

K:\STP_TPTO\140058003 Tampa Bay Baseball\001 Parking & Transportation\3 Analysis\Roadway Segement Analysis\Memo\2024-05-08_HGPD Traffic Analysis.docx 

kimley-horn.com 200 Central Avenue, Suite 600, St. Petersburg, FL 33701 727 547 3999 
 

Table 2 below summarizes the roadway characteristics of the study network, including the functional 
classification, AADT volumes, committed and planned projects, and other notable features.   

 Table 2: Roadway Characteristics 

Roadway Two-Way/ 
One-Way 

Functional 
Classification AADT Notes 

4th Avenue S One-Way WB Major Collector 1,350 Proposed two-way conversion as a part of the 
Historic Gas Plant District 

5th Avenue S 

Two-Way  
(west of 16th St) Major Collector 

2,700 

Planned Lane Reallocation west of 16th Street for 
Separated Bike Lanes  

One-Way EB 
(east of 16th St) Major Collector  

One-Way WB 
(east of 16th St) 

Major Collector Proposed two-way conversion as a part of the 
Historic Gas Plant District 

1st Avenue S One-Way EB Minor Arterial 11,500 One lane reserved for SunRunner BRT 

Central Avenue Two-Way Minor Arterial 6,000  

1st Avenue N One-Way WB Minor Arterial 12,000 One lane reserved for SunRunner BRT 

5th Avenue N Two-Way Minor Arterial 23,000  

20th Street Two-Way Major Collector 4,000  

16th Street Two-Way 

Minor Arterial 
(north of 1st Ave S) 

15,000 Possible Lane Reallocation for Separated Bike 
Lanes (further study required) Major Collector 

(south of 1st Ave S) 

MLK Street One-Way SB Minor Arterial 12,000 
Committed Lane Reallocation between 6th 
Ave S and 5th Ave N for Separated Bike Lanes 

8th Street One-Way NB Minor Arterial 9,600  

4th Street One-Way SB Minor Arterial 13,000  

3rd Street One-Way NB Minor Arterial 11,000  

I-275 Two-Way Interstate 125,500 
Committed FDOT project to construct express 
lanes and improve capacity for general purpose 
lanes (2029) 

I-375 Two-Way Interstate 34,000  

I-175 Two-Way Interstate 41,000  
 

Note: Bolded projects have been included in the capacity analysis. Other projects, such as the planned 
lane reallocations on 5th Avenue N and 16th Street, are currently under evaluation by the City of St. 
Petersburg, and may or may not be included in future plans as additional study is conducted.   

  



Hines Historic Gas Plant District Partnership, May 8, 2024,
Page 6

K:\STP_TPTO\140058003 Tampa Bay Baseball\001 Parking & Transportation\3 Analysis\Roadway Segement Analysis\Memo\2024-05-08_HGPD Traffic Analysis.docx

kimley-horn.com 200 Central Avenue, Suite 600, St. Petersburg, FL 33701 727 547 3999

PROJECT TRAFFIC

Project traffic used in this analysis is defined as the vehicle trips expected to be generated by the build 
out of the Historic Gas Plant District. A trip generation for the site has been prepared based on the 
maximum density considered for the site (from Table 1). Project trip generation for the stadium has 
been excluded from this this analysis as Tropicana Field is a currently operational stadium located 
within the development site. Tropicana Field will be demolished and replaced with the new 35,000 seat 
stadium as a part of the proposed development. The stadium is expected to host Major League Baseball 
games and other special events with peak traffic conditions typical of these events. As is currently the 
case for events held at Tropicana Field and typical for stadium events, specialized event traffic 
management plans will be developed and managed in cooperation with the City of St. Petersburg and 
St. Petersburg Police Department for each event. 

Trip Generation
Traffic for the proposed development was calculated using equations contained in the Institute of 
Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual, Eleventh Edition, 2021. Table 3 summarizes 
the existing and future trip generation of the build-out scenario. Mixed-use reductions and alternative 
mode reductions were taken according to the ITE Trip Generation Handbook, Third Edition, 2014.
Based on the existing alternative mode infrastructure such as the SunRunner, Pinellas Trail, and 
sidewalk network, a 10% alternative mode reduction was assumed. The mixed-use (not including the 
stadium) components of the Historic Gas Plant District is expected to generate a total of 58,248 net 
new daily trips. Pass-by reductions were not taken to present a conservative (higher trip generating) 
analysis.

Table 3: Trip Generation

Land Use Density ITE
Code

Daily Traffic AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour

Enter Exit Enter Exit Enter Exit

Multi-Family Housing (Mid-Rise)1 6,000 units 221 8,790 8,790 235 1,445 1,154 406

Hotel2 750 rooms 310 2,059 2,059 114 119 74 84

General Office Building 1,000,000 SF 710 4,301 4,301 1,067 146 191 932

Medical-Dental Office Building 400,000 SF 820 7,200 7,200 980 260 472 1,100

Shopping Center3 850,000 SF 820 14,029 14,029 394 241 1,265 1,370

Total Gross Trips4 36,379 36,379 2,790 2,211 3,156 3,892

Mixed-Use Reductions -4,019 -4,019 -309 -309 -709 -703

Alternative Mode Reductions -3,236 -3,236 -248 -190 -245 -318

Total Net New Trips 29,124 29,124 2,233 1,712 2,208 2,871
1Includes both market-rate and affordable housing units. 
2The Hotel land use includes conference facilities and ballrooms associated with hotels. 
3Includes both 750,000 SF of retail space as well as 100,000 SF of entertainment space
4Trip Generation for the Museum, Library, and Childcare facilities is minor compared to the other land-uses and is not analyzed separately



Hines Historic Gas Plant District Partnership, May 8, 2024,
Page 7

K:\STP_TPTO\140058003 Tampa Bay Baseball\001 Parking & Transportation\3 Analysis\Roadway Segement Analysis\Memo\2024-05-08_HGPD Traffic Analysis.docx

kimley-horn.com 200 Central Avenue, Suite 600, St. Petersburg, FL 33701 727 547 3999

Trip Distribution and Assignment
The directional distribution and assignment of new project trips was based on a review of land uses in 
the area, population densities in the area, historical traffic patterns, US Census Data, and other data 
sources. The trip distribution for the Historic Gas Plant District is illustrated in Appendix A. Trip 
distribution percentages were then assigned to the roadway network. 

ROADWAY SEGMENT ANALYSIS

A planning level analysis of roadway segment level of service (LOS) was performed in accordance with 
the FDOT Multimodal/Level of Service Handbook (2023). The Handbook establishes LOS thresholds 
based on AADT, incorporating a variety of factors such as area type, facility type, and roadway cross-
section. The LOS thresholds are summarized below in Table 4.

Table 4: FDOT Motor Vehicle Generalized Service Volume Tables

ARTERIALS

Land Use LOS C LOS D LOS E LOS F

2-Lane - 17,600 24,000 >24,000

4-Lane 24,400 36,100 40,800 >40,800

6-Lane 44,700 56,800 60,400 >60,400

8-Lane 52,300 66,900 70,900 >70,900
Adjustments for one-way facilities, non-state facilities, and exclusive turn lanes not included above

FREEWAYS
4-Lane 67,800 84,900 88,800 >88,800

6-Lane 98,400 124,200 131,200 >131,200

8-Lane 129,600 164,700 174,700 >174,700

10-Lane 159,400 207,100 222,200 >222,200

12-Lane 197,200 246,500 272,900 >272,900
Adjustments for auxiliary lanes and ramp metering not included above

Utilizing the thresholds in Table 4 and the applicable adjustment factors, the LOS of each roadway 
segment was calculated based on the Existing 2022 Forward Pinellas AADT volumes. Figure 3
presents the results of the Existing LOS analysis. Using the Trip Generation in Table 3 and the Trip 
Distribution in Appendix A, project trips for the mixed-use development were assigned to the study 
network roadways. These project trips were added to the Existing 2022 AADT volumes. Figure 4 
presents the results of the Existing + Development LOS analysis. The committed Martin Luther King Jr 
Street lane reallocation project was included in the LOS analysis, however other longer-range planned 
projects were excluded from the analysis. Additionally, the proposed two-way conversion of 4th Avenue 
S between 8th Street and 16th Street was included in the LOS analysis. The detailed LOS calculations 
are provided in Appendix B.



Figure3

Pa
ge

 8

Existing
SegmentLOS

N
O

T 
TO

SC
AL

E

LO
S 

F

LE
G

EN
D

LO
S 

C
LO

S 
D

LO
S 

E

HistoricGasPlantDistrict
RoadwaySegmentAnalysis

AP
PR

O
XI

M
AT

E
SI

TE
AR

EA

N
ot

e:
Th

er
e

is
no

vo
lu

m
e

th
re

sh
ol

d
fo

r
LO

S
C

st
an

da
rd

on
a

tw
o-

la
ne

un
di

vi
de

d
ro

ad
w

ay
.

4th
Av

en
ue

S
is

a
lo

w
vo

lu
m

e
ro

ad
w

ay
(2

,7
00

ca
rs

pe
r

da
y)

,a
nd

op
er

at
es

be
tte

rt
ha

n
LO

S
D

.



AP
PR

O
XI

M
AT

E
SI

TE
AR

EA

Figure4

Pa
ge

 9

Existing+
Development
SegmentLOS

N
O

T 
TO

SC
AL

E

HistoricGasPlantDistrict
RoadwaySegmentAnalysis

N
ot

e:
Th

er
e

is
no

vo
lu

m
e

th
re

sh
ol

d
fo

r
LO

S
C

st
an

da
rd

on
a

tw
o-

la
ne

un
di

vi
de

d
ro

ad
w

ay
.

4th
Av

en
ue

S
is

a
lo

w
vo

lu
m

e
ro

ad
w

ay
(2

,7
00

ca
rs

pe
r

da
y)

,a
nd

op
er

at
es

be
tte

rt
ha

n
LO

S
D

.
LO

S 
F

LE
G

EN
D

LO
S 

C
LO

S 
D

LO
S 

E



  Hines Historic Gas Plant District Partnership, May 8, 2024, 
Page 10 

K:\STP_TPTO\140058003 Tampa Bay Baseball\001 Parking & Transportation\3 Analysis\Roadway Segement Analysis\Memo\2024-05-08_HGPD Traffic Analysis.docx 

kimley-horn.com 200 Central Avenue, Suite 600, St. Petersburg, FL 33701 727 547 3999 
 

As shown in Figure 3 the roadways within the study network currently operate at LOS D or better, with 
most roadways operating at LOS C. Martin Luther King Jr Street north of I-375 is shown to currently 
operate at LOS E, based on our analysis. This section of roadway is a hybrid section, with two 
southbound lanes and one northbound lane as well as an on-street cycle facility. For conservative 
purposes, the LOS was calculated based on a two-lane roadway cross-section. The LOS calculation is 
consistent with the existing results of the Downtown St. Petersburg Mobility Study. 

As shown in Figure 4 the roadways within the study network currently operate at LOS D or better after 
the addition of the development traffic, with most roadways operating at LOS C. This shows that there 
is available capacity in the roadway network to accommodate the traffic generated by the Historic Gas 
Plant District. Segments along 16th Street, Matin Luther King Jr Street, 5th Avenue N, 1st Avenue N, 
1st Avenue S, and 4th Avenue S are expected to operate at LOS D with the addition of project traffic 
associated with the Historic Gas Plant District. 4th Avenue S is planned as a part of the development to 
have an additional eastbound lane from the parking facilities on the southwest corner of the site to 
Martin Luther King Jr Street, which will increase capacity for vehicles exiting the site and accessing 
I-175.  

I-275 between I-175 and I-375 currently operates at LOS D, while I-275 north of I-375 currently operates 
at LOS F and has been identified as a source of congestion in the Downtown St. Petersburg Mobility 
Study. FDOT currently has a programmed project to provide additional capacity along I-275 through 
the construction of two (2) express lanes in each direction and other improvements to the general 
purpose lanes. Construction for this project is expected to be funded by 2029 per the Forward Pinellas 
Transportation Improvement Program, which is before much of the Historic Gas Plant District is 
expected to be constructed.  

In addition to the existing conditions analysis, a future analysis has been conducted for a 2040 interim 
year and the 2054 horizon year (30-year build-out period). To account for other growth in the area, a 
0.5% per year background traffic growth rate was applied to the existing 2022 traffic volumes to 
determine the Future 2040 (Figure 5) and Future 2054 (Figure 7) baseline LOS. The growth rate is 
consistent with population and employment forecasts summarized in the StPete2050 Study. Using the 
Trip Generation in Table 3 and the Trip Distribution in Appendix A, project trips for the mixed-use 
development were assigned to the study network roadways. These project trips were added to the 
Existing 2022 AADT volumes. Figure 6 presents the results of the Future 2040 + Development LOS 
analysis, while Figure 8 presents the results of the Future 2054 + Development LOS analysis.  

  



Figure5

Pa
ge

 1
1

Future2040
SegmentLOS

N
O

T 
TO

SC
AL

E

LO
S 

F

LE
G

EN
D

LO
S 

C
LO

S 
D

LO
S 

E

HistoricGasPlantDistrict
RoadwaySegmentAnalysis

AP
PR

O
XI

M
AT

E
SI

TE
AR

EA

N
ot

e:
Th

er
e

is
no

vo
lu

m
e

th
re

sh
ol

d
fo

r
LO

S
C

st
an

da
rd

on
a

tw
o-

la
ne

un
di

vi
de

d
ro

ad
w

ay
.

4th
Av

en
ue

S
is

a
lo

w
vo

lu
m

e
ro

ad
w

ay
(2

,7
00

ca
rs

pe
r

da
y)

,a
nd

op
er

at
es

be
tte

rt
ha

n
LO

S
D

.



AP
PR

O
XI

M
AT

E
SI

TE
AR

EA

Figure6

Pa
ge

 1
2

Future2040+
Development
SegmentLOS

N
O

T 
TO

SC
AL

E

HistoricGasPlantDistrict
RoadwaySegmentAnalysis

N
ot

e:
Th

er
e

is
no

vo
lu

m
e

th
re

sh
ol

d
fo

r
LO

S
C

st
an

da
rd

on
a

tw
o-

la
ne

un
di

vi
de

d
ro

ad
w

ay
.

4th
Av

en
ue

S
is

a
lo

w
vo

lu
m

e
ro

ad
w

ay
(2

,7
00

ca
rs

pe
r

da
y)

,a
nd

op
er

at
es

be
tte

rt
ha

n
LO

S
D

.
LO

S 
F

LE
G

EN
D

LO
S 

C
LO

S 
D

LO
S 

E



Figure7

Pa
ge

 1
3

Future2054
SegmentLOS

N
O

T 
TO

SC
AL

E

LO
S 

F

LE
G

EN
D

LO
S 

C
LO

S 
D

LO
S 

E

HistoricGasPlantDistrict
RoadwaySegmentAnalysis

AP
PR

O
XI

M
AT

E
SI

TE
AR

EA

N
ot

e:
Th

er
e

is
no

vo
lu

m
e

th
re

sh
ol

d
fo

r
LO

S
C

st
an

da
rd

on
a

tw
o-

la
ne

un
di

vi
de

d
ro

ad
w

ay
.

4th
Av

en
ue

S
is

a
lo

w
vo

lu
m

e
ro

ad
w

ay
(2

,7
00

ca
rs

pe
r

da
y)

,a
nd

op
er

at
es

be
tte

rt
ha

n
LO

S
D

.



AP
PR

O
XI

M
AT

E
SI

TE
AR

EA

Figure8

Pa
ge

 1
4

Future2054+
Development
SegmentLOS

N
O

T 
TO

SC
AL

E

HistoricGasPlantDistrict
RoadwaySegmentAnalysis

N
ot

e:
Th

er
e

is
no

vo
lu

m
e

th
re

sh
ol

d
fo

r
LO

S
C

st
an

da
rd

on
a

tw
o-

la
ne

un
di

vi
de

d
ro

ad
w

ay
.

4th
Av

en
ue

S
is

a
lo

w
vo

lu
m

e
ro

ad
w

ay
(2

,7
00

ca
rs

pe
r

da
y)

,a
nd

op
er

at
es

be
tte

rt
ha

n
LO

S
D

.
LO

S 
F

LE
G

EN
D

LO
S 

C
LO

S 
D

LO
S 

E



Hines Historic Gas Plant District Partnership, May 8, 2024,
Page 15

K:\STP_TPTO\140058003 Tampa Bay Baseball\001 Parking & Transportation\3 Analysis\Roadway Segement Analysis\Memo\2024-05-08_HGPD Traffic Analysis.docx

kimley-horn.com 200 Central Avenue, Suite 600, St. Petersburg, FL 33701 727 547 3999

Similarly to the existing conditions, the roadways within the study network are projected to continue to 
operate at LOS D or better, with most roadways operating at LOS C. I-275 and Martin Luther King Jr 
Street north of I-375 is projected to operate at LOS F with continued background traffic growth before 
development traffic is applied. This is consistent with the existing results of the Downtown St. 
Petersburg Mobility Study. As previously noted, the LOS along I-275 does not take into account the 
programmed FDOT project to add managed lanes and improve capacity on I-275, which will be funded 
for construction by 2029.

As shown in Figure 6 and Figure 8, with the addition of development traffic the roadways within the 
study network are projected to continue to operate at LOS D or better. This shows that there will 
continue to be available capacity in the roadway network to accommodate the traffic generated by the 
Historic Gas Plant District. Segments along 20th Street, 16th Street, Matin Luther King Jr Street, 
5th Avenue N, 1st Avenue N, 1st Avenue S, and 4th Avenue S are expected to operate at LOS D with the 
addition of project traffic associated with the Historic Gas Plant District, however, based on this 
analysis no segments are expected to deteriorate to LOS E or worse as a result of the 
development.

CONCLUSION

The Historic Gas Plant District is an 82-acre development generally located east of I-275, north of I-175, 
west of Martin Luther King Jr. Street, and south of 1st Avenue S. The site currently consists of Tropicana 
Field and associated surface parking lots, which will be demolished as a part of the proposed 
development. The Historic Gas Plant District is proposed to consist of 6,000 residential units 
(5,400 market-rate, 600 affordable), 750 hotel rooms, 1,400,000 SF of class A office/medical office, 
750,000 SF of retail space, 100,000 SF of entertainment space, a 35,000 seat stadium, and 
civic/museum, library, and childcare uses. 

A generalized roadway segment LOS analysis was performed using existing traffic volumes from 
Forward Pinellas, consistent with the procedures outlined in the FDOT Multimodal/Level of Service 
Handbook (2023). The analysis, which is consistent with the results of the Downtown St. Petersburg 
Mobility Study, indicate that the roadways in the vicinity of the site currently have available capacity
and are projected to continue to have available capacity to accommodate the additional traffic 
associated with the Historic Gas Plant District. Specific improvements are under consideration to better 
accommodate event traffic operations as well as to enhance the multimodal connectivity of the site, 
however no roadway segment capacity projects have been identified to serve the proposed 
development as a result of this analysis. 

Appendix:
Appendix A – Trip Generation and Trip Distribution
Appendix B – Roadway Segment Analysis Table
Appendix C – Downtown St. Petersburg Mobility Study Results



Historic Gas Plant District │ Roadway Segment Analysis 
May 2024 │ KHA Project #140058003 

A 

 

APPENDIX A 

 

Trip Generation and Trip Distribution 
  



To
ta

l
In

O
ut

To
ta

l
In

O
ut

To
ta

l
In

O
ut

Pr
op

os
ed

 P
ro

je
ct

 T
rip

s
22

1
M

ul
tif

am
ily

 H
ou

si
ng

 (M
id

-R
is

e)
D

en
se

 M
ul

ti-
Us

e 
Ur

ba
n

6,
00

0
dw

el
lin

g 
un

its
17

,5
80

8,
79

0
8,

79
0

1,
68

0
23

5
1,

44
5

1,
56

0
1,

15
4

40
6

31
0

Ho
te

l
D

en
se

 M
ul

ti-
Us

e 
Ur

ba
n

75
0

ro
om

s
4,

11
8

2,
05

9
2,

05
9

23
3

11
4

11
9

15
8

74
84

71
0

G
en

er
al

 O
ffi

ce
 B

ui
ld

in
g

G
en

er
al

 U
rb

an
/S

ub
ur

ba
n

1,
00

0,
00

0
Sq

. F
t. 

G
FA

8,
60

2
4,

30
1

4,
30

1
1,

21
3

1,
06

7
14

6
1,

12
3

19
1

93
2

72
0

M
ed

ic
al

-D
en

ta
l O

ffi
ce

 B
ui

ld
in

g
G

en
er

al
 U

rb
an

/S
ub

ur
ba

n
40

0,
00

0
Sq

. F
t. 

G
FA

14
,4

00
7,

20
0

7,
20

0
1,

24
0

98
0

26
0

1,
57

2
47

2
1,

10
0

82
0 

Sh
op

pi
ng

 C
en

te
r  

(>
15

0k
)

G
en

er
al

 U
rb

an
/S

ub
ur

ba
n

85
0,

00
0

Sq
. F

t. 
G

FA
28

,0
58

14
,0

29
14

,0
29

63
5

39
4

24
1

2,
63

5
1,

26
5

1,
37

0

G
ro

ss
 P

ro
je

ct
 T

rip
s

72
,7

58
36

,3
79

36
,3

79
5,

00
1

2,
79

0
2,

21
1

7,
04

8
3,

15
6

3,
89

2

R
es

id
en

tia
l T

rip
s

17
,5

80
8,

79
0

8,
79

0
1,

68
0

23
5

1,
44

5
1,

56
0

1,
15

4
40

6
M

ix
ed

-U
se

 R
ed

uc
tio

ns
-2

,4
60

-1
,2

30
-1

,2
30

-4
8

-5
-4

3
-5

49
-3

97
-1

52
Al

te
rn

at
iv

e 
M

od
e 

R
ed

uc
tio

ns
-1

,5
12

-7
56

-7
56

-1
63

-2
3

-1
40

-1
01

-7
6

-2
5

Ad
ju

st
ed

 R
es

id
en

tia
l T

rip
s

13
,6

08
6,

80
4

6,
80

4
1,

46
9

20
7

1,
26

2
91

0
68

1
22

9

Ho
te

l T
rip

s
4,

11
8

2,
05

9
2,

05
9

23
3

11
4

11
9

15
8

74
84

M
ix

ed
-U

se
 R

ed
uc

tio
ns

-5
7 6

-2
88

-2
88

-7
7

0
-7

7
-3

5
-2

2
-1

3
Al

te
rn

at
iv

e 
M

od
e 

R
ed

uc
tio

ns
-3

54
-1

77
-1

77
-1

6
-1

1
-4

-1
2

-5
-7

Ad
ju

st
ed

 H
ot

el
 T

rip
s

3,
18

8
1,

59
4

1,
59

4
14

0
10

3
38

11
1

47
64

O
ffi

ce
 T

rip
s

23
,0

02
11

,5
01

11
,5

01
2,

45
3

2,
04

7
40

6
2,

69
5

66
3

2,
03

2
M

ix
ed

-U
se

 R
ed

uc
tio

ns
-1

,2
1 2

-6
06

-6
06

-2
74

-1
60

-1
14

-1
85

-4
3

-1
42

Al
te

rn
at

iv
e 

M
od

e 
R

ed
uc

tio
ns

-2
,1

80
-1

,0
90

-1
,0

90
-2

18
-1

89
-2

9
-2

51
-6

2
-1

89
Ad

ju
st

ed
 O

ffi
ce

 T
rip

s
19

,6
10

9,
80

5
9,

80
5

1,
96

1
1,

69
8

26
3

2,
25

9
55

8
1,

70
1

R
et

ai
l T

rip
s

28
,0

58
14

,0
29

14
,0

29
63

5
39

4
24

1
2,

63
5

1,
26

5
1,

37
0

M
ix

ed
-U

se
 R

ed
uc

tio
ns

-3
,7

9 0
-1

,8
95

-1
,8

95
-2

19
-1

44
-7

5
-6

37
-2

41
-3

96
Al

te
rn

at
iv

e 
M

od
e 

R
ed

uc
tio

ns
-2

,4
26

-1
,2

13
-1

,2
13

-4
2

-2
5

-1
7

-2
00

-1
02

-9
7

Pa
ss

 B
y 

R
ed

uc
tio

ns
 (B

as
ed

 o
n 

IT
E 

R
at

es
)

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
Ad

ju
st

ed
 R

et
ai

l T
rip

s
21

,8
42

10
,9

21
10

,9
21

37
4

22
5

14
9

1,
79

8
92

2
87

7

M
ix

ed
-U

se
 R

ed
uc

tio
ns

 - 
TO

TA
L

-8
,0

38
-4

,0
19

-4
,0

19
-6

18
-3

09
-3

09
-1

,4
06

-7
03

-7
03

Al
te

rn
at

iv
e 

M
od

e 
R

ed
uc

tio
ns

 - 
TO

TA
L

-6
,4

72
-3

,2
36

-3
,2

36
-4

39
-2

48
-1

90
-5

64
-2

45
-3

18
Pa

ss
-B

y 
R

ed
uc

tio
ns

 - 
TO

TA
L

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0

Ne
w

 T
rip

s
58

,2
48

29
,1

24
29

,1
24

3,
94

4
2,

23
3

1,
71

2
5,

07
8

2,
20

8
2,

87
1

Dr
iv

ew
ay

 V
ol

um
es

Tr
ip

 G
en

er
at

io
n 

An
al

ys
is

 (1
1t

h 
Ed

. W
ith

2n
d 

Ed
iti

on
 H

an
db

oo
k

D
ai

ly 
IC

 &
3r

d 
Ed

iti
on

 A
M

/P
M

 IC
)

Hi
st

or
ic

 G
as

 P
la

nt
 D

is
tri

ct
St

. P
et

er
sb

ur
g,

 F
L

Se
tti

ng
AM

 P
ea

k 
Ho

ur
La

nd
 U

se
D

en
si

ty
PM

 P
ea

k 
Ho

ur
D

ai
l y 

Tr
ip

s



Trip
Distribution

Appendix
A

Historic Gas Plant District
Roadway Segment Analysis

N

LEGEND

Trip Distribution Percentage
Site Boundary

APPROXIMATE
SITE AREA

37% 10% 3% 10%

4%

5%

1%

20%

5% 5%

X%

Trip Distribution to Downtown
St. Petersburg expected to
be capture in Alternative
Mode reduction based on the
multimodal facilities in the
area.



Historic Gas Plant District │ Roadway Segment Analysis 
May 2024 │ KHA Project #140058003 

B 

 

APPENDIX B  

 

Roadway Segment Analysis Table 
  



Se
gm

en
t

Fr
om

:
To

:
# 

of
 La

ne
s

1 
W

ay
/2

 W
ay

Di
re

ct
io

n
Ex

ist
in

g 
Vo

lu
m

es
Ex

ist
in

g 
LO

S

M
ix

ed
-U

se
Vo

lu
m

e
(T

ot
al

)
M

ix
ed

-U
se

 V
ol

um
e

(D
ist

rib
ut

ed
)

%
 M

ix
ed

-U
se

 E
nt

er
in

g
%

 M
ix

ed
-U

se
 E

xi
tin

g
To

ta
l

Vo
lu

m
e

Ex
ist

in
g 

+
De

ve
lo

pm
en

t L
O

S

O
ne

-W
ay

Ad
ju

st
m

e
nt

Tu
rn

 La
ne

Ad
ju

st
m

e
nt

No
n-

St
at

e
Ad

ju
st

m
e

nt
LO

S 
C

Ca
pa

ci
ty

LO
S 

D
Ca

pa
ci

ty
LO

S 
E

Ca
pa

ci
ty

Ex
ist

in
g 

+
De

ve
lo

pm
en

t v
/c

4t
h 

Av
e 

S
3r

d 
St

 S
8t

h 
St

 S
2

1-
W

ay
W

B
1,

35
0

C
58

,2
48

1,
45

6
5%

0%
2,

80
6

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

14
8t

h 
St

 S
Dr

 M
LK

 S
t S

2
1-

W
ay

1,
35

0
C

58
,2

48
7,

28
1

25
%

0%
8,

63
1

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

42
Dr

 M
LK

 S
t S

10
th

 S
t S

3
2-

W
ay

1,
35

0
C

58
,2

48
14

,5
62

30
%

20
%

15
,9

12
D

1
1.

05
0.

9
12

,3
32

24
,6

65
30

,6
18

0.
65

10
th

 S
t S

SI
TE

3
2-

W
ay

1,
35

0
C

58
,2

48
14

,5
62

30
%

20
%

15
,9

12
D

1
1.

05
0.

9
12

,3
32

24
,6

65
30

,6
18

0.
65

5t
h 

Av
e 

S 
(W

B)
SI

TE
16

th
 S

t S
2

2-
W

ay
1,

35
0

D
58

,2
48

2,
91

2
6%

4%
4,

26
2

D
1

0.
8

0.
9

0
10

,0
08

15
,6

96
0.

43
16

th
 S

t S
20

th
 S

t S
2

2-
W

ay
1,

35
0

D
58

,2
48

2,
91

2
6%

4%
4,

26
2

D
1

0.
8

0.
9

0
10

,0
08

15
,6

96
0.

43
20

th
 S

t S
28

th
 S

t S
4

2-
W

ay
2,

70
0

C
58

,2
48

58
2

1%
1%

3,
28

2
C

1
0.

75
0.

9
17

,6
18

25
,8

53
29

,0
25

0.
13

5t
h 

Av
e 

S 
(E

B)
16

th
 S

t S
I-1

75
 E

B
2

1-
W

ay
EB

1,
35

0
C

58
,2

48
0

0%
0%

1,
35

0
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
14

,0
94

20
,6

82
23

,2
20

0.
07

I-1
75

 E
B

Dr
. M

LK
 S

t S
3

1-
W

ay
EB

1,
35

0
C

58
,2

48
8,

73
7

30
%

0%
10

,0
87

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

15
,3

36
29

,1
06

33
,9

12
0.

35
Dr

. M
LK

 S
t S

8t
h 

St
 S

3
1-

W
ay

EB
1,

35
0

C
58

,2
48

8,
73

7
30

%
0%

10
,0

87
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
15

,3
36

29
,1

06
33

,9
12

0.
35

1s
t A

ve
 S

28
th

 S
t S

20
th

 S
t S

2
1-

W
ay

EB
11

,5
00

C
58

,2
48

1,
45

6
5%

0%
12

,9
56

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

63
20

th
 S

t S
16

th
 S

t S
2

1-
W

ay
EB

11
,5

00
C

58
,2

48
2,

91
2

10
%

0%
14

,4
12

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

70
16

th
 S

t S
SI

TE
2

1-
W

ay
EB

11
,5

00
C

58
,2

48
3,

49
5

12
%

0%
14

,9
95

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

73
SI

TE
Dr

 M
LK

 S
t S

3
1-

W
ay

EB
11

,5
00

C
58

,2
48

11
,6

50
0%

40
%

23
,1

50
D

0.
6

1
0.

9
15

,3
36

29
,1

06
33

,9
12

0.
80

Dr
 M

LK
 S

t S
8t

h 
St

 S
2

1-
W

ay
EB

11
,5

00
C

58
,2

48
5,

82
5

0%
20

%
17

,3
25

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

84
8t

h 
St

 S
3r

d 
St

 S
2

1-
W

ay
EB

11
,5

00
C

58
,2

48
1,

45
6

0%
5%

12
,9

56
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
14

,0
94

20
,6

82
23

,2
20

0.
63

Ce
nt

ra
l A

ve
 N

4t
h 

St
 S

23
rd

 S
t N

2
2-

W
ay

6,
00

0
D

58
,2

48
58

2
1%

1%
6,

58
2

D
1

1
0.

9
0

12
,5

10
19

,6
20

0.
53

1s
t A

ve
 N

3r
d 

St
 N

4t
h 

St
 N

2
1-

W
ay

W
B

12
,0

00
C

58
,2

48
1,

45
6

5%
0%

13
,4

56
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
14

,0
94

20
,6

82
23

,2
20

0.
65

4t
h 

St
 N

8t
h 

St
 N

2
1-

W
ay

W
B

12
,0

00
C

58
,2

48
1,

45
6

5%
0%

13
,4

56
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
14

,0
94

20
,6

82
23

,2
20

0.
65

8t
h 

St
 N

Dr
 M

LK
 S

t N
2

1-
W

ay
W

B
12

,0
00

C
58

,2
48

1,
45

6
5%

0%
13

,4
56

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

65
Dr

 M
LK

 S
t N

11
th

 S
t N

2
1-

W
ay

W
B

12
,0

00
C

58
,2

48
2,

91
2

10
%

0%
14

,9
12

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

72
11

th
 S

t N
16

th
 S

t N
2

1-
W

ay
W

B
12

,0
00

C
58

,2
48

2,
03

9
0%

7%
14

,0
39

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

68
16

th
 S

t N
20

th
 S

t N
2

1-
W

ay
W

B
12

,0
00

C
58

,2
48

2,
03

9
0%

7%
14

,0
39

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

68
20

th
 S

t N
28

th
 S

t N
2

1-
W

ay
W

B
12

,0
00

C
58

,2
48

1,
45

6
0%

5%
13

,4
56

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

65
4t

h 
Av

e 
N

20
th

 S
t N

16
th

 S
t N

4
2-

W
ay

23
,0

00
C

58
,2

48
5,

24
2

9%
9%

28
,2

42
D

1
1

0.
9

23
,4

90
34

,4
70

38
,7

00
0.

82
20

th
 S

t N
/S

5t
h 

Av
e 

S
1s

t A
ve

 S
2

2-
W

ay
4,

00
0

D
58

,2
48

2,
33

0
5%

3%
6,

33
0

D
1

0.
75

0.
9

0
9,

38
3

14
,7

15
0.

67
1s

t A
ve

 S
1s

t A
ve

 N
2

2-
W

ay
4,

00
0

D
58

,2
48

3,
78

6
10

%
3%

7,
78

6
D

1
0.

75
0.

9
0

9,
38

3
14

,7
15

0.
83

1s
t A

ve
 N

I-2
75

/5
th

 A
ve

 N
4

2-
W

ay
4,

00
0

C
58

,2
48

4,
36

9
10

%
5%

8,
36

9
C

1
0.

75
0.

9
17

,6
18

25
,8

53
29

,0
25

0.
32

16
th

 S
t N

/S
9t

h 
Av

e 
N

4t
h 

Av
e 

N
4

2-
W

ay
15

,0
00

C
58

,2
48

5,
82

5
10

%
10

%
20

,8
25

C
1

0.
95

0.
9

22
,3

16
32

,7
47

36
,7

65
0.

64
4t

h 
Av

e 
N

1s
t A

ve
 N

4
2-

W
ay

15
,0

00
C

58
,2

48
11

,0
67

19
%

19
%

26
,0

67
D

1
0.

95
0.

9
22

,3
16

32
,7

47
36

,7
65

0.
80

1s
t A

ve
 N

1s
t A

ve
 S

4
2-

W
ay

15
,0

00
C

58
,2

48
11

,0
67

19
%

19
%

26
,0

67
D

1
0.

95
0.

9
22

,3
16

32
,7

47
36

,7
65

0.
80

1s
t A

ve
 S

SI
TE

4
2-

W
ay

15
,0

00
C

58
,2

48
11

,0
67

19
%

19
%

26
,0

67
D

1
0.

95
0.

9
22

,3
16

32
,7

47
36

,7
65

0.
80

SI
TE

5t
h 

Av
e 

S
4

2-
W

ay
15

,0
00

C
58

,2
48

2,
91

2
5%

5%
17

,9
12

C
1

0.
95

0.
9

22
,3

16
32

,7
47

36
,7

65
0.

55
5t

h 
Av

e 
S

7t
h 

Av
e 

S
4

2-
W

ay
15

,0
00

C
58

,2
48

2,
91

2
5%

5%
17

,9
12

C
1

0.
95

0.
9

22
,3

16
32

,7
47

36
,7

65
0.

55
Dr

 M
LK

 Jr
 S

t N
/S

9t
h 

Av
e 

N
4t

h 
Av

e 
N 

(3
75

 E
B)

2
2-

W
ay

17
,0

00
E

58
,2

48
87

4
3%

0%
17

,8
74

E
1

1
0.

9
0

12
,5

10
19

,6
20

1.
43

4t
h 

Av
e 

N 
(3

75
 E

B)
1s

t A
ve

 N
3

1-
W

ay
SB

12
,0

00
C

58
,2

48
4,

36
9

15
%

0%
16

,3
69

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

15
,3

36
29

,1
06

33
,9

12
0.

56
1s

t A
ve

 N
1s

t A
ve

 S
3

1-
W

ay
SB

12
,0

00
C

58
,2

48
2,

91
2

10
%

0%
14

,9
12

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

15
,3

36
29

,1
06

33
,9

12
0.

51
1s

t A
ve

 S
3r

d 
Av

e 
S

3
1-

W
ay

SB
7,

90
0

C
58

,2
48

8,
73

7
10

%
20

%
16

,6
37

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

15
,3

36
29

,1
06

33
,9

12
0.

57
3r

d 
Av

e 
S

4t
h 

Av
e 

S
3

1-
W

ay
SB

7,
90

0
C

58
,2

48
7,

28
1

5%
20

%
15

,1
81

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

15
,3

36
29

,1
06

33
,9

12
0.

52
4t

h 
Av

e 
S

I-1
75

 W
B

3
1-

W
ay

SB
7,

90
0

C
58

,2
48

11
,6

50
0%

40
%

19
,5

50
D

0.
6

1
0.

9
15

,3
36

29
,1

06
33

,9
12

0.
67

I-1
75

 W
B

7t
h 

Av
e 

S
3

1-
W

ay
SB

7,
90

0
C

58
,2

48
1,

45
6

0%
5%

9,
35

6
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
15

,3
36

29
,1

06
33

,9
12

0.
32

8t
h 

St
 N

/S
7t

h 
Av

e 
S

5t
h 

Av
e 

S 
(1

75
 E

B)
4

1-
W

ay
NB

9,
60

0
C

58
,2

48
1,

45
6

5%
0%

11
,0

56
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
28

5t
h 

Av
e 

S 
(1

75
 E

B)
4t

h 
Av

e 
S

4
1-

W
ay

NB
9,

60
0

C
58

,2
48

10
,1

93
35

%
0%

19
,7

93
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
51

4t
h 

Av
e 

S
3r

d 
Av

e 
S

4
1-

W
ay

NB
9,

60
0

C
58

,2
48

4,
36

9
15

%
0%

13
,9

69
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
36

3r
d 

Av
e 

S
1s

t A
ve

 S
4

1-
W

ay
NB

9,
60

0
C

58
,2

48
1,

45
6

0%
5%

11
,0

56
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
28

1s
t A

ve
 S

5t
h 

Av
e 

N 
(3

75
 W

B)
3

1-
W

ay
NB

9,
60

0
C

58
,2

48
5,

82
5

0%
20

%
15

,4
25

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

15
,3

36
29

,1
06

33
,9

12
0.

53
4t

h 
St

 N
/S

9t
h 

Av
e 

N
4t

h 
Av

e 
N

4
1-

W
ay

SB
13

,0
00

C
58

,2
48

2,
91

2
10

%
0%

15
,9

12
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
41

4t
h 

Av
e 

N
1s

t A
ve

 N
4

1-
W

ay
SB

13
,0

00
C

58
,2

48
2,

91
2

10
%

0%
15

,9
12

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

31
,7

52
38

,8
26

39
,7

44
0.

41
1s

t A
ve

 N
1s

t A
ve

 S
4

1-
W

ay
SB

13
,0

00
C

58
,2

48
1,

45
6

5%
0%

14
,4

56
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
37

1s
t A

ve
 S

4t
h 

Av
e 

S
4

1-
W

ay
SB

13
,0

00
C

58
,2

48
1,

45
6

5%
0%

14
,4

56
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
37

3r
d 

St
 N

/S
4t

h 
Av

e 
S

1s
t A

ve
 S

4
1-

W
ay

NB
11

,0
00

C
58

,2
48

1,
45

6
0%

5%
12

,4
56

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

31
,7

52
38

,8
26

39
,7

44
0.

32
1s

t A
ve

 S
1s

t A
ve

 N
4

1-
W

ay
NB

11
,0

00
C

58
,2

48
2,

91
2

0%
10

%
13

,9
12

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

31
,7

52
38

,8
26

39
,7

44
0.

36
1s

t A
ve

 N
4t

h 
Av

e 
N

4
1-

W
ay

NB
11

,0
00

C
58

,2
48

2,
91

2
0%

10
%

13
,9

12
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
36

4t
h 

Av
e 

N
9t

h 
Av

e 
N

4
1-

W
ay

NB
11

,0
00

C
58

,2
48

2,
91

2
0%

10
%

13
,9

12
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
36

I-2
75

22
nd

 A
ve

 N
I-3

75
8

2-
W

ay
15

8,
50

0
F

58
,2

48
21

,5
52

37
%

37
%

18
0,

05
2

F
11

8,
40

0
14

4,
20

0
15

1,
20

0
1.

19
I-3

75
I-1

75
7

2-
W

ay
12

5,
50

0
D

58
,2

48
7,

28
1

10
%

15
%

13
2,

78
1

D
10

8,
40

0
13

4,
20

0
14

1,
20

0
0.

94
I-3

75
I-2

75
Dr

 M
LK

 Jr
 S

t N
6

2-
W

ay
34

,0
00

C
58

,2
48

6,
99

0
12

%
12

%
40

,9
90

C
98

,4
00

12
4,

20
0

13
1,

20
0

0.
31

I-1
75

I-2
75

Dr
 M

LK
 Jr

 S
t S

8
2-

W
ay

41
,0

00
C

58
,2

48
17

,4
74

30
%

30
%

58
,4

74
C

11
8,

40
0

14
4,

20
0

15
1,

20
0

0.
39

Ex
ist

in
g 

Se
gm

en
t A

na
ly

sis



Se
gm

en
t

Fr
om

:
To

:
# 

of
 La

ne
s

1 
W

ay
/2

 W
ay

Di
re

ct
io

n
Ex

ist
in

g 
Vo

lu
m

es
Gr

ow
th

 F
ac

to
r

Fu
tu

re
 2

04
0

Vo
lu

m
es

Fu
tu

re
 2

04
0

LO
S

M
ix

ed
-U

se
Vo

lu
m

e
(T

ot
al

)
M

ix
ed

-U
se

 V
ol

um
e

(D
ist

rib
ut

ed
)

%
 M

ix
ed

-U
se

 E
nt

er
in

g
%

 M
ix

ed
-U

se
 E

xi
tin

g
To

ta
l

Vo
lu

m
e

Fu
tu

re
 +

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t L

O
S

O
ne

-W
ay

Ad
ju

st
m

e
nt

Tu
rn

 La
ne

Ad
ju

st
m

e
nt

No
n-

St
at

e
Ad

ju
st

m
e

nt
LO

S 
C

Ca
pa

ci
ty

LO
S 

D
Ca

pa
ci

ty
LO

S 
E

Ca
pa

ci
ty

Ex
is

tin
g 

+
De

ve
lo

pm
en

t v
/c

4t
h 

Av
e 

S
3r

d 
St

 S
8t

h 
St

 S
2

1-
W

ay
W

B
1,

35
0

1.
09

4
1,

47
7

C
58

,2
48

1,
45

6
5%

0%
2,

93
3

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

14
8t

h 
St

 S
Dr

 M
LK

 S
t S

2
1-

W
ay

1,
35

0
1.

09
4

1,
47

7
C

58
,2

48
7,

28
1

25
%

0%
8,

75
8

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

42
Dr

 M
LK

 S
t S

10
th

 S
t S

3
2-

W
ay

1,
35

0
1.

09
4

1,
47

7
C

58
,2

48
14

,5
62

30
%

20
%

16
,0

39
D

1
1.

05
0.

9
12

,3
32

24
,6

65
30

,6
18

0.
65

10
th

 S
t S

SI
TE

3
2-

W
ay

1,
35

0
1.

09
4

1,
47

7
C

58
,2

48
14

,5
62

30
%

20
%

16
,0

39
D

1
1.

05
0.

9
12

,3
32

24
,6

65
30

,6
18

0.
65

5t
h 

Av
e 

S 
(W

B)
SI

TE
16

th
 S

t S
2

2-
W

ay
1,

35
0

1.
09

4
1,

47
7

D
58

,2
48

2,
91

2
6%

4%
4,

38
9

D
1

0.
8

0.
9

0
10

,0
08

15
,6

96
0.

44
16

th
 S

t S
20

th
 S

t S
2

2-
W

ay
1,

35
0

1.
09

4
1,

47
7

D
58

,2
48

2,
91

2
6%

4%
4,

38
9

D
1

0.
8

0.
9

0
10

,0
08

15
,6

96
0.

44
20

th
 S

t S
28

th
 S

t S
4

2-
W

ay
2,

70
0

1.
09

4
2,

95
4

C
58

,2
48

58
2

1%
1%

3,
53

6
C

1
0.

75
0.

9
17

,6
18

25
,8

53
29

,0
25

0.
14

5t
h 

Av
e 

S 
(E

B)
16

th
 S

t S
I-1

75
 E

B
2

1-
W

ay
EB

1,
35

0
1.

09
4

1,
47

7
C

58
,2

48
0

0%
0%

1,
47

7
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
14

,0
94

20
,6

82
23

,2
20

0.
07

I-1
75

 E
B

Dr
. M

LK
 S

t S
3

1-
W

ay
EB

1,
35

0
1.

09
4

1,
47

7
C

58
,2

48
8,

73
7

30
%

0%
10

,2
14

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

15
,3

36
29

,1
06

33
,9

12
0.

35
Dr

. M
LK

 S
t S

8t
h 

St
 S

3
1-

W
ay

EB
1,

35
0

1.
09

4
1,

47
7

C
58

,2
48

8,
73

7
30

%
0%

10
,2

14
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
15

,3
36

29
,1

06
33

,9
12

0.
35

1s
t A

ve
 S

28
th

 S
t S

20
th

 S
t S

2
1-

W
ay

EB
11

,5
00

1.
09

4
12

,5
80

C
58

,2
48

1,
45

6
5%

0%
14

,0
36

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

68
20

th
 S

t S
16

th
 S

t S
2

1-
W

ay
EB

11
,5

00
1.

09
4

12
,5

80
C

58
,2

48
2,

91
2

10
%

0%
15

,4
92

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

75
16

th
 S

t S
SI

TE
2

1-
W

ay
EB

11
,5

00
1.

09
4

12
,5

80
C

58
,2

48
3,

49
5

12
%

0%
16

,0
75

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

78
SI

TE
Dr

 M
LK

 S
t S

3
1-

W
ay

EB
11

,5
00

1.
09

4
12

,5
80

C
58

,2
48

11
,6

50
0%

40
%

24
,2

30
D

0.
6

1
0.

9
15

,3
36

29
,1

06
33

,9
12

0.
83

Dr
 M

LK
 S

t S
8t

h 
St

 S
2

1-
W

ay
EB

11
,5

00
1.

09
4

12
,5

80
C

58
,2

48
5,

82
5

0%
20

%
18

,4
05

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

89
8t

h 
St

 S
3r

d 
St

 S
2

1-
W

ay
EB

11
,5

00
1.

09
4

12
,5

80
C

58
,2

48
1,

45
6

0%
5%

14
,0

36
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
14

,0
94

20
,6

82
23

,2
20

0.
68

Ce
nt

ra
l A

ve
 N

4t
h 

St
 S

23
rd

 S
t N

2
2-

W
ay

6,
00

0
1.

09
4

6,
56

4
D

58
,2

48
58

2
1%

1%
7,

14
6

D
1

1
0.

9
0

12
,5

10
19

,6
20

0.
57

1s
t A

ve
 N

3r
d 

St
 N

4t
h 

St
 N

2
1-

W
ay

W
B

12
,0

00
1.

09
4

13
,1

27
C

58
,2

48
1,

45
6

5%
0%

14
,5

83
D

0.
6

1
0.

9
14

,0
94

20
,6

82
23

,2
20

0.
71

4t
h 

St
 N

8t
h 

St
 N

2
1-

W
ay

W
B

12
,0

00
1.

09
4

13
,1

27
C

58
,2

48
1,

45
6

5%
0%

14
,5

83
D

0.
6

1
0.

9
14

,0
94

20
,6

82
23

,2
20

0.
71

8t
h 

St
 N

Dr
 M

LK
 S

t N
2

1-
W

ay
W

B
12

,0
00

1.
09

4
13

,1
27

C
58

,2
48

1,
45

6
5%

0%
14

,5
83

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

71
Dr

 M
LK

 S
t N

11
th

 S
t N

2
1-

W
ay

W
B

12
,0

00
1.

09
4

13
,1

27
C

58
,2

48
2,

91
2

10
%

0%
16

,0
39

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

78
11

th
 S

t N
16

th
 S

t N
2

1-
W

ay
W

B
12

,0
00

1.
09

4
13

,1
27

C
58

,2
48

2,
03

9
0%

7%
15

,1
66

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

73
16

th
 S

t N
20

th
 S

t N
2

1-
W

ay
W

B
12

,0
00

1.
09

4
13

,1
27

C
58

,2
48

2,
03

9
0%

7%
15

,1
66

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

73
20

th
 S

t N
28

th
 S

t N
2

1-
W

ay
W

B
12

,0
00

1.
09

4
13

,1
27

C
58

,2
48

1,
45

6
0%

5%
14

,5
83

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

71
4t

h 
Av

e 
N

20
th

 S
t N

16
th

 S
t N

4
2-

W
ay

23
,0

00
1.

09
4

25
,1

60
D

58
,2

48
5,

24
2

9%
9%

30
,4

02
D

1
1

0.
9

23
,4

90
34

,4
70

38
,7

00
0.

88
20

th
 S

t N
/S

5t
h 

Av
e 

S
1s

t A
ve

 S
2

2-
W

ay
4,

00
0

1.
09

4
4,

37
6

D
58

,2
48

2,
33

0
5%

3%
6,

70
6

D
1

0.
75

0.
9

0
9,

38
3

14
,7

15
0.

71
1s

t A
ve

 S
1s

t A
ve

 N
2

2-
W

ay
4,

00
0

1.
09

4
4,

37
6

D
58

,2
48

3,
78

6
10

%
3%

8,
16

2
D

1
0.

75
0.

9
0

9,
38

3
14

,7
15

0.
87

1s
t A

ve
 N

I-2
75

/5
th

 A
ve

 N
4

2-
W

ay
4,

00
0

1.
09

4
4,

37
6

C
58

,2
48

4,
36

9
10

%
5%

8,
74

5
C

1
0.

75
0.

9
17

,6
18

25
,8

53
29

,0
25

0.
34

16
th

 S
t N

/S
9t

h 
Av

e 
N

4t
h 

Av
e 

N
4

2-
W

ay
15

,0
00

1.
09

4
16

,4
09

C
58

,2
48

5,
82

5
10

%
10

%
22

,2
34

C
1

0.
95

0.
9

22
,3

16
32

,7
47

36
,7

65
0.

68
4t

h 
Av

e 
N

1s
t A

ve
 N

4
2-

W
ay

15
,0

00
1.

09
4

16
,4

09
C

58
,2

48
11

,0
67

19
%

19
%

27
,4

76
D

1
0.

95
0.

9
22

,3
16

32
,7

47
36

,7
65

0.
84

1s
t A

ve
 N

1s
t A

ve
 S

4
2-

W
ay

15
,0

00
1.

09
4

16
,4

09
C

58
,2

48
11

,0
67

19
%

19
%

27
,4

76
D

1
0.

95
0.

9
22

,3
16

32
,7

47
36

,7
65

0.
84

1s
t A

ve
 S

SI
TE

4
2-

W
ay

15
,0

00
1.

09
4

16
,4

09
C

58
,2

48
11

,0
67

19
%

19
%

27
,4

76
D

1
0.

95
0.

9
22

,3
16

32
,7

47
36

,7
65

0.
84

SI
TE

5t
h 

Av
e 

S
4

2-
W

ay
15

,0
00

1.
09

4
16

,4
09

C
58

,2
48

2,
91

2
5%

5%
19

,3
21

C
1

0.
95

0.
9

22
,3

16
32

,7
47

36
,7

65
0.

59
5t

h 
Av

e 
S

7t
h 

Av
e 

S
4

2-
W

ay
15

,0
00

1.
09

4
16

,4
09

C
58

,2
48

2,
91

2
5%

5%
19

,3
21

C
1

0.
95

0.
9

22
,3

16
32

,7
47

36
,7

65
0.

59
Dr

 M
LK

 Jr
 S

t N
/S

9t
h 

Av
e 

N
4t

h 
Av

e 
N 

(3
75

 E
B)

2
2-

W
ay

17
,0

00
1.

09
4

18
,5

97
E

58
,2

48
87

4
3%

0%
19

,4
71

E
1

1
0.

9
0

12
,5

10
19

,6
20

1.
56

4t
h 

Av
e 

N 
(3

75
 E

B)
1s

t A
ve

 N
3

1-
W

ay
SB

12
,0

00
1.

09
4

13
,1

27
C

58
,2

48
4,

36
9

15
%

0%
17

,4
96

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

15
,3

36
29

,1
06

33
,9

12
0.

60
1s

t A
ve

 N
1s

t A
ve

 S
3

1-
W

ay
SB

12
,0

00
1.

09
4

13
,1

27
C

58
,2

48
2,

91
2

10
%

0%
16

,0
39

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

15
,3

36
29

,1
06

33
,9

12
0.

55
1s

t A
ve

 S
3r

d 
Av

e 
S

3
1-

W
ay

SB
7,

90
0

1.
09

4
8,

64
2

C
58

,2
48

8,
73

7
10

%
20

%
17

,3
79

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

15
,3

36
29

,1
06

33
,9

12
0.

60
3r

d 
Av

e 
S

4t
h 

Av
e 

S
3

1-
W

ay
SB

7,
90

0
1.

09
4

8,
64

2
C

58
,2

48
7,

28
1

5%
20

%
15

,9
23

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

15
,3

36
29

,1
06

33
,9

12
0.

55
4t

h 
Av

e 
S

I-1
75

 W
B

3
1-

W
ay

SB
7,

90
0

1.
09

4
8,

64
2

C
58

,2
48

11
,6

50
0%

40
%

20
,2

92
D

0.
6

1
0.

9
15

,3
36

29
,1

06
33

,9
12

0.
70

I-1
75

 W
B

7t
h 

Av
e 

S
3

1-
W

ay
SB

7,
90

0
1.

09
4

8,
64

2
C

58
,2

48
1,

45
6

0%
5%

10
,0

98
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
15

,3
36

29
,1

06
33

,9
12

0.
35

8t
h 

St
 N

/S
7t

h 
Av

e 
S

5t
h 

Av
e 

S 
(1

75
 E

B)
4

1-
W

ay
NB

9,
60

0
1.

09
4

10
,5

02
C

58
,2

48
1,

45
6

5%
0%

11
,9

58
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
31

5t
h 

Av
e 

S 
(1

75
 E

B)
4t

h 
Av

e 
S

4
1-

W
ay

NB
9,

60
0

1.
09

4
10

,5
02

C
58

,2
48

10
,1

93
35

%
0%

20
,6

95
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
53

4t
h 

Av
e 

S
3r

d 
Av

e 
S

4
1-

W
ay

NB
9,

60
0

1.
09

4
10

,5
02

C
58

,2
48

4,
36

9
15

%
0%

14
,8

71
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
38

3r
d 

Av
e 

S
1s

t A
ve

 S
4

1-
W

ay
NB

9,
60

0
1.

09
4

10
,5

02
C

58
,2

48
1,

45
6

0%
5%

11
,9

58
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
31

1s
t A

ve
 S

5t
h 

Av
e 

N 
(3

75
 W

B)
3

1-
W

ay
NB

9,
60

0
1.

09
4

10
,5

02
C

58
,2

48
5,

82
5

0%
20

%
16

,3
27

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

15
,3

36
29

,1
06

33
,9

12
0.

56
4t

h 
St

 N
/S

9t
h 

Av
e 

N
4t

h 
Av

e 
N

4
1-

W
ay

SB
13

,0
00

1.
09

4
14

,2
21

C
58

,2
48

2,
91

2
10

%
0%

17
,1

33
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
44

4t
h 

Av
e 

N
1s

t A
ve

 N
4

1-
W

ay
SB

13
,0

00
1.

09
4

14
,2

21
C

58
,2

48
2,

91
2

10
%

0%
17

,1
33

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

31
,7

52
38

,8
26

39
,7

44
0.

44
1s

t A
ve

 N
1s

t A
ve

 S
4

1-
W

ay
SB

13
,0

00
1.

09
4

14
,2

21
C

58
,2

48
1,

45
6

5%
0%

15
,6

77
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
40

1s
t A

ve
 S

4t
h 

Av
e 

S
4

1-
W

ay
SB

13
,0

00
1.

09
4

14
,2

21
C

58
,2

48
1,

45
6

5%
0%

15
,6

77
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
40

3r
d 

St
 N

/S
4t

h 
Av

e 
S

1s
t A

ve
 S

4
1-

W
ay

NB
11

,0
00

1.
09

4
12

,0
33

C
58

,2
48

1,
45

6
0%

5%
13

,4
89

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

31
,7

52
38

,8
26

39
,7

44
0.

35
1s

t A
ve

 S
1s

t A
ve

 N
4

1-
W

ay
NB

11
,0

00
1.

09
4

12
,0

33
C

58
,2

48
2,

91
2

0%
10

%
14

,9
45

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

31
,7

52
38

,8
26

39
,7

44
0.

38
1s

t A
ve

 N
4t

h 
Av

e 
N

4
1-

W
ay

NB
11

,0
00

1.
09

4
12

,0
33

C
58

,2
48

2,
91

2
0%

10
%

14
,9

45
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
38

4t
h 

Av
e 

N
9t

h 
Av

e 
N

4
1-

W
ay

NB
11

,0
00

1.
09

4
12

,0
33

C
58

,2
48

2,
91

2
0%

10
%

14
,9

45
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
38

I-2
75

22
nd

 A
ve

 N
I-3

75
8

2-
W

ay
15

8,
50

0
1.

09
4

17
3,

38
8

F
58

,2
48

21
,5

52
37

%
37

%
19

4,
94

0
F

11
8,

40
0

14
4,

20
0

15
1,

20
0

1.
29

I-3
75

I-1
75

7
2-

W
ay

12
5,

50
0

1.
09

4
13

7,
28

8
E

58
,2

48
7,

28
1

10
%

15
%

14
4,

56
9

F
10

8,
40

0
13

4,
20

0
14

1,
20

0
1.

02
I-3

75
I-2

75
Dr

 M
LK

 Jr
 S

t N
6

2-
W

ay
34

,0
00

1.
09

4
37

,1
94

C
58

,2
48

6,
99

0
12

%
12

%
44

,1
84

C
98

,4
00

12
4,

20
0

13
1,

20
0

0.
34

I-1
75

I-2
75

Dr
 M

LK
 Jr

 S
t S

8
2-

W
ay

41
,0

00
1.

09
4

44
,8

51
C

58
,2

48
17

,4
74

30
%

30
%

62
,3

25
C

11
8,

40
0

14
4,

20
0

15
1,

20
0

0.
41

Fu
tu

re
 2

04
0 

Se
gm

en
t A

na
ly

sis



Se
gm

en
t

Fr
om

:
To

:
# 

of
 La

ne
s

1 
W

ay
/2

 W
ay

Di
re

ct
io

n
Ex

ist
in

g 
Vo

lu
m

es
Gr

ow
th

 F
ac

to
r

Fu
tu

re
 2

05
4

Vo
lu

m
es

Fu
tu

re
 2

05
4

LO
S

M
ix

ed
-U

se
Vo

lu
m

e
(T

ot
al

)
M

ix
ed

-U
se

 V
ol

um
e

(D
ist

rib
ut

ed
)

%
 M

ix
ed

-U
se

 E
nt

er
in

g
%

 M
ix

ed
-U

se
 E

xi
tin

g
To

ta
l

Vo
lu

m
e

Fu
tu

re
 +

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t L

O
S

O
ne

-W
ay

Ad
ju

st
m

e
nt

Tu
rn

 La
ne

Ad
ju

st
m

e
nt

No
n-

St
at

e
Ad

ju
st

m
e

nt
LO

S 
C

Ca
pa

ci
ty

LO
S 

D
Ca

pa
ci

ty
LO

S 
E

Ca
pa

ci
ty

Ex
is

tin
g 

+
De

ve
lo

pm
en

t v
/c

4t
h 

Av
e 

S
3r

d 
St

 S
8t

h 
St

 S
2

1-
W

ay
W

B
1,

35
0

1.
17

3
1,

58
4

C
58

,2
48

1,
45

6
5%

0%
3,

04
0

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

15
8t

h 
St

 S
Dr

 M
LK

 S
t S

2
1-

W
ay

1,
35

0
1.

17
3

1,
58

4
C

58
,2

48
7,

28
1

25
%

0%
8,

86
5

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

43
Dr

 M
LK

 S
t S

10
th

 S
t S

3
2-

W
ay

1,
35

0
1.

17
3

1,
58

4
C

58
,2

48
14

,5
62

30
%

20
%

16
,1

46
D

1
1.

05
0.

9
12

,3
32

24
,6

65
30

,6
18

0.
65

10
th

 S
t S

SI
TE

3
2-

W
ay

1,
35

0
1.

17
3

1,
58

4
C

58
,2

48
14

,5
62

30
%

20
%

16
,1

46
D

1
1.

05
0.

9
12

,3
32

24
,6

65
30

,6
18

0.
65

5t
h 

Av
e 

S 
(W

B)
SI

TE
16

th
 S

t S
2

2-
W

ay
1,

35
0

1.
17

3
1,

58
4

D
58

,2
48

2,
91

2
6%

4%
4,

49
6

D
1

0.
8

0.
9

0
10

,0
08

15
,6

96
0.

45
16

th
 S

t S
20

th
 S

t S
2

2-
W

ay
1,

35
0

1.
17

3
1,

58
4

D
58

,2
48

2,
91

2
6%

4%
4,

49
6

D
1

0.
8

0.
9

0
10

,0
08

15
,6

96
0.

45
20

th
 S

t S
28

th
 S

t S
4

2-
W

ay
2,

70
0

1.
17

3
3,

16
7

C
58

,2
48

58
2

1%
1%

3,
74

9
C

1
0.

75
0.

9
17

,6
18

25
,8

53
29

,0
25

0.
15

5t
h 

Av
e 

S 
(E

B)
16

th
 S

t S
I-1

75
 E

B
2

1-
W

ay
EB

1,
35

0
1.

17
3

1,
58

4
C

58
,2

48
0

0%
0%

1,
58

4
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
14

,0
94

20
,6

82
23

,2
20

0.
08

I-1
75

 E
B

Dr
. M

LK
 S

t S
3

1-
W

ay
EB

1,
35

0
1.

17
3

1,
58

4
C

58
,2

48
8,

73
7

30
%

0%
10

,3
21

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

15
,3

36
29

,1
06

33
,9

12
0.

35
Dr

. M
LK

 S
t S

8t
h 

St
 S

3
1-

W
ay

EB
1,

35
0

1.
17

3
1,

58
4

C
58

,2
48

8,
73

7
30

%
0%

10
,3

21
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
15

,3
36

29
,1

06
33

,9
12

0.
35

1s
t A

ve
 S

28
th

 S
t S

20
th

 S
t S

2
1-

W
ay

EB
11

,5
00

1.
17

3
13

,4
90

C
58

,2
48

1,
45

6
5%

0%
14

,9
46

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

72
20

th
 S

t S
16

th
 S

t S
2

1-
W

ay
EB

11
,5

00
1.

17
3

13
,4

90
C

58
,2

48
2,

91
2

10
%

0%
16

,4
02

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

79
16

th
 S

t S
SI

TE
2

1-
W

ay
EB

11
,5

00
1.

17
3

13
,4

90
C

58
,2

48
3,

49
5

12
%

0%
16

,9
85

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

82
SI

TE
Dr

 M
LK

 S
t S

3
1-

W
ay

EB
11

,5
00

1.
17

3
13

,4
90

C
58

,2
48

11
,6

50
0%

40
%

25
,1

40
D

0.
6

1
0.

9
15

,3
36

29
,1

06
33

,9
12

0.
86

Dr
 M

LK
 S

t S
8t

h 
St

 S
2

1-
W

ay
EB

11
,5

00
1.

17
3

13
,4

90
C

58
,2

48
5,

82
5

0%
20

%
19

,3
15

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

93
8t

h 
St

 S
3r

d 
St

 S
2

1-
W

ay
EB

11
,5

00
1.

17
3

13
,4

90
C

58
,2

48
1,

45
6

0%
5%

14
,9

46
D

0.
6

1
0.

9
14

,0
94

20
,6

82
23

,2
20

0.
72

Ce
nt

ra
l A

ve
 N

4t
h 

St
 S

23
rd

 S
t N

2
2-

W
ay

6,
00

0
1.

17
3

7,
03

8
D

58
,2

48
58

2
1%

1%
7,

62
0

D
1

1
0.

9
0

12
,5

10
19

,6
20

0.
61

1s
t A

ve
 N

3r
d 

St
 N

4t
h 

St
 N

2
1-

W
ay

W
B

12
,0

00
1.

17
3

14
,0

77
C

58
,2

48
1,

45
6

5%
0%

15
,5

33
D

0.
6

1
0.

9
14

,0
94

20
,6

82
23

,2
20

0.
75

4t
h 

St
 N

8t
h 

St
 N

2
1-

W
ay

W
B

12
,0

00
1.

17
3

14
,0

77
C

58
,2

48
1,

45
6

5%
0%

15
,5

33
D

0.
6

1
0.

9
14

,0
94

20
,6

82
23

,2
20

0.
75

8t
h 

St
 N

Dr
 M

LK
 S

t N
2

1-
W

ay
W

B
12

,0
00

1.
17

3
14

,0
77

C
58

,2
48

1,
45

6
5%

0%
15

,5
33

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

75
Dr

 M
LK

 S
t N

11
th

 S
t N

2
1-

W
ay

W
B

12
,0

00
1.

17
3

14
,0

77
C

58
,2

48
2,

91
2

10
%

0%
16

,9
89

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

82
11

th
 S

t N
16

th
 S

t N
2

1-
W

ay
W

B
12

,0
00

1.
17

3
14

,0
77

C
58

,2
48

2,
03

9
0%

7%
16

,1
16

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

78
16

th
 S

t N
20

th
 S

t N
2

1-
W

ay
W

B
12

,0
00

1.
17

3
14

,0
77

C
58

,2
48

2,
03

9
0%

7%
16

,1
16

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

78
20

th
 S

t N
28

th
 S

t N
2

1-
W

ay
W

B
12

,0
00

1.
17

3
14

,0
77

C
58

,2
48

1,
45

6
0%

5%
15

,5
33

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

14
,0

94
20

,6
82

23
,2

20
0.

75
4t

h 
Av

e 
N

20
th

 S
t N

16
th

 S
t N

4
2-

W
ay

23
,0

00
1.

17
3

26
,9

80
D

58
,2

48
5,

24
2

9%
9%

32
,2

22
D

1
1

0.
9

23
,4

90
34

,4
70

38
,7

00
0.

93
20

th
 S

t N
/S

5t
h 

Av
e 

S
1s

t A
ve

 S
2

2-
W

ay
4,

00
0

1.
17

3
4,

69
2

D
58

,2
48

2,
33

0
5%

3%
7,

02
2

D
1

0.
75

0.
9

0
9,

38
3

14
,7

15
0.

75
1s

t A
ve

 S
1s

t A
ve

 N
2

2-
W

ay
4,

00
0

1.
17

3
4,

69
2

D
58

,2
48

3,
78

6
10

%
3%

8,
47

8
D

1
0.

75
0.

9
0

9,
38

3
14

,7
15

0.
90

1s
t A

ve
 N

I-2
75

/5
th

 A
ve

 N
4

2-
W

ay
4,

00
0

1.
17

3
4,

69
2

C
58

,2
48

4,
36

9
10

%
5%

9,
06

1
C

1
0.

75
0.

9
17

,6
18

25
,8

53
29

,0
25

0.
35

16
th

 S
t N

/S
9t

h 
Av

e 
N

4t
h 

Av
e 

N
4

2-
W

ay
15

,0
00

1.
17

3
17

,5
96

C
58

,2
48

5,
82

5
10

%
10

%
23

,4
21

D
1

0.
95

0.
9

22
,3

16
32

,7
47

36
,7

65
0.

72
4t

h 
Av

e 
N

1s
t A

ve
 N

4
2-

W
ay

15
,0

00
1.

17
3

17
,5

96
C

58
,2

48
11

,0
67

19
%

19
%

28
,6

63
D

1
0.

95
0.

9
22

,3
16

32
,7

47
36

,7
65

0.
88

1s
t A

ve
 N

1s
t A

ve
 S

4
2-

W
ay

15
,0

00
1.

17
3

17
,5

96
C

58
,2

48
11

,0
67

19
%

19
%

28
,6

63
D

1
0.

95
0.

9
22

,3
16

32
,7

47
36

,7
65

0.
88

1s
t A

ve
 S

SI
TE

4
2-

W
ay

15
,0

00
1.

17
3

17
,5

96
C

58
,2

48
11

,0
67

19
%

19
%

28
,6

63
D

1
0.

95
0.

9
22

,3
16

32
,7

47
36

,7
65

0.
88

SI
TE

5t
h 

Av
e 

S
4

2-
W

ay
15

,0
00

1.
17

3
17

,5
96

C
58

,2
48

2,
91

2
5%

5%
20

,5
08

C
1

0.
95

0.
9

22
,3

16
32

,7
47

36
,7

65
0.

63
5t

h 
Av

e 
S

7t
h 

Av
e 

S
4

2-
W

ay
15

,0
00

1.
17

3
17

,5
96

C
58

,2
48

2,
91

2
5%

5%
20

,5
08

C
1

0.
95

0.
9

22
,3

16
32

,7
47

36
,7

65
0.

63
Dr

 M
LK

 Jr
 S

t N
/S

9t
h 

Av
e 

N
4t

h 
Av

e 
N 

(3
75

 E
B)

2
2-

W
ay

17
,0

00
1.

17
3

19
,9

42
F

58
,2

48
87

4
3%

0%
20

,8
16

F
1

1
0.

9
0

12
,5

10
19

,6
20

1.
66

4t
h 

Av
e 

N 
(3

75
 E

B)
1s

t A
ve

 N
3

1-
W

ay
SB

12
,0

00
1.

17
3

14
,0

77
C

58
,2

48
4,

36
9

15
%

0%
18

,4
46

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

15
,3

36
29

,1
06

33
,9

12
0.

63
1s

t A
ve

 N
1s

t A
ve

 S
3

1-
W

ay
SB

12
,0

00
1.

17
3

14
,0

77
C

58
,2

48
2,

91
2

10
%

0%
16

,9
89

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

15
,3

36
29

,1
06

33
,9

12
0.

58
1s

t A
ve

 S
3r

d 
Av

e 
S

3
1-

W
ay

SB
7,

90
0

1.
17

3
9,

26
7

C
58

,2
48

8,
73

7
10

%
20

%
18

,0
04

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

15
,3

36
29

,1
06

33
,9

12
0.

62
3r

d 
Av

e 
S

4t
h 

Av
e 

S
3

1-
W

ay
SB

7,
90

0
1.

17
3

9,
26

7
C

58
,2

48
7,

28
1

5%
20

%
16

,5
48

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

15
,3

36
29

,1
06

33
,9

12
0.

57
4t

h 
Av

e 
S

I-1
75

 W
B

3
1-

W
ay

SB
7,

90
0

1.
17

3
9,

26
7

C
58

,2
48

11
,6

50
0%

40
%

20
,9

17
D

0.
6

1
0.

9
15

,3
36

29
,1

06
33

,9
12

0.
72

I-1
75

 W
B

7t
h 

Av
e 

S
3

1-
W

ay
SB

7,
90

0
1.

17
3

9,
26

7
C

58
,2

48
1,

45
6

0%
5%

10
,7

23
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
15

,3
36

29
,1

06
33

,9
12

0.
37

8t
h 

St
 N

/S
7t

h 
Av

e 
S

5t
h 

Av
e 

S 
(1

75
 E

B)
4

1-
W

ay
NB

9,
60

0
1.

17
3

11
,2

61
C

58
,2

48
1,

45
6

5%
0%

12
,7

17
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
33

5t
h 

Av
e 

S 
(1

75
 E

B)
4t

h 
Av

e 
S

4
1-

W
ay

NB
9,

60
0

1.
17

3
11

,2
61

C
58

,2
48

10
,1

93
35

%
0%

21
,4

54
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
55

4t
h 

Av
e 

S
3r

d 
Av

e 
S

4
1-

W
ay

NB
9,

60
0

1.
17

3
11

,2
61

C
58

,2
48

4,
36

9
15

%
0%

15
,6

30
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
40

3r
d 

Av
e 

S
1s

t A
ve

 S
4

1-
W

ay
NB

9,
60

0
1.

17
3

11
,2

61
C

58
,2

48
1,

45
6

0%
5%

12
,7

17
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
33

1s
t A

ve
 S

5t
h 

Av
e 

N 
(3

75
 W

B)
3

1-
W

ay
NB

9,
60

0
1.

17
3

11
,2

61
C

58
,2

48
5,

82
5

0%
20

%
17

,0
86

D
0.

6
1

0.
9

15
,3

36
29

,1
06

33
,9

12
0.

59
4t

h 
St

 N
/S

9t
h 

Av
e 

N
4t

h 
Av

e 
N

4
1-

W
ay

SB
13

,0
00

1.
17

3
15

,2
50

C
58

,2
48

2,
91

2
10

%
0%

18
,1

62
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
47

4t
h 

Av
e 

N
1s

t A
ve

 N
4

1-
W

ay
SB

13
,0

00
1.

17
3

15
,2

50
C

58
,2

48
2,

91
2

10
%

0%
18

,1
62

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

31
,7

52
38

,8
26

39
,7

44
0.

47
1s

t A
ve

 N
1s

t A
ve

 S
4

1-
W

ay
SB

13
,0

00
1.

17
3

15
,2

50
C

58
,2

48
1,

45
6

5%
0%

16
,7

06
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
43

1s
t A

ve
 S

4t
h 

Av
e 

S
4

1-
W

ay
SB

13
,0

00
1.

17
3

15
,2

50
C

58
,2

48
1,

45
6

5%
0%

16
,7

06
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
43

3r
d 

St
 N

/S
4t

h 
Av

e 
S

1s
t A

ve
 S

4
1-

W
ay

NB
11

,0
00

1.
17

3
12

,9
03

C
58

,2
48

1,
45

6
0%

5%
14

,3
59

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

31
,7

52
38

,8
26

39
,7

44
0.

37
1s

t A
ve

 S
1s

t A
ve

 N
4

1-
W

ay
NB

11
,0

00
1.

17
3

12
,9

03
C

58
,2

48
2,

91
2

0%
10

%
15

,8
15

C
0.

6
1

0.
9

31
,7

52
38

,8
26

39
,7

44
0.

41
1s

t A
ve

 N
4t

h 
Av

e 
N

4
1-

W
ay

NB
11

,0
00

1.
17

3
12

,9
03

C
58

,2
48

2,
91

2
0%

10
%

15
,8

15
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
41

4t
h 

Av
e 

N
9t

h 
Av

e 
N

4
1-

W
ay

NB
11

,0
00

1.
17

3
12

,9
03

C
58

,2
48

2,
91

2
0%

10
%

15
,8

15
C

0.
6

1
0.

9
31

,7
52

38
,8

26
39

,7
44

0.
41

I-2
75

22
nd

 A
ve

 N
I-3

75
8

2-
W

ay
15

8,
50

0
1.

17
3

18
5,

92
7

F
58

,2
48

21
,5

52
37

%
37

%
20

7,
47

9
F

11
8,

40
0

14
4,

20
0

15
1,

20
0

1.
37

I-3
75

I-1
75

7
2-

W
ay

12
5,

50
0

1.
17

3
14

7,
21

7
F

58
,2

48
7,

28
1

10
%

15
%

15
4,

49
8

F
10

8,
40

0
13

4,
20

0
14

1,
20

0
1.

09
I-3

75
I-2

75
Dr

 M
LK

 Jr
 S

t N
6

2-
W

ay
34

,0
00

1.
17

3
39

,8
83

C
58

,2
48

6,
99

0
12

%
12

%
46

,8
73

C
98

,4
00

12
4,

20
0

13
1,

20
0

0.
36

I-1
75

I-2
75

Dr
 M

LK
 Jr

 S
t S

8
2-

W
ay

41
,0

00
1.

17
3

48
,0

95
C

58
,2

48
17

,4
74

30
%

30
%

65
,5

69
C

11
8,

40
0

14
4,

20
0

15
1,

20
0

0.
43

Fu
tu

re
 2

05
4 

Se
gm

en
t A

na
ly

sis



Historic Gas Plant District │ Roadway Segment Analysis 
May 2024 │ KHA Project #140058003 

C 

 

APPENDIX C  

 

Downtown St. Petersburg Mobility 
Study Results 

 

 
 

 

 

  



Do
wn

to
wn

 S
t. 

Pe
te

rs
bu

rg
 M

ob
ilit

y S
tu

dy
10

FIG
UR

E 
8.

 E
+C

 N
ET

WO
RK

 (2
02

0)
 E

XI
ST

IN
G 

CO
NG

ES
TIO

N,
 A

M 
PE

AK

AM
 P

ea
k P

er
io

d
Vo

lu
m

e/
Ca

pa
ci

ty
 (v

/c
)

Co
ng

es
te

d
(1

.1
 - 2

.0
 v/

c)

At
 C

ap
ac

ity
(0

.9
0 

- 1
.1

 v/
c)

No
t C

on
ge

st
ed

(0
.0

0 
- 0

.9
0 

v/
c)

N
0

¼
½

M
ile

s

37
5

17
5

2
7

52
7

5

5
TH

 A
VE

 N

1
ST

 A
VE

 N

CE
N

TR
AL

 A
VE

1
ST

 A
VE

 S

5
TH

 A
VE

 S

9
TH

 A
VE

 S

7
TH

 A
VE

 N

9
TH

 A
VE

 N

8
TH

 A
VE

 N

5
TH

 A
VE

 N

4
TH

 A
VE

 N

3
R

D
 A

VE
 N

2
N

D
 A

VE
 N

2
N

D
 A

VE
 S

4
TH

 A
VE

 S

12TH ST S

16TH ST S

10TH ST S

DR. M.L.K., JR ST S

3RD ST S

4TH ST S

5TH ST S

1ST ST S

DR. M.L.K., JR ST N

8TH ST N

5TH ST N

4TH ST N

3RD ST N

2ND ST N

1ST ST N

22ND ST N

21ST ST N

20TH ST N

D
em

en
s

La
nd

in
g 

Pa
rk

Sp
a

Be
ac

h

Al
be

rt
W

hi
tte

d
Pa

rk

N
or

th
Sh

or
e

Pa
rk

Ca
m

pb
el

l
Pa

rk

Un
ity

Pa
rk

M
irr

or
La

ke

BEACH DR NE

BAYSHOREDRN

8
TH

 A
VE

 N

15
TH

 A
VE

 S

17
TH

 A
VE

 S

11
TH

 A
VE

 S

13
TH

 A
VE

 S

Ba
rt

le
tt

Pa
rk

St
. P

et
e 

Pi
er

Vi
no

y
Pa

rk

18
TH

 A
VE

 S

Po
rt

 o
f

St
. P

et
er

sb
ur

g

Ta
m

pa
 B

ay



11
Ne

tw
or

k T
ra

ffi
c M

od
el 

An
al

ys
is 

Re
su

lts

FIG
UR

E 
9.

 E
+C

 N
ET

WO
RK

 (2
02

0)
 E

XI
ST

IN
G 

CO
NG

ES
TIO

N,
 P

M 
PE

AK

PM
 P

ea
k P

er
io

d
Vo

lu
m

e/
Ca

pa
ci

ty
 (v

/c
)

Co
ng

es
te

d
(1

.1
 - 2

.0
 v/

c)

At
 C

ap
ac

ity
(0

.9
0 

- 1
.1

 v/
c)

No
t C

on
ge

st
ed

(0
.0

0 
- 0

.9
0 

v/
c)

N
0

¼
½

M
ile

s

37
5

17
5

2
7

52
7

5

5
TH

 A
VE

 N

1
ST

 A
VE

 N

CE
N

TR
AL

 A
VE

1
ST

 A
VE

 S

5
TH

 A
VE

 S

9
TH

 A
VE

 S

7
TH

 A
VE

 N

9
TH

 A
VE

 N

8
TH

 A
VE

 N

5
TH

 A
VE

 N

4
TH

 A
VE

 N

3
R

D
 A

VE
 N

2
N

D
 A

VE
 N

2
N

D
 A

VE
 S

4
TH

 A
VE

 S

12TH ST S

16TH ST S

10TH ST S

DR. M.L.K., JR ST S

3RD ST S

4TH ST S

5TH ST S

1ST ST S

DR. M.L.K., JR ST N

8TH ST N

5TH ST N

4TH ST N

3RD ST N

2ND ST N

1ST ST N

22ND ST N

21ST ST N

20TH ST N

D
em

en
s

La
nd

in
g 

Pa
rk

Sp
a

Be
ac

h

Al
be

rt
W

hi
tte

d
Pa

rk

N
or

th
Sh

or
e

Pa
rk

Ca
m

pb
el

l
Pa

rk

Un
ity

Pa
rk

M
irr

or
La

ke

BEACH DR NE

BAYSHOREDRN

8
TH

 A
VE

 N

15
TH

 A
VE

 S

17
TH

 A
VE

 S

11
TH

 A
VE

 S

13
TH

 A
VE

 S

Ba
rt

le
tt

Pa
rk

St
. P

et
e 

Pi
er

Vi
no

y
Pa

rk

18
TH

 A
VE

 S

Po
rt

 o
f

St
. P

et
er

sb
ur

g

Ta
m

pa
 B

ay



Do
wn

to
wn

 S
t. 

Pe
te

rs
bu

rg
 M

ob
ilit

y S
tu

dy
12

FIG
UR

E 
10

. E
+C

 N
ET

WO
RK

 (2
02

0)
 IN

TE
RS

EC
TIO

N 
AP

PR
OA

CH
 D

EL
AY

, A
M 

PE
AK

> 
55

 (O
ve

r C
ap

ac
ity

)
35

 - 5
5

20
 - 3

5 
(S

ta
bl

e F
lo

w)
10

 - 2
0

0 
- 1

0 
(F

re
e F

lo
w)

> 
55

35
 - 5

5
20

 - 3
5

10
 - 2

0
0 

- 1
0

AM
 P

er
io

d
Ov

er
al

l I
nt

er
se

ct
io

n 
De

la
y (

se
c.

)

In
te

rs
ec

tio
n 

Ap
pr

oa
ch

 D
el

ay
 (s

ec
.)

AM
 P

er
io

d

N
0

¼
½

M
ile

s

37
5

17
5

2
7

52
7

5

5
TH

 A
VE

 N

1
ST

 A
VE

 N

CE
N

TR
AL

 A
VE

1
ST

 A
VE

 S

5
TH

 A
VE

 S

9
TH

 A
VE

 S

7
TH

 A
VE

 N

9
TH

 A
VE

 N

8
TH

 A
VE

 N

5
TH

 A
VE

 N

4
TH

 A
VE

 N

3
R

D
 A

VE
 N

2
N

D
 A

VE
 N

2
N

D
 A

VE
 S

4
TH

 A
VE

 S

12TH ST S

16TH ST S

10TH ST S

DR. M.L.K., JR ST S

3RD ST S

4TH ST S

5TH ST S

1ST ST S

DR. M.L.K., JR ST N

8TH ST N

5TH ST N

4TH ST N

3RD ST N

2ND ST N

1ST ST N

22ND ST N

21ST ST N

20TH ST N

D
em

en
s

La
nd

in
g 

Pa
rk

Sp
a

Be
ac

h

Al
be

rt
W

hi
tte

d
Pa

rk

N
or

th
Sh

or
e

Pa
rk

Ca
m

pb
el

l
Pa

rk

Un
ity

Pa
rk

M
irr

or
La

ke

BEACH DR NE

BAYSHOREDRN

8
TH

 A
VE

 N

15
TH

 A
VE

 S

17
TH

 A
VE

 S

11
TH

 A
VE

 S

13
TH

 A
VE

 S

Ba
rt

le
tt

Pa
rk

St
. P

et
e 

Pi
er

Vi
no

y
Pa

rk

18
TH

 A
VE

 S

Po
rt

 o
f

St
. P

et
er

sb
ur

g

Ta
m

pa
 B

ay



13
Ne

tw
or

k T
ra

ffi
c M

od
el 

An
al

ys
is 

Re
su

lts

FIG
UR

E 
11

. E
+C

 N
ET

WO
RK

 (2
02

0)
 IN

TE
RS

EC
TIO

N 
AP

PR
OA

CH
 D

EL
AY

, P
M 

PE
AK

> 
55

 (O
ve

r C
ap

ac
ity

)
35

 - 5
5

20
 - 3

5 
(S

ta
bl

e F
lo

w)
10

 - 2
0

0 
- 1

0 
(F

re
e F

lo
w)

> 
55

35
 - 5

5
20

 - 3
5

10
 - 2

0
0 

- 1
0

PM
 P

er
io

d
Ov

er
al

l I
nt

er
se

ct
io

n 
De

la
y (

se
c.

)

In
te

rs
ec

tio
n 

Ap
pr

oa
ch

 D
el

ay
 (s

ec
.)

PM
 P

er
io

d

N
0

¼
½

M
ile

s

37
5

17
5

2
7

52
7

5

5
TH

 A
VE

 N

1
ST

 A
VE

 N

CE
N

TR
AL

 A
VE

1
ST

 A
VE

 S

5
TH

 A
VE

 S

9
TH

 A
VE

 S

7
TH

 A
VE

 N

9
TH

 A
VE

 N

8
TH

 A
VE

 N

5
TH

 A
VE

 N

4
TH

 A
VE

 N

3
R

D
 A

VE
 N

2
N

D
 A

VE
 N

2
N

D
 A

VE
 S

4
TH

 A
VE

 S

12TH ST S

16TH ST S

10TH ST S

DR. M.L.K., JR ST S

3RD ST S

4TH ST S

5TH ST S

1ST ST S

DR. M.L.K., JR ST N

8TH ST N

5TH ST N

4TH ST N

3RD ST N

2ND ST N

1ST ST N

22ND ST N

21ST ST N

20TH ST N

D
em

en
s

La
nd

in
g 

Pa
rk

Sp
a

Be
ac

h

Al
be

rt
W

hi
tte

d
Pa

rk

N
or

th
Sh

or
e

Pa
rk

Ca
m

pb
el

l
Pa

rk

Un
ity

Pa
rk

M
irr

or
La

ke

BEACH DR NE

BAYSHOREDRN

8
TH

 A
VE

 N

15
TH

 A
VE

 S

17
TH

 A
VE

 S

11
TH

 A
VE

 S

13
TH

 A
VE

 S

Ba
rt

le
tt

Pa
rk

St
. P

et
e 

Pi
er

Vi
no

y
Pa

rk

18
TH

 A
VE

 S

Po
rt

 o
f

St
. P

et
er

sb
ur

g

Ta
m

pa
 B

ay



HGP District Development Agreement 

ATTACHMENT NO. 3 

Public Comments



ZM-17: Public Comments 

From: Robb Roth <rroth3578@gmail.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, April 17, 2024 11:53 AM 
To: Britton N. Wilson <Britton.Wilson@stpete.org> 
Subject: Application No.: ZM-17 Gas Plant District 
 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you 
recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 
 
Mr. Wilson, 
 
Good Morning, My name is Rob Roth, the HOA President for the Central 16th Homeowners 
Association. Our association is situated on the corner of 16th St. S and 1st Ave S, with my corner 
unit adjacent to the stadium.  

While I am not opposed to modifying the zoning map, I would like to submit the following 
considerations for your review: 

1. Stadium Traffic Concerns: As the only ground-level condo community in the district that has 
dealt with both vehicular and pedestrian stadium traffic, we kindly request a reprieve from 
such activity. Specifically, we propose that the land located on the southwest corner of 1st 
Ave S and 16th St N not be utilized for a parking deck or any other transient-type activity. 
Instead, we envision this plot, currently a ground-level parking lot, being used for residential 
or office space or a park (I know). 

2. Parking Deck Placement: We recommend constructing parking decks along the highway to 
facilitate smoother ingress and egress for community events. This strategic placement 
would alleviate congestion around our neighborhood and hopefully cut back on noise 
pollution. 

3. Preserving Green Space: As our side of town experiences growth, we are losing valuable 
green space for our pets. We propose either restricting new developments from allowing 
pets or incorporating dedicated green areas for dog walks. This balance would enhance the 
quality of life for both residents and their furry companions. 

Thank you for considering our suggestions. We look forward to contributing positively to the 
development of our community. 

Sincerely, 

Rob Roth HOA President Central 16th Homeowners Association 

P: 732-670-8030 
 



 

 

 
 

CITY OF ST. PETERSBURG 

COMMUNITY PLANNING & PRESERVATION COMMISSION  

PUBLIC HEARING 

 

Council Chambers, City Hall                                                                                   May 14, 2024 

175 – 5th Street North                            Tuesday 

St. Petersburg, Florida 33701 2:00 P.M. 

  

MEETING MINUTES 
 

Present: Lisa Wannemacher, Chair 

 Robert “Bob” Jeffrey, Vice-Chair  

 Ashley Marbet 

 Shannon Nelson 

 Cassie Gardner (left meeting at 4:00 p.m.) 

 Manita Moultrie (left meeting at 5:20 p.m.) 

 Will Michaels, Alternate 

 Joseph Magnello, Alternate 
 
Commissioners Absent: Abel Carrasco 
 
Staff Present: James Corbett, City Development Administrator  

 Elizabeth Abernethy, AICP, Director of Planning & Development 

Services Department 

Derek Kilborn, Manager, Urban Planning & Historic Preservation 

Division 

Brejesh Prayman, Engineering Director 

Evan Mory, Transportation and Parking Management Director 

Thomas Whalen, Transportation Planning Coordinator 

Britton Wilson, Planner II 

Braydon Evans, Planner II 

Andrew Jurewicz, Planner II 

 Kelly Perkins, Historic Preservationist II 

 Cindy Kochanek, Historic Preservationist II 

 Heather Judd, Assistant City Attorney 

 Michael Dema, Assistant City Attorney 

 Sarah Lucker, Assistant City Attorney 

 Iris Winn, Clerk 

Katherine Connell, Administrative Assistant,  

         

The public hearing was called to order at 2:00 p.m., a quorum was present. 

 



Community Planning and Preservation Commission Meeting Minutes May 14, 2024 

2 

I. OPENING REMARKS OF CHAIR

II. ROLL CALL

III. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND SWEARING IN OF WITNESSES

IV. MINUTES (Approval of April 9, 2024, Minutes)

The minutes from the April 9, 2024, meeting were approved unanimously. 

V. PUBLIC COMMENTS

No public comments were made during this portion of the meeting. 

VI. LEGISLATIVE HEARING

2. City File: Historic Gas Plant District Development Agreement

City Staff: Elizabeth Abernethy

Request (1:59:14)): A Development Agreement between the City of St. Petersburg and Hines 
Historic Gas Plant District Partnership related to the redevelopment of Tropicana Field, also 
known at the Historic Gas Plant District, which is an 82-acre site (MOL) generally located in the 
northeast corner of the intersection of Interstate - 275 and Interstate - 175, south of 1st Avenue 
South and west of Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. Street South.

City Staff Presentation (2:02:45): 

Elizabeth Abernethy and Lane Gardner (Hines Senior Managing Director) gave a PowerPoint 

presentation based on the staff report.  

Executive Session (2:18:37): 

Madam Chair Wannemacher: I do not have any cards on this item. Are we going to then take 

the rezoning as a separate item? 

Michael Dema: Yes. 

Madam Chair Wannemacher: We’ll do that next? Okay, okay. Questions for city staff or the 

developer? Commissioner Michaels.  

Commissioner Michaels: Well, let me first just state that I thought this was a really important 

and extremely positive step for our community to adopt this major plan for the heart of our city. 

To say the least, it’s a huge improvement over the surface parking that’s been there since the 

1980s. It’s a planned development, which I think is important rather than just letting the free 

market do whatever it does. It’s a walkable and complete neighborhood, which is our principles 

that we’ve emphasized over and over again in this commission. I do like the African American 

museum, the Woodson Museum there. I had the honor of being the vice-president of that several 

years ago, so maybe that’s a conflict of interest here but I guess not.  



Community Planning and Preservation Commission Meeting Minutes May 14, 2024 
 

3 

 

Michael Dema: No, sir. Commissioner Michaels (2:20:01): Maybe most importantly, picking up 

on the last application that we considered, this does include and continue the 110-year tradition of 

major league baseball in our city and also honors the Gas Plant historic district or making it a 

historic district, which I think speaks volumes to the sense of place here in our city. I understand 

there’s a lot of tweaking going on right now with the proposal and I’ve got opinions about that, 

but I won’t go into that. I do have a major concern though, with respect to the fiscal issues, the 

financing. I’m not having to crunch those numbers and I don’t have the resources, really, to do it, 

so I’m trusting to the Council and the other city staff here to resolve that satisfactorily. What’s 

been missing from the discussion is that the city has not yet  addressed the issue of hurricane and 

severe storm water surge. The Storm Water Masterplan addresses rainfall but it does not address 

surge. I would suspect that after you develop a plan, you develop a budget and the required budget 

for that is going to be multi-millions of dollars. I would hope that we’re going to address that soon 

here, I think it’s urgent that we do it. The commission here has asked several times for a workshop 

on flood control, we have yet to have that. I think that’s important for the commission to have. I’m 

just very pleased with the plan, I did have a couple of…just...probably minor questions here. One 

is on page 12, with respect to traffic impact. It refers to the level of service for highways adjacent 

to the district as category “d” and states…not an “f” and the quotation there is so it has room to 

spare. I guess my question is - is that really going to be enough? Five…ten years after we get this 

largely completed, are we going to have enough in the way of traffic capacity with the adjacent 

highways?  

 

Elizabeth Abernethy: That’s a great question and Tom Whalen from our Transportation team 

will help to answer that.  

 

Tom Whalen: Good Afternoon, Chair, members of the commission. Level Service ‘D’ is the city’s 

former LOS Standard when we had transportation concurrency but the consultant for the 

Rays/Hines team did do a detailed traffic analysis, as did our staff as well, in the Transportation 

Department for the city. We believe there’s a lot of spare capacity on the roadway network. There’s 

many different ways to get to and from the site on our classified major streets as well as our local 

streets and just based on DOT Standards for capacity, there should be sufficient capacity to handle 

the near-term traffic from this development as well as the longer-term build-out at that site.  

 

Commissioner Michaels: Thank you. My second question is, with respect to the agreement, in 

“Exhibit C”, under “Affordable Housing”, it refers to the 600-units there of affordable housing. 

Then it has the statement “…or has as may otherwise be mutually agreed upon by developer and 

the city…” The way that’s worded, that would create the possibility here of doing less than the 

600. I’m sure that’s not the intent and we’re committed to doing the 600 there but is that something 

maybe we need to cross a t and dot an i on? 

 

Michael Dema: Commissioner Michaels, that question came up last Thursday at the Committee 

of the Whole meeting as well and we agree that there’s definitely an opportunity to…the intent is 

to, you’re absolutely correct…it is not to go under that 600 and we definitely see an opportunity 

to tighten it up, both in this vesting development agreement as well as the redevelopment 

agreement to ensure that that’s very clearly the floor for on-site affordable housing in the project 

here.  

 



Community Planning and Preservation Commission Meeting Minutes May 14, 2024 
 

4 

 

Commissioner Michaels: Thank you. That’s all I have.  

 

Madam Chair Wannemacher: Thank you. Any other commission members? I do have some 

comments and some questions, and I’ll start with the affordable housing one and that was also 

going to be a comment that I had is that no less than eight times in this report does it mention a 

requirement to build a minimum of 600 affordable workforce housing units on the site. Why is this 

not an absolute mandate, why is there even an option for, you know, buying out of those 600, since 

this is such an important item? Commissioner Michaels, I agree that you brought that up. If that is 

the intent, then it needs to be in writing because there’s no way to hold anybody accountable if it’s 

not in writing. Within paragraph 5 on page 3 of this agreement, it indicates that the minimum 

development requirements must be completed within 30 years. Are there some requirements for 

interim deadlines? Especially those maybe pertaining to affordable housing or does this all have 

to be done within 30 years? Again, you don’t have to answer that…. 

 

Michael Dema: Chair, I can shed a little light on that.  

 

Madam Chair Wannemacher: Yes, please.  

 

Michael Dema: With respect to…so the broad strokes that you see in this development agreement 

are to memorialize the minimum development requirements over the course of a 30-year span here. 

The redevelopment agreement, which it goes into greater detail with respect to phasing of 

affordable housing, which is done over four phases. Then, interim milestones that say how much 

of each use has to be online by, I think December 31st, 2035, and then December 31st 2045. Those 

are kind of…we’ll be using that redevelopment agreement to make sure… 

 

Madam Chair Wannemacher: Further define. 

 

Michael Dema: Further define, correct.  

 

Madam Chair Wannemacher: Okay. And that’s partly what I figured but this is all I’ve got to 

look at. Okay, another…paragraph 6 talks about an annual tracking report and it indicates that the 

developer is responsible for creating the report. Should there not be maybe a neutral third party to 

check in with an audit of some kind, every three, four, five, ten years?  You know, if it’s the 

developer that’s creating the annual report…I mean, I understand the need for that but I’m just 

wondering if there should be a third party creating an audit at some point, you know, just…a 

comment. Again, I am very much in support of this project, I’m in support of the development 

team, very, very strong, the architects, the developers, everybody, and absolutely in support of 

baseball in this city. Yes, we definitely have been hearing rumblings of the redevelopment 

agreement still needing some negotiation and I encourage, actually, I implore the City Council to 

take their time and negotiate on their schedule. Please listen to the Community Benefits Advisory 

Council and the other leaders in the development community and…who are third party removed 

from this agreement and have only the city’s best interest in mind. They have raised very relevant 

concerns in my opinion, regarding the affordable housing penalties, excusable development 

delays, transfers of the development agreement, material defaults by the developer and other 

important topics, and I just…I really think it’s important that the City Council listens to the other 

members in our community as they are negotiating the final details of this agreement, which we 



Community Planning and Preservation Commission Meeting Minutes May 14, 2024 
 

5 

 

know will…it’s going to happen, we just need to make sure it’s really in the best interest of the 

city. We keep hearing about how this is a generational project but in fact, this project is really 

going to affect multiple generations…it’s a multi-generation project, and I believe our city has 

more at risk here because of that than a developer, a baseball team, again, very much in support of 

the project and thank you for listening to my comments.  

 

Commissioner Michaels: Can I…can I add one?  

 

Madam Chair Wannemacher: Yes, Commissioner Michaels.  

 

Commissioner Michaels: There was one other matter that I wanted to get some information about 

and that is the plans for dealing with those who are buried at the Oakland Cemetery or who were 

reburied from the Oakland Cemetery to the Lincoln Cemetery, what…I know there was discussion 

in the application or the original proposal about having the remembrance area on-site and doing 

an archeological survey of the site but you could you just briefly give us an update on where we 

are with that?  

 

Elizabeth Abernethy: Want to do it for me? Okay. I’m going to let the folks that are more in the 

details of that handle that…Brian…Brejesh Prayman.  

 

Brejesh Prayman: Good day, always a pleasure. We did already authorize a consultant to perform 

the archeological survey, the GPR and once we move forward with that and we’ll get better 

information to make the best decision forward, but yes, there’s plans.  

 

Commissioner Michaels: Thank you.  

 

Madam Chair Wannemacher: Thank you. Any other comments?  

 

Elizabeth Abernethy: Just to respond back…I’m sorry or I can wait until everybody’s done.  

 

Commissioner Nelson: You can go if you want. That’s fine. 

 

Elizabeth Abernethy: I just want to let Commissioner Michaels know we have been directed by 

Council that the first Committee of the Whole that follows the Gas Plant will be on our repetitive 

flooding and staff is working collaboratively across departments to prepare for that and there are 

several efforts underway to address parking and water surge issues in our city and that is something 

that is also a top priority for staff, Administration, and City Council. Fortunately, this site does…is 

not in a flood zone, not one of the challenges that are specific to this redevelopment project, but it 

is an issue that is critical, and we are working on…with our city. I just want to say thank you for 

your comments too, and any questions or comments?  

 

Madam Chair Wannemacher: Commissioner Nelson.  

 

 

 



Community Planning and Preservation Commission Meeting Minutes May 14, 2024 
 

6 

 

Commissioner Nelson: I just wanted to make another comment. I wasn’t sure if it was appropriate 

to talk about during this agenda item or the next one. I do feel like for this specific concern, I think 

more so for this one, I’m processing it. Very excited. Very onboard with this. Can’t wait. When I 

was reading through the development agreement, Oaklawn, Evergreen, and Moffit came to mind. 

It actually was brought up at my very first meeting as commissioner here. In the development 

agreement, on item number eight, you talk about reservation of dedication of land. In there, we 

talk about right-of-ways and stuff like that, and I understand that there is going to be a museum as 

a part of this agreement but what’s happened historically and it’s happened with the last 

development of Tropicana Field, was there was a cemetery and then apartments and the apartments 

were taken away and now it’s a parking lot. I hope that this development is all the success in the 

world, I really do, and I hope that the museum is amazing and thrives, but my concern is that what 

if it doesn’t?  do think that perhaps revisiting, and I don’t know if it got brought up at the 

Committee of as a Whole, but dedicating actual land, having a reservation of something like this 

because that’s what made the Gas Plant neighborhood the neighborhood. It was a very historic 

community, and it is a very big concern of mine and I was just a little alarmed that that wasn’t in 

there. I wanted to bring that up.   

 

Madam Chair Wannemacher: Any other comments? Okay. I’ll ask for a motion then.  

 

Commissioner Jeffrey: I’d like to make a motion that we recommend approval of the proposed 

Development Agreement based on the consistency with the goals, objectives, and policies of the 

city’s Comprehensive Plan and with the Land Development Regulations for the 82-acre site known 

as the Historic Gas Plant District, between the City of St. Pete and Hines Historic Gas Plant District 

Partnership.   

 

Madam Chair Wannemacher: Thank you. Do we have a second?  

 

Commissioner Marbet: Second.  

 

Madam Chair Wannemacher: Thank you. Anymore discussion? Roll call, please.  

 

Motion: Commissioner Jeffrey moved to recommend approval of the proposed Development 

Agreement based on the consistency with the goals, objectives, and policies of the city’s 

Comprehensive Plan and with the Land Development Regulations for the 82-acre site known as 

the Historic Gas Plant District, between the City of St. Pete and Hines Historic Gas Plant District 

Partnership, as outlined in the staff report.  
                         
Commissioner Marbet, Second.  
 
 
YES – 7 – Wannemacher, Jeffrey, Marbet, Moultrie, Nelson, Michaels, Magnello.  

NO – 0 – None.  
 
 
Motion approved by a unanimous vote of the Commission. 

 

VII.    UPDATES AND ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
VIII.  ADJOURNMENT at 7:07 P.M.  



Historic Gas Plant District
Development Agreement
City Council
First Reading, Public Hearing
June 13, 2024

CITY OF ST. PETERSBURG



Historic Gas Plant District Redevelopment 

CPPC and City Council
• Development Agreement (AKA the vesting DA)
• Rezoning

City Council
• Redevelopment Agreement (includes Community Benefit Agreement (CBA))

• CRA application 
• Stadium Agreements
• Operating, Non-relocation, Funding, Bond, County

22



33

Historic Gas 
Plant District 
Development 
Agreement



Purpose

• Unified regulatory plan for the entire project, including the stadium which 
allows the District to be developed in a cohesive manner, with an overall 
project wide Floor Area Ratio of 3.0

• Provides that the City’s Land Development Regulations (LDRs) will apply 
to the District as a whole, including FAR, open space, parking, use 
requirements, and public art 

• Documents that public facilities will be available for the proposed 
development plan for the next 30-years;

• Includes a requirement an annual tracking report, to monitor phasing, 
compliance with the LDRs and milestones in the Redevelopment 
Agreement 44

Historic Gas Plant District - Development Agreement



55

LU 2.5  The Land Use Plan shall make the maximum use of 
available public facilities and minimize the need for new 
facilities by directing new development to infill and 
redevelopment locations where excess capacity is 
available.

Historic Gas Plant District - Development Agreement
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan



66

LU 3.4 The Land Use Plan shall provide for compatible 
land use transition through an orderly land use 
arrangement, proper buffering, and the use of physical and 
natural separators.

Historic Gas Plant District - Development Agreement
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan



77

LU3.6  Land use planning decisions shall weigh heavily on 
the established character of predominately developed areas 
where changes of use or intensity of development are 
contemplated.

Historic Gas Plant District - Development Agreement
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan



88

GOAL - HOUSING (H):
To facilitate the provision of decent, safe, sanitary, healthy 
and affordable housing in suitable neighborhoods at 
affordable costs to meet the needs of the present and future 
residents of the city, while preserving and enhancing the 
community’s physical and social fabric, and cultural 
diversity, and while protecting the interests of special needs 
groups, and extremely low, very low, low, and moderate-
income households.

Historic Gas Plant District - Development Agreement
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan



99

T3.1 The City shall implement the Pinellas County Mobility 
Management System through the application of Transportation 
Element policies and site plan and right-of-way utilization 
review processes. Policies pertaining to the application of the 
Mobility Management System are listed below.

e. A traffic study and/or TMP for a development project not 
impacting a deficient road corridor shall be required if 
necessary to address the impact of additional trips generated by 
the project on the surrounding traffic circulation system.

Historic Gas Plant District - Development Agreement
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan



1010

T5.4 The City shall continue the planning, implementation and 
evaluation of TSM techniques that improve traffic flow and 
facilitate parking at major downtown events.

Historic Gas Plant District - Development Agreement
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan



1111

LU5.3 The Concurrency Management System shall 
continue to be implemented to ensure proposed 
development to be considered for approval shall be in 
conformance with existing and planned support facilities 
and that such facilities and services be available, at the 
adopted level of service standards, concurrent with the 
impacts of development.

Historic Gas Plant District - Development Agreement
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan



1212

• Unified plan for the District creating a holistic 
neighborhood

• Overall project wide Floor Area Ratio (FAR) - 3.0
• Compliance with DC district design standards
• Open space
• Public Art
• Height

Historic Gas Plant District - Development Agreement
Consistency with Land Development Regulations 



1313

Public Facilities Analysis 
• Potable water 
• Sanitary sewer 
• Solid waste
• Drainage/Stormwater
• Recreation and open space
• Transportation

Historic Gas Plant District - Development Agreement



1414

Community Planning & Preservation Commission
On May 14, 2024, the CPPC held a public hearing 
regarding the Development Agreement and voted 7 to 0 
to APPROVE the agreement, making a finding of 
consistency with the City of St. Petersburg’s 
Comprehensive Plan and Land Development 
Regulations.

Historic Gas Plant District - Development Agreement



1515

Public Comments 
• Email  - Central 16th  Homeowners Association

Historic Gas Plant District - Development Agreement



1616

Recommendation
1) CONDUCT the first reading and public hearing 
for the proposed ordinance; AND
2) SET the second reading and adoption public 
hearing for July 11, 2024.

Historic Gas Plant District - Development Agreement



280 

 

 

The following page(s) contain the backup material for Agenda Item: Ordinance 793-Z amending the 

Official Zoning Map of the City of St. Petersburg, Florida, by changing the zoning of seven (7) 

publicly-owned parcels, generally located south and west of Tropicana Field and bounded by I-175 

to the south and 18th Street South to the west, from Downtown Center  2 (DC-2) to Downtown 

Center  1 (DC-1); Providing for repeal of conflicting ordinances and provisions thereof; and 

providing an effective date. (City File: ZM-17) (Quasi-judicial) 

Please scroll down to view the backup material. 



J-2

J-2



St. PETERSBURG CITY COUNCIL 
Meeting of June 13, 2024 

TO: The Honorable Deborah Figgs-Sanders, Chair and Members of City Council 

SUBJECT:  Ordinance 793-Z amending the Official Zoning Map of the City of St. Petersburg, Florida, 
by changing the zoning of seven (7) publicly-owned parcels, generally located south and west of Tropicana 
Field and bounded by I-175 to the south and 18th Street South to the west, from Downtown Center – 2 (DC-
2) to Downtown Center – 1 (DC-1); Providing for repeal of conflicting ordinances and provisions thereof;
and providing an effective date. (City File: ZM-17) (Quasi-judicial)

BACKGROUND: The City of St. Petersburg is requesting an amendment to the Official Zoning Map 
from Downtown Center – 2 (DC-2) to Downtown Center – 1 (DC-1) for a 24.33-acre site consisting 
of seven publicly owned parcels located to the west and south of Tropicana Field for the purpose of 
redevelopment of the Historic Gas Plant District. The attached CPPC staff report provides a detailed 
review of the application and maps showing the boundaries of the seven parcels subject to the rezoning 
request. 

At the adoption public hearing, this application will be considered after the City Council takes action 
on the other agreements related to the redevelopment of the 82-acre Tropicana Field site, also known 
as the Historic Gas Plant District, including the Redevelopment Agreement, the Development 
Agreement, and the CRA application. The subject parcels are all included in the master plan for the 
redevelopment, and the rezoning allows for a unified zoning designation, supporting the new vision 
for this District.  

RECOMMENDATION: 
Administration:  City staff recommends APPROVAL. 

Community Planning and Preservation Commission (“CPPC”): On May 14, 2024, the CPPC held a public 
hearing regarding the map amendments and voted 6 to 0, making a finding of consistency with the City of 
St. Petersburg’s Comprehensive Plan and recommending APPROVAL of the map amendments. The CPPC 
staff report and minutes from the CPPC hearing are attached.  

Commissioner comments included: 
 Questions on the future of I-175
 Questions on location of the garages related to comments received from the Central 16th Homeowners

Association
 Concerns regarding the environmental conditions and remediation related to Booker Creek

No members of the public provided comments. 

Recommended City Council Action:  
1) CONDUCT the first reading and first public hearing of the proposed ordinance; AND
2) SET the second reading and adoption public hearing for July 11, 2024.

Attachments: Ordinance, CPPC Staff Report, draft CPPC minutes. 



 

ORDINANCE NO. 793-Z 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP OF THE 
CITY OF ST. PETERSBURG, FLORIDA, BY CHANGING THE ZONING OF 
SEVEN (7) PUBLICLY-OWNED PARCELS, GENERALLY LOCATED 
SOUTH AND WEST OF TROPICANA FIELD AND BOUNDED BY I-175 
TO THE SOUTH AND 18TH STREET SOUTH TO THE WEST, FROM 
DOWNTOWN CENTER-2 (DC-2) TO DOWNTOWN CENTER-1 (DC-1); 
PROVIDING FOR REPEAL OF CONFLICTING ORDINANCES AND 
PROVISIONS THEREOF; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
THE CITY OF ST. PETERSBURG DOES ORDAIN: 

 
SECTION 1.  The Official Zoning Map of the City of St. Petersburg is amended by placing 

the hereinafter described property in a Zoning District as follows: 
 

Property 
 

The following parcels currently designated Downtown Center -2 (DC-2) and as shown on 
“Attachment A”: 
 
Parcel ID Numbers: 

24-31-16-92418-003-0010; 0 3rd Ave S; Pinellas County; 11.03-acres 
24-31-16-92418-001-0010 – 0 1st Ave S - Pinellas County; 2.29-acres 
24-31-16-92418-002-0010 – 0 17th St S - Pinellas County; 0.62-acres 
24-31-16-86381-002-0010 – 200 16th St S - Pinellas County; 6.52-acres 
24-31-16-29718-024-0110 – 0 3rd Ave S - City of St. Petersburg; 0.58-acres 
24-31-16-00000-320-0100 – 0 2nd Ave S - City of St. Petersburg; 0.15-acres 
24-31-16-86381-002-0011 – 0 10th Ave S - City of St. Petersburg; 3.14-acres 

 
Zoning District 

 
From: Downtown Center -2 (DC-2)  

 
To: Downtown Center -1 (DC-1) 
 
 SECTION 2.  All ordinances or portions of ordinances in conflict with or inconsistent with 
this ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of such inconsistency or conflict.  
 
 SECTION 3. COMPLIANCE WITH § 166.041(4), FLORIDA STATUTES. This 
ordinance is enacted to implement Part II of chapter 163, relating to growth policy, county and 
municipal planning, and land development regulation, including zoning, development orders, 
development agreements, and development permits. Therefore, a business impact estimate was not 
required and was not prepared for this ordinance. 
 



 

 SECTION 4.   In the event this ordinance is not vetoed by the Mayor in accordance 
with the City Charter, it shall become effective upon the expiration of the fifth (5th) business day 
after adoption unless the Mayor notifies the City Council through written notice filed with the City 
Clerk that the Mayor will not veto the ordinance, in which case the ordinance shall become 
effective immediately upon filing such written notice with the City Clerk. In the event this 
ordinance is vetoed by the Mayor in accordance with the City Charter, it shall not become effective 
unless and until the City Council overrides the veto in accordance with the City Charter, in which 
case it shall become effective immediately upon a successful vote to override the veto. 
 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND SUBSTANCE:                 CITY FILE ZM-17 
(Zoning)      
 
 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT SERVICES DEPARTMENT    DATE 
 
 
ASSISTANT CITY ATTORNEY        DATE 
 
 

 
  

05/29/24

05/30/24



 

ATTACHMENT A 
  

 



Staff Report to the St. Petersburg Community Planning & Preservation Commission 
Prepared by the Planning & Development Services Department, 

For Public Hearing and Executive Action on Tuesday, May 14, 2024 
at 2:00 p.m. in City Council Chambers, City Hall  

175 5th St North, St. Petersburg, FL 33701 

According to Planning and Development Services records, no Community Planning & Preservation Commission member or his or her spouse 
has a direct or indirect ownership interest in real property located within 1,000 linear feet of real property contained within the application 
(measured by a straight line between the nearest points on the property lines). All other possible conflicts should be declared upon 
announcement of the item. 

City File: ZM-17 
Historic Gas Plant District 

This is a city-initiated application requesting the Community Planning and Preservation Commission 
(“CPPC”), in its capacity as the Local Planning Agency (“LPA”), make a finding of consistency with the 
Comprehensive Plan and recommend to City Council APPROVAL of an amendment to the Official Zoning 
Map from Downtown Center -2 (DC-2) to Downtown Center -1 (DC-1) for publicly owned property located 
to the west and south of Tropicana Field.  

APPLICANT INFORMATION 

OWNERS: 

APPLICANT: 

CITY STAFF: 

City of St. Petersburg and Pinellas County 

City of St. Petersburg 
One 4th Street North 
St. Petersburg, Florida 33701 

Elizabeth Abernethy, AICP 
Planning and Development Services Department 
One 4th Street North 
St. Petersburg, Florida 33701 
Elizabeth.Abernethy@stpete.org 



 
City File ZM-17 

Page 2 

REQUEST 
 

The City of St. Petersburg is requesting an amendment to the Official Zoning Map from Downtown Center -2 
(DC-2) to Downtown Center -1 (DC-1) for a 24.33-acre site consisting of seven publicly owned parcels located 
to the west and south of Tropicana Field for the purpose of redevelopment of the Historic Gas Plant District. 
 

SITE DESCRIPTION 
 

Parcel ID Nos., Street 
Addresses, Owner and 
Acreage: 

24-31-16-92418-003-0010; 0 3rd Ave S; Pinellas County; 11.03-acres 
24-31-16-92418-001-0010 – 0 1st Ave S - Pinellas County; 2.29-acres 
24-31-16-92418-002-0010 – 0 17th St S - Pinellas County; 0.62-acres 
24-31-16-86381-002-0010 – 200 16th St S - Pinellas County; 6.52-acres 
24-31-16-29718-024-0110 – 0 3rd Ave S - City of St. Petersburg; 0.58-acres 
24-31-16-00000-320-0100 – 0 2nd Ave S - City of St. Petersburg; 0.15-acres 
24-31-16-86381-002-0011 – 0 10th Ave S - City of St. Petersburg; 3.14-acres 

Total Acreage: 24.33 
Future Land Use: Central Business District (CBD) with Intown Activity Center (AC) Overly  

Zoning: From Downtown Center -2 (DC-2) to Downtown Center -1 (DC-1) 

Countywide Plan Map: Activity Center (AC) 
Existing Uses: Surface parking for Tropicana Field 
Surrounding Uses: North: Commercial Mixed-use 

South: Interstate – 175    
West: Interstate - 275 
East:  Tropicana Field/Commercial Mixed-Use  

Neighborhood 
Association:  

Partly within the Grand Central and Warehouse Arts District and business 
associations (parcels west of 16th Street South). 

 
 

BACKGROUND 
 

The subject 24.33-acre site consists of seven publicly owned parcels located to the west and south of Tropicana 
Field, see Attachment 1, Map Series. The City of St. Petersburg owns three of the subject parcels totaling 3.87-
acres. Pinellas County owns four of the subject parcels totaling 20.46-acres. Correspondence from Pinellas 
County is included as Attachment 2. Collectively the parcels are currently developed with surface parking lots 
and overflow parking supporting Tropicana Field and are located in the Intown West area of downtown that 
serves as one of the major connections for vehicles and pedestrians between the stadium site and the downtown 
core. 

This application is being considered concurrently with the Redevelopment Agreement, Development 
Agreement, and CRA application related to the redevelopment of the 82-acre Tropicana Field site, also known 
as the Historic Gas Plant District.  The subject parcels are all included in the master plan for the redevelopment 
and the rezoning allows for a unified zoning designation throughout the district, supporting the new vision for 
this District.  

Prior to 2007, the entire area of Downtown west of Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. Street including the subject 
parcels was zoned Central Business District – 4 (CBD-4). This unified zoning district which included 
Tropicana Field was intended to provide for the appropriate development in support of the stadium and 
downtown. The district established performance standards and design guidelines that recognize unique or 
special development situations and design characteristics within the three subdistricts of Central Avenue 
Corridor, intended for retail/office use; Stadium Gateway Areas, designed to serve as key activity nodes 
associated with the Tropicana Field; and Intown Industrial Area, set aside to accommodate demands for 



 
City File ZM-17 

Page 3 

industrial development. The subject parcels are located within the Stadium Gateway Areas subdistrict which 
is identified as areas appropriate for intensive uses and structures with the highest development intensities are 
allowed at these sites.  
 

In 1990, to address the development pressures that would accompany construction of the stadium, and to 
counter the declining investment and economic condition of the Intown and Intown West area in the 1970’s 
and 1980’s, staff conducted a study of the area to evaluate blighted or deteriorated conditions. The 1990 study 
was conducted to: 
 

•  Identify the problems and issues related to the importance of the area as a support district to the City's 
downtown redevelopment effort and construction of the stadium; 

• Address the redevelopment pressures generated by the stadium; and 

•  Formulate strategies to manage and facilitate the development and redevelopment of the area to ensure 
compatibility with the stadium and downtown. 

 
The study recommended that the Intown West area be declared a redevelopment area pursuant to the criteria 
contained in Florida Statutes Chapter 163. Subsequent to the declaration of blight, in June of 1990, City 
Council adopted the Intown West Redevelopment Plan (IWRP) and designated themselves as the Community 
Redevelopment Agency (CRA). During the first decade of the Intown West Redevelopment Plan, most 
investment was limited to renovations and rehabilitations. Consequently, the City, working in cooperation with 
Intown West property owners and other affected parties, reevaluated the zoning regulations to determine if 
they were still appropriate in the late 1990's. This evaluation found that the original zoning regulations were 
not expansive or flexible enough to seriously stimulate development interest in this part of the downtown. 
Furthermore, the regulations were deemed inconsistent with the "Dome District/16th Street South Business 
Plan," which was generated to provide design direction for public and private projects within the area. 
 
In 1999, subsequent amendments to the IWRP primarily provided consistency with the Dome District/16th 
Street South Business Plan and CBD-4 Zoning regulations by establishing mixed-use land use throughout the 
area and providing design guidelines. Amendments eliminated the sub-districts, increased the floor area ratio 
(FAR), provided a FAR bonus for public improvements and desired uses, and reduced the minimum lot size 
to provide greater flexibility and opportunities in the District. They also included streetscaping improvements 
within public rights-of-way such as installation of traffic mast arms; landscaping and street trees; 
enhancements to transit sites; bike lanes; wayfinding signage; and decorative sidewalk improvements. These 
projects were funded on a “pay-as-you-go” basis and were completed by 2011. 
 
In 2007, City Council approved a citywide rezoning that created three new zoning districts within the Intown 
and Intown West community redevelopment areas: Downtown Center–1 (DC-1), Downtown Center-2 (DC-2) 
and Corridor Commercial Suburban-2 (CCS-2). The DC-1 and DC-2 zoning regulations build on the previous 
amendments and create a strongly defined street edge at the base of every building. This base creates a 
pedestrian scaled space while allowing larger and taller buildings to be constructed above and stepped back 
from the pedestrian scaled base. The zoning reinforces the street edges, provides active uses, conceals parking 
areas, and provides streetscape requirements to ensure a positive and unique street life which reinforces the 
pedestrian scale of the area.  
 
The DC-1 Zoning District provides for intense mixed-use development such as office, retail and residential. 
The DC-2 Zoning District provides for intense residential development that still allows for a mixture of uses 
such as support retail and office uses. The DC-2 Zoning District requires a Special Exception approval for non-
residential uses above 25% gross square feet. Both districts provide FAR bonuses for workforce housing, 
providing liners on the first two levels of parking structures, LEED/green building construction, providing 
affordable commercial space, streetscape improvements and support of the preservation of landmarks or 
landmark sites. DC-1 also provides FAR bonuses for a provision of 25% or more of office space and for 
limiting a building to 50% residential use. DC-2 provides a FAR bonus for additional ground level open space.  



 
City File ZM-17 

Page 4 

 

 
 

 CONSISTENCY AND COMPATIBILITY 
 

The primary criteria associated with this application are consistency and compatibility of the requested 
designation with the established surrounding land use and zoning patterns, and the provision of adequate public 
services and facilities.  
 

The Future Land Use of the subject property is Central Business District (CBD) with Intown Activity Center 
(AC) Overlay. The purpose of the CBD land use designation is to allow a mixture of higher intensity retail, 
office, industrial, service, public school and residential uses up to a floor area ratio of 4.0 and a net residential 
density not to exceed the maximum allowable in the land development regulations (LDRs). The existing and 
proposed zoning districts are consistent with the current land use designation, therefore no amendment to the 
Future Land Use Map is proposed. 
 

The existing zoning district of Downtown Center – 2 (DC-2) is intended to provide for intense residential 
development that still allows for a mixture of uses that enhance and support the core and surrounding 
neighborhoods, including the domed stadium. The district also allows support retail and office uses which 
assist the residents with the daily needs of living within this highly urbanized neighborhood. The district 
establishes performance standards and design guidelines appropriate to urban form residential buildings. 
Heights in this district begin to taper down as development sites become less proximate to the core and 
transition to surrounding neighborhoods. However, base setbacks still apply, creating a pedestrian-scale 
environment at the sidewalk level. 
 

The proposed zoning district of Downtown Center – 1 (DC-1) is intended to provide for intense mixed-use 
development which creates a strong mixture of uses that enhance and support the core. Office and other 
employment uses are highly encouraged. Development in this district provides appropriate pedestrian 
amenities, pedestrian linkages, ground level retail, and cultural activities. Buildings and streetscaping (both 



 
City File ZM-17 

Page 5 

hardscape and landscape improvements) are designed in a manner that promotes a successful people-oriented 
downtown area as exemplified and defined in the intown and intown west redevelopment plans. 
The prosed rezoning will provide a unified zoning designation throughout the planned redevelopment for the 
Historic Gas Plant District as further detailed in the proposed Historic Gas Plant District Development 
Agreement, helping to create a new downtown neighborhood that will be compatible in density, intensity, 
height, and uses with the surrounding downtown districts and neighborhoods to the north and east.  
 
Both DC-2 and DC-1 (west of Dr, Martin Luther King, Jr Street) zoning districts allow for the same base FAR 
approval of 3.0, the same bonus FAR streamline approval between 3.0 and 5.0 and the same bonus FAR public 
hearing approval thresholds between 5.0 and 7.0 (see below Maximum Intensity table). The maximum density 
in any downtown center district is limited by FAR and there are no dwelling units per acre limits.  
 

Maximum Intensity 
 DC-1 (West of Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. St.) DC-2 
Base approval (floor area ratio)  3.0  3.0  
Bonus approval, streamline (floor area 
ratio)  

Greater than 3.0 and equal to or less than 
5.0  

Greater than 3.0 and equal to or 
less than 5.0  

Bonus approval, public hearing (floor 
area ratio)  

Greater than 5.0 and equal to or less than 
7.0  

Greater than 5.0 and equal to or 
less than 7.0  

There shall be no minimum lot area in any downtown center district.  
Maximum density in any downtown center district shall be limited by FAR. Units per acre do not apply. 

 
Key differences in the DC-1 and DC-2 zoning districts are DC-2 has a greater emphasis on intense residential 
development while DC-1 emphasizes a mixture of uses, encouraging office and employment.  The DC-1 
zoning district provides for FAR exemptions for office and hotel uses and the DC-2 zoning district requires a 
minimum of 75% gross square footage to be residential or hotel uses. The building height is based on the DC 
height map and there will be no change in height as a result of the rezoning.   
 

The requested amendment to the DC-1 zoning district is appropriate at this location as it is consistent with 
several Comprehensive Plan goals, objectives, and policies, which are included in the following section of the 
report and it provides a unified designation for the planned redevelopment of the Historic Gas Plant District.  
 
 

RELEVANT CONSIDERATIONS ON AMENDMENTS TO THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP 
 

Staff reviewed this application in the context of the following criteria excerpted from the City Code Section 
16.70.040.1.1 Amendments to the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Regulations, the review and 
decision shall be guided by the following factors:  

1. Compliance of the proposed use with the goals, objectives, policies, and guidelines of the 
Comprehensive Plan.  

The following staff analysis is provided to address compliance with the following policies and objectives 
from the Comprehensive Plan: 

 

LU 2.5  The Land Use Plan shall make the maximum use of available public facilities and minimize the 
need for new facilities by directing new development to infill and redevelopment locations 
where excess capacity is available. 

  

The subject amendment is supporting redevelopment of the Tropicana Field baseball stadium 
and surrounding parking lots in an area served by public facilities with excess capacity. The 
associated Development Agreement includes a Public Facilities Analysis demonstrating 
available capacity for the redevelopment, including the parcels subject to this rezoning 
application.  

 



 
City File ZM-17 

Page 6 

LU3.4       The Land Use Plan shall provide for compatible land use transition through an orderly land 
use arrangement, proper buffering, and the use of physical and natural separators. 

 

The subject 24.33-acre site is located at the northeast intersection of two interstate highways 
that will provide buffering and act as a physical separator to adjacent zoning districts to the 
south and west. The proposed zoning change from DC-2 to DC-1 is consistent with the 
neighboring zoning to the east and north creating an orderly land use transition. Additionally, 
the land use category of Central Business District (CBD) remains unchanged.  

 

LU3.6 Land use planning decisions shall weigh heavily on the established character of 
predominately developed areas where changes of use or intensity of development are 
contemplated. 

 

The proposed intensity of the redevelopment plan is within the allowances of the existing 
CBD Future Land Use category and the DC zoning designations, with no increases in 
development allowances contemplated or proposed for the project, including the parcels 
subject to the rezoning request.  
 
The proposed Historic Gas Plant District is consistent with the existing pattern of the general 
surrounding area where the majority of uses are mixed-use urban scale developments.  The 
District is consistent with the Intown West Redevelopment Plan as the District provides 
appropriate pedestrian amenities, pedestrian linkages, ground level retail, and cultural 
activities. Additionally, City council, sittings as the Community Redevelopment Agency 
(CRA) will be reviewing the CRA application concurrently with this Development 
Agreement. The proposed Historic Gas Plant District will replace surface parking lots with 
new buildings conforming to the downtown design requirements. Buildings and 
streetscaping (both hardscape and landscape improvements) will be designed in a manner 
that promotes a successful people-oriented downtown area as exemplified and defined in the 
Intown and Intown West redevelopment plans.  The redevelopment plan with an appropriate 
mix of uses will reestablish this neighborhood as a well-integrated component with the 
surrounding neighborhoods and business districts.  

 
LU3.7 Land use planning decisions shall include a review to determine whether existing Land Use 

Plan boundaries are logically drawn in relation to existing conditions and expected future 
conditions. 
 

The proposed District boundary including the subject parcels is logically drawn in relation 
to existing and expected future conditions as it includes the Tropicana Field site with the 
surrounding surface parking lots and accommodates the future sports stadium.  There is no 
change to the Land Use Plan designation of CBD for the subject parcels.  

 
LU3.8  The City shall protect existing and future residential uses from incompatible uses, noise, 

traffic, and other intrusions that detract from the long-term desirability of an area through 
appropriate land development regulations. 

 

The location of the land uses within the proposed District as shown in the Redevelopment 
Plan and which includes the subject parcels respects existing and future residential uses by 
placing the most intensive land uses to the interior of the District (Museum, Entertainment) 
and to the northeast (Sports Stadium).   

 
LU3.11 More dense residential uses (more than 7.5 units per acre) may be located along (1) 

passenger rail lines and designated major streets or (2) in close proximity to activity 
centers where compatible. 

 

The subject parcels are located within the Intown Activity Center (AC) where the Pinellas 



 
City File ZM-17 

Page 7 

Trail transects the District which is bounded by major streets including 1st Avenue South, 
Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. Street South, 16th Street South and the Interstate. 

  

LU3.15 The Land Use Plan shall provide housing opportunities for a variety of households of various 
age, sex, race and income by providing a diversity of zoning categories with a range of 
densities and lot requirements.  

  

 Both the existing zoning district of DC-2 and proposed district of DC-1 provide for unlimited 
FAR exemption of square footage dedicated to workforce housing and the first 1.0 FAR 
bonus is workforce housing. The proposed Development Agreement includes provisions for 
construction of affordable housing within the District.  

 

LU5.3 The Concurrency Management System shall continue to be implemented to ensure proposed 
development to be considered for approval shall be in conformance with existing and 
planned support facilities and that such facilities and services be available, at the adopted 
level of service standards, concurrent with the impacts of development. 

 

 The proposed rezoning will not have an impact on the City’s adopted LOS standards for 
public services and facilities including potable water, sanitary sewer, solid waste, recreation, 
and stormwater management. The Historic Gas Plant District Development Agreement 
provides a Public Facilities Analysis for the proposed development in the District and 
demonstrates that there will be public services available for the planned redevelopment.   

 
LU13.1  Development proposals in community redevelopment areas shall be reviewed for compliance 

with the goals, objectives and policies of the Comprehensive Plan and the goals, objectives 
and policies of the applicable adopted redevelopment plan including: 

1. Intown Redevelopment Plan; 
2. Bayboro Harbor Redevelopment Plan; 
3. Intown West Redevelopment Plan; and 
4. South St. Petersburg Redevelopment Plan. 
 

City Council sitting as the CRA will be reviewing the Historic Gas Plant District concurrently 
with this proposed rezoning. The rezoning to unify the designation for the District supports 
the Intown West Redevelopment Plan objectives specifically by establishing a program that 
will reinforce a cohesive development pattern and facilitate new development and 
rehabilitation.  

 
LU13.2  The City shall continue to review downtown development trends and related redevelopment 

plans to ensure that all downtown area redevelopment efforts are coordinated and reflect 
the best possible vision for the future of the downtown area. 

 
 The subject parcels are part of the redevelopment vision of the Historic Gas Plant District 

and are included as part of the Development and Redevelopment agreements which are being 
reviewed concurrently with this application.  

 
LU19.3  The land use pattern shall contribute to minimizing travel requirements and anticipate and 

support increased usage of mass transit systems.  
 
 The amendment area is in close proximity to the SunRunner Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) 13th 

Street South Station, which will contribute to minimizing travel requirements for residents 
and visitors to the new stadium, office, retail and entertainment uses. 

 



 
City File ZM-17 

Page 8 

LU23.1  The City’s development review policies and procedures shall continue to integrate land use 
and transportation planning so that land development patterns support mobility choices and 
reduced trip lengths. 

 

 See above response to LU19.3. Additionally, the subject parcels close proximity to 
commercial uses will ensure that future residents will have safe and convenient access to 
employment and needed goods and services resulting in reduced automobile trip lengths. 

 

PR1.1 The right of a property owner to physically possess and control his or her interests in the 
property, including easements, leases, or mineral rights. 

 

 The subject parcels are currently government owned. The City St. Petersburg has initiated 
the subject zoning map amendment to further city-wide goals and objectives and assist in 
the proposed redevelopment of the Historic Gas Plant District. 

 

PR1.2 The right of a property owner to use, maintain, develop, and improve his or her property 
for personal use or the use of any other person, subject to state law and local ordinances. 

 

  The City of St. Petersburg has initiated the subject zoning map amendment in support of 
redevelopment goals for the Historic Gas Plant District.   

 

PR1.3 The right of the property owner to privacy and to exclude others from the property to 
protect the owner’s possessions and property. 

 The subject property is government owned by both the City St. Petersburg and Pinellas 
County. The Redevelopment agreement will further detail future conveyances to the 
developer. 

 
PR1.4 The right of a property owner to dispose of his or her property through sale or gift. 

 The proposed rezoning will not alter the property owners right to dispose of their property 
through sale or gift.  

 
2.  Whether the proposed amendment would adversely affect environmentally sensitive lands or 

properties which are documented as habitat for listed species as defined by the Conservation 
Element of the Comprehensive Plan.  

The proposed amendment would not adversely affect any environmentally sensitive land or properties 
which are documented as habitat for listed species as defined by the conservation element of the 
Comprehensive Plan.  The majority of the subject site is surface parking or open maintained lawn.  The 
proposed redevelopment envisions the restoration of Booker Creek. 

3.    Whether the proposed changes would alter the population density pattern and thereby 
 adversely affect residential dwelling units.  

The existing and proposed zoning districts of DC-2 and DC-1 (west of Dr, Martin Luther King, Jr Street) 
zoning districts both allow for the same base FAR approval of 3.0, the same bonus FAR streamline 
approval between 3.0 and 5.0 and the same bonus FAR public hearing approval thresholds between 5.0 
and 7.0 (see below Maximum Intensity table). Therefore, the proposed population density pattern will not 
be not altered. The DC-1 district has a greater emphasis on employment uses. 

4.     Impact of the proposed amendment upon the adopted level of service (LOS) for public services and 
facilities including water, sewer, sanitation, recreation and stormwater management. The POD may 
require the applicant to prepare and present with the application whatever studies are necessary to 
determine what effects the amendment will have on the LOS.  

 



 
City File ZM-17 

Page 9 

The proposed rezoning will not have an impact on the City’s adopted LOS standards for public services 
and facilities including potable water, sanitary sewer, solid waste, recreation, and stormwater 
management. The associated Development Agreement provides for the Public Facilities analysis for the 
proposed 3.0 FAR and project uses. The following section provides an overview of traffic impacts.  
 
The City eliminated LOS standards for major roads and transit when it adopted the Pinellas County 
Mobility Plan in 2016.  The Mobility Plan provides a countywide framework for a coordinated multimodal 
approach to managing the traffic impacts of development projects as a replacement for local transportation 
concurrency systems, which the State of Florida no longer requires.  The City continues to monitor the 
LOS for motor vehicles on major roadways and the availability of transit service.  The City also continues 
to assess the impact of land development projects, proposed rezonings, and Future Land Use Map 
amendments on the transportation system.  
 
TRAFFIC 
Existing Roadway Network 
Road segments that border and transverse the subject area are shown in the table below.  Five road 
segments are on the Future Major Streets Map (Map 20) of the City’s Comprehensive Plan, and the other 
five segments are local roads.  Lane arrangements range from two-lane, undivided to four-lane, one-way 
facilities.  The City maintains all road segments except for I-175, I-275 and I-375 which the Florida 
Department of Transportation (FDOT) maintains. 

 

 
 

Roadway 

 
 

Segment 

 
Functional 

Classification 

 
Lane 

Arrangement 

 
 

Ownership 
Dr. ML King 
Jr. Street 4th Avenue S to I-175 Minor arterial 4-lane, one way City 
10th Street At 4th Avenue S Local road 2-lane, undivided City 
16th Street 3rd Avenue S to 5th Avenue S Collector 4-lane, divided City 
17th Street 1st Avenue S to 3rd Avenue S Local road 2-lane, undivided City 
18th Street 3rd Avenue S to 5th Avenue S Local road 2-lane, undivided City 
1st Avenue S 16th Street to 17th Street Minor arterial 2-lane, one way City 
3rd Avenue S 16th Street to 18th Street Local road 2-lane, undivided City 
4th Avenue S/ 
5th Avenue S 

Dr. ML King Jr. Street to 
16th Street Local road 2-lane, one way City 

5th Avenue S 16th Street to 18th Street Collector 4-lane, undivided City 

I-175 
Dr. ML King Jr. Street to 
18th Street Interstate system 4-lane, one way FDOT 

I-275 I-375 I-175 6-lane, two way FDOT 
 

The City utilizes the Forward Pinellas “2023 Annual Level of Service Report” to monitor roadway levels 
of service (LOS) for major streets, per Policy T3.2 of the City’s Comprehensive Plan.  According to the 
FDOT, roadway LOS is a quantitative performance measure that represents quality of service, measured 
on an “A” to “F” scale, with LOS “A” representing the best operating conditions from the traveler’s 
perspective and LOS “F” the worst.  Before the elimination of state-mandated transportation concurrency 
regulations, the City’s LOS standard was “D” for major roads.  The FDOT’s current target for state 
highways in urbanized areas, such as I-175, is “D.”  LOS “D” can also be viewed as a target for roads not 
on the state highway system, but it is no longer the City’s standard, as noted. 
 



 
City File ZM-17 

Page 10 

The 2023 Annual LOS Report provides traffic operating conditions on the major roads that border and 
traverse the subject area, as shown in the following table.  Excess capacity is the additional number of 
trips that the roads can carry in the peak direction of travel during the peak hour of traffic.  All of the local 
road segments and I-175 operate at a LOS “D” or better and have a significant amount of excess capacity.  
The site does not have access to I-275, which functions at a LOS “F.”  The FDOT has programmed lane 
continuity improvements on I-275 from south of 54th Avenue South to northern St. Petersburg.  Express 
lanes are programmed for I-275 north of I-375. 

 

Roadway Segment 

 
Average 
Annual 
Daily 

Traffic 

 
Volume 

to 
Capacity 

Ratio 
Facility 

LOS Lanes 
Excess 

Capacity 
1st Avenue S  34th Street S to 3rd Street 11,500 0.708 D 2 451 
16th Street Central Avenue to 18th Avenue S 11,500 0.408 C 4 870 
Dr. ML King 
Jr. Street S Central Avenue to 8th Street 13,428 0.374 C 4 1,910 
I-175  I-275 to 4th Street 31,550 0.261 B 4 2,704 
I-275 I-375 to I-175 125,500 0.441 F 6 None 

 
 

Sidewalks 
Adjacent to the subject area, there are sidewalks on Dr. ML King Jr. Street, 16th Street, 1st Avenue South, 
3rd Avenue South, 4th Avenue South, and 5th Avenue South. 
 
Bicycle Network 
The Pinellas Trail traverses the western section of the subject area.  There are bicycle lanes on 16th Street 
South and 1st Avenue South. 
 
TRANSIT 
The Citywide level of service for mass transit will not be affected.  The subject area is well-served by 
public transit.  The SunRunner is PSTA’s most popular route.  It provides a rapid, frequent, and reliable 
service between downtown St. Petersburg, western St. Petersburg, South Pasadena, and St. Pete Beach and 
has long operating hours.  Several other routes within close proximity to the subject area, including Routes 
7, 15, 20, 23, 79, and 32 (Downtown Circulator).  The headways for the routes and destinations they serve 
are provided in the table below. 

 

 
Route 

 
Headway 
(Minutes) 

 
Destinations 

7 50 Downtown St. Petersburg, Jordan Park, Campbell Park, Grand Central 
Station, Tyrone Gardens Shopping Center, Tyrone Square Mall 

15 60 Downtown St. Petersburg, 15th Ave S, Gibbs High School, Grand Central 
Station, Town Shores Apartments, Gulfport Casino 

20 60 25 Way S & Roy Hanna Dr, Skyway Plaza, Dr ML King St/9 St S, Downtown 
St. Petersburg, 9 Ave N, Tyrone Square Mall 

23 30 Tyrone Square Mall, Gulfport Casino, Lakeview Shopping Center, 22 Ave S, 
Downtown St. Petersburg 



 
City File ZM-17 

Page 11 

32 35 

Downtown St. Petersburg Circulator: Downtown St. Petersburg, Sunshine 
Senior Center, Mirror Lake Area, St. Anthony’s Hospital, John Knox 
Apartments, Greyhound Bus Terminal, Tropicana Field, Graham Park, 
Bayfront Medical Center, All Children’s Hospital, Suncoast Medical Center, 
Publix Supermarket 

79 30 
US 19 Frontage Rd, Whitney Rd, 58th St, Ulmerton Rd/SR 688, 66 St N, Park 
66 Shopping Center, Tyrone Square Mall, St. Petersburg College, Lutheran 
Residences, Bethany Towers, Pasadena Shopping Center, Gulfport Blvd/22 
Ave S, 5 Ave S, Grand Central Station, Downtown St. Petersburg 

SunRunner 15 peak/ 
30 off-peak 

Connecting Downtown St. Petersburg, Central Ave. business districts, 
Pasadena, and St. Pete Beach, the SunRunner is a fast, reliable way to explore 
one of Pinellas County’s busiest corridors.   

 
PSTA offers several programs that provide discounted or late-night bus service to qualifying individuals, 
including the Late Night, Direct Connect, and Access Programs.  The City has an agreement with PSTA to 
fully buy down the cost for 10-day passes and monthly passes for City residents who qualify for PSTA’s 
Transportation Disadvantaged Program, with an option to extend the agreement for another two years. 
 
 
MAX Index 
Forward Pinellas has developed a multimodal accessibility index (MAX index).  MAX scores are assigned to 
individual quarter-mile grid cells, which Forward Pinellas defines as a reasonable walkable travel shed.  The 
MAX score is based on factors such as bicycle facilities, premium transit services, walkability, roadway LOS, 
scooter/bike-share locations, transit access, and programmed transportation projects.  The subject area is 
located in four grid cells with MAX scores ranging from 27.75 to 59.5.  The countywide average MAX score 
is 7.5.  the higher score in the northwestern portion of the subject area is attributable to the SunRunner stops 
and Pinellas Trail. 
 

 



 
City File ZM-17 

Page 12 

 
 

5. Appropriate and adequate land area sufficient for the use and reasonably anticipated operations 
and expansions;  

 

The associated Development Agreement provides for a project build out which is appropriate and 
adequate for supporting redevelopment goals of the Historic Gas Plant District.  
 

6. The amount and availability of vacant land or land suitable for redevelopment for similar uses in 
the City or on contiguous properties;  

 

The City has a limited availability of consolidated lots such as the subject property that can support the 
large-scale redevelopment which includes a new Sports Stadium, office, commercial and residential uses.  
 

7. Whether the proposed change is consistent with the established land use pattern of the areas in 
reasonable proximity;  

 

As stated above in Policy LU3.4, the subject 24.33-acre site is located at the northeast intersection of 
two interstate highways that will provide buffering and act as a physical separator to adjacent zoning 
districts to the south and west. The proposed zoning change from DC-2 to DC-1 is consistent with the 
neighboring zoning to the east and north creating an orderly land use transition. Additionally, the land 
use category of Central Business District (CBD) remains unchanged. 

8. Whether the existing district boundaries are logically drawn in relation to existing conditions 
on the property proposed for change;  

 

The existing district boundaries are logically drawn in relation to the existing parking areas and are 
consistent with the proposed Historic Gas Plant District boundaries.  

9. If the proposed amendment involves a change from residential to a nonresidential use or 
mixed use, whether more nonresidential land is needed in the proposed location to provide 
services or employment to residents of the City;  

 

Both the existing and requesting zoning districts allow for residential use.  The DC-1 District has a 
greater emphasis on employment uses, while still allowing a mix of intense residential. 

 
10. Whether the subject property is within the 100-year floodplain, hurricane evacuation level 

zone A or Coastal High Hazard Area as identified in the coastal management element of 
the Comprehensive Plan;  

 

The subject property is not within the 100-year flood plain, a hurricane evacuation zone or the 
Coastal High Hazard Area.  

 
11. Other pertinent facts.  

 

The Community Planning and Preservation Commission and City Council may bring up other 
pertinent information as necessary. 

 



 
City File ZM-17 

Page 13 

CONSISTENCY WITH THE COUNTYWIDE PLAN: 
 

Proposed amendments to local future land use plans and land development regulations are required to be 
consistent with the Countywide Plan Map and the criteria and standards set forth in the Countywide Rules. 
The subject property’s Countywide Plan Map designation of Activity Center is consistent with the proposed 
City zoning designation of DC-1, therefore an amendment to the Countywide Map is not required and the 
rezoning is consistent.  
 
 

PUBLIC NOTICE and COMMENTS  
 

Public Notice 
Public notification letters were sent by direct mail to neighboring property owners, neighborhood associations 
and business associations within 300-linear feet of the subject property.  
 
Public Comments 
To date, staff has received one email providing general comments related to the proposed rezoning and 
associated Development Agreement, see Attachment 3.   
 

PUBLIC HEARING PROCESS 
 

The proposed ordinance associated with the Zoning Map amendment requires one (1) public hearing with the 
Community Planning & Preservation Commission (CPPC) and two (2) public hearings with City Council.  
 
SUMMARY 
 

The Staff analysis is to determine whether the proposed Amendment is consistent with the policies of the 
Comprehensive Plan. Based on the analysis contained in this report, City staff finds that the proposed Zoning 
Map amendment at the subject location is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan in the review of the Land 
Use, Utilities, Housing, and Transportation Elements.  
 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

Staff recommends that the Community Planning and Preservation Commission (CPPC), in its capacity as the 
Local Planning Agency, make a finding of consistency with the Comprehensive Plan and recommend to City 
Council APPROVAL of the Official Zoning Map amendment described herein.  

 

REPORT PREPARED BY: 
 
       
 
Elizabeth Abernethy, AICP       DATE 
Director, Planning & Development Services Department 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. Subject Area Maps 
2. Correspondence from Pinellas County 
3. Public Comments  

May 7, 2024



City File ZM-17 

ATTACHMENT NO. 1 

Map Series



BAUM AVE N

15
TH

 S
T 

N

I-175

1ST AVE S

1ST AVE N

CENTRAL AVE

16
TH

 S
T 

S

10
TH

 S
T 

S

17
TH

 S
T 

S

DR
 M

 L
 K

IN
G 

JR
 S

T 
S

2ND AVE S

3RD AVE S

5TH AVE S

11
TH

 S
T 

N

17
TH

 S
T 

N

16
TH

 S
T 

N

18
TH

 S
T 

N

11
TH

 S
T 

S

13
TH

 S
T 

S

18
TH

 S
T 

S 3RD AVE S

CITY FILE

SCALE: 1 " = 340 '

ZM-17

AERIAL

SUBJECT AREA 



 



 





City File ZM-17 

ATTACHMENT NO. 2 

Correspondence from Pinellas County 



From: White, Jewel <jwhite@pinellas.gov>  
Sent: Thursday, April 11, 2024 4:45 PM 
To: Bonneau, Tyler <tbonneau@pinellas.gov>; Burton, Barry <bburton@pinellas.gov>; Crowell, Don S 
<dcrowell@pinellas.gov>; Eggers, Dave <deggers@pinellas.gov>; Herring, Darlina 
<dherring@pinellas.gov>; Justice, Charlie <cjustice@pinellas.gov>; Klug, Della <dklug@pinellas.gov>; 
Latvala, Christopher <clatvala@pinellas.gov>; Lee, Bobbie Shay <blee@pinellas.gov>; Lewis, Jamie E 
<jelewis@pinellas.gov>; Long, Janet C <JanetCLong@pinellas.gov>; Matos, Allyson A 
<aamatos@pinellas.gov>; Morrow, Jessica <jmorrow@pinellas.gov>; O'Donnell, Stacy 
<sodonnell@pinellas.gov>; Peters, Kathleen <kpeters@pinellas.gov>; Robinson-Flowers, Rene 
<rflowers@pinellas.gov>; Scott, Brian <brscott@pinellas.gov>; Stillo, Tony <testillo@pinellas.gov>; 
Vandenberg, Courtney <cvandenberg@pinellas.gov>; White, Jewel <jwhite@pinellas.gov> 
Subject: Tropicana Field Rezoning 
  
The City of St. Petersburg is preparing to seek a City-initiated rezoning of the Tropicana Field 
property.  Given additional notice requirements the City imposes upon itself, the first notice will be 
mailed out tomorrow (or shortly thereafter) to those property owners within a designated distance of 
the subject property. The City will be seeking to rezone the subject property from DC-2 to DC-1.  This 
action will not require a land use amendment at either the local or countywide level.  Thus, this matter 
will not come before you sitting as the Countywide Planning Authority.   
As you know, the County owns the subject property, however it is also subject to the Tropicana Field 
Lease-Back and Management Agreement between the County and City, dated October 17, 2002, which 
refers to the property as “the Dome.”  One of the intended goals of that agreement is to make it clear 
that “the City will be the sole, singular party responsible for the critical functions of operating, 
managing, maintaining, and promoting the Dome.”  In furtherance of this goal, the agreement squarely 
places responsibility for any “additions, alterations, installations, partitions, or changes” on the subject 
property on the City and requires that any such activities be done in full compliance with any relevant 
laws.  Thus, the City will be moving forward with a request to rezone the property in order to ensure 
that future development there is fully compliant will applicable laws related to such 
development.  Given the express terms of the agreement, the City is the appropriate party to move 
forward with the rezoning request. 
Please feel free to contact me with any questions.     
Jewel 
  
Jewel White, County Attorney 
Pinellas County Attorney’s Office 
Florida Bar Board Certified in City,  
County & Local Government Law 
315 Court Street 
Clearwater, FL 33756 
(727) 464-3354 
jwhite@pinellas.gov  
 



City File ZM-17 

ATTACHMENT NO. 3 

Public Comments 



ZM-17: Public Comments 

From: Robb Roth <rroth3578@gmail.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, April 17, 2024 11:53 AM 
To: Britton N. Wilson <Britton.Wilson@stpete.org> 
Subject: Application No.: ZM-17 Gas Plant District 
 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you 
recognize the sender and know the content is safe. 
 
Mr. Wilson, 
 
Good Morning, My name is Rob Roth, the HOA President for the Central 16th Homeowners 
Association. Our association is situated on the corner of 16th St. S and 1st Ave S, with my corner 
unit adjacent to the stadium.  

While I am not opposed to modifying the zoning map, I would like to submit the following 
considerations for your review: 

1. Stadium Traffic Concerns: As the only ground-level condo community in the district that has 
dealt with both vehicular and pedestrian stadium traffic, we kindly request a reprieve from 
such activity. Specifically, we propose that the land located on the southwest corner of 1st 
Ave S and 16th St N not be utilized for a parking deck or any other transient-type activity. 
Instead, we envision this plot, currently a ground-level parking lot, being used for residential 
or office space or a park (I know). 

2. Parking Deck Placement: We recommend constructing parking decks along the highway to 
facilitate smoother ingress and egress for community events. This strategic placement 
would alleviate congestion around our neighborhood and hopefully cut back on noise 
pollution. 

3. Preserving Green Space: As our side of town experiences growth, we are losing valuable 
green space for our pets. We propose either restricting new developments from allowing 
pets or incorporating dedicated green areas for dog walks. This balance would enhance the 
quality of life for both residents and their furry companions. 

Thank you for considering our suggestions. We look forward to contributing positively to the 
development of our community. 

Sincerely, 

Rob Roth HOA President Central 16th Homeowners Association 

P: 732-670-8030 
 



 

 

 
 

CITY OF ST. PETERSBURG 

COMMUNITY PLANNING & PRESERVATION COMMISSION  

PUBLIC HEARING 

 

Council Chambers, City Hall                                                                                   May 14, 2024 

175 – 5th Street North                            Tuesday 

St. Petersburg, Florida 33701 2:00 P.M. 

  

MEETING MINUTES 
 

Present: Lisa Wannemacher, Chair 

 Robert “Bob” Jeffrey, Vice-Chair  

 Ashley Marbet 

 Shannon Nelson 

 Cassie Gardner (left meeting at 4:00 p.m.) 

 Manita Moultrie (left meeting at 5:20 p.m.) 

 Will Michaels, Alternate 

 Joseph Magnello, Alternate 
 
Commissioners Absent: Abel Carrasco 
 
Staff Present: James Corbett, City Development Administrator  

 Elizabeth Abernethy, Director of Planning & Development Services 

Department 

Derek Kilborn, Manager, Urban Planning & Historic Preservation 

Division 

Brejesh Prayman, Engineering Director 

Evan Mory, Transportation and Parking Management Director 

Thomas Whalen, Transportation Planning Coordinator 

Britton Wilson, Planner II 

Braydon Evans, Planner II 

Andrew Jurewicz, Planner II 

 Kelly Perkins, Historic Preservationist II 

 Cindy Kochanek, Historic Preservationist II 

 Heather Judd, Assistant City Attorney 

 Michael Dema, Assistant City Attorney 

 Sarah Lucker, Assistant City Attorney 

 Iris Winn, Clerk 

Katherine Connell, Administrative Assistant,  

         

The public hearing was called to order at 2:00 p.m., a quorum was present. 

 



Community Planning and Preservation Commission Meeting Minutes May 14, 2024 
 

2 

 

I.     OPENING REMARKS OF CHAIR  
 
II.    ROLL CALL 
 
III. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND SWEARING IN OF WITNESSES 
 
IV.  MINUTES (Approval of April 9, 2024, Minutes) 
 
The minutes from the April 9, 2024, meeting were approved unanimously. 
 
V. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
No public comments were made during this portion of the meeting.  
 
VI. QUASI-JUDICIAL HEARING  

 

3. City File: ZM-17 – Historic Gas Plant District Rezoning         

City Staff: Elizabeth Abernethy 

Request (2:27:11): City-initiated amendment to the Official Zoning Map from Downtown Center -2 

(DC-2) to Downtown Center -1 (DC-1) for a 24.33-acre site consisting of seven publicly owned parcels 

located to the west and south of Tropicana Field for the purpose of redevelopment of the Historic Gas 

Plant District. 
 
City Staff Presentation (2:26:12): 
 
Elizabeth Abernethy gave a PowerPoint presentation based on the staff report.  

 

Executive Session (2:19:22): 
 
Madam Chair Wannemacher: Thank you. Any questions from the commissioners? Yes.  

 

Commissioner Magnello: Is there any validity to the I-75 discussion of being removed?  

 

Elizabeth Abernethy: I’m going to let one of my colleagues give you the update on what’s 

happening with those. Thank you, Evan.  

 

Evan Mory: Hello. Good afternoon, everyone. I’m Evan Mory, Director of Transportation and 

Parking Management for the city. The Downtown Mobility Study published a couple of years ago 

did recommend further analysis, not an implementation of any changes to I-75. They 

recommended no changes to I-375, no further evaluation for that. Where we are now is DOT has 

programmed money into the work program to further study I-75 and its future. They’re studying 

three concepts. One would be removal and replacement of the boulevard. The second would be a 

rebuild of Ida, so it’s built up in the air and has more permeability underneath. The third is a no-

build. All of those options are on the table and there is certainly not one that has been evaluated 

enough to make a decision but with the timing, this would be good because we would be informed 

about this project before that study is completed.  

 

Madam Chair Wannemacher: Thank you.  

 

Evan Mory: You’re welcome.  

 



Community Planning and Preservation Commission Meeting Minutes May 14, 2024 
 

3 

 

Madam Chair Wannemacher: Very interesting.  

 

Commissioner Magnello: In your staff recommendation, where I’m assuming these options are 

taken into consideration with these zone changes, if say one of those options were boulevards or 

something were even removed, were those taken into consideration when making the 

recommendation for the zoning change?  

 

Elizabeth Abernethy: I think regardless of whether the interstate is there or becomes a surface, it 

still acts as a separator to the residential neighborhoods to the south and we also have park facilities 

there that provide additional buffering. Again, the unified zoning district of DC-1 just gives the 

opportunity to bring that Masterplan forward in a way that’s most effective and efficient in mixing 

of uses.  

 

Commissioner Magnello: Appreciate it.  

 

Commissioner Michaels: One consideration there is you have the hospital, Bayfront Hospital 

with emergency vehicles trying to get emergency access there, I’m not going in favor of any 

particular option, but that’s something that would need to be addressed. I did have…you mentioned 

the letter from the HOA Homeowner’s Association, the 16th Street Homeowner’s Association. 

They talked about, “…We recommend constructing parking decks along the highway to facilitate 

smoother ingress and egress for community events…”. What is the thought on that? Is that being 

looked at as a part of the plan?  

 

Elizabeth Abernethy: I can let some of my colleagues’ address that, but that was one of the main 

reasons we’re going to be requiring a detailed plan that will help us understand what the traffic 

movement is going to be during large events and that is forthcoming, but maybe…Evan seems to 

have something that he’d like to add to that. Thank you.  

 

Evan Mory: Yes, so that comment kind of came in after some initial decisions about garage layout 

were made and the garage that’s on 16th Street or proposed to be 16th Street and 1st Avenue is in a 

strategic location being that it could receive traffic coming from the west that’s not on the 

SunRunner, that’s not using the interstate. There’s that proposed garage, but there’s really over 

time, parking throughout because parking will be integrated into different buildings. It’s not being 

concentrated there, and in fact, the first garage planned to be built will come out of the ground 

right by the interstate at I-75 and about 8th Street. I’m sorry, not 8th Street, 10th Street.  

 

Commissioner Michaels: Thank you.  

 

Commissioner Nelson: I have a comment.  

 

Madam Chair Wannemacher: Commissioner Nelson.  

 

 

 

 



Community Planning and Preservation Commission Meeting Minutes May 14, 2024 
 

4 

 

Commissioner Nelson: In reviewing item number 2, where you discuss the proposed rezoning, 

adversely affecting environmentally sensitive lands or properties, just a preface, my background 

is doing environmental due diligence for commercial real estate, so I’m very familiar with the 

Tropicana Field site. With that being said, it’s very contaminated. There are a lot of ongoing 

cleanups that I know are occurring and that are going to be occurring at those sites.  I do have some 

concerns regarding, you know, the contaminated soils and groundwater at that property coinciding 

with the revitalization of Booker Creek, so I did just want to bring that to attention, seeing that 

wasn’t really mentioned and they said that the majority of the subject site currently is surface 

parking and on maintained-lawn space, but that was not the previous usage. It was very heavy 

industrial, and manufacturing based.  

 

Brejesh Prayman: Thank you, Commissioner. Your comments are well-point in the fact that 

there’s a restrictive covenant on the southwest quadrant of the site, of the eastern portion of the 

site. There’s a restrictive covenant, there’s DEP guidance on it. It is continuously monitored, but I 

will also share that as part of any permitting process, like as you mentioned, you know, transactions 

of real estate, Phase I/Phase II assessments, but because we have that restrictive covenant, we will 

go through that DEP process, and it depends on the level of contamination and type of work. It 

could be anywhere from the dewatering will have to be treated and then disposed or it could 

be…the dewatering could be at the level of the nutrients or the contaminants that it could actually 

be discharged into an industrial movement and to the wastewater system. We…of course we will 

do that monitoring. That is part of our DEP process, and it may be even as simple as a NPDS 

notification. 

 

Commissioner Nelson: I figured as much…I just…having that work done coinciding with, you 

know, the beautiful work that you guys intend to do for Booker Creek, I think is really important 

because if that’s not done, that won’t succeed.  

 

Brejesh Prayman: Correct. You’re absolutely correct. Thank you.  

 

Madam Chair Wannemacher: Thank you. Anything else? Okay. I’ll ask for a motion.  

 

Commissioner Jeffrey: I’d like to recommend that the city…that the co-…let me put my glasses 

on so I can see it. I’d like to make a motion to recommend that the Community Planning and 

Preservation Commission (the CPPC) in its capacity as Local Planning Agency make a finding of 

consistency with the Comprehensive Plan, recommending to City Council approval of the Official 

Zoning Map Amendment described herein.  

 

Madam Chair Wannemacher: Thank you. Do we have a second?  

 

Commissioner Marbet: Second.  

 

Madam Chair Wannemacher: Thank you. Anymore discussion? Roll call, please.  

 

 

 



Community Planning and Preservation Commission Meeting Minutes May 14, 2024 
 

5 

 

Motion: Commissioner Jeffrey moved approval to recommend that the Community Planning and 

Preservation Commission (the CPPC) in its capacity as Local Planning Agency make a finding of 

consistency with the Comprehensive Plan, recommending to City Council approval of the Official 

Zoning Map Amendment described herein.  
                         
Commissioner Marbet, Second.  
 
 
YES – 7 – Wannemacher, Jeffrey, Marbet, Moultrie, Nelson, Michaels, Magnello.  

NO – 0 – None.    
 
 
Motion approved by a unanimous vote of the Commission. 

 

 

VII.    UPDATES AND ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 

 

VIII.  ADJOURNMENT at 7:07 P.M.  

 



Historic Gas Plant District
ZM-17
City Council
First Reading, Public Hearing
June 13, 2024

CITY OF ST. PETERSBURG



Historic Gas Plant District Rezoning 
Request

Amendment to the Official Zoning Map from 
Downtown Center -2 (DC-2) to Downtown Center -1 
(DC-1) for a 24.33-acre site consisting of seven publicly 
owned parcels located to the west and south of 
Tropicana Field for the purpose of redevelopment of 
the Historic Gas Plant District.

22



Historic 
Gas Plant 
District - 
Rezoning

33



Historic 
Gas Plant 
District - 
Rezoning

44

Parking

Parking

Parking

Parking

Parking

Parking

New Hotel, 
Residential, Retail

New 
Residential, 
Retail

Residential & RetailResidential & Retail

Residential & Retail

Residential

New Hotel, Office 
Residential, Retail

Residential & Retail

Commercial Commercial Commercial 

Commercial Commercial 

Tropicana 
Field 



Historic 
Gas Plant 
District - 
Rezoning

55



Historic 
Gas Plant 
District - 
Rezoning

66



Background

• Prior Zoning - Central Business District – 4 (CBD-4)

• Intown and Intown West Community Redevelopment Areas

• 2007 Citywide rezoning: Downtown Center 1 (DC-1) and Downtown 
Center 2 (DC-2)

• DC-1 Zoning District provides for intense mixed-use development such 
as office, retail and residential

• DC-2 Zoning District provides for intense residential development that still 
allows for a mixture of uses such as support retail and office uses

7

Historic Gas Plant District - Rezoning



88

Historic Gas Plant District - Rezoning
Consistency and Compatibility Analysis

Maximum Intensity
DC-1 (West of Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. St.) DC-2

Base approval (floor area ratio) 3.0 3.0 
Bonus approval, streamline 
(floor area ratio) 

Greater than 3.0 and equal to or 
less than 5.0 

Greater than 3.0 and equal to or 
less than 5.0 

Bonus approval, public hearing 
(floor area ratio) 

Greater than 5.0 and equal to or 
less than 7.0 

Greater than 5.0 and equal to or 
less than 7.0 

There shall be no minimum lot area in any downtown center district. 
Maximum density in any downtown center district shall be limited by FAR. Units per acre do not apply.



99

LU 2.5  The Land Use Plan shall make the maximum use 
of available public facilities and minimize the need for 
new facilities by directing new development to infill and 
redevelopment locations where excess capacity is 
available.

Historic Gas Plant District - Rezoning
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan



1010

LU 3.4 The Land Use Plan shall provide for compatible 
land use transition through an orderly land use 
arrangement, proper buffering, and the use of physical 
and natural separators.

Historic Gas Plant District - Rezoning
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan



1111

LU3.6  Land use planning decisions shall weigh heavily 
on the established character of predominately developed 
areas where changes of use or intensity of development 
are contemplated.

Historic Gas Plant District - Rezoning
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan



1212

LU5.3 The Concurrency Management System shall 
continue to be implemented to ensure proposed 
development to be considered for approval shall be in 
conformance with existing and planned support facilities 
and that such facilities and services be available, at the 
adopted level of service standards, concurrent with the 
impacts of development.

Historic Gas Plant District - Rezoning
Consistency with Comprehensive Plan



1313

Community Planning & Preservation Commission
On May 14, 2024, the CPPC held a public hearing 
regarding the map amendments and voted 6 to 0 making 
a finding of consistency with the City of St. Petersburg’s 
Comprehensive Plan and recommending APPROVAL

Historic Gas Plant District - Rezoning



1414

Public Comments 
• Email  - Central 16th  Homeowners Association

Historic Gas Plant District - Rezoning



Historic Gas Plant District
Rezoning

1515

Recommendation

1) CONDUCT the first reading and public hearing of the 
proposed ordinance; AND
2) SET the second reading and adoption public hearing 
for July 11, 2024.



328 

 

 

The following page(s) contain the backup material for Agenda Item: Ordinance 586-H, an 

emergency ordinance concerning the dates of the City's upcoming general election and primary 

election and the dates of qualifying  for those elections; making findings regarding those dates; 

ratifying November 5, 2024, as the date of that general election, August 20, 2024, as the date of that 

primary election, and June 4, 2024, through June 18, 2024, as the dates of qualifying for those 

elections; providing severability; and providing an effective date.  

Please scroll down to view the backup material. 



J-3

J-3



00749794 / v02 1 of 1 

MEMORANDUM 

 TO: Council Chair Deborah Figgs-Sanders and Council Members  

 FROM: Brett B. Pettigrew, Assistant City Attorney 

 DATE: June 10, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Ratification of November 5, 2024, as the date of the upcoming general 

election, August 20, 2024, as the date of the upcoming primary election, and 

June 4, 2024, through June 18, 2024, as the dates of qualifying for those 

elections through an emergency ordinance presented on June 13, 2024 

BODY OF MEM O 

On November 8, 2022, voters in a citywide referendum approved amendment of the City Charter 

to modify the schedule for elections of the Mayor and City Council Members.  As stated in the 

ballot text approved by the voters, the purpose of the referendum was to “hold those elections in 

conjunction with national and state elections in even-numbered years beginning in 2024.” 

As provided by the Florida Election Code, the upcoming statewide general election will be held 

on Tuesday, November 5, 2024, and the upcoming statewide primary will be held on August 20, 

2024.  Accordingly, the City has consistently used those dates as the dates of the upcoming City 

elections. The City has also used those dates the basis of the qualifying period for those elections, 

which opened last week, on June 4, 2024, and will close next week, on June 18, 2024. 

Following last week’s meeting of City Council, it was discovered that the 2022 referendum ordi-

nance inadvertently omitted textual amendments to the City Charter that would have fully 

effectuated the purpose of the referendum, leaving certain provisions in the Charter that have been 

effectively superseded by the referendum.  The attached ordinance has been prepared in an abun-

dance of caution to ratify the election-related dates described above.  Because serious harm would 

occur if the superseded language in the Charter caused any confusion or inconsistency as to those 

election-related dates, the ordinance may be adopted on an emergency basis, through a two-thirds 

vote and without the usual two readings of the title at separate meetings or notice of the public 

hearing in a newspaper of general circulation. 

Because the attached ordinance will maintain the status quo, adoption of the ordinance will have 

no effect on any election-related activities of the City, the Pinellas County Supervisor of Elections, 

any candidate or campaign, or any other member of the public.  

I appreciate your consideration of the attached ordinance at the upcoming meeting of City Council, 

and in the meantime, if you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me. 



 

00749810 / v05 1 of 4 

ORDINANCE NO. _______ 

AN EMERGENCY ORDINANCE CON-

CERNING THE DATES OF THE CITY’S 

UPCOMING GENERAL ELECTION AND 

PRIMARY ELECTION AND THE DATES 

OF QUALIFYING FOR THOSE ELEC-

TIONS; MAKING FINDINGS 

REGARDING THOSE DATES; RATIFY-

ING NOVEMBER 5, 2024, AS THE DATE 

OF THAT GENERAL ELECTION,  

AUGUST 20, 2024, AS THE DATE OF THAT 

PRIMARY ELECTION, AND JUNE 4, 2024, 

THROUGH JUNE 18, 2024, AS THE DATES 

OF QUALIFYING FOR THOSE ELEC-

TIONS; PROVIDING SEVERABILITY; 

AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

THE CITY OF ST. PETERSBURG ORDAINS THE FOLLOWING:   

SECTION 1—FINDINGS: The City Council of the City of St. Petersburg, Florida, (“City 

Council”) hereby makes the following findings:  

(a) On November 8, 2022, voters in a citywide referendum held pursuant to ordinance 510-H 

approved amendment of the City Charter to modify the schedule for elections of the Mayor 

and City Council Members (the “2022 Referendum”).  As stated in the ballot text approved 

by the voters, the purpose of the 2022 Referendum was to “hold those elections in conjunc-

tion with national and state elections in even-numbered years beginning in 2024.” 

(b) Pursuant to Florida Statutes section 100.031, the statewide general election is held “on the 

first Tuesday after the first Monday in November of each even-numbered year,” and pur-

suant to Florida Statutes section 100.061, the statewide primary election is held “on the 

Tuesday 11 weeks prior to the general election.”  Accordingly, the upcoming statewide 

general election will be held on Tuesday, November 5, 2024, and the upcoming statewide 

primary election will be held 11 weeks earlier, on Tuesday, August 20, 2024. 

(c) Pursuant to Florida Statutes section 100.3605 and City Charter section 5.04(a)(1)A, the 

qualifying period for municipal elections may be set by ordinance, and City Code sections 

10-7 and 10-8 currently provide that the qualifying period for municipal elections begins 



 

00749810 / v05 2 of 4 

11 weeks before the municipal primary election and ends 9 weeks before the municipal 

primary election.  So, for an August 20, 2024 primary election date, the dates of qualifying 

would run from June 4, 2024, through June 18, 2024. 

(d) To effectuate the change in the law approved by the voters through the 2022 Referendum, 

the City has consistently identified November 5, 2024, as the date of its upcoming general 

election, August 20, 2024, as the date of its upcoming primary election, and June 4, 2024, 

through June 18, 2024, as the dates of qualifying for those elections. For example: 

(i) On August 8, 2023, the City Clerk submitted to the Pinellas County Supervisor of 

Elections (the “SOE”) a “2024 Municipal Election & Candidate Qualifying Infor-

mation Form” stating that the City’s general election and primary election would 

be held in conjunction with the statewide elections on November 5, 2024, and on 

August 20, 2024, respectively, and that the dates of qualifying for the City’s elec-

tions would run from June 4, 2024, through June 18, 2024. 

(ii) On October 19, 2023, the City Clerk requested that the City’s elections webpage be 

updated to provide a packet of candidate forms stating that the dates of qualifying 

for the upcoming City elections would run from June 4, 2024, through June 18, 

2024. 

(iii) On December 21, 2023, the City Clerk requested that the “2024 City Election Hand-

book” be posted on the City’s elections webpage. That handbook states that the 

City’s general election will be held on November 5, 2024, that the City's primary 

election will be held on August 20, 2024, and that the dates of qualifying for those 

elections will run from June 4, 2024, through June 18, 2024. 

(iv) On June 6, 2024, the City executed an “Agreement for Conducting In-Conjunction 

Municipal Election” to contract with the SOE for the provision of support services 

for a municipal primary to be held in conjunction with the statewide primary elec-

tion on August 20, 2024.  

(e) There are no examples of any City form, publication, or agreement that provides any date 

for either of the City’s upcoming elections or the dates of qualifying for those elections that 

is inconsistent with the preceding examples.   

(f) On June 4, 2024, the City Clerk opened the qualifying period for a municipal primary elec-

tion to be held on August 20, 2024. As of June 6, 2024, the City Clerk had qualified six 

candidates for the primary election, and the qualifying period remains open at this time. 



 

00749810 / v05 3 of 4 

(g) To effectuate the purpose of the 2022 Referendum, ordinance 510-H amended the text of 

Charter section 3.02 to shift the schedule of municipal elections from odd-numbered years 

to even-numbered years beginning in 2024. But on June 6, 2024, it was discovered that the 

ordinance inadvertently omitted corresponding textual amendments to Charter sec-

tion 5.05, including a textual amendment that would have shifted the timing of the 

municipal primary election from 10 weeks before the general election (the schedule used 

by the City prior to the 2022 Referendum) to 11 weeks before the general election (the state 

election schedule expressly adopted by the 2022 Referendum).  As a result, Charter sec-

tion 5.05 contains language that is inconsistent with and that has been superseded by the 

2022 Referendum. 

(h) The 2022 Referendum requires the City to use November 5, 2024, as the date of its upcom-

ing general election, August 20, 2024, as the date of its upcoming primary election, and 

June 4, 2024, through June 18, 2024, as the dates of qualifying for those elections.  Those 

dates (i) are consistent with the actions and statements of the City since at least Au-

gust 2023; (ii) have been relied upon by City officials and staff, the SOE, the candidates, 

and the public; and (iii) are consistent with the qualifying period that is currently underway.  

Accordingly, if the superseded language in Charter section 5.05 caused confusion or incon-

sistency as to any of those dates, it would undermine the efficiency, integrity, and public 

confidence in the electoral process. 

(i) Florida Statutes section 101.75(3) states that “[n]otwithstanding any provision of local law 

or municipal charter, the governing body of a municipality may, by ordinance, move the 

date of any municipal election to a date concurrent with any statewide or countywide elec-

tion. The dates for qualifying for the election moved by the passage of such ordinance shall 

be specifically provided for in the ordinance.”   

(j) To confirm that the superseded language in Charter section 5.05 no longer applies, that 

statutory authority should be used to adopt an ordinance ratifying November 5, 2024, as 

the date of the upcoming City general election, August 20, 2024, as the date of the upcom-

ing City primary election, and June 4, 2024, through June 18, 2024, as the dates of 

qualifying for those elections.  Because the purpose of such an ordinance would be to ef-

fectuate the 2022 Referendum, the ratification should be applicable retroactive to the date 

of the 2022 Referendum.  

(k) Florida Statutes section 166.041(3)(b) allows an “emergency ordinance” to be adopted 

through a two-thirds vote, without the usual two readings of the title at separate meetings 

or notice of the public hearing in a newspaper of general circulation.  Because public con-

fidence in the integrity and reliability of the electoral process is essential to democracy, 

immediate legislative action to ratify the dates of the City’s upcoming elections and dates 



 

00749810 / v05 4 of 4 

of qualifying for those elections is necessary to prevent the serious harm that would result 

from any confusion or inconsistency as to those dates.  Such legislative action would main-

tain the status quo by confirming election-related dates already relied upon by the public, 

rather than changing those dates.  Accordingly, adoption of this ordinance on an emergency 

basis will not prejudice any candidate or other member of the public and serves a valid 

municipal purpose. 

SECTION 2—RATIFICATION OF DATES:  To the extent not already provided for by the 

2022 Referendum, the following election-related dates are hereby ratified pursuant to Florida Stat-

utes section 101.75(3): (i) November 5, 2024, is the date of the City’s upcoming general election; 

(ii) August 20, 2024, is the date of the City’s upcoming primary election; and (iii) June 4, 2024, 

through June 18, 2024, are the dates of qualifying for those elections. These ratifications are ret-

roactive to the date of the 2022 Referendum and apply to any applicable previous action of the 

City, including City Council resolutions 2024-247 and 2024-248. 

SECTION 3—SEVERABILITY: The provisions of this ordinance are intended to be severa-

ble, and a determination that any portion of this ordinance is invalid should not affect the validity 

of the remaining portions of this ordinance. 

SECTION 4— APPLICABILITY OF § 166.041(4), FLORIDA STATUTES. This ordi-

nance is being adopted as an emergency ordinance. Therefore, a business impact estimate was not 

required and was not prepared. 

SECTION 5—EFFECTIVE DATE: In the event that this ordinance is not vetoed by the 

Mayor in accordance with the City Charter, it shall become effective after the fifth business day 

after adoption unless the Mayor notifies the City Council through written notice filed with the City 

Clerk that the Mayor will not veto the ordinance, in which case the ordinance shall take effect 

immediately upon filing such written notice with the City Clerk. In the event this ordinance is 

vetoed by the Mayor in accordance with the City Charter, it shall not become effective unless and 

until the City Council overrides the veto in accordance with the City Charter, in which case it shall 

become effective immediately upon a successful vote to override the veto. 

 

LEGAL: 

 

 

 



335 

 

 

The following page(s) contain the backup material for Agenda Item: Approving the purchase of nine 

clean diesel trucks, one trailer, one tractor truck, and one loader utilizing Florida Sheriffs 

Association contract Nos FSA20-EQU21.0, Heavy equipment and FSA23-VEH21.0, Heavy trucks 

and buses and Florida State Department of Management Services #21-25101600 STC, medium and 

heavy trucks for a total combined cost not to exceed $4,047,818; approving a transfer in the amount 

of $1,800,000 from the unappropriated balance of the Sanitation Operating Fund (4021) to the 

Sanitation Equipment Replacement Fund (4027); approving a supplemental appropriation in the 

amount of $4,048,000 from the increase in the unappropriated balance of the Sanitation Equipment 

Replacement Fund (4027), partially resulting from the above transfer, to the Sanitation Department, 

Administration Division (450-2237), and providing an effective date. 

Please scroll down to view the backup material. 



CA-1

CA-1



 

ST. PETERSBURG CITY COUNCIL 
Consent Agenda 

Meeting June 13, 2024  
 
To: The Honorable Deborah Figgs-Sanders, Chair, and Members of City Council 
 
Subject: Approving the purchase of  nine clean diesel trucks, one trailer, one tractor truck, and 
one loader utilizing Florida Sheriffs Association contract Nos FSA20-EQU21.0, Heavy equipment  
and FSA23-VEH21.0, Heavy trucks and buses and Florida State Department of Management 
Services #21-25101600 STC, medium and heavy trucks  for a total combined cost not to exceed  
$4,047,818; approving a transfer in the amount of $1,800,000 from the unappropriated balance 
of the Sanitation Operating Fund (4021) to the Sanitation Equipment Replacement Fund (4027); 
approving a supplemental appropriation in the amount of $4,048,000 from the increase in the 
unappropriated balance of the Sanitation Equipment Replacement Fund (4027), partially resulting 
from the above transfer, to the Sanitation Department, Administration Division (450-2237), and 
providing an effective date. 

Explanation: The Sanitation Department is requesting approval to purchase nine clean diesel 
trucks, one trailer, one tractor truck, and one loader to replace existing vehicles which have 
reached the end of their useful and economic life. Factors used to determine the end of useful 
and economic life include, but are not limited to; age, useful life, mileage/hours of operations, 
historical maintenance cost as compared to like vehicles, operating cost per mile/hour, anticipated 
and ongoing repairs, and physical condition. Due to delays in manufacturing, the Sanitation 
Department is requesting to begin procurement of the vehicles and equipment ahead of the FY25 
budget that starts October 1, 2024. 
 
FY25 Budget Replacement Breakdown: 
 
Replacement Purchase…………………………………………………………..……..$4,047,818 
 

Description Amount Fund 
   
Six (6) Peterbilt 520 HEIL ASL 66K GVWR 
Automatic Side Loader Trucks  2,582,931 

4027 

Two (2) Peterbilt 520 McNelius FEL 66K GVWR 
Front Loader Trucks  729,395 

 
4027 

One (1) Freightliner Chassis W/20YD McNeilus 
Rear Loader Truck  300,393.79 

 
 

4027 

One (1) Kenworth T880 Tractor  215,317 

 
 

4027 

One (1) Catepillar 906 Wheel Loader 108,781 
 

4027 

One (1) Horizontal Ejector Trailer 111,000 

 
 
 

4027 

 
 

$4,047,818 
 

 
 



 

 

These purchases will be made in accordance with Section 2-198(b) of the Procurement Code, 
which authorizes the Mayor, or his designee, to piggyback utilizing a contract of other entities, 
including other local governments in Florida, state governments, local governments in other 
states, federal agencies of the United States, consortiums and any not-for-profit entity when to do 
so is in the best interest of the City. 
 
Recommendation: Administration recommends City Council approval of the resolution 
approving the purchase of nine clean diesel trucks, one trailer, one tractor truck, and one loader 
utilizing Florida Sheriffs Association contract Nos FSA20-EQU21.0, Heavy Equipment and 
FSA23-VEH21.0, Heavy trucks and buses and Florida State Department of Management 
Services #21-25101600 STC,  medium and heavy trucks for a total combined cost not to exceed 
$4,047,818; approving a transfer in the amount of $1,800,000 from the unappropriated balance 
of the Sanitation Operating Fund (4021) to the Sanitation Equipment Replacement Fund (4027); 
approving a supplemental appropriation in the amount of $4,048,000 from the increase in the 
unappropriated balance of the Sanitation Equipment Replacement Fund (4027), partially resulting 
from the above transfer, to the Sanitation Department, Administration Division (450-2237), and 
providing an effective date. 
 
Cost/Funding/Assessment Information: Funding will be available after the approval of a 
transfer in the amount of $1,800,000 from the unappropriated balance of the Sanitation Operating 
Fund (4021) to the Sanitation Equipment Replacement Fund (4027) and a supplemental 
appropriation in the amount of $4,048,000 from the increase in the unappropriated balance of the 
Sanitation Equipment Replacement Fund (4027), partially resulting from the above transfer, to 
the Sanitation Department, Administration Division (450-2237).    
 
 
Attachments: Resolution 



1 

RESOLUTION NO. 2024-____ 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF NINE (9) 
CLEAN DIESEL TRUCKS, ONE (1) TRAILER, ONE  (1) 
TRACTOR TRUCK, AND ONE (1) LOADER UTILIZING THE 
FLORIDA SHERIFFS ASSOCIATION CONTRACT NOS. 
FSA20-EQU21.0, HEAVY EQUIPMENT AND FSA23-VEH21.0, 
HEAVY TRUCKS AND BUSES AND FLORIDA STATE, 
DEPARTMENT OF MANAGEMENT SERVICES #21-25101600 
STC, MEDIUM AND HEAVY TRUCKS FOR A TOTAL 
COMBINED COST NOT TO EXCEED $4,047,818; 
AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR OR HIS DESIGNEE TO 
EXECUTE ALL DOCUMENTS NECESSARY TO 
EFFECTUATE THE PURCHASE OF THE VEHICLES AND 
EQUIPMENT; APPROVING A TRANSFER IN THE AMOUNT 
OF $1,800,000 FROM THE UNAPPROPRIATED BALANCE OF 
THE SANITATION OPERATING FUND (4021) TO THE 
SANITATION EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT FUND (4027); 
APPROVING A SUPPLEMENTAL APPROPRIATION IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $4,048,000 FROM THE INCREASE IN THE 
UNAPPROPRIATED BALANCE OF THE SANITATION 
EQUIPMENT REPLACEMENT FUND (4027), PARTIALLY 
RESULTING FROM THE ABOVE TRANSFER, TO THE 
SANITATION DEPARTMENT, ADMINISTRATION DIVISION 
(450-2237); AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, due to delays in manufacturing, the Sanitation Department desires to begin 
early procurement of nine (9) clean diesel trucks, one (1) trailer, one (1) tractor truck, and one (1) 
loader to replace units which have reached the end of their useful and economic service life before 
the start of the FY25 budget; and 

WHEREAS, Section 2-198 of the St. Petersburg City Code which authorizes the City to 
piggyback utilizing contracts of other entities, including other local governments in Florida, state 
governments, local governments in other states, federal agencies of the United States, consortiums 
and any not-for-profit entity when to do so is in the best interest of the City; and 

WHEREAS, vendors providing these trucks, trailers and loaders have met the 
specifications, terms and conditions of the Florida Sheriffs Association Contract Nos. FSA20-
EQU21.0, Heavy Equipment and FSA23-VEH21.0, Heavy Trucks and Buses and Florida State, 
Department of Management Services #21-25101600 STC, Medium and Heavy Trucks; and 



2 
 

WHEREAS, funding for the purchase of these trucks, trailer and loader will be available 
after (i) a transfer in the amount of $1,800,000 from the unappropriated balance of the Sanitation 
Operating Fund (4021) to the Sanitation Equipment Replacement Fund (4027) and (ii) a 
supplemental appropriation in the amount of $4,048,000 from the increase in the unappropriated 
balance of the Sanitation Equipment Replacement Fund (4027), partially resulting from the above 
transfer, to the Sanitation Department, Administration Division (450-2237); and 

WHEREAS, the Procurement & Supply Management Department, in cooperation with the 
Sanitation Department, recommends approval of this Resolution. 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of St. Petersburg, 
Florida, that the purchase of (9) clean diesel trucks, one (1) trailer, one  (1) tractor truck, and one 
(1) loader utilizing the Florida Sheriffs Association Contract Nos. FSA20-EQU21.0, heavy 
equipment and FSA23-VEH21.0, Heavy Trucks and Buses and Florida State, Department of 
Management Services #21-25101600 STC, Medium and Heavy Trucks for a total combined cost 
not to exceed $4,047,818 is hereby approved. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Mayor or his designee is authorized to execute all 
documents necessary to effectuate the purchase of these trucks, trailer and loader. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that there is hereby approved from the unappropriated 
balance of the Sanitation Operating Fund (4021), the following transfer for FY24: 

Sanitation Operating Fund (4021) ($1,800,000) 
Sanitation Equipment Replacement Fund (4027) $1,800,000 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that there is hereby approved from the unappropriated 
balance of the Sanitation Equipment Replacement Fund (4027), partially resulting from the above 
transfer, the following supplemental appropriation for FY24: 

Sanitation Equipment Replacement Fund (4027) 
Sanitation Department, Administration Division (450-2237) $4,048,000 

This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 

LEGAL: DEPARTMENT: 

    
00747797 

BUDGET: 

  





342 

 

 

The following page(s) contain the backup material for Agenda Item: Housing, Land Use, & 

Transportation Committee Meeting Minutes (May 16, 2024) 

Please scroll down to view the backup material. 



CB-1

CB-1



1 
 

City of St. Petersburg 
Housing, Land Use, & Transportation Committee 

May 16, 2024 – 1:00 PM 
Minutes 

 
Members: Committee Chair Brandi Gabbard, Committee Vice-Chair John 

Muhammad, Council Member Richie Floyd, and Council Member 
Gerdes 

 
Alternate: Council Member Gina Driscoll 
 
Others present: Rob Gerdes, City Administrator, Amy Foster, Housing and Neighborhood Services 
Administrator, Mark Van Lue, Housing and Development Manager, Dr. Avery Slyker, Housing and 
Community Development Assistant Director, Joe Waugh, Codes Compliance Director, and Michael 
Dema, Assistant City Attorney, and Stephanie Lampe, Senior Housing Development Coordinator.  
 
Support Staff: Bryan Casañas-Scarsella – City Council Legislative Aide 
 
1) Call to Order—1:00PM.  
2) Approval of Agenda—CM Gerdes moved approval; all voted unanimously. 
3) Approval of the April 11, 2024, Minutes—CM Muhammad moved approval; all voted 

unanimously.  
4) New Business – May 16, 2024 

 

CM Floyd introduced the item, stating that the meeting's objective was to review some feedback from 
the Affordable Housing Advisory Committee (AHAC).  

Ms. Lampe then presented feedback from the Bay Area Apartment Association (BAAA) developers 
provided to AHAC. She said that the BAAA requested that the AHAC not support the tenant 
protection provisions, citing that they believed it would drive up costs and push affordable housing 
developers and operators to other cities. She clarified that while BAAA does not have an official 
stance, they do have several questions. They are curious if the regulations apply solely to new 
construction or if they include renovations as well, she said. She also reported that that they seek 
clarity on the threshold dollar amount that will trigger these regulations. For mixed-income 
properties, she reported that they cited uncertainty about whether the rules apply to all units or only to 
affordable ones, noting that including all units would significantly impact proformas when 
considering the source of income. Additionally, she reported that they believe that more discussion is 
needed to understand the implications, particularly because HUD allowed rent increases of more than 
five percent last year. They wonder if the new regulations will align with HUD's allowances, which 
also permit 30-day notices, though most currently follow a 60-day notice period. The developers seek 
clarity on the term "neighborhood" and the intent behind its use, questioning if it aligns with Fair 
Housing language. Finally, she reported that they emphasize the need for clarity on move-in costs, 
stressing that these should be paid before move-in, which is not addressed in the current language. 
AHAC members expressed interest in allowing a provision for tenants to request month-by-month 
lease extensions of up to six months in certain situations. Ms. Lampe explained that a Council 
Member had suggested reaching out to property management companies, which has not yet been 
done, though affordable housing developers and the housing authority were contacted. She also 
highlighted a discussion at AHAC about whether a minimum unit threshold should be included to 



2 
 

avoid discouraging participation in small developments, with some members emphasizing the need 
for tenant protections if city money is involved. Ms. Lampe reported that most members agreed that 
the policy should not be more restrictive than state and federal laws to avoid confusion for property 
management companies and preferred defaulting to HUD and state requirements where tenant 
protections are already provided. 
Mark Van Lue provided a summary of a survey regarding public-private partnerships in housing 
developments and the feedback received. Mr. Van Lue explained that the survey included questions 
about experiences with city or county-owned land development, opinions on unit thresholds, and 
dollar thresholds for city support before tenant protections apply. According to Mr. Van Lue, 
responses varied widely, with some advocating no minimum thresholds, while others suggested 
specific unit numbers or dollar amounts. Concerns were raised by affordable housing developers who 
responded to the survey about additional rules potentially deterring affordable housing development, 
said Mr. Van Lue. The survey also addressed tenant protections, such as applicability to single-family 
and multifamily homes, month-to-month lease allowances, and notice periods for rent increases. Mr. 
Van Lue said that the respondents agreed on the importance of month-to-month leases in certain 
situations and favored a 60-day notice for rent increases. He went on to explain that opinions on rent 
increase caps varied, with some suggesting alignment with HUD policies and others emphasizing 
market-driven rates. When asked about the administrative burden of tenant protections, Mr. Van Lue 
reported that responses were split, with some developers seeing little additional burden, and others, 
particularly smaller developers, anticipating challenges. Despite some concerns, the majority did not 
believe these protections would discourage affordable housing development in St. Petersburg. 
Overall, Mr. Van Lue reported that while there was general support for tenant protections, 
respondents emphasized the need for clear communication and consistency with existing federal and 
state rules. Some legal concerns were raised about potential conflicts with state discrimination laws, 
which would be reviewed further. 

CM Floyd asked if any attempts had been made to reach out to tenant organizations.  
Mark VaLue clarified that the initial survey outreach was targeted at affordable housing developers 
rather than tenants or tenant organizations. Stephanie Lampe added that outreach to property 
management companies was recommended but not yet carried out. CM Floyd voiced appreciation for 
the outreach that had been carried out but emphasized the importance of considering tenant 
perspectives. Ms. Lampe explained that the outreach was done specifically to the development 
community based on a request from AHAC. CM Floyd then proposed drafting a resolution to request 
that Administration include tenant protections, similar to the previously repealed Tenant Bill of 
Rights, in affordable housing deals involving city funding or land. Ms. Foster said that AHAC’s 
official recommendations had not yet been provided because the committee is still awaiting the full 
survey responses were needed before going any further with this item.  

Committee Chair Gabbard suggested that CM Floyd draft a resolution for full City Council 
consideration to accompany the action item and that could come to City Council with the follow-up 
from AHAC at that time. CM Floyd said he was thinking similarly. CM Muhammad said he would 
support such a motion. CM Gerdes asked about the state preemption on the tenant-landlord 
relationship. Mr. Dema emphasized the importance of the request’s non-mandatory nature would 
minimize legal risks. Ms. Foster noted that while each housing deal is unique, the resolution would 
request, not mandate, tenant protections, giving the Administration flexibility during negotiations and 
Council the final say on any contract. 



3 
 

Council Chair Figgs-Sanders asked about the implications of making tenant protections a request 
rather than a mandate in negotiations with developers. She expressed concern that developers could 
reject the request, potentially leading to complications or legal issues. 
She inquired if there could be incentives for developers to agree to the requested tenant protections. 
Ms. Foster clarified that the incentive for developers to agree to the tenant protections is the city 
funding or land they receive. She explained that if developers refuse the request, the City Council 
could choose not to approve the agreement. Council Chair Figgs-Sanders requested a copy of the 
survey results to better understand the developers’ feedback. She voiced concerns about potential 
negative reactions from developers if their projects are rejected solely for not including the requested 
tenant protections. Mr. Dema reiterated that it is unlikely a developer could successfully sue the city 
over a non-mandatory request, as both parties have the right to negotiate terms. 
CM Floyd motioned to draft a resolution, to accompany the action item and AHAC’s official 
recommendations, requesting that the Administration include the tenant protections outlined in 
Exhibit T in affordable housing deals that involve city subsidies, such as funding or land. CM Floyd’s 
motion stated that the resolution should: 

• Include language about reporting the information to City Council whenever 
Administration presents a deal to City Council; 

• Include provisions for flexibility around month-to-month tenancies when requested by 
tenants; 

• Allow legal staff to make necessary adjustments to the tenant protections in Exhibit T 
based on community feedback and other considerations; 

• Request that Administration report back to City Council on whether these protections 
were included in each deal and provide reasons if they were not. 
 

The motion was approved unanimously. Finally, Committee Chair Gabbard provided an update on 
the referral list for upcoming meetings, noting fluid dates and efforts to prioritize items based on 
readiness.  
 

Committee Chair Gabbard adjourned the meeting at 1:42PM.  

 

 

 

 


	06/13/2024 Council Meeting
	Council Meeting
	Meeting Called to Order and Roll Call.
	Approval of Agenda with Additions and Deletions.
	Consent Agenda (see attached)
	Awards and Presentations
	New Ordinances - (First Reading of Title and Setting of Public Hearing)
	Ordinance 585-H, An ordinance adopting amendments to the Intown Redevelopment Plan (IRP) of the City of St. Petersburg (City), increasing the redevelopment program budget in amended table 2 from $232.354  million to $574.854 million to fund “ “New Stadium Improvements” and “Historic Gas Plant Redevelopment Infrastructure” in the IRP west of 8th street; providing for an extension of the City’s TIF contributions through 2042, and allowing modifications to TIF contributions to the IRP Redevelopment Trust Fund by the City and Pinellas County; providing for severability; and providing an effective date.
	E-1.docx (1 page)
	Backup for Ordinance No. 585-H Revised.pdf (152 pages)
	Page 1
	Page 2
	Page 3
	Page 4
	Page 5
	Page 6
	Page 7
	Page 8
	Page 9
	Page 10
	Page 11
	Page 12
	Page 13
	Page 14
	Page 15
	Page 16
	Page 17
	Page 18
	Page 19
	Page 20
	Page 21
	Page 22
	Page 23
	Page 24
	Page 25
	Page 26
	Page 27
	Page 28
	Page 29
	Page 30
	Page 31
	Page 32
	Page 33
	Page 34
	Page 35
	Page 36
	Page 37
	Page 38
	Page 39
	Page 40
	Page 41
	Page 42
	Page 43
	Page 44
	Page 45
	Page 46
	Page 47
	Page 48
	Page 49
	Page 50
	Page 51
	Page 52
	Page 53
	Page 54
	Page 55
	Page 56
	Page 57
	Page 58
	Page 59
	Page 60
	Page 61
	Page 62
	Page 63
	Page 64
	Page 65
	Page 66
	Page 67
	Page 68
	Page 69
	Page 70
	Page 71
	Page 72
	Page 73
	Page 74
	Page 75
	Page 76
	Page 77
	Page 78
	Page 79
	Page 80
	Page 81
	Page 82
	Page 83
	Page 84
	Page 85
	Page 86
	Page 87
	Page 88
	Page 89
	Page 90
	Page 91
	Page 92
	Page 93
	Page 94
	Page 95
	Page 96
	Page 97
	Page 98
	Page 99
	Page 100
	Page 101
	Page 102
	Page 103
	Page 104
	Page 105
	Page 106
	Page 107
	Page 108
	Page 109
	Page 110
	Page 111
	Page 112
	Page 113
	Page 114
	Page 115
	Page 116
	Page 117
	Page 118
	Page 119
	Page 120
	Page 121
	Page 122
	Page 123
	Page 124
	Page 125
	Page 126
	Page 127
	Page 128
	Page 129
	Page 130
	Page 131
	Page 132
	Page 133
	Page 134
	Page 135
	Page 136
	Page 137
	Page 138
	Page 139
	Page 140
	Page 141
	Page 142
	Page 143
	Page 144
	Page 145
	Page 146
	Page 147
	Page 148
	Page 149
	Page 150
	Page 151
	Page 152



	Reports
	A resolution of the City Council of St. Petersburg, Florida, approving an increase in the not to exceed amount of the engagement letter with Faegre Drinker Biddle & Reath LLP from $950,000 to $1,500,000; approving a supplemental appropriation in the amount of $550,000 from the unappropriated balance of the General Fund (0001) to the Legal Department, Legal Division (030-1009); and providing for an effective date.
	F-1.docx (1 page)
	June 13 - Eco Dev - Faegre Drinker.pdf (3 pages)
	Page 1
	Page 2
	Page 3

	FY24 Gas Plant Expenditures June 2024.pdf (1 page)


	New Business
	Council Committee Reports
	Legal
	Settlement Andi Ibro v. City of St. Petersburg, Case No.: 23-001241-CI
	I-1.docx (1 page)
	00749346.pdf (1 page)


	Public Hearings and Quasi-Judicial Proceedings - 5:01 P.M.
	First Reading and First Public Hearings
	Ordinance 584-H of the City of St. Petersburg approving a Development Agreement for property generally bounded by First Avenue South to the north, Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. and Tenth Streets South to the east, Interstate 175 to the south, and Seventeenth and Eighteenth Streets South to the west; recognizing that the subject agreement is by and between Hines Historic Gas Plant District Partnership, a Florida Joint Venture (Developer) and the City of St. Petersburg, Florida, A Florida Municipal Corporation; authorizing the Mayor or his designee to execute the agreement; and providing an effective date.
	J-1.docx (1 page)
	HGP DA CC June 13 adds deletes ada.pdf (89 pages)
	Page 1
	Page 2
	Page 3
	Page 4
	Page 5
	Page 6
	Page 7
	Page 8
	Page 9
	Page 10
	Page 11
	Page 12
	Page 13
	Page 14
	Page 15
	Page 16
	Page 17
	Page 18
	Page 19
	Page 20
	Page 21
	Page 22
	Page 23
	Page 24
	Page 25
	Page 26
	Page 27
	Page 28
	Page 29
	Page 30
	Page 31
	Page 32
	Page 33
	Page 34
	Page 35
	Page 36
	Page 37
	Page 38
	Page 39
	Page 40
	Page 41
	Page 42
	Page 43
	Page 44
	Page 45
	Page 46
	Page 47
	Page 48
	Page 49
	Page 50
	Page 51
	Page 52
	Page 53
	Page 54
	Page 55
	Page 56
	Page 57
	Page 58
	Page 59
	Page 60
	Page 61
	Page 62
	Page 63
	Page 64
	Page 65
	Page 66
	Page 67
	Page 68
	Page 69
	Page 70
	Page 71
	Page 72
	Page 73
	Page 74
	Page 75
	Page 76
	Page 77
	Page 78
	Page 79
	Page 80
	Page 81
	Page 82
	Page 83
	Page 84
	Page 85
	Page 86
	Page 87
	Page 88
	Page 89

	HGP DA June 13 First Reading.pdf (16 pages)
	Page 1
	Page 2
	Page 3
	Page 4
	Page 5
	Page 6
	Page 7
	Page 8
	Page 9
	Page 10
	Page 11
	Page 12
	Page 13
	Page 14
	Page 15
	Page 16


	Ordinance 793-Z amending the Official Zoning Map of the City of St. Petersburg, Florida, by changing the zoning of seven (7) publicly-owned parcels, generally located south and west of Tropicana Field and bounded by I-175 to the south and 18th Street South to the west, from Downtown Center  2 (DC-2) to Downtown Center  1 (DC-1); Providing for repeal of conflicting ordinances and provisions thereof; and providing an effective date. (City File: ZM-17) (Quasi-judicial)
	J-2.docx (1 page)
	ZM 17 CC June 13 final ada.pdf (31 pages)
	Page 1
	Page 2
	Page 3
	Page 4
	Page 5
	Page 6
	Page 7
	Page 8
	Page 9
	Page 10
	Page 11
	Page 12
	Page 13
	Page 14
	Page 15
	Page 16
	Page 17
	Page 18
	Page 19
	Page 20
	Page 21
	Page 22
	Page 23
	Page 24
	Page 25
	Page 26
	Page 27
	Page 28
	Page 29
	Page 30
	Page 31

	HGP ZM-17 CC First Reading June 13 final.pdf (15 pages)
	Page 1
	Page 2
	Page 3
	Page 4
	Page 5
	Page 6
	Page 7
	Page 8
	Page 9
	Page 10
	Page 11
	Page 12
	Page 13
	Page 14
	Page 15



	Public Hearings
	Ordinance 586-H, an emergency ordinance concerning the dates of the City's upcoming general election and primary election and the dates of qualifying  for those elections; making findings regarding those dates; ratifying November 5, 2024, as the date of that general election, August 20, 2024, as the date of that primary election, and June 4, 2024, through June 18, 2024, as the dates of qualifying for those elections; providing severability; and providing an effective date.

	J-3.docx (1 page)
	2024-06-10 - Memo & Ordinance - Ratify 2024 Election Dates.pdf (5 pages)
	Page 1
	Page 2
	Page 3
	Page 4
	Page 5




	Open Forum
	Adjournment

	Community Redevelopment Agency (CRA)
	Consent Agenda A
	(Procurement)
	Approving the purchase of nine clean diesel trucks, one trailer, one tractor truck, and one loader utilizing Florida Sheriffs Association contract Nos FSA20-EQU21.0, Heavy equipment and FSA23-VEH21.0, Heavy trucks and buses and Florida State Department of Management Services #21-25101600 STC, medium and heavy trucks for a total combined cost not to exceed $4,047,818; approving a transfer in the amount of $1,800,000 from the unappropriated balance of the Sanitation Operating Fund (4021) to the Sanitation Equipment Replacement Fund (4027); approving a supplemental appropriation in the amount of $4,048,000 from the increase in the unappropriated balance of the Sanitation Equipment Replacement Fund (4027), partially resulting from the above transfer, to the Sanitation Department, Administration Division (450-2237), and providing an effective date.
	CA-1.docx (1 page)
	Sanitation Truck and Equipment Purchases FY24 - Final.pdf (5 pages)
	Page 1
	Page 2
	Page 3
	Page 4
	Page 5



	(City Development)
	(Community Enrichment)
	(Public Works)
	(Appointments)
	(Miscellaneous)

	Consent Agenda B
	(Procurement)
	(City Development)
	(Community Enrichment)
	(Public Works)
	(Appointments)
	(Miscellaneous)
	Housing, Land Use, & Transportation Committee Meeting Minutes (May 16, 2024)
	CB-1.docx (1 page)
	2024-05-16 HLUT Minutes.pdf (3 pages)
	Page 1
	Page 2
	Page 3




	MEETING AGENDA
	Housing, Land Use & Transportation Committee
	Public Services & Infrastructure Committee
	Budget, Finance & Taxation Committee
	CRA/Agenda Review
	City Council Meeting

	Board and Commission Vacancies

	Blank Page
	Blank Page



